Contribution to top down portfolio modeling and systemic risk

Inaugural dissertation

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Doctor rerum naturalium**

presented by

Katrin Anita Zilch

Faculty of Mathematics and Computer Science, Physics and Geography of the Justus-Liebig-University Giessen

November 2014

Contents

Lis	List of Figures v								
Lis	List of Symbols vii								
Int	trodu	ction	1						
I	Portfolio credit risk modeling: a top down first-passage default model								
1	Mat 1.1 1.2	hematical preliminaries Point processes	12 12 14						
2	Mod 2.1 2.2	leling (portfolio) credit riskStructural versus reduced form models2.1.1 Important structural models2.1.2 Reduced form models2.1.3 The role of informationBottom up versus top down	 18 18 19 24 27 						
3	A to 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	p down first-passage default modelMotivationModel definition3.2.1Default events3.2.2Time change3.2.3Setting of the first incomplete information model (IIM1)3.2.4Exact definition and properties of the time changeConditional distribution of the arrival timesModitional survival probabilities, default trends and intensities3.4.1General definitions3.4.3The compensator of the default counting process	 29 35 35 38 40 46 49 50 52 60 						
	3.5	Another incomplete information model	62 62 64 67						

		3.5.4 The compensator of the default counting process	69
	3.6	Examples of time changes	70
		3.6.1 Preliminary remarks	70
		3.6.2 Time change that is deterministic between arrival times	71
		3.6.3 Time change that is stochastic between arrival times	78
II	Sy	stemic risk measures	85
4	Intro	oduction to static risk measures	93
	4.1	Definitions and important properties	93
	4.2	Representations of risk measures	95
	4.3	Risk measures on L^{∞}	97
	4.4	Risk measures on L^p	99
	4.5	Examples of convex and coherent risk measures	102
5	Stat	ic systemic risk measures on general probability spaces	104
	5.1	Model and notation	104
	5.2	Structural decomposition	111
	5.3	Examples of systemic risk measures	115
	5.4	Representations of systemic risk measures	119
	5.5	Risk attribution	130
6	Fror	n static to dynamic risk measures	136
	6.1	Notation, definitions and important properties	136
	6.2	Representation of conditional risk measures	140
	6.3	Time-consistent dynamic risk measures	142
	6.4	Examples of dynamic risk measures	144
7	Con	ditional and dynamic systemic risk measures	147
	7.1	Notation and definitions	147
	7.2	Structural decomposition	153
	7.3	Representations of conditional systemic risk measures	157
		7.3.1 Primal representation	157
		7.3.2 Continuity and closedness	158
		7.3.3 Dual representation	166
	7.4	Dynamic systemic risk measures	178
		7.4.1 Time-consistency	179
		7.4.2 Examples of time-consistent dynamic aggregation functions .	189
A	ppenc	lix	195
	A.1	Appendix to Part I	195
		A.1.1 General results in probability theory	195
		A.1.2 Hitting times	196
	A.2	Appendix to Part II	198
		A.2.1 Functional analysis	198

A.2.2 A.2.3	Convex optimization Differential calculus		 	•		 	•			 	•	 		 			 	$\begin{array}{c} 199 \\ 201 \end{array}$
Acknowledgments							203											
Bibliography							205											

List of Figures

3.1.1	Portfolio value process and default barriers (without time change)	30
3.2.1	Portfolio value process and default barriers (with time change)	36
3.2.2	Example of time change G	41
3.5.1	Density functions $\psi^i(x; a_i, v_i, \sigma_i)$ of κ^i	64
3.6.1	Example I: density process g and time change G for a portfolio of	
	size $n > 4$	75
3.6.2	Example II: density process g and time change G for a portfolio of	
	size $n > 4$	75
3.6.3	Conditional survival probability $\mathbb{P}[T_2 > t \mathcal{F}_t^1]$ for $T_1 = 1$ in IIM1	
	with time change that is deterministic between arrival times \ldots	77
3.6.4	Survival probability $\mathbb{P}[T_1 > t \mathcal{F}_t^0] = \mathbb{P}[T_1 > t]$ in IIM2 with time	
	change that is deterministic between arrival times $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	77
3.6.5	Example of density process g and time change G that is stochastic	
	between arrival times for a portfolio of size $n > 4 \dots \dots \dots$	82
3.6.6	Path of conditional survival probability $\mathbb{P}[T_2 > t \mathcal{F}_t^1]$ for $T_1 = 1$ in	
	IIM1 with time change that is deterministic between arrival times	83
7.4.1	Summary: time-consistency properties	188

List of Symbols

General notation

\vee	$a \lor b := \max\{a, b\},$
	$\mathcal{A} \lor \mathcal{B} := \sigma(A \cup B : A \in \mathcal{A}, B \in \mathcal{B})$ for σ -algebras \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B}
\wedge	$a \wedge b := \min\{a, b\}$
«	absolute continuity
$(\cdot)^+$	$a^+ := \max\{a, 0\}$
A^c	complement of the set A
$\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}),\mathcal{B}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}),\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	Borel- σ -algebra on $\mathbb{R}, \overline{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}^n$
\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{N}_0	natural numbers, $\mathbb{N}_0 := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$
$\mathbb{R}, \overline{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}_+$	real numbers, $\overline{\mathbb{R}} := \mathbb{R} \cup \{\pm \infty\}, \mathbb{R}_+ := \{r \in \mathbb{R} r \ge 0\}$

Notation in Part I

$[\cdot], [\cdot, \cdot]$	quadratic variation process $[X] = ([X]_t)_{t \ge 0}$,
	quadratic covariation process $[X, Y] = ([X, Y]_t)_{t \ge 0}$
$\mathbb{A} = (\mathcal{A}_t)_{t \ge 0}$	right-continuous filtration generated by
	$\sigma(W_s:s\leq t)\vee\sigma(\kappa^1,\ldots,\kappa^n)\vee\mathcal{K}_{\infty},\mathrm{p.}\ 40$
\mathscr{A}^i	$\mathscr{A}^i_t := \int_0^t (1/Z^i_{s-}) d\mathscr{C}^i_s$, p. 51
a_i	parameter of ψ^i , p. 63
C	(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator of N , p. 60
C^i	(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator of N^i , p. 50
\mathscr{C}^i	$(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{F}^{i-1})$ -compensator of Z^i , p. 51
$\mathbb{E}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} = (\mathcal{E}_t^{\infty,\mathcal{N}})_{t \ge 0}$	$\mathcal{E}_t^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} := \mathcal{K}_\infty \lor \sigma(\mathcal{N}_s : s \le t), \text{ p. } 44$
$F^{(2,i)}(\cdot)$	$F^{(2,i)}(t) := \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \le t]$ in IIM2, p. 67
$F^{\Delta S}(\cdot,x)$	$F^{\Delta S}(t,x) := \mathbb{P}[\min_{s \le t} (x + \sigma W_s + \mu s) \le 0], x > 0, \text{ p. } 33$
$F^i(x) = (F^i_t(x))_{t \ge 0}$	$F_t^i(x) := F^{\Delta S}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i, x) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}, x > 0, p. 54$
$\mathbb{F}^{i-1} = (\mathcal{F}_t^{i-1})_{t \ge 0}$	$\mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} := \bigcap_{u>t} \mathcal{K}_u \lor \sigma(I_{\{T_k \le s\}} : s \le u, k \le i-1), \text{ p. 39}$
$\mathbb{F}^{\mathscr{N}} = (\mathcal{F}_t^{\mathscr{N}})_{t \ge 0}$	$\mathcal{F}_t^{\mathscr{N}} := \sigma(\mathscr{N}_s : s \le t), \text{ p. } 13$
$\mathbb{F}^W = (\mathcal{F}^W_t)_{t \ge 0}$	standard Brownian filtration, p. 30
$f^{\Delta S}(\cdot, x)$	derivative of $F^{\Delta S}(\cdot, x), x > 0$, p. 54
$f^{i}(x) = (f^{i}_{t}(x))_{t \ge 0}$	density process of $F^i(x)$, $x > 0$, p. 56
$(\cdot)^{GT}$	random time/ process/ filtration in the model of Giesecke
	and Tomecek (2005), p. 37

G	(overall) time change specified by
	$G_t := \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t - T_{i-1}}^i$ on $\{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\}$ for
	$i \in \{1, \dots, n\},$
	$G_t := \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t - T_{n-1}}^n$ on $\{T_n \le t\}$, pp. 35, 40
G^i	absolutely continuous time change, p. 40
$\mathbb{G} = (\mathcal{G}_t)_{t \geq 0}$	investor/ information filtration, p. 18,
	$\mathcal{G}_t := \bigcap_{u > t} \mathcal{K}_u \lor \sigma(I_{\{T_i \le s\}} : s \le u, i \le n), \text{ p. 39}$
$\mathbb{G}' = (\mathcal{G}'_t)_{t \geq 0}$	minimal filtration expansion of $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \ge 0}$,
σ_{i-1} (σ_{i-1})	$\mathcal{G}_t := \mathcal{F}_t \lor \sigma(\tau \land t), \text{ p. 16}$
$\mathbb{G}^{\tau} \stackrel{i}{=} (\mathcal{G}^{\tau}_{t} \stackrel{i}{=})_{t \ge 0}$	$\mathcal{G}_{t}^{i} \stackrel{\text{\tiny T}}{:=} \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i}, \text{ p. 39}$
$\mathbb{G}' = (\mathcal{G}'_t)_{t \ge 0}$	progressive filtration expansion of $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \ge 0}$,
	$ \mathcal{G}_t := \{ A \in \mathcal{G}_\infty \exists F_t \in \mathcal{F}_t, A \mid \{ \tau > t \} = F_t \mid \{ \tau > t \} \}, \\ \mathcal{G}_t := \{ T_t \mid \{ T_t \mid \{ \tau > t \} \}, \\ \mathcal{G}_t := \{ T_t \mid \{ T_t \mid \{ \tau > t \} \}, \\ \mathcal{G}_t := \{ T_t \mid \{ T_t \mid \{ \tau > t \} \}, \\ \mathcal{G}_t := \{ T_t \mid \{ $
	$g_{\infty} := \mathcal{F}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(\tau)$, p. 10
g^{i}	density process of C^i p. 55
y H	absolutely continuous time change p. 70
$\mathbb{H} = (\mathcal{H}_{t})_{t \geq 0}$	$\mathcal{H}_t := \mathcal{K}_{til} \lor \sigma(L(\sigma_{i,l})) : s \le t, i \le n)$ p. 40
$\frac{h}{h} = (h_t)_{t \ge 0}$	density process of H p. 79
K^i	ith default barrier, pp. 30, 36
$\mathbb{K} = (\mathcal{K}_t)_{t \ge 0}$	filtration that models the random environment, p. 38
κ^i	$\kappa^i := \log(K^{i-1}/K^i)$, p. 30,
	independent random variables with values in $(0, \infty)$, p. 36
λ	intensity process, pp. 12, 13
λ^i	ith intensity process, p. 51
λ^N	(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -intensity of N , p. 60
M	absolutely continuous time change defined by
	$M_t := \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} M_{\bar{T}_k - \bar{T}_{k-1}}^k + M_{t - \bar{T}_{i-1}}^i \text{ on } \{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\} \text{ for }$
	$i \in \{1, \dots, n\},$ $M \leftarrow \sum_{n=1}^{n-1} M^k \qquad l = M^n \qquad \text{on } (\bar{T} < l) = 70$
λ <i>Γ</i> ί	$M_t := \sum_{k=1} M_{\bar{T}_k - \bar{T}_{k-1}} + M_{t - \bar{T}_{n-1}}$ on $\{T_n \ge t\}$, p. 79
	absolutely continuous time change, p. 79 $\mu_{\rm e} = \mu_{\rm e} = \sigma^2/2$ pp. 20, 27
μ	$\mu := \mu_V - \sigma_V/2$, pp. 50, 57 drift of geometric Brownian motion V pp. 29, 35
N	default counting process $N_t := \sum_{i=1}^{n} I_{(T_{i} < t)}$ pp. 27–37
N^0	counting process $N_t^0 := \sum_{i=1}^n I_{\{s_i \le t\}}$, p. 27, or
N^i	default indicator process $N_t^i := I_{T \leq t1}$, p. 27
$N^{(k)}$	default indicator process $N_{t}^{(k)} := I_{(\tau_{1} < t)}$ p. 27
$\mathcal{N}(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\sigma}^2)$	normal distribution with mean $\bar{\mu}$ and variance $\bar{\sigma}^2$
N	general counting process with arrival times (ζ_m) , p. 12
n	number of names in the underlying portfolio, pp. 27, 29, 36
$ u^i$	impact process defined by $\nu_t^0 := g_t^1$,
	$\nu_t^i := (g_t^{i+1} - g_{t+T_i - T_{i-1}}^i) I_{\{T_i < \infty\}}$ for $i \in \{1, \dots, n-1\}$, p. 71
$(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$	underlying probability space in Chapter 3, p. 35

$(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$	probability space defined by $\Omega^{i-1} := \{S_{i-1} < \infty\},\$
	$\mathcal{A}^{i-1} := \mathcal{A} \cap \Omega^{i-1} := \{A \cap \Omega^{i-1} A \in \mathcal{A}\}$ and
	$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[A] := \mathbb{P}[A S_{i-1} < \infty]$ for $A \in \mathcal{A}$, p. 31
$\Phi(\cdot)$	cumulative distribution function of $\mathcal{N}(0,1)$
$\Phi_2(\cdot, \cdot, \rho)$	2-dimensional normal distribution function with standard
	normal marginal distributions and correlation coefficient ρ
$arphi(\cdot)$	probability density function of $\mathcal{N}(0,1)$
$arphi(\cdot;ar\mu,ar\sigma)$	probability density function of $\mathcal{N}(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\sigma}^2)$
$\Psi^i(\cdot)$	cumulative distribution function of κ^i in IIM2, p. 63
$\psi^i(\cdot;a_i,v_i,\sigma_i)$	probability density function of κ^i in IIM2, p. 63
S_i	$S_i := \inf\{t \ge 0 V_t \le K^i\}, \text{ pp. 30, 36}$
$\sigma=\sigma_V$	volatility of geometric Brownian motion V , pp. 29, 35
σ_i	parameter of ψ^i , p. 63
T_i	time of the i th default in the underlying portfolio, p. 27,
	$T_i := \inf\{t \ge 0 V_{G_t} \le K^i\}, \text{ p. 36}$
$ar{T_i}$	$\bar{T}_i := M_{S_i}^{-1}$, p. 79
$ au_k$	time of default of firm k , p. 27
V	asset value process in Chapter 2, pp. 18, 26,
	geometric Brownian motion in Chapter 3, pp. 29, 35
v_i	parameter of ψ^i , p. 63
W	standard Brownian motion, pp. 18, 29, 35
Z^i	\mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional survival probability of T_i , p. 50
(ζ_m)	general point process, p. 12

Notation in Part II

*	$\bar{a} \star \bar{X} := (\bar{a}_1 \bar{X}_1, \dots, \bar{a}_n \bar{X}_n)$ for $\bar{a} \in \mathbb{R}^n_+, \bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$, p. 131
$\ \cdot\ , \ \cdot\ _{\mathcal{X}}$	norm of a linear space \mathcal{X}
$\left\ \cdot\right\ _{\mathcal{A}^{1}}, \left\ \cdot\right\ _{\mathcal{A}^{1,m}}$	$\left\ \cdot \right\ _{\mathcal{A}^1} := \left\ \cdot \right\ _{\mathcal{A}^{1,1}}, \left\ \bar{\xi} \right\ _{\mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{-}} := \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E}[\sum_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} \Delta \bar{\xi}_t^i] \text{ with }$
	$\xi_{-1}^{i} := 0, \ \Delta \xi_{t}^{i} := \xi_{t}^{i} - \xi_{t-1}^{i} \text{ for } \xi \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}, \text{ pp. } 137, 148$
$\left\ \cdot\right\ _{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m}, \left\ \cdot\right\ _{(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m}$	$\ \bar{X}\ _{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m} := \max_{i \in \{1,\dots,n\}} \ \bar{X}^i\ _{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} \text{ for } \bar{X} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m,$
	$\ \bar{\Xi}\ _{(L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}})^{m}} := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \ \bar{\Xi}^{i}\ _{L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}}$ for $\bar{\Xi} \in (L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}})^{m}$, p. 149
$\ \cdot\ _{p}, \ \cdot\ _{p,m}$	(<i>m</i> -dimensional) L^p -norm defined by
	$\ \cdot\ _p := \ \cdot\ _{p,1} \text{ for all } 1 \le p \le \infty,$
	$\ \bar{X}\ _{p,m} := \sum_{i=1}^{m} (\int \bar{X}_i ^p d\mathbb{P})^{1/p} \text{ for } \bar{X} \in (L^p)^m, 1 \le p < \infty,$
	$\ \bar{X}\ _{\infty,m} := \sum_{i=1}^{m} \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} \bar{X}_i \le r \mathbb{P}\text{-a.s.}\}$ for
	$X \in (L^{\infty})^m$, pp. 97, 105, 137
$\left\ \cdot\right\ _{\mathcal{R}^{\infty}}, \left\ \cdot\right\ _{\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}}$	$\ \cdot\ _{\mathcal{R}^{\infty}} := \ \cdot\ _{\mathcal{R}^{\infty,1}},$
	$ X _{\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}} := \max_{i \in \{1,\dots,n\}} \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} \sup_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} X_t^i \le r\} \text{ for }$
	$\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{0,m}$, pp. 137, 148
$\ \cdot\ _{ au, heta}$	$ X _{\tau,\theta} := \operatorname{essinf} \{\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \sup_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} p^{\tau,\theta}(X_t) \leq \gamma \}$ for
	$X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$, p. 137

$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$	general pairing, p. 198,
	$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle := \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$, pp. 105, 137,
	$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m : (L^p)^m \times (L^q)^m \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by
	$\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_{\mathrm{m}} := \sum_{i=1}^{m} \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}^i \bar{\xi}^i], \mathrm{p. 105},$
	$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \mathcal{R}^{\infty, m} \times \mathcal{A}^{1, m} \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by
	$\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle := \sum_{i=1}^{m} \mathbb{E}[\sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \bar{X}_{i}^{i} \Delta \bar{\xi}_{i}^{i}], \mathbf{p}, 148$
$\langle \ldots \rangle^{\tau,\theta} \langle \ldots \rangle^{\tau,\theta}$	$(-, s)_m \leftarrow (-, s)_{\theta}$
$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$	$\langle \vec{v}, \vec{v} \rangle = \langle \vec{v}, \vec{v}_1 \rangle,$ $\langle \vec{v}, \vec{c} \rangle^{T, \theta}, \sum_{m=1}^{m} \mathbb{E}[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \vec{v}_i \wedge \vec{c}_i] T] f_{cm} \ \vec{v} \in \mathcal{D}^{\infty, m}$
	$ \langle \Lambda, \xi \rangle_m := \sum_{i=1} \mathbb{E}[\sum_{t \in [\tau, \theta] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \Lambda_t^* \Delta \xi_t^* \mathcal{F}_\tau] \text{ for } \Lambda \in \mathcal{K}^{\text{esym}}, $
1 0	$\xi \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$, pp. 140, 166
$I_m, 0_m$	$I_m := (1, \dots, 1), \ 0_m := (0, \dots, 0) \ (m\text{-times}), \ p. \ 106$
$AVaR_{\lambda}$	Average Value at Risk at level λ , p. 102
$\mathcal{A}^{1}, \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$	$\mathcal{A}^{1} := \mathcal{A}^{1,m}, \mathcal{A}^{1,m} := \{\xi \in \mathcal{R}^{0,m} \ \xi\ _{\mathcal{A}^{1,m}} < \infty\}, \text{pp. 137, 148}$
$\mathcal{A}_{+}^{\mathrm{I}}, \mathcal{A}_{+}^{\mathrm{I},m}$	$\mathcal{A}_{+}^{1} := \mathcal{A}_{+}^{1,1}, \ \mathcal{A}_{+}^{1,m} := \{\xi \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m} \Delta \xi_{t}^{t} \ge 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_{0},$
.1 .1 m	$i \in \{1, \dots, m\}\}, \text{ pp. } 140, 166$
$\mathcal{A}_{ au, heta}^{1}, \mathcal{A}_{ au, heta}^{1,m}$	$\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{\mathbf{I}} := \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{\mathbf{I},\mathbf{I}}, \ \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{\mathbf{I},\mathbf{II}} := p_m^{\tau,\theta} \mathcal{A}^{\mathbf{I}}, \text{ pp. 137, 150}$
$(\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta})_{+}, (\mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta})_{+}$	$(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1})_{+} := (\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,1})_{+}, \ (\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m})_{+} := p_{m}^{\tau,\theta}\mathcal{A}_{+}^{1,m}, \text{ pp. 140, 166}$
\mathcal{A}_Λ	acceptance set $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} := \{ (Y, Z) \in L^p \times (L^p)^n Y \ge \Lambda(Z) \},\$
	p. 119
\mathcal{A}^*_Λ	$\mathcal{A}^*_{\Lambda} := \{ (\xi, \xi) \in (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^* \mathbb{E}[V\xi] - \mathbb{E}[Z^t\xi] \ge 0 \text{ for all} $
	$(V,Z) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$, p. 128
$\mathcal{A}_{ ho}$	acceptance set $\mathcal{A}_{\rho} := \{ X \in \mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{tp}} \rho(X) \leq 0 \}$, p. 94
$\mathcal{A}_{ ho_0}$	acceptance set $\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0} = \{(r, X) \in \mathbb{R} \times L^p r \ge \rho_0(X)\}$, p. 119
$\mathcal{A}^*_{ ho_0}$	$\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}^* := \{(x,\psi) \in \mathbb{R} \times (L^p)^* rx - \mathbb{E}[Y\psi] \ge 0 \text{ for all } $
	$(r, Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ }, p. 128
α	penalty function on $\mathcal{M}_{1,f}$, p. 96
$lpha_{min}$	minimal penalty function on $\mathcal{M}_{1,f}$ (or $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P})$), pp. 96, 98
α_n	$\alpha_n : (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^* \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\} \text{ given by } \alpha_n(\xi,\xi) =$
	$\sup_{\substack{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0},(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}} \{-r + \mathbb{E}[(Y-V)\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[Z_i\xi_i]\},$
au heta	p. 123
$\alpha^{T,0}$ $\tau \theta$	penalty function on $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$, p. 140
$\alpha_{min}^{\gamma,o}$	minimal penalty function on $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$, p. 141
\mathcal{B}_{Λ}	acceptance set $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} := \{(Y, X) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta} Y \ge \Lambda(X) \},$
D^r	p. 157 $p_{T} = (\bar{X} - (\bar{X}))^{m} \bar{X} _{T} = (\bar{X} - \bar{X})^{m} \bar{X} _{T}$
$\mathcal{B}'_{\infty,m}$	$\mathcal{B}'_{\infty,m} := \{ X \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m \ X\ _{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m} \leq r \} \text{ for } r > 0, \text{ p. 159}$
$\mathcal{B}_{ ho}$	acceptance set $\mathcal{B}_{\rho} := \{ X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \rho(X) \leq 0 \}$, p. 138
$\mathcal{B}_{ ho_0}$	acceptance set $\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0} := \{(X, Z) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} X = \gamma I_{[\tau, \infty)}$
~	for $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}, \gamma \geq \rho_0(Z)$ }, p. 158
$\mathcal{B}_{ ho_0}$	acceptance set $\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0} := \{(\gamma, X) \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \gamma \ge \rho_0(X) \},$
_	p. 157
ba	space of all bounded, finitely additive functions μ on (Ω, \mathcal{F})
	which are absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbb{P} , p. 105

$\mathcal{C}^{d,\bar{X}}_{\rho_0\circ\Lambda}$	$\mathcal{C}^{d,\bar{X}}_{\rho_0\circ\Lambda} := \{(V,X,Z,\bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty n+3}_{\tau,\theta} V = \phi I_{[\tau,\infty)} \text{ for some }$
F0	$\phi \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ and $\mathbb{E}[\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{V}-\bar{Z})-X-Z)] - \mathbb{E}[\phi] < d\}$ for
	$d \in \mathbb{R}, \ \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta}, \ p. 163$
$\operatorname{cl} f$	closure of $f: \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$, p. 199
conv f	convex hull of $f: \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$, p. 199
$D_G \Upsilon(x_0)$	Gâteaux derivative of $\Upsilon: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{V}$ at $x_0 \in \mathcal{X}$, p. 201
$\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T$. $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T^{rel}$	$\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T := \{\varsigma \in L^1_m \varsigma \ge 0, \mathbb{E}[\varsigma] = 1\}, \ \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_m^{rel} := \{\varsigma \in \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T \varsigma > 0\}.$
1) 1	p. 144
$\mathcal{D}_{ au \; heta}$	$\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta} := \{ \xi \in (\mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta})_+ \langle 1, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} = 1 \}, \text{ p. 140}$
$\mathcal{D}^{rel}_{ au, heta}$	$\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}^{rel} := \{\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta} \mathbb{P}[\sum_{j \ge t \land \theta} \Delta \xi_j > 0] = 1 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0\},\$
- 1 - ()	p. 143
$d^+ \upsilon(x_0)$	directional derivative of $v : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ at $x_0 \in \mathcal{X}$ in the
1 6	direction $x \in \mathcal{X}$, p. 201
dom f	effective domain of $f: \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$, p. 199
$\mathcal{E}_{ au, heta}$	$\mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta} := \{ \xi \in (\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1})_{+} \langle 1, \xi \rangle^{\prime, \circ} \leq 1 \}, \text{ p. 166}$
f^*	convex conjugate of $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$, p. 199
f_{Λ}	function in f_{Λ} -constancy property, p. 108
$f_ ho$	function in f_{ρ} -constancy property, pp. 107, 151
$I_{[au, heta)}$	$I_{[\tau,\theta)} : \mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}, \ I_{[\tau,\theta)}(t,\omega) := I_{\{\tau \le t < \theta\}}(\omega), \text{ pp. 138, 150}$
$\iota_{\mathcal{E}}$	$\iota_{\mathcal{E}}(x) := 0$ if $x \in \mathcal{E}, \iota_{\mathcal{E}}(x) := +\infty$ otherwise, p. 122
K_{-}	Lagrangian function, p. 200
k(X)	systemic risk attribution of $X \in \operatorname{dom} \rho$, p. 130
L^0	space of all random variables on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$, p. 102
$L^0(\mathbb{R})$	space of all extended random variables, p. 136
$L^0_{\tau}(\mathbb{R})$	$L^0_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}) := \{ \gamma \in L^0(\mathbb{R}) \gamma \text{ is } \mathcal{F}_{\tau} \text{-measurable} \}, \text{ p. 140}$
$L^0_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}_+)$	$L^{0}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) := \{ \gamma \in L^{0}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}) \gamma \ge 0 \}, \text{ p. 140}$
L^{∞}_{τ}	$L^{\infty}_{\tau} := L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_{\tau}, \mathbb{P}), \text{ p. } 137$
$(L^{\infty}_{\tau})_{+}$	$(L^{\infty}_{\tau})_{+} := \{ \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \gamma \ge 0 \}, \text{ p. 138}$
$L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}$	$L^p_{\mathcal{H}} := L^p(\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega, \mathcal{H}, \eta) \text{ for } p \in \{1, \infty\}, \text{ p. 148}$
L^p	$L^p := \{X \in L^0 \ X\ _p < \infty\}, \text{ pp. 97, 105, 137}$
L^p_+	$L^p_+ := \{ X \in L^p X \ge 0 \}, $ p. 108
$\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{Y})$	set of bounded linear operators from \mathcal{X} to \mathcal{Y} , p. 202
Λ	aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$, p. 109
$\Lambda_{t,T}$	aggregation function at time $t, \Lambda_{t,T} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}, p. 178$
$\operatorname{lsc} f$	lower semicontinuous hull of $f: \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$, p. 199
\mathcal{M}_1	space of all probability measures on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) , p. 96
$\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P})$	space of all probability measures on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) which are
a	absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbb{P} , p. 97
$\mathcal{M}_1^q(\mathbb{P})$	$\mathcal{M}_1^q(\mathbb{P}) := \{ \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P}) d\mathbb{Q}/d\mathbb{P} \in L^q \}, \text{ p. 101}$
$\mathcal{M}_{1,f}$	space of all finitely additive set functions $Q: \mathcal{F} \to [0, 1]$
	with $Q[\Omega] = 1$, p. 96
$\mathcal{M}_{1,f}(\mathbb{P})$	space of all finitely additive set functions $Q: \mathcal{F} \to [0, 1]$
	with $Q[\Omega] = 1$ which are absolutely continuous with
	respect to \mathbb{P} , p. 97

$(\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega, \mathcal{H}, \eta)$	probability space, \mathcal{H} generated by the sets $\{t\} \times B, t \in \mathbb{N}_0$,
	$B \in \mathcal{F}_t \text{ and } \eta\left(\{t\} \times B\right) := 2^{-(t+1)} \mathbb{P}\left[B\right], \text{ p. } 148$
n	number of nodes in the underlying financial system,
	pp. 104, 147
$(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$	underlying probability space, pp. 97, 104
$(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}, \mathbb{P})$	underlying filtered probability space with $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0}$,
	$\mathcal{F}_0 := \{ \emptyset, \Omega \}, \mathrm{pp.} 136, 147$
$\mathfrak{P}(\Omega)$	set of all subsets of Ω , p. 95
$p^{ au, heta}, p_m^{ au, heta}$	$p^{\tau,\theta} := p_1^{\tau,\theta}, p_m^{\tau,\theta} : \mathcal{R}^{0,m} \to \mathcal{R}^{0,m}, p_m^{\tau,\theta}(\bar{X})_t := I_{\{\tau \le t\}} \bar{X}_{t \land \theta},$
	pp. 137, 150
$\mathcal{R}^0,\mathcal{R}^{0,m}$	$\mathcal{R}^0 := \mathcal{R}^{0,1}$, space of \mathbb{F} -adapted <i>m</i> -dimensional stochastic
	processes $\overline{X} = (\overline{X}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0}$, pp. 137, 148
$\mathcal{R}^{\infty}, \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$	$\mathcal{R}^{\infty} := \mathcal{R}^{\infty,1}, \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m} := \{ ar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{0,m} \ ar{X} \ _{\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}} < \infty \},$
	pp. 137, 148
$\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{ au, heta},\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{ au, heta}$	$\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} := \mathcal{R}^{\infty,1}_{\tau,\theta}, \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta} := p^m_{\tau,\theta} \mathcal{R}^{\infty}, \text{pp. 137, 150}$
$(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta})_+$	$(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta})_+ := \{ X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} X \ge 0 \}, \text{ p. 150}$
$\partial v(\bar{X})$	subdifferential of the proper convex function
	$v: (L^p)^m \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ at $\bar{X} \in \operatorname{dom} v$, p. 129
ρ	risk measure $\rho: \mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$, p. 93,
,	risk measure $\rho: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$, p. 99,
	systemic risk measure $\rho: (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$, p. 107,
	conditional risk measure $\rho: \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{+, \rho} \to L^{\infty}_{+, \rho}$, p. 138.
	conditional systemic risk measure $\rho: \mathcal{R}_{2,0}^{\infty,n} \to L_{2}^{\infty}$, p. 152
0+ T	conditional risk measure $\rho_{\tau,\tau}: \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ p 142
Pt,1	conditional systemic risk measure $\rho_{t,T} : \mathcal{P}_{t,T}^{\infty,n} \to L^{\infty}_{t,n}$ n 178
0 0	risk measure $a_{t}: \mathcal{P}^{\infty} \to L^{\infty}$ defined by
$p_{ au, heta}$	$\rho_{\tau,\theta} := \sum_{\tau, \theta} \rho_{\tau,\theta} : \mathcal{K}_{\tau,\theta} \to \mathcal{L}_{\tau} \text{defined by}$
	$p_{\tau,\theta}(X) := \sum_{t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} p_{t,T}(T_{\{\tau=t\}}X) \text{ for } S \leq \tau \leq 0 \leq T,$ n 142
00	single-firm risk measure $a_0: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ p 106
<i>P</i> 0	conditional single-firm risk measure $\rho_0: \mathcal{R}^{\infty} \to \mathcal{L}^{\infty}$, p. 151
$\rho_{\rm t}^0$	single-firm risk measure $\rho_0^0 \pi : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \to L_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$, p. 178
8p	so $A^1 \to A^{1,n} \to L^0(\overline{\mathbb{R}})$
$-D_{\Lambda}$	$e_{T_{A}}(\phi,\bar{\xi}) := e_{T_{A}}(\phi,\bar{\xi}) = \int V \phi^{\tau,\theta} \pm /\bar{Z} \bar{\xi}^{\tau,\theta} = 160$
~	$\mathcal{B}_{A}(\psi,\zeta) := \operatorname{esssup}_{(Y,Z)\in\mathcal{B}_{A}}(\langle 1,\psi\rangle + \langle 2,\zeta\rangle_{n}), \text{ p. 109}$
$s_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}$	$s_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}: \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{+} \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{-} \to \mathbb{K} \cup \{+\infty\}, s_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(\phi, \xi) := \mathbb{E}[s_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(\phi, \xi)],$
	p. 109 $A^{1} \rightarrow I^{0}(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$
$s_{\mathcal{B}_{ ho_0}}$	$S\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}: \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta} \to L_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}),$
	$s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\psi,\xi) := \operatorname{esssup}_{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}\{\langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi\rangle^{\prime,\circ} + \langle Y,\xi\rangle^{\prime,\circ}\},$
~	p. 108
$s_{\mathcal{B}_{ ho_0}}$	$s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} : \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^+ \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^+ \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}, s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\psi,\xi) := \mathbb{E}[s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\psi,\xi)],$ p. 168
$\sigma(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{V})$	weakest topology on \mathcal{X} such that for every $v \in \mathcal{V}$, the linear
· · ·	functional $\mathcal{X} \ni x \mapsto \langle x, v \rangle$ is continuous, pp. 137, 150, 198
$\mathfrak{T}^m_{ au heta}$	$\mathfrak{T}^{m}_{\tau\theta} := \{ \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau\theta} \mathcal{U} \in \sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m},\mathcal{A}^{1,m}) \}, \text{ p. 165}$
.,0	

au, heta	F-stopping times with $\tau < \infty$ and $0 \le \tau \le \theta \le \infty$, pp. 137,
	150
$\operatorname{VaR}_{\lambda}$	Value at Risk at level λ , p. 102
$\mathcal{X},\mathcal{Y},\mathcal{V}$	linear spaces
$(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{V})$	paired spaces, p. 198
\mathcal{X}^*	dual space of \mathcal{X}
$\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{fp}}$	space of all financial positions, p. 93
$(\xi^o, \bar{\xi}^o)$	optimal solution to optimization problem in dual
	representation of ρ , pp. 129, 130, 131
\mathcal{Z}	$\mathcal{Z} := \{ (\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y, V, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta} $
	$(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}, (V, \overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}\}, \text{ p. 176}$
$\mathcal{Z}^{\#}$	$\mathcal{Z}^{\#} := \{ (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^* (1, \xi) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}^*, (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}^* \},\$
	p. 132,
	$\mathcal{Z}^{\#} := \{ (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1, n}_{\tau, \theta} -\gamma + \langle Y - V, \xi \rangle^{\tau, \theta} + \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi} \rangle^{\tau, \theta}_{n} \leq 0$
	for all $(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y, V, \overline{Z}) \in \mathbb{Z}\}$, p. 176
$\mathcal{Z}^{\#}(\bar{X})$	$\mathcal{Z}^{\#}(\bar{X}) := \{(\bar{\xi}, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{Z}^{\#} \rho(\bar{X}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{\xi}_i \bar{X}_i] \} \text{ for }$
	$\bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$, p. 132

Abbreviations

a.e.	almost every	
a.s.	almost surely	
càdlàg	continue à droite, limites à gauche (right-continuous with	
	left limits)	
càglàd	continue à gauche, limites à droite (left-continuous with	
	right limits)	
IIM	incomplete information model	
l.s.c.	lower semicontinuous	
u.s.c.	upper semicontinuous	

Introduction

Risk is omnipresent in existing financial systems. There exist various categories of financial risk addressing different aspects and perspectives. This thesis is devoted to two specific types of risk: *portfolio credit risk*, which originates in the possibility that borrowers are not able to repay their debts as previously agreed upon, and *systemic risk* covering the risk of an entire financial system. Throughout this thesis we go beyond the perspective of a single firm and study the interaction between multiple entities.

The recent financial crisis shed light on modeling approaches concerning both types of risk. First of all, it has revealed several problems of existing models for credit derivatives and portfolio credit derivatives in particular. Consequently, valuation and risk management of these instruments and especially the development of accurate and still tractable models is an important field of research. In addition to that, we have seen the consequences arising out of a loss of trust between market participants and the questioning of their own models. On the one hand, they adapt a more risk averse behavior, which results in counterparty contagion. For instance, contagion could spread from lender to borrower. While this behavior may still be rational, in the recent financial crisis panic led to much more drastic contagion effects and finally resulted in a collapse of financial markets. The topic of systemic risk is closely related to these observations, and the events of this crisis illustrate the importance of identification, measuring and controlling this specific type of risk.

Focusing on portfolio credit risk in the first part of this thesis, we consider a credit portfolio with n counterparties. More precisely, we look at securities issued by these firms. In this framework, important products are basket credit derivatives which offer protection against the *i*th default in the underlying portfolio.

The existence of various counterparties leads to the question of how to deal with the complex dependencies between these different entities. We adopt the so called top down perspective, which means that we do not explicitly study the relationship between the considered firms but focus on the portfolio as a whole. Consequently, we are interested in the so called default counting process, which simply counts the defaults in the underlying portfolio without telling us anything about the identity of the defaulted name.

Starting with a structural definition of default in the sense of Black and Cox (1976), we develop the first top down first-passage model for portfolio credit risk. Structural variables in our model are the portfolio value process of the underlying portfolio and different time independent default barriers. We model the portfolio value process by a time changed geometric Brownian motion and suppose that a default occurs if this process hits a specific barrier. Because we have to model several defaults, our model consists of n possibly stochastic sequential default barriers.

In order to obtain a tractable model, we additionally introduce an incomplete information framework which uses some of the ideas in Giesecke (2006). We study different incomplete information models with different assumptions on the availability of information concerning the portfolio value process and the default barriers. As a consequence of this, we obtain reduced form formulas for prices of credit sensitive securities and an algorithm to simulate the default times. Nonetheless, the most important feature in our top town first-passage default model is the specific time change which itself depends on the default times. This type of time change has also been studied in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005). Due to the dependence on prior defaults, the time change determines how sequential defaults depend on each other and the resulting default counting process is self-affecting. Therefore, our model has the flexibility to incorporate feedback of default events to future events. This allows for the possibility that a default increases the likelihood of the next default. As a result of this, we are able to model the contagion effects discussed above.

While in portfolio credit risk modeling we deal with a rather limited number of counterparties, in the context of systemic risk the situation is quite different because we consider an entire financial system with much more entities. The second part of this thesis is devoted to systemic risk measurement. Here, we change the perspective from a modeling point of view towards the view of a financial regulator or a central bank. These entities are interested in measuring and managing the risk in order to maintain the stability of the financial system.

In the context of single-firm risk measurement, Artzner et al. (1999) introduced and Delbaen (2000, 2002) generalized an axiomatic approach. They studied so called coherent risk measures which assign risk to random payments and satisfy four economically desirable properties. Later, Föllmer and Schied (2002) and Frittelli and Rosazza Gianin (2002) extended these approaches and introduced convex risk measures. Coherent risk measures, as well as convex risk measures, can be characterized by their corresponding acceptance sets, and both risk measures admit a specific dual representation which clarifies the relationship between a risk measure and the largest expected loss with respect to a family of probability measures. A further generalization includes dynamic aspects of risk measurement. For instance, taking into account the availability of additional information leads to the theory of conditional risk measures. Another possibility is to define risk measures on stochastic processes which represent the evolution of firm specific financial values; see Artzner et al. (2007), Cheridito et al. (2006) and others.

In line with these approaches for single-firm risk measurement, we generalize the approach in Chen et al. (2013) who studied positively homogeneous systemic risk measures on a finite probability space. Throughout the second part of this thesis we work on a general probability space and consider a network of n firms. The main objects of interest are convex systemic risk measures which are defined by dropping the axiom of positive homogeneity in the approach of Chen et al. (2013). Our convex systemic risk measures can be decomposed into a convex single-firm risk measure and a so called aggregation function. The latter function determines how to pool the losses of the individual firms contained in the underlying financial system and provides, in contrast to the classical portfolio approach, more flexible possibilities to

Introduction

do so. Based on this fundamental decomposition result, we are able to characterize our convex systemic risk measure in terms of acceptance sets. In addition, we obtain a dual representation result, which is applied to another important subject in the context of systemic risk measurement. We consider the question of what fraction each firm contributes to the systemic risk of the whole financial system. More precisely, based on our dual representation result, we study an appropriate risk attribution method.

Beyond the scope of these static convex systemic risk measures, we develop in Chapter 7 the first dynamic approach to systemic risk and study conditional and dynamic convex systemic risk measures. In more detail, we study systemic risk measures for multi-dimensional bounded discrete time stochastic processes and incorporate the availability of new information over time. We are able to extend our decomposition and primal representation result directly to this setting and with some of the techniques from Cheridito et al. (2006) we also obtain a dual representation of conditional systemic risk measures.

Another important aspect in conjunction with dynamic risk measurement is the question of how risk measures at different points in time depend on each other. In literature, there exist several different suggestions for this issue of time-consistency. We study the notion of so called strong time-consistency in line with the idea from Riedel (2004) or Artzner et al. (2007) to use the Bellman principle in conjunction with the axiomatic risk measurement approach. Because our dynamic systemic risk measures can be decomposed into a dynamic single-firm risk measure and a dynamic aggregation function, time-consistency is studied for each of these objects. In particular, we discuss the relation between these properties and focus on the question of what time-consistency means for the underlying aggregation function.

Part I.

Portfolio credit risk modeling: a top down first-passage default model

Credit risk originates in the possibility that a person or an organization, the borrowing entity, is not able to repay its debt as previously arranged in a contractual agreement. To manage this risk, the question of how to model the risk of a single security or even a whole portfolio of securities is essential.

Among the standard credit risk modeling approaches there are two types of models: *structural* and *reduced form models*.

The basis of all structural models, starting with the approaches of Merton (1974) and Black and Cox (1976), is the definition of the default event. This default event is defined by using the firm's structural variables. We can, for example, define the time of default as the first time the value of the firm's assets falls below a specific barrier, and this barrier may depend on the value of the firm's debt. In this case, relevant structural variables are the firm's assets and the value of the firm's debt. Models of this kind are models in which a default is triggered by the first hitting of a specific barrier. These are called first-passage models. Because of this explicit definition of the default event, we know the reason for this default: The firm asset value is too low and too close to the value of the firm's debt. Another important feature of most structural models is that all the information which is needed to specify the default time of a specific firm is always publicly available for everyone, which in reality is generally not the case. We discuss this aspect of structural models in more detail in Subsection 2.1.3.

Reduced form models and intensity models do not establish a direct connection between the default event and the firm's structural variables. The first models of this type were introduced by Jarrow and Turnbull (1992), Artzner and Delbaen (1995) and Duffie and Singleton (1999). In reduced form models a default occurs if the so called default indicator process jumps. But in contrast to structural models, this process is exogenously given. This implies that we do not know the reason for the default, we only know that a default has occurred. Nevertheless, an advantage of the definition of the default time in reduced form models is that much less information is required: We do not necessarily need to know the value of the firm's assets and debt to obtain its time of default. Indeed, "reduced form models were originally constructed to be consistent with the information that is available to the market" (Jarrow and Protter (2004), p. 5). As a consequence, an important advantage of reduced form models is that pricing formulas are often tractable, and hence applicable in practice.

As discussed so far, structural and reduced form models distinguish between the assumptions on the information that is available to the modeler. Jarrow and Protter (2004) and Elizalde (2006) discuss this information based distinction of structural and reduced form models in detail. Jarrow and Protter (2004) emphasize that a structural model can be converted into a reduced form model if we transform the set of available information. This means that we have to relax the assumption that all information is publicly available. Therefore, a link between these two approaches is given by so called *incomplete information models*. For a more detailed discussion we refer again to Subsection 2.1.3. Since these models based on incomplete information can be arranged between structural and reduced form models, they have the potential to combine the advantages of both approaches. This means they have the

advantage of an economically explainable default event as in structural models and provide applicable pricing formulas as in reduced form models; see also Giesecke and Goldberg (2004a,b).

In this part of the thesis we are interested in credit risk at the portfolio level. Therefore, we consider a reference portfolio consisting of n names. Giesecke (2008) points out that every model of portfolio credit risk has three main objects of interest. These are the available information, the default times (and in conjunction with these, the corresponding process counting the defaults in the portfolio) and finally the loss distribution at a default event. For simplicity we concentrate on the available information and the default times and consider a constant loss at a default event. The available information is modeled by a filtration which is denoted by \mathbb{G} throughout this thesis. Moreover, we distinguish between two types of default times. On the one hand, we consider the default time of a specific firm $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$; on the other hand, we study the time of the *i*th default in the underlying portfolio. In the latter case, we do not necessarily know which firm belongs to the *i*th default.

With this terminology we are able to distinguish between top down and bottom up approaches in credit risk. Brigo et al. (2010) propose a very intuitive distinction. In bottom up models we try "to model dependence by specifying dependence across single default times" (Brigo et al. (2010), p. 2). In the top down framework we "could completely give up single-name default modelling and focus on the pool loss and default-counting process" (Brigo et al. (2010), p. 8). By using a more technical distinction, we can concentrate on the content of the filtration \mathbb{G} ; see also Giesecke (2008) and Bielecki et al. (2010) who provide a detailed overview focused on reduced form models. In top down and bottom up approaches the filtration \mathbb{G} contains enough information to identify the default events, but in bottom up models an investor or a modeler is also informed about the identity of a defaulted name. Hence, in comparison to top down models, the information filtration contains additional information.

We can find reduced form approaches with a top down perspective as well as reduced form approaches with a bottom up perspective. But to our knowledge, in the context of structural models, there exist only bottom up models in the literature so far. For an overview see the table below. Examples of these different approaches are discussed in Section 2.2.

model type	$top \ down$	bottom up
structural	×	\checkmark
reduced form	\checkmark	\checkmark

We develop the first top down first-passage model for portfolio credit risk. More precisely, we start with a structural definition of default and incorporate the idea that only partial information about the structural variables is available to investors in the market. Structural variables in our model are the portfolio value process of the underlying portfolio that consists of n names (corresponding to the firm's asset value process in case of a single entity) and different time independent default barriers K^i with $K^1 > K^2 > \ldots > K^n$. The time of the *i*th default in the underlying portfolio is denoted by T_i and defined as the first time the portfolio value process hits the *i*th

default barrier K^i . Since our model is an incomplete information model, it does not only have the advantage of an economically explainable default event, but it also incorporates advantages of reduced form models. Indeed, we obtain explicit solutions for the so called default trends of the different default times T_i for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. The specific form of these default trends allows us to determine tractable solutions for prices of credit sensitive securities. In detail, we consider prices of contingent claims that pay a specific amount at time T only if the *i*th default in the underlying pool of names did not occur up to time T, i.e., if $T < T_i$; otherwise, the payout is equal to zero. Moreover, we will see that our default times are totally inaccessible, which is typical for reduced form models and a desired property. As Jarrow and Protter (2004) point out, totally inaccessible default times imply that default is not predictable, i.e., it occurs by surprise. Finally, based on the previous results for default trends, we are able to determine the compensator of the default counting process of the underlying portfolio, and we obtain an algorithm to simulate our default times in a similar way to Giesecke and Goldberg (2004b). This algorithm is typical for reduced form models.

To implement the idea of partially available information, we use the ideas from the incomplete information approach of Giesecke (2006). This approach has also been considered in the bottom up first-passage structural model in Giesecke and Goldberg (2004b). Here, the authors model for each firm an individual firm value process and suppose that these are correlated with each other in order to model the dependence on common market factors. The default time is equal to the first time this process falls below a firm specific stochastic barrier, and these barriers are supposed to be dependent. This is justified by the observation that debt levels of different firms depend on each other. Moreover, neither the asset values nor the default barriers are available to investors. As a consequence of this modeling approach, the model covers contagion effects such as jumps in prices of credit sensitive securities after a default event.

There also exist top down reduced form models with a similar property. To be more precisely, the conditional portfolio default rate, i.e., the portfolio intensity λ , is sensitive to the occurrence of a default. Technically, this means that after each event, the portfolio intensity possibly changes and not simply because there are less potential defaulters in the portfolio; see Giesecke (2008). Examples of such approaches are Giesecke and Tomecek (2005), Arnsdorf and Halperin (2009), Ding et al. (2009) and Cont and Minca (2013) among many others. We refer to Giesecke (2008) for a more detailed overview and more references.

In addition, we can find other models that focus on such contagion effects and which are closely linked to the previously introduced incomplete information approaches; see, for instance, Jiao (2009), Chapter 2 in Kchia (2011) and El Karoui et al. (2013). All previously mentioned approaches start with a default-free reference filtration and consider enlargements of this filtration with respect to ordered or unordered default times. The model in El Karoui et al. (2013) is based on the approach in El Karoui et al. (2010) and mainly studies the case of ordered default times. A key assumption in El Karoui et al. (2013) is the existence of conditional densities for the default times. Thus, these kinds of models are referred to as conditional density approaches. As a result of the model definition in El Karoui et al. (2013), "conditional densities given the global information depend explicitly on the past defaults" (El Karoui et al. (2013), p. 8). In particular, the timing of these defaults matters. Kchia (2011) analyzes credit contagion in the conditional density approach with the focus on unordered default times. Jiao (2009), who also concentrates on unordered default times, studies a model framework which allows to remove the density hypothesis. In our model we do not claim a corresponding assumption to the density hypothesis in El Karoui et al. (2013), but due to our incomplete information framework, we also work with successively enlarged filtrations. Moreover, we will see that in our model the timing of past defaults is also relevant for future default events.

Since we want to construct a top down first-passage default model, the question is how to incorporate feedback of default events (see Giesecke (2008)) in such a model framework. Our solution to this problem is the usage of *time change techniques*. A time change can be seen as a map that transforms calendar time in financial time in the sense that the financial time is strongly connected with the financial activities that occurred up to calender time t. If, for example, the volatility in the market is very high in a given period, then financial time will run faster than the corresponding calender time. See, for instance, Albanese et al. (2003) or Carr and Wu (2004) for this interpretation.

In general, we can distinguish between two types of time changes. A first possibility is to use nondecreasing Lévy processes; see Cont and Tankov (2004). These time changes are also called Lévy subordinators and the first application in finance of such time changes can be found in Clark (1973). Second, we can focus on absolutely continuous time changes which are defined as integrals of stochastic processes.

Time change techniques are well known and often applied in equity modeling. Geman et al. (2001) consider models for financial market price processes that are given by purely discontinuous time changed Brownian motions. Important examples of time changed Brownian motions with a specific Lévy subordinator are the well known Variance Gamma process, see Madan and Seneta (1990) and Madan et al. (1998), or the Normal Inverse Gaussian model of Barndorff-Nielsen (1998). There are also many applications of absolutely continuous time changes in equity modeling; see, for instance, the stochastic volatility models of Heston (1993) and Carr et al. (2003).

Time changes are also increasingly popular in credit risk modeling. Albanese et al. (2003) consider, for example, the so called credit quality process of a specific firm, which takes values in [0, 1]. This credit quality process is given by a diffusion process that is time changed by a gamma process. Therefore, the resulting process includes jumps such that migration rates can be correctly fitted by the model.

Examples of time change models in multi-name credit risk are the bottom up structural models in Overbeck and Schmidt (2005), Luciano and Schoutens (2006) and Hurd (2009). Overbeck and Schmidt (2005) study the case of two underlying names and assume that the ability-to-pay processes are given by correlated Brownian motions which are transformed by deterministic time changes. In this approach the time change differs for each firm. In contrast to this, Luciano and Schoutens (2006) use the same gamma time change for all names in the portfolio. Hurd (2009) models the so called log-leverage ratio process as a time changed Brownian motion. Here, each time change is the weighted sum of a firm specific time change and a common time change shared by all names.

In the context of top down reduced form approaches, examples of models using time change techniques are the models in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) and Ding et al. (2009). The first approach models the default counting process of the underlying portfolio as a time changed Poisson process and the second approach assumes that this counting process is given by a time changed birth process. Both approaches have a self-exiting default counting process in common, which means that prior defaults have an influence on the arrival of future default events. This is exactly the property we want to incorporate in our model. But while in the model of Ding et al. (2009) the self-affecting default counting process is a direct consequence of the definition of the underlying birth process, Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) obtain this result by the specific time change which depends at time t on all default times that occurred up to this point in time.

We will use this property and define our portfolio value process as a time changed geometric Brownian motion, and our time change is similar to the one introduced in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005). In Chapter 3 we will see that the resulting default counting process is also self-affecting such that the timing of past defaults is relevant for future default events.

The outline of the first part of this thesis is the following. In Chapter 1 we repeat important mathematical preliminaries. The aim of Chapter 2 is to give an overview of the different perspectives in modeling (portfolio) credit risk. Therefore, the differences between structural and reduced form models and bottom up and top down models are discussed in detail. Chapter 3 contains the main results of this part of the thesis. Here, we introduce and study our top down first-passage default model. To be more precisely, we discuss two different models based on different assumptions concerning the availability of information. At the end of this chapter we analyze a specific time change and determine the implications to our model.

Mathematical preliminaries 1.

In this chapter we introduce the terminology needed in the subsequent study. In the first part of this thesis we focus on the jump process that counts the defaults in a given portfolio. These processes are specific types of so called point processes. We discuss in Section 1.1 important facts about point processes in general. Section 1.2 is dedicated to compensator processes and their computation. Throughout this chapter let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ be the underlying probability space and let $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t>0}$ be a filtration on this space.

1.1. Point processes

The following definitions and statements are based on Brémaud (1981).

Definition 1.1.1. A point process over $[0,\infty)$ is a sequence (ζ_m) of random variables with values in $[0,\infty]$ such that $\zeta_0 = 0$ and $\zeta_m < \infty$ implies $\zeta_m < \zeta_{m+1}$. If we define $\zeta_{\infty} := \lim_{m \to \infty} \zeta_m$, then the associated process \mathcal{N} defined by

$$\mathcal{N}_t := \begin{cases} m & \text{if } t \in [\zeta_m, \zeta_{m+1}), m \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ +\infty & \text{if } t \ge \zeta_\infty \end{cases}$$

is called counting process. The point process (ζ_m) is called nonexplosive if and only if $\zeta_{\infty} = \infty$ or equivalently $\mathcal{N}_t < \infty$ \mathbb{P} -almost surely (a.s.) for all $t \geq 0$. We say that \mathcal{N} is integrable if and only if $\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{N}_t] < \infty$ for all $t \geq 0$.

Remark 1.1.2. Since there exists a one-to-one correspondence between the sequence (ζ_m) and the corresponding process \mathcal{N} , the process \mathcal{N} is also called *point* process.

The following definition introduces a specific point process.

Definition 1.1.3. Consider a point process \mathcal{N} that is adapted to the filtration \mathbb{F} and let λ be a nonnegative, measurable process such that

- 1. λ_t is \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable for all $t \ge 0$, 2. $\int_0^t \lambda_s ds < \infty \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for all $t \ge 0$.

We call \mathcal{N} an \mathbb{F} -doubly stochastic Poisson process with (stochastic) intensity λ if and only if

$$\mathbb{E}[\exp(iu(\mathcal{N}_t - \mathcal{N}_s))|\mathcal{F}_s] = \exp\left((e^{iu} - 1)\int_s^t \lambda_v dv\right)$$
(1.1)

for all $0 \leq s \leq t$ and all $u \in \mathbb{R}$. If λ is deterministic, then \mathcal{N} is called \mathbb{F} -Poisson process and if $\lambda \equiv 1$, then we say that \mathcal{N} is a standard \mathbb{F} -Poisson process. In case of $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{F}^{\mathscr{N}} = (\mathcal{F}_t^{\mathscr{N}})_{t \geq 0}$ with $\mathcal{F}_t^{\mathscr{N}} := \sigma(\mathscr{N}_s : s \leq t)$, we call \mathscr{N} a Poisson process. If $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{F}^{\mathscr{N}}$ and $\lambda \equiv 1$, then \mathscr{N} is called standard Poisson process.

Remark 1.1.4. Brémaud (1981) points out that the first property and Equation (1.1) in Definition 1.1.3 enable us to condition on \mathcal{F}_0 in (1.1) such that

$$\mathbb{E}[\exp(iu(\mathcal{N}_t - \mathcal{N}_s))|\mathcal{F}_0] = \exp\left((e^{iu} - 1)\int_s^t \lambda_v dv\right) = \mathbb{E}[\exp(iu(\mathcal{N}_t - \mathcal{N}_s))|\mathcal{F}_s \vee \mathcal{F}_0].$$

Hence, $\mathcal{N}_t - \mathcal{N}_s$ is \mathbb{P} -independent of \mathcal{F}_s given \mathcal{F}_0 . Moreover, (1.1) implies the well known property

$$\mathbb{P}[\mathscr{N}_t - \mathscr{N}_s = k | \mathcal{F}_s] = \exp\left(-\int_s^t \lambda_v dv\right) \frac{\left(\int_s^t \lambda_v dv\right)^k}{k!} \quad \text{for } k \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ and } 0 \le s \le t.$$
(1.2)

In case of a standard \mathbb{F} -Poisson process \mathcal{N} starting in 0, it follows from Equation (1.2) that

$$\mathbb{P}[\mathcal{N}_t - \mathcal{N}_s = k | \mathcal{F}_s] = \exp\left(-(t-s)\right) \frac{(t-s)^k}{k!} \quad \text{for } k \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ and } 0 \le s \le t.$$

The previous equation implies that in this special case of a standard \mathbb{F} -Poisson process, the waiting times $(\zeta_m - \zeta_{m-1})_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ are \mathbb{P} -independent and additionally satisfy

$$\mathbb{P}[\zeta_m - \zeta_{m-1} > t] = \exp(-t) \text{ for } m \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } t \ge 0.$$

This means that the waiting times are exponentially distributed with parameter $\lambda = 1$. Furthermore, it follows that $\mathbb{P}[\zeta_m < \infty] = 1$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$. We refer to Section 10.2 in Meintrup and Schäffler (2005) for more details.

So far, we have defined the intensity of a specific point process, the so called Poisson process. The following definition clarifies the term for general point processes.

Definition 1.1.5. Consider an \mathbb{F} -adapted point process \mathcal{N} and a nonnegative, \mathbb{F} -progressive process λ that satisfies $\int_0^t \lambda_s ds < \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \geq 0$. If for all nonnegative, \mathbb{F} -predictable processes Y the equation

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty Y_s d\mathcal{N}_s\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty Y_s \lambda_s ds\right]$$

holds, then we say that \mathcal{N} admits the (\mathbb{F} -)intensity λ .

Theorem 1.1.6 (See Theorem T8, Chapter II in Brémaud (1981)). Suppose that the point process \mathcal{N} admits the \mathbb{F} -intensity λ . Then \mathcal{N} is nonexplosive and the following statements hold:

- 1. M defined by $M_t := \mathscr{N}_t \int_0^t \lambda_s ds$ is an \mathbb{F} -local martingale.
- 2. If X is an \mathbb{F} -predictable process with $\mathbb{E}[\int_0^t |X_s|\lambda_s ds] < \infty$ for all $t \ge 0$, then the process Y defined by $Y_t := \int_0^t X_s dM_s$ is an \mathbb{F} -martingale.

3. If X is an \mathbb{F} -predictable process with $\int_0^t |X_s| \lambda_s ds < \infty \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for all $t \ge 0$, then the process Y defined by $Y_t := \int_0^t X_s dM_s$ is an \mathbb{F} -local martingale.

The next result characterizes the intensity in terms of martingale properties.

Theorem 1.1.7 (See Theorem T9, Chapter II in Brémaud (1981)). Consider a nonexplosive, \mathbb{F} -adapted point process \mathscr{N} and let λ be a nonnegative, \mathbb{F} -progressive process such that the process $(\mathscr{N}_{t\wedge\zeta_m} - \int_0^{t\wedge\zeta_m} \lambda_s ds)_{t\geq 0}$ is an \mathbb{F} -martingale for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Then λ is the \mathbb{F} -intensity of \mathscr{N} .

According to Theorem T12, Chapter II in Brémaud (1981), \mathbb{F} -predictable intensities are unique, and Theorem T13, Chapter II in Brémaud (1981) states that for every point process \mathscr{N} with \mathbb{F} -intensity λ , there always exists an \mathbb{F} -intensity $\bar{\lambda}$ that is \mathbb{F} -predictable.

The following results are special cases from the results in Chapter A.2 in Brémaud (1981) and will be applied in Chapter 3.

Theorem 1.1.8 (See Theorem T23, Chapter A2 in Brémaud (1981)). Consider a point process \mathcal{N} with corresponding sequence (ζ_m) . Then the following statements hold:

1. ζ_m is an $\mathbb{F}^{\mathscr{N}}$ -stopping time for all $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$. 2. $\mathcal{F}_t^{\mathscr{N}} = \sigma(I_{\{\zeta_m \leq s\}} : s \leq t, m \in \mathbb{N}).$

Theorem 1.1.9 (See Theorem T26 and Theorem T28, Chapter A2 in Brémaud (1981)). Consider an $(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}))$ -valued process Y such that there exists for all $t \geq 0$ and all $\omega \in \Omega$ an $\varepsilon(t, \omega) > 0$ with

$$Y_{t+s}(\omega) = Y_t(\omega)$$
 on $[t, t + \varepsilon(t, \omega))$.

Then the natural filtration \mathbb{F}^{Y} is right-continuous and for all \mathbb{F}^{Y} -stopping times τ , we have

$$\mathcal{F}^Y_\tau = \sigma(Y_{s \wedge \tau} : s \ge 0).$$

Theorem 1.1.10 (See Theorem T30, Chapter A2 in Brémaud (1981)). Consider a point process \mathcal{N} with corresponding sequence (ζ_m) . Then the following equations are satisfied:

1.
$$\mathcal{F}_{\zeta_m}^{\mathcal{N}} = \sigma(\zeta_i : 0 \le i \le m) \text{ for all } m \in \mathbb{N}.$$

2. $\mathcal{F}_{\zeta_{\infty}}^{\mathcal{N}} = \mathcal{F}_{\infty}^{\mathcal{N}} = \sigma(\zeta_i : i \in \mathbb{N}_0).$

1.2. The compensator of a stochastic process

The following theorem is well known and enables us to define the so called compensator of a stochastic process. In what follows, we assume that \mathbb{F} satisfies the usual conditions.

We call a càdlàg process (a process which is right-continuous with left limits) $C = (C_t)_{t\geq 0}$ an *increasing process* if the paths of $C : t \mapsto C_t(\omega)$ are nondecreasing for almost every (a.e.) $\omega \in \Omega$. **Theorem 1.2.1** (Doob-Meyer decomposition; see, e.g., Theorem 11, Chapter III in Protter (2005)). Consider a càdlàg \mathbb{F} -supermartingale X with $X_0 = 0$ such that the family

$$\{X_{\tau}|\tau \text{ is a finite stopping time}\}$$

is uniformly integrable. Then there exists a unique, increasing, \mathbb{F} -predictable process C with $C_0 = 0$ such that the process M given by $M_t = X_t + C_t$ is a uniformly integrable \mathbb{F} -martingale.

Definition 1.2.2. We call the process C the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{F}) -compensator of X. If there is no confusion about the probability measure, we also use the term \mathbb{F} -compensator or simply compensator.

In the subsequent study we are interested in point processes \mathscr{N} which have a finite number of jumps, i.e., there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\zeta_m = \infty$ for m > n. Since \mathscr{N} is an increasing and bounded process, we know from the Doob-Meyer decomposition theorem that \mathscr{N} admits the unique compensator C such that $\mathscr{N} - C$ is an \mathbb{F} martingale. If we additionally assume that there exists a nonnegative, \mathbb{F} -progressive process λ such that $C_t = \int_0^t \lambda_s ds \mathbb{P}$ -a.s., then it follows from Theorem 1.1.7 that λ is the intensity of \mathscr{N} . Thus, the compensator of \mathscr{N} is strongly connected to the intensity. Nevertheless, this does not imply the existence of such an intensity.

For the following remark and the corresponding proof see also Chapter II in Brémaud (1981).

Remark 1.2.3. Let us again consider a nonexplosive, \mathbb{F} -adapted point process \mathcal{N} and a nonnegative, \mathbb{F} -progressive process λ such that

$$\left(\mathscr{N}_{t\wedge\zeta_m} - \int_0^{t\wedge\zeta_m} \lambda_s ds\right)_{t\geq 0} \quad \text{is an } \mathbb{F}\text{-martingale for all } m\in\mathbb{N}.$$
(1.3)

If we additionally assume that λ is right-continuous and bounded, then we obtain

$$\lambda_s = \lim_{t \downarrow s} \frac{1}{t-s} \mathbb{E} \left[\left| \mathcal{N}_t - \mathcal{N}_s \right| \mathcal{F}_s \right] \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.}$$

This equation can be verified as follows: Fix $0 \leq s \leq t$. The martingale property in (1.3) yields $\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{N}_{t \wedge \zeta_m} - \mathcal{N}_{s \wedge \zeta_m} | \mathcal{F}_s] = \mathbb{E}[\int_{s \wedge \zeta_m}^{t \wedge \zeta_m} \lambda_u du | \mathcal{F}_s]$ P-a.s. for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. For $m \to \infty$ we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left.\mathcal{N}_{t}-\mathcal{N}_{s}\right|\mathcal{F}_{s}\right]=\mathbb{E}\left[\left.\int_{s}^{t}\lambda_{u}du\right|\mathcal{F}_{s}\right]\quad\mathbb{P}-\text{a.s.}$$

If λ is right-continuous and bounded, it follows from Lebesgue's averaging theorem and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem that

$$\lim_{t \downarrow s} \frac{1}{t-s} \mathbb{E} \left[\mathcal{N}_t - \mathcal{N}_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_s \right] = \lim_{t \downarrow s} \frac{1}{t-s} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_s^t \lambda_u du \middle| \mathcal{F}_s \right] = \mathbb{E} \left[\lambda_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_s \right] = \lambda_s \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.}$$

Finally, the following lemma addresses important properties of the so called compensated process $\mathcal{N} - C$.

Lemma 1.2.4 (See Lemma 3.1 in Pang et al. (2007)). Let \mathscr{N} be a nonexplosive, integrable, \mathbb{F} -adapted point process with compensator C. If C is continuous, then the \mathbb{F} -martingale $M := \mathscr{N} - C$ is square-integrable and the corresponding quadratic variation process satisfies $[M] = \mathscr{N}$.

Computing the compensator via the Jeulin-Yor theorem

Let us consider a nonnegative random variable τ . If τ is not an \mathbb{F} -stopping time, we can expand \mathbb{F} and obtain an expanded filtration $\mathbb{G} = (\mathcal{G}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ such that τ is a \mathbb{G} -stopping time. For the remaining part of this section we suppose that τ is not an \mathbb{F} -stopping time.

We are interested in computing the compensator of the process $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}})_{t\geq 0}$. Note that $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}})_{t\geq 0}$ is a G-submartingale such that this process admits a G-compensator according to the Doob-Meyer decomposition theorem. We call this compensator G-compensator of τ .

First, we distinguish between three different filtration expansions.

Definition 1.2.5. The minimal filtration expansion $\mathbb{G}' = (\mathcal{G}'_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is the smallest expansion such that τ is a stopping time with respect to this filtration, i.e., it is given by

$$\mathcal{G}'_t := \mathcal{F}_t \lor \sigma(\tau \land t) = \mathcal{F}_t \lor \sigma(\{\tau \le s\} : s \le t).$$

The progressive filtration expansion is defined as the filtration $\mathbb{G}^{\tau} = (\mathcal{G}_t^{\tau})_{t \geq 0}$ such that

$$\mathcal{G}_t^{\tau} := \{ A \in \mathcal{G}_{\infty} | \exists F_t \in \mathcal{F}_t, A \cap \{\tau > t\} = F_t \cap \{\tau > t\} \}$$

with $\mathcal{G}_{\infty} := \mathcal{F}_{\infty} \vee \sigma(\tau)$. Finally, we say that a filtration expansion $\mathbb{G} = (\mathcal{G}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ is of the Guo-Zeng type if τ is a \mathbb{G} -stopping time and

$$\mathcal{G}_t \cap \{\tau > t\} = \mathcal{F}_t \cap \{\tau > t\}.$$

For a detailed discussion of these filtration expansions we refer to Guo and Zeng (2008), who focus on the last filtration expansion, and Okhrati (2013). Chapter VI in Protter (2005) considers filtration expansions in general.

Note that the progressive filtration expansion is right-continuous; see also Chapter VI in Protter (2005). By the definition of the progressive filtration expansion, we have $\mathcal{F}_{\infty} \cap \{\tau \leq t\} \subset \mathcal{G}_{t}^{\tau}$. This means that on the event $\{\tau \leq t\}$, the σ -algebra \mathcal{G}_{t}^{τ} contains the entire information included in \mathcal{F}_{∞} , i.e., it contains the whole information that is encoded in the smaller filtration \mathbb{F} up to time ∞ . Guo and Zeng (2008) point out that this is not realistic from a modeling point of view. In contrast to the progressive filtration expansion, the minimal filtration expansion does not satisfy this critical property. Moreover, both the minimal filtration expansion and the progressive filtration expansion are expansions of the Guo-Zeng type. We refer again to Guo and Zeng (2008) for more details.

Now, we come back to our problem of computing the compensator of the process $(I_{\tau < t})_{t \ge 0}$. If we define the \mathbb{F} -conditional survival probability by

$$Z_t := \mathbb{E}[I_{\{\tau > t\}} | \mathcal{F}_t],$$

then Z is an \mathbb{F} -supermartingale since for all $s \leq t$, we have

$$\begin{split} &Z_s = \mathbb{E}[1 - I_{\{\tau \leq s\}} | \mathcal{F}_s] \geq \mathbb{E}[1 - I_{\{\tau \leq t\}} | \mathcal{F}_s] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[1 - I_{\{\tau \leq t\}} | \mathcal{F}_t] | \mathcal{F}_s] = \mathbb{E}[Z_t | \mathcal{F}_s] \quad \mathbb{P}-\text{a.s.} \end{split}$$

The following definition is closely related to this \mathbb{F} -supermartingale. This definition is based on Definition 5.1 in Giesecke (2006), and we will see below that the introduced process will play an important role in computing the \mathbb{G} -compensator of τ .

Definition 1.2.6. Suppose that $Z_t > 0$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ and let $Z_{t-} := \lim_{s \uparrow t} Z_s$ and $Z_{0-} := 1$. If \mathscr{C}^Z denotes the \mathbb{F} -compensator of Z, then the process \mathscr{A} defined by

$$\mathscr{A}_t := \int_0^t \frac{1}{Z_{s-}} d\mathscr{C}_s^Z \tag{1.4}$$

is called default trend.

Jeulin and Yor (1978) proved in case of a progressive expansion $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{G}^{\tau}$ that the problem of computing the \mathbb{G} -compensator of τ can be transformed to the problem of computing the \mathbb{F} -compensator of Z. This result was extended by Guo and Zeng (2008) to the more general expansions of the Guo-Zeng type.

Theorem 1.2.7 (Extended Jeulin-Yor theorem; see Theorem 1.1 in Guo and Zeng (2008)). Let the filtration \mathbb{F} satisfy the usual conditions with $\mathcal{F}_{\infty} \subset \mathcal{F}$ and let \mathbb{G} be a filtration expansion of the Guo-Zeng type of \mathbb{F} . Then the \mathbb{G} -compensator of $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}})_{t\geq 0}$ is given by

$$\int_0^{t\wedge\tau} \frac{1}{Z_{s-}} d\mathscr{C}_s^Z.$$

2. Modeling (portfolio) credit risk

In this chapter we first take a closer look at the two main types of models among the standard credit risk modeling approaches. We discuss the main ideas of structural and reduced form models in Section 2.1. For this purpose it suffices to consider the case of a single counterparty. In Section 2.2 we analyze the two main types for modeling portfolio credit risk, i.e., bottom up and top down models.

Throughout this chapter let $(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbb{G}, \mathbb{P})$ be a filtered probability space and let $\mathbb{G} = (\mathcal{G}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ satisfy the usual conditions. From now on, we assume that the filtration \mathbb{G} models the flow of information over time which is available to an investor in the market. Hence, we call this filtration *information filtration* or *investor filtration*.

2.1. Structural versus reduced form models

2.1.1. Important structural models

The basis of all structural models is the definition of the default event. In structural models a firm defaults if its firm value is lower than a given trigger level. Since all structural models have such a default barrier in common, they are also called threshold models. In this subsection we shortly introduce two important structural models: the *Merton model*, which can be considered as the first structural model, and the *Black-Cox model*, the first first-passage model. The second model is of special interest since our model in Chapter 3 is strongly connected to the ideas of this approach.

In this subsection let the filtration \mathbb{G} be generated by $\sigma(W_s : s \leq t)$ where W is a standard Brownian motion with respect to the risk neutral probability measure \mathbb{P} .

Merton (1974) used the setting of the standard Black-Scholes model with time horizon T'. To define the time of default of a given firm, the main structural variables considered by Merton are the firm's asset value and the value of the firm's debt. In Merton's model a firm's asset value V is described by a continuous-time geometric Brownian motion, i.e.,

$$dV_t = V_t r dt + V_t \sigma dW_t$$

where r is a constant risk-free rate of a money market account and $\sigma > 0$. The firm's capital structure is assumed to be given by equity and debt which is a zero coupon bond with maturity $T \leq T'$ and face value K. The equity value at time T is given by $S_T = \max\{V_T - K, 0\}$, and the payoff of the bond is equal to $B_T = \min\{K, V_T\}$. In the Merton model a firm defaults at time T if the firm's asset value is too low to pay back the face value of the debt to the bondholders, i.e., if $V_T < K$. Therefore,

the probability of default as a function of T can be easily computed by

$$\mathbb{P}[\tau \le T] = \mathbb{P}[V_T < K] = \Phi\left(\frac{-\log(V_0/K) - (r - \sigma^2/2)T}{\sigma\sqrt{T}}\right)$$

Black and Cox (1976) extended the Merton model in the sense that a firm can also default at points in time with t < T, i.e., a default can occur before the maturity T of the bond. Default is defined as the first time the firm value falls below a deterministic barrier. Originally, the barrier was thought of as the point at which safety covenants of the bond are responsible for the default of the firm. Again, the firm value is given by a geometric Brownian motion as in Merton (1974), and the default barrier is modeled by

$$K_t = \bar{K} \exp(-\gamma (T - t)),$$

for $\gamma > 0$ and a constant \overline{K} such that $\overline{K} \exp(-\gamma(T-t)) \leq K \exp(-r(T-t))$ for all $t \in [0,T]$. Hence, the payoff to debt at time T is equal to $B_T = \min\{K, V_T\}I_{\{\tau > T\}}$. Since the default time is given by

$$\tau = \inf\{t \in [0, T] | V_t \le K_t\} \quad (\inf \emptyset := +\infty),$$

we obtain in case of a constant default barrier (i.e., $K_t = K$ for all $t \in [0, T]$) that

$$\mathbb{P}[\tau \le T] = \mathbb{P}\left[\inf_{0 \le s \le T} (\log(V_0/K) + (r - \sigma^2/2)s + \sigma W_s) \le 0\right].$$

This probability is well known (see, for instance, Chapter 3 in Jeanblanc et al. (2009) or Section 2.8 in Karatzas and Shreve (1988)) and given by

$$\mathbb{P}[\tau \le T] = \Phi\left(\frac{-\log(V_0/K) - (r - \sigma^2/2)T}{\sigma\sqrt{T}}\right) + e^{-2(r - \sigma^2/2)\log(V_0/K)/\sigma^2}\Phi\left(\frac{-\log(V_0/K) + (r - \sigma^2/2)T}{\sigma\sqrt{T}}\right).$$

Finally, note that this probability of default is equal to the Merton probability of default plus an additional term. This additional term is justified by the fact that in the Black-Cox model default can also occur prior to T. Obviously, this implies that the probability $\mathbb{P}[\tau \leq T]$ has to be higher than in Merton's model.

2.1.2. Reduced form models

In contrast to structural models, reduced form models, which were pioneered by Jarrow and Turnbull (1992), Artzner and Delbaen (1995) and Duffie and Singleton (1999), do not explicitly consider the relationship between default and the firm's financial situation. Here, default is indicated by a jump process which is given exogenously.

As discussed in Jeanblanc and Le Cam (2008), in the context of reduced form models, we can distinguish between two types: intensity based and hazard process models. In this subsection we shortly introduce both approaches and highlight important aspects. For more details we refer the reader, for instance, to Elliot et al. (2000), Jeanblanc and Rutkowski (1999, 2000), Bielecki and Rutkowski (2004) and Lando (2004).

The intensity based approach: An important feature of intensity based models, in particular in comparison to hazard process approaches, is that solely the investor filtration \mathbb{G} is considered. In intensity based approaches the default time τ is a positive random variable. Its conditional distribution can be described by using the intensity process λ ; see, for instance, Lando (2004). We can interpret the intensity λ as a conditional default rate in the sense that

$$\mathbb{P}[\tau \le s + \Delta s | \mathcal{G}_s] \approx I_{\{\tau > s\}} \lambda_s \Delta s.$$
(2.1)

More precisely, we assume that the G-stopping time τ denotes the time of a firm's default. The corresponding jump process is given by $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}})_{t \geq 0}$. As a nondecreasing indicator process, $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}})_{t \geq 0}$ is a G-submartingale such that by the Doob-Meyer decomposition theorem (see Theorem 1.2.1), there exists a compensator $C^{(\tau)}$ such that $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}} - C_t^{(\tau)})_{t \geq 0}$ is a G-martingale. Since $I_{\{\tau \leq t \wedge \tau\}} = I_{\{\tau \leq t\}}$ for each $t \geq 0$ and $(I_{\{\tau \leq t \wedge \tau\}} - C_{t \wedge \tau}^{(\tau)})_{t \geq 0}$ is still a G-martingale, it follows from the uniqueness of the compensator that $C_t^{(\tau)} = C_{t \wedge \tau}^{(\tau)}$ for all $t \geq 0$.

In intensity based models it is assumed that $C^{(\tau)}$ is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure (P-a.s.), i.e., the compensator $C^{(\tau)}$ is given by

$$C_t^{(\tau)} = \int_0^t \lambda_s ds$$
 for all $t \ge 0$

(P-a.s.) for a G-progressive, nonnegative stochastic process λ , which is called the (G-)intensity of τ .

Since $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}})_{t \geq 0}$ is a \mathbb{G} -adapted, nonexplosive point process \mathscr{N} with $\zeta_1 = \tau$ and $\zeta_m = +\infty$ for m > 1, we know from Theorem 1.1.7 that λ is the \mathbb{G} -intensity of $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}})_{t \geq 0}$ in the sense of Definition 1.1.5. If λ is additionally bounded and right-continuous, then it follows from Remark 1.2.3 that

$$\lambda_s = \lim_{t \downarrow s} \frac{1}{t - s} \mathbb{E}[I_{\{\tau \le t\}} - I_{\{\tau \le s\}} | \mathcal{G}_s].$$
(2.2)

Since τ is a \mathbb{G} -stopping time, we have $\{\tau > s\} \in \mathcal{G}_s$. It follows

$$I_{\{\tau>s\}}\lambda_{s} = \lim_{t\downarrow s} \frac{1}{t-s} \mathbb{E}[(I_{\{\tau\leq t\}} - I_{\{\tau\leq s\}})I_{\{\tau>s\}} | \mathcal{G}_{s}] = I_{\{\tau>s\}} \lim_{t\downarrow s} \frac{1}{t-s} \mathbb{E}[I_{\{\tau\leq t\}} | \mathcal{G}_{s}]$$
$$= I_{\{\tau>s\}} \lim_{t\downarrow s} \frac{1}{t-s} \mathbb{P}[\tau \leq t | \mathcal{G}_{s}] = I_{\{\tau>s\}} \lim_{h\downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} \mathbb{P}[\tau \leq s+h | \mathcal{G}_{s}].$$

Thus, Equation (2.2) is the exact version of Equation (2.1) and clarifies why the intensity is said to express the conditional probability of a default in the next instant.

An important advantage of reduced form models is the availability of more tractable pricing formulas for defaultable contingent claims. The following pricing formula was originally proved in Duffie et al. (1996).
Proposition 2.1.1 (See, e.g., Section 1.1 in Jeanblanc and Le Cam (2008)). Consider a \mathcal{G}_T -measurable, integrable random variable X which describes a defaultable promised payoff at time T. Then, in absence of a risk-free interest rate, the price of X at time t < T is given by

$$PV(t,T) = \mathbb{E}[XI_{\{T < \tau\}} | \mathcal{G}_t] = I_{\{t < \tau\}}(Y_t - \mathbb{E}[\Delta Y_\tau I_{\{\tau \le T\}} | \mathcal{G}_t])$$

where the process Y is defined by

$$Y_t := \exp(C_t^{(\tau)}) \mathbb{E}[X \exp(-C_T^{(\tau)}) | \mathcal{G}_t]$$

where ΔY_{τ} denotes the jump of Y at τ .

In an intensity based model with $C_t^{(\tau)} = \int_0^t \lambda_s ds$ where Y is continuous at τ , the price of the defaultable contingent claim X is given by

$$PV(t,T) = I_{\{t < \tau\}} \mathbb{E} \left[X \exp\left(-\int_{t}^{T} \lambda_{s} ds\right) \middle| \mathcal{G}_{t} \right]$$

in case of a zero interest rate and by

$$PV(t,T) = I_{\{t < \tau\}} \mathbb{E}\left[\left. X \exp\left(-\int_t^T r_s + \lambda_s ds \right) \right| \mathcal{G}_t \right]$$

in case of an interest rate r which is not equal to zero. Because of the last equation, a defaultable contingent claim can be priced as a risk-free security if the risk-free rate r is replaced by the adjusted rate $r + \lambda$.

The hazard process approach: In contrast to intensity based models, the hazard process approach, in general, relies on two filtrations. In addition to the investor filtration \mathbb{G} , a smaller filtration $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is considered. From now on, we assume that the filtration \mathbb{F} , as well as the filtration \mathbb{G} , satisfies the usual conditions. Moreover, the default time τ is supposed to be a nonnegative random variable on $(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbb{P})$ such that $\mathbb{P}[\tau = 0] = 0$ and $\mathbb{P}[\tau > 0] > 0$ for all $t \geq 0$. The filtration $\mathbb{G} = (\mathcal{G}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is given by

$$\mathcal{G}_t := \bigcap_{u>t} \mathcal{F}_u \lor \sigma(I_{\{\tau \le s\}} : s \le u).$$

Due to this definition, \mathbb{G} is split into two filtrations. Obviously, the filtration generated by $\sigma(I_{\{\tau \leq s\}} : s \leq t)$ contains the default information, and a common assumption in applications is that the filtration \mathbb{F} represents the default-free information which is available in the market. Note that τ is not necessarily an \mathbb{F} -stopping time, but τ is a \mathbb{G} -stopping time by construction.

In all hazard process approaches the process F defined by

$$F_t := \mathbb{P}[\tau \le t | \mathcal{F}_t]$$

plays a prominent role. This process F is a bounded, nonnegative \mathbb{F} -submartingale with $\mathbb{E}[F_t] = \mathbb{P}[\tau \leq t]$. Thus, we can work with the càdlàg modification of F; see, for instance, Theorem 9, Chapter I in Protter (2005).

Definition 2.1.2. Suppose that the process F satisfies $F_t < 1$ for all $t \ge 0$. Then the process Γ defined by $\Gamma_t := -\log(1 - F_t)$ is called the \mathbb{F} -hazard process of τ .

For the remaining part of this subsection it is assumed that the condition $F_t < 1$ is satisfied for all $t \ge 0$ such that the \mathbb{F} -hazard process always exists. In particular, this means that τ is not an \mathbb{F} -stopping time. The following lemma clarifies the relationship between conditional expectations with respect to the filtrations \mathbb{F} and \mathbb{G} .

Lemma 2.1.3 (See, e.g., Lemma 3.2 in Jeanblanc and Rutkowski (2000)). Consider a \mathcal{G} -measurable, integrable random variable X. Then we have for all $t \geq 0$

$$\mathbb{E}[I_{\{t<\tau\}}X|\mathcal{G}_t] = I_{\{t<\tau\}}\frac{\mathbb{E}[I_{\{t<\tau\}}X|\mathcal{F}_t]}{1-F_t} = I_{\{t<\tau\}}e^{\Gamma_t}\mathbb{E}[I_{\{t<\tau\}}X|\mathcal{F}_t].$$

The pricing rule in the context of hazard process based models reads as follows.

Proposition 2.1.4 (See, e.g., Proposition 3.1 in Elliot et al. (2000)). Consider an \mathcal{F}_T -measurable, integrable random variable X which describes a defaultable promised payoff at T. Then, in absence of a risk-free interest rate, the price of X at time t < T is given by

$$PV(t,T) = \mathbb{E}[XI_{\{T < \tau\}} | \mathcal{G}_t] = I_{\{t < \tau\}} \mathbb{E}[X \exp(\Gamma_t - \Gamma_T) | \mathcal{F}_t].$$

If we additionally assume that the \mathbb{F} -hazard process is absolutely continuous, i.e., $\Gamma_t = \int_0^t \gamma_s ds$ for all $t \ge 0$ and an \mathbb{F} -progressively measurable process γ , then this process γ is called \mathbb{F} -intensity of τ . Moreover, we obtain

$$PV(t,T) = I_{\{t < \tau\}} \mathbb{E}\left[X \exp\left(-\int_{t}^{T} \gamma_{s} ds\right) \middle| \mathcal{F}_{t} \right].$$

In order to study martingales with respect to the filtrations \mathbb{F} and \mathbb{G} , an important requirement in hazard process approaches is the following hypothesis:

(H) Every square integrable F-martingale is a square integrable G-martingale.

It is well known (see, for instance, Lemma 6.4 in Jeanblanc and Rutkowski (1999)) that this hypothesis is equivalent to

$$\mathbb{P}[\tau \le s | \mathcal{F}_{\infty}] = \mathbb{P}[\tau \le s | \mathcal{F}_t] \quad \text{for all } s \le t.$$
(2.3)

Furthermore, the (H)-hypothesis implies that every \mathbb{F} -Brownian motion is also a Brownian motion with respect to the larger filtration \mathbb{G} .

Let us now consider the following definition.

Definition 2.1.5. An \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard process of a random time τ is defined as an \mathbb{F} -predictable, right-continuous, increasing process Λ with $\Lambda_0 = 0$ such that the process $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}} - \Lambda_{t \wedge \tau})_{t \geq 0}$ is a \mathbb{G} -martingale. According to the Doob-Meyer decomposition theorem, the \mathbb{G} -compensator $C^{(\tau)}$ of $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}})_{t \geq 0}$ is unique. Thus, the \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard process is unique up to the random time τ . More precisely, for two \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard processes Λ and Λ' we have $\Lambda_{\tau \wedge t} = \Lambda'_{\tau \wedge t}$ for all $t \geq 0$.

In order to compute this \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard process, we first consider the case in which the following hypothesis is satisfied:

(G) F admits a modification with increasing paths.

Proposition 2.1.6 (See, e.g., Proposition 6.1.1 in Bielecki and Rutkowski (2004)). Suppose that F is an increasing and \mathbb{F} -predictable process. Then the \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard process Λ of τ is given by

$$\Lambda_t = \int_{(0,t]} \frac{dF_u}{1 - F_{u-}} = \int_{(0,t]} \frac{d\mathbb{P}[\tau \le u | \mathcal{F}_u]}{1 - \mathbb{P}[\tau < u | \mathcal{F}_u]}.$$
(2.4)

Note that the \mathbb{F} -hazard process Γ is continuous if and only if the process F is continuous. Therefore, we distinguish between two cases.

Proposition 2.1.7 (See, e.g., Proposition 6.2.1 in Bielecki and Rutkowski (2004)). Suppose that (G) holds. Then the following statements are satisfied:

- 1. If the increasing process F is continuous, then we obtain the following equality: $\Gamma_t = \Lambda_t = -\log(1 - F_t)$ for all $t \ge 0$. In particular, the \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard process Λ is also continuous.
- 2. If the increasing process F is \mathbb{F} -predictable and discontinuous, then

$$\exp(-\Gamma_t) = \exp(-\Lambda_t^c) \prod_{0 < u \le t} (1 - \Delta \Lambda_u)$$

where Λ^c denotes the continuous component of Λ , i.e., $\Lambda^c_t := \Lambda_t - \sum_{0 \le u \le t} \Delta \Lambda_u$.

In general, (G) is not necessarily satisfied. Nevertheless, we can specify the \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard process by a formula which is similar to (2.4).

Let \mathscr{C}^F be the \mathbb{F} -compensator of F, i.e., \mathscr{C}^F is the unique, \mathbb{F} -predictable, increasing process with $\mathscr{C}_0^F = 0$ such that $F - \mathscr{C}^F$ is an \mathbb{F} -martingale.

Proposition 2.1.8 (See, e.g., Proposition 6.1.2 in Bielecki and Rutkowski (2004)). Suppose that one of the following two conditions holds:

- (G) is not satisfied.
- (G) is satisfied and the increasing process F is not \mathbb{F} -predictable.

Then the following statements hold:

1. The \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard process Λ of τ is given by

$$\Lambda_t = \int_{(0,t]} \frac{d\mathscr{C}_u^F}{1 - F_{u-}}.$$
(2.5)

2. Suppose that $\mathscr{C}_t^F = \mathscr{C}_{t\wedge\tau}^F$ for all $t \ge 0$. Then the \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard process Λ of τ is given by $\Lambda = \mathscr{C}^F$.

Note that if \mathbb{F} satisfies the requirements from the extended Jeulin-Yor Theorem (see Theorem 1.2.7), then we already know from this theorem that $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}} - \Lambda_{t \wedge \tau})_{t \geq 0}$ with Λ given in (2.5) is a \mathbb{G} -martingale.

Let us now consider the relationship between hypothesis (G) and (H). Since the (H)-hypothesis is equivalent to (2.3), it is obvious that we can find a modification of F which is increasing if hypothesis (H) is satisfied. Hence, the (H)-hypothesis is stronger than the (G)-hypothesis.

Proposition 2.1.9 (See, e.g., Proposition 6.7 in Jeanblanc and Rutkowski (1999)). Let the process F be continuous. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. The process F is increasing.
- 2. If the process $(Y_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is an \mathbb{F} -martingale, then the stopped process $(Y_{t\wedge \tau})_{t\geq 0}$ is a \mathbb{G} -martingale.

In particular, the previous result states that models in which (G) is satisfied and F is continuous admit the property that stopped \mathbb{F} -martingales are still martingales with respect to the enlarged filtration \mathbb{G} .

Finally, we will discuss the relationship to intensity based models. More precisely, we are interested in the \mathbb{G} -intensity process λ , i.e., the \mathbb{G} -progressive, nonnegative process such that the \mathbb{G} -compensator $C^{(\tau)}$ of $(I_{\{\tau \leq t\}})_{t \geq 0}$ satisfies $C_t^{(\tau)} = \int_0^t \lambda_s ds$ for all $t \geq 0$. In the following, we will consider two specific cases.

First, let F be increasing and continuous. Then we know from Proposition 2.1.7 that

$$\Lambda_t = \Gamma_t = -\log(1 - F_t) \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0.$$

If additionally $\Gamma_t = \int_0^t \gamma_s ds$ for all $t \ge 0$, then the \mathbb{G} -intensity of τ is, for instance, given by $\lambda_t := I_{\{t < \tau\}} \gamma_t$.

In case of Proposition 2.1.8, we have

$$\Lambda_t = \int_{(0,t]} \frac{d\mathscr{C}_u^F}{1 - F_{u-}} \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0.$$

Now, let us suppose that the process \mathscr{C}^F is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure, i.e., $\mathscr{C}^F_t = \int_0^t c_s ds$ for all $t \ge 0$ and an appropriate process c. Then the \mathbb{G} -intensity λ of τ can be specified by $\lambda_t := c_t/(1 - F_{t-})I_{\{t < \tau\}}$.

2.1.3. The role of information

An important advantage of structural models is that they link the default event with structural variables of the firm. Because of this dependence, the default time is economically founded. Therefore, these models are also called "cause and effect approach[es]" (Giesecke and Goldberg (2004a), p. 11). On the other hand, in traditional structural models it is assumed that the necessary structural variables, which are, for instance, the firm's asset value and the value of the firm's debt, are available for everyone in the market. As Jarrow and Protter (2004) point out, this means that the modeler's information set corresponds with the information set of a firm's manager. This so called complete information approach has two well known problems: First of all, it is unrealistic that an investor or a modeler has full information. For example, in practice an investor faces always some uncertainty about the true asset value of a firm. Moreover, Jarrow and Protter (2004) argue that the approach of publicly available information very often leads to a predictable default time, which means that there exists an announcing sequence of stopping times. An exception are approaches in which the asset value is modeled by a process that has jumps; see, for instance, Zhou (2001). In case of a continuous asset value process V, the sequence (τ_m) defined by $\tau_m := \inf\{t > 0 | V_t \le K + 1/m\}$ is a possible announcing sequence for the first-passage default time τ . As a consequence, the default is never a real surprise because an investor is always aware of the "distance of the firm to default" (Giesecke (2006), p. 2285). Moreover, it is well known that under some technical requirements, predictable default times lead to short credit spreads which are equal to zero; see, for instance, Proposition 3.2 in Giesecke (2006). But zero short spreads mean that for short time horizons, investors in defaultable bonds do not ask for an additional compensation in form of a higher yield compared to the risk-free yield. This is intuitively very unrealistic and contradicts the outcome of empirical studies; see, for example, Sarig and Warga (1989).

In contrast to structural models, reduced form models are based on the assumption that much less information is available. Jarrow and Protter (2004) make clear that the modeler's information set coincides with the information set of the market. Technically, this means that in reduced form models an exogenously given jump process is used to model the default of a firm such that it is not necessary to model the firm's asset value. As a consequence, an investor does not know how close the firm is to a default, and hence the default event occurs surprisingly, which is much more realistic. Indeed, in most reduced form models the default time τ of a specific firm is totally inaccessible, which means that

 $\mathbb{P}[\tau = \theta < \infty] = 0 \quad \text{for every predictable stopping time } \theta.$

Another advantage of reduced form models is the existence of tractable pricing formulas.

An information based distinction between structural and reduced form models can, for example, be found in Jarrow and Protter (2004) and Elizalde (2006). The authors of the former paper point out that "structural models can be transformed into reduced form models as the information set changes and becomes less refined, from that observable by the firm's management to that which is observed by the market" (Jarrow and Protter (2004), p. 2). Thus, a link between these two approaches is given by so called incomplete information models. Incomplete information approaches are structural models which assume that only partial information about the structural variables is available to the modeler. Since these models based on incomplete information can be arranged between structural and reduced form models, they have the potential to combine the advantages of both approaches. That is, the default event is economically explainable, and in addition, incomplete information models provide applicable pricing formulas; see also Giesecke and Goldberg (2004a,b).

The model in Duffie and Lando (2001) can be seen as the first structural incomplete information model where the true asset value is not observable. The authors assume that discrete asset information is available to bondholders only. In this case, the default time is totally inaccessible as in most reduced form models. Moreover, the authors are able to compute a default intensity for their model. Kusuoka (1999) and Nakagawa (2001) have introduced early filtering models assuming that investors cannot observe the asset value process directly. Nevertheless, they observe another process continuously in time which is related to the asset value. Other incomplete information approaches are Cetin et al. (2004), Giesecke (2006), Coculescu et al. (2008), Frey and Schmidt (2009), Cetin (2012) and Frey and Lu (2012) to name a few.

In our top down first-passage model we also work with such an incomplete information framework. More precisely, we consider the setting of Giesecke (2006), who introduces the "extreme" cases of incomplete information.

As stated by Jarrow and Protter (2004), incomplete information models have in common that they focus on two filtrations \mathbb{F} and \mathbb{G} satisfying $\mathbb{F} \subset \mathbb{G}$. Here, the larger filtration \mathbb{G} represents again the investor filtration. In case of so called firstpassage default models, the filtration \mathbb{F} is considered in more detail below. For the following definition see also Definition 2.1 (and the subsequent remarks) in Giesecke (2006).

Definition 2.1.10. Let \mathbb{G} be the investor filtration and consider a firm with asset value process V and random default barrier K. Let the \mathbb{G} -stopping time τ be the time of the firm's default which is given by

$$\tau = \inf\{t > 0 | V_t \le K\}.$$
(2.6)

Moreover, let the subfiltration $\mathbb{F} \subset \mathbb{G}$ describe the information available relative to (2.6), i.e., \mathbb{F} contains some kind of information about V and K. Then the pair (τ, \mathbb{F}) is called (first-passage) default model with model filtration \mathbb{F} .

Varying the information in \mathbb{F} results in different default models. As already mentioned, Giesecke (2006) discusses the "extreme" cases of incomplete information. This means that the following scenarios are considered:

Complete information: The asset value V and the default barrier K are publicly available. This means that \mathbb{F} is generated by $\sigma(V_s : s \leq t) \lor \sigma(K)$. In this case, τ is an \mathbb{F} -stopping time. Consequently, $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{F}$ is a possible choice.

Incomplete information 1: The default barrier K is publicly available, but the asset value V is not known. Hence, \mathbb{F} is generated by $\sigma(K)$.

Incomplete information 2: Neither the asset value nor the default barrier is publicly available. This means that \mathbb{F} is generated by the trivial σ -algebra.

Incomplete information 3: The asset value V is publicly available, but the default barrier is unknown. In this scenario \mathbb{F} is generated by $\sigma(V_s : s \leq t)$.

2.2. Bottom up versus top down

To classify our model correctly in Chapter 3, the understanding of the differences between top down and bottom up approaches in portfolio credit risk modeling is essential. Good references for this topic are Giesecke (2008) and Bielecki et al. (2010).

From now on, we focus on a portfolio consisting of n names. As already pointed out in the introduction, we can distinguish between two types of default times.

Notation 2.2.1. The default time of name k is a random time denoted by τ_k for $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Moreover, we denote the time of the *i*th default in the portfolio by T_i for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. The ordered default times T_1, \ldots, T_n satisfy $T_1 \leq \ldots \leq T_n$.

With these random times we define the *default indicator processes* $N^{(k)}$ and N^i by

$$N_t^{(k)} := I_{\{\tau_k \le t\}}, \quad N_t^i := I_{\{T_i \le t\}} \text{ for } k, i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$

and the default counting process N by

$$N_t := \sum_{k=1}^n I_{\{\tau_k \le t\}} = \sum_{i=1}^n I_{\{T_i \le t\}}.$$

The first process $N^{(k)}$ indicates the default of firm k, the second process N^i indicates the *i*th default in the portfolio and N counts the absolute number of defaulted names.

The intuitive idea from Brigo et al. (2010) to distinguish between bottom up and top down approaches is the following: In bottom up models we consider every single name in the portfolio, and by choosing a specific dependence structure between the default times of each firm, the relationship between the different firms is defined. In contrast to this, in top down models the focus changes. We are not interested in single-name modeling any more, but we solely study the overall process that counts the defaults in the underlying portfolio and, if necessary, the losses occurring at a default event.

For a more technical distinction, we have to take a look at the investor filtration \mathbb{G} and the different types of default times introduced above. The difference between bottom up and top down approaches is based on the content of the investor filtration \mathbb{G} that models the information which is available to an investor. In both approaches the investor filtration contains enough information to identify a default event. But in bottom up models the investor is also informed about the identity of the defaulted name. In conclusion, the investor knows which firm has defaulted. Technically, this means that in bottom up approaches the investor filtration \mathbb{G} is finer than in the top down framework. As a consequence, in bottom up models the default times $\tau_k, k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, are stopping times with respect to \mathbb{G} . In contrast to this, in top down models the investor does not have information about the identity of a

defaulted name. This implies that T_i , $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, are \mathbb{G} -stopping times and τ_k , $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$, are only random times, i.e., random variables with values in $[0, \infty]$. We can summarize this aspect by stating that the difference between bottom up and top down models is information based.

There exist reduced form models in both approaches. Examples of top down reduced form approaches are Schönbucher (2005), Bennani (2005, 2006), Giesecke and Tomecek (2005), Lopatin and Misirpashaev (2008), Sidenius et al. (2008), Arnsdorf and Halperin (2009), Laurent et al. (2011), Giesecke et al. (2011) and Cont and Minca (2013) to name a few. Typically, these models admit a portfolio intensity which is sensitive to default events. This means that there is a possible change in the structure of the portfolio intensity after a default. This can be justified by two facts: On the one hand, there are less firms in the underlying portfolio due to the default. In other words, the portfolio contains less potential defaulters. On the other hand, a modified intensity could establish real feedback of default events; see Giesecke (2008). Consequently, the model incorporates possible default contagion.

Bottom up reduced form models have been studied in Duffie and Gârleanu (2001), Jarrow and Yu (2001), Frey and Backhaus (2008, 2010) and Eckner (2009) among many others. In case of these models, there exists the possibility to incorporate feedback of default events, too. We refer the reader to Giesecke (2008) and Bielecki et al. (2010) for a more detailed classification of reduced form models.

Finally, we can also find bottom up structural approaches in the literature; see, for instance, Giesecke and Goldberg (2004b), Overbeck and Schmidt (2005), Luciano and Schoutens (2006) or Hurd (2009).

The approach of Giesecke and Goldberg (2004b) works with the incomplete information model from Giesecke (2006), which also provides an important basis for our model in Chapter 3. Moreover, this bottom up structural model incorporates possible feedback of default events to prices of credit sensitive contingent claims, i.e., it covers financial contagion. The models proposed in Overbeck and Schmidt (2005), Luciano and Schoutens (2006) and Hurd (2009) share the idea to use time change techniques with our approach in the following chapter. Overbeck and Schmidt (2005) consider a threshold model based on time changed Brownian motions and obtain an analytic solution for the probability of joint default in case of two entities. In this approach the time change differs for each firm. Luciano and Schoutens (2006) choose another model based on the idea of Black and Cox (1976) where the same gamma time change is used for all names in the portfolio. Finally, Hurd (2009) models the so called log-leverage ratio process as a time changed Brownian motion where each time change is the weighted sum of a firm specific time change and a common time change which is shared by all names.

The aim of the following chapter is to find a top down first-passage model for portfolio credit risk which incorporates possible feedback of default events on future defaults. We will see that this is implemented by using a specific stochastic time change which was originally introduced by Giesecke and Tomecek (2005).

3. A top down first-passage default model

Chapter 3 is the main contribution of the first part of this thesis. Here, we construct and study the new top down first-passage default model. After motivating and discussing the idea of a time changed portfolio value process in Section 3.1, we introduce our model in Section 3.2. This model relies on some ideas in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) and Giesecke (2006). We specify the different default events, the incomplete information model and the time change in Subsections 3.2.1-3.2.4. In Section 3.3 we derive conditional distributions of the corresponding arrival times. These are an important building block for the following section, where we consider default trends conditional on prior defaults. The specific form of these trends allows us to determine tractable solutions for prices of default sensitive securities. In detail, we derive prices of contingent claims that pay a specific amount at time T if the ith default in the underlying pool of names did not occur up to this point in time, i.e., if $T < T_i$; otherwise, the payout is equal to zero. At the end of Section 3.4 we apply our results to the default trends and determine the compensator process of the default counting process of the underlying portfolio. After discussing an additional incomplete information model in detail in Section 3.5, we study in Section 3.6 more specific examples of the time change. Finally, based on the results of Sections 3.4 and 3.5, we introduce an algorithm to simulate our default times which is similar to the algorithm in the bottom up first-passage structural model in Giesecke and Goldberg (2004b).

3.1. Motivation

Our aim is the construction of a top down first-passage default model. In this section we consider the naive way to derive such a model and finally discuss why this approach is not appropriate for our purposes.

Throughout this section fix a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$ that supports a standard Brownian motion W. We focus on a portfolio consisting of n defaultable firms. More precisely, we consider securities issued by these firms. Suppose that the *portfolio* value process V is given by the geometric Brownian motion

$$dV_t = V_t \mu_V dt + V_t \sigma_V dW_t$$

with constants $\mu_V \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma_V > 0$. Note that $V_t = V_0 \exp\{(\mu_V - \sigma_V^2/2)t + \sigma_V W_t\}$. Without loss of generality, we assume that $V_0 = v_0 > 0$ is constant.

We define default times as first hitting times; see Black and Cox (1976). This means that the *time of the ith default* in our portfolio is the first time the portfolio



Figure 3.1.1.: Portfolio value process and default barriers (without time change)

value process V hits the deterministic barrier K^i . Let $V_0 = K^0 > K^1 > \ldots > K^n > 0$ and set $\kappa^i := \log(K^{i-1}/K^i)$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Eventually, we define the *i*th default time by

$$S_i := \inf\{t \ge 0 | V_t \le K^i\} \quad \text{for any } i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$

and set $S_0 := 0$. Figure 3.1.1 visualizes the first idea of the model. If we set $\mu := \mu_V - \sigma_V^2/2$ and $\sigma := \sigma_V$, then $S_i, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, satisfy

$$S_{i} = \min\{t \ge 0 | \log(V_{0}/K^{i}) + \mu t + \sigma W_{t} = 0\}$$

= min{ $t \ge 0 | (\mu/\sigma)t + W_{t} = -\log(V_{0}/K^{i})/\sigma$ }.

Note that for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, the random time S_i is a stopping time with respect to the standard Brownian filtration $\mathbb{F}^W = (\mathcal{F}^W_t)_{t>0}$.

Remark 3.1.1. In general, S_i satisfies $\mathbb{P}[S_i = \infty] > 0$ for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$: It is well known (see, for instance, Section 3.2.3 in Jeanblanc et al. (2009)) that

$$\mathbb{P}[S_i < \infty] = \exp(-2\mu \log(V_0/K^i)/\sigma^2) \text{ if } -\mu \log(V_0/K^i)/\sigma^2 < 0$$

Since $\log(V_0/K^i)/\sigma^2 > 0$, this means $\mathbb{P}[S_i = \infty] = 1 - \mathbb{P}[S_i < \infty] > 0$ if $\mu > 0$. On the other hand, we have $\mathbb{P}[S_i = \infty] = 1 - \mathbb{P}[S_i < \infty] = 0$ if $\mu \leq 0$.

We can now easily compute the distribution of the inter-arrival times $S_i - S_{i-1}$ for each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. But note that the difference $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is only well defined on the event $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$. Therefore, we introduce a new probability measure \mathbb{P}^{i-1} on (Ω, \mathcal{A}) by

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[A] := \mathbb{P}[A|S_{i-1} < \infty] \quad \text{for } A \in \mathcal{A}.$$

Let us consider the corresponding probability space $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$ with $\Omega^{i-1} := \{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$ and $\mathcal{A}^{i-1} := \mathcal{A} \cap \Omega^{i-1} := \{A \cap \Omega^{i-1} | A \in \mathcal{A}\}.$

Remark 3.1.2. Fix $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$.

1. For each $A \in \mathcal{A}$, we have

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[A] = \mathbb{P}[A|\Omega^{i-1}] = \mathbb{P}[A \cap \Omega^{i-1}|\Omega^{i-1}] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[A \cap \Omega^{i-1}].$$

Hence, if we want to compute the probability of $A \in \mathcal{A}$ under \mathbb{P}^{i-1} , it suffices to compute the probability of the corresponding element $A \cap \Omega^{i-1} \in \mathcal{A}^{i-1}$.

2. Let $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{A}$ be a sub- σ -algebra with $\Omega^{i-1} \in \mathcal{E}$ and consider $X : \Omega^{i-1} \to \mathbb{R}$. Then X is $\mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ -measurable if and only if $XI_{\Omega^{i-1}} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is \mathcal{E} -measurable.

The following lemma will be very helpful in the remaining part of this chapter.

Lemma 3.1.3. *Fix* $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ *.*

- 1. We have $\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_A I_{\Omega^{i-1}}] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_A]$ for all $A \in \mathcal{A}$.
- 2. If $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{A}$ is a sub- σ -algebra with $\Omega^{i-1} \in \mathcal{E}$, then for all $A \in \mathcal{A}$, it follows that

$$\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_A|\mathcal{E}] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_A|\mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1}]I_{\Omega^{i-1}} \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - a.s.$$
(3.1)

3. Let $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{A}$ be a sub- σ -algebra and $X, Y \geq 0$ random variables on the probability space $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$. Moreover, assume that Y is independent of $\mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ and let X be $\mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ -measurable. If $F(t) := \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[Y \leq t]$ for all $t \geq 0$, then

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[Y \le X | \mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1}] = F(X) \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - a.s.$$

Proof. The first assertion follows directly from Remark 3.1.2. Moreover, for each $E \in \mathcal{E}$ and $A \in \mathcal{A}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}|\mathcal{E}]I_{E}] &= \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}I_{E}] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}I_{E\cap\Omega^{i-1}}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}|\mathcal{E}\cap\Omega^{i-1}]I_{E\cap\Omega^{i-1}}] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}|\mathcal{E}\cap\Omega^{i-1}]I_{\Omega^{i-1}}I_{E}]. \end{split}$$

Thus, Remark 3.1.2 yields $\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}|\mathcal{E}] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}|\mathcal{E}\cap\Omega^{i-1}]I_{\Omega^{i-1}}$ for each $A \in \mathcal{A}$. Equation (3.1) follows from

$$\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_A|\mathcal{E}] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}|\mathcal{E}] + \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\{S_{i-1}=\infty\}}|\mathcal{E}]$$

= $\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}|\mathcal{E}] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{A\cap\Omega^{i-1}}|\mathcal{E}\cap\Omega^{i-1}]I_{\Omega^{i-1}} = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_A|\mathcal{E}\cap\Omega^{i-1}]I_{\Omega^{i-1}}.$

It remains to show the third assertion. To this end, we have to verify

$$\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_{\{Y\leq X\}}|\mathcal{E}\cap\Omega^{i-1}]I_A] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[F(X)I_A]$$

for all $A \in \mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$. Let $\sigma_{\Omega^{i-1}}(X)$ be the smallest sub- σ -algebra of \mathcal{A}^{i-1} such that X is measurable and define $\sigma_{\Omega^{i-1}}(A) := \{\Omega^{i-1}, \emptyset, A, \Omega^{i-1} \setminus A\}$. Then $\sigma_{\Omega^{i-1}}(X) \lor \sigma_{\Omega^{i-1}}(A) \subset \mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ for all $A \in \mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1} \subset \mathcal{A} \cap \Omega^{i-1} = \mathcal{A}^{i-1}$. The \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independence of Y and $\mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ implies that Y is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\sigma_{\Omega^{i-1}}(X) \lor \sigma_{\Omega^{i-1}}(A)$. If we apply Lemma A.1.2 for the measurable function $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $f(x,y) := I_{\{y \leq x\}}$, then

$$\int_{\omega_1 \in A} \int_{\omega_2 \in \Omega^{i-1}} I_{\{Y(\omega_2) \le X(\omega_1)\}} d\mathbb{P}^{i-1}(\omega_1) d\mathbb{P}^{i-1}(\omega_2) = \int_A I_{\{Y \le X\}} d\mathbb{P}^{i-1}.$$
 (3.2)

The right hand side of the previous equation is equal to

$$\int_{A} I_{\{Y \le X\}} d\mathbb{P}^{i-1} = \mathbb{E}^{i-1} [I_{\{Y \le X\}} I_A] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1} [\mathbb{E}^{i-1} [I_{\{Y \le X\}} | \mathcal{E} \cap \Omega^{i-1}] I_A].$$

Since $F : \mathbb{R}_+ \to [0,1]$ is monotone, F is measurable. This means $F(X)(\omega_1) = F(X(\omega_1))$ for \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -a.e. $\omega_1 \in \Omega^{i-1}$. Hence, the left hand side of Equation (3.2) is equal to

$$\int_{\omega_1 \in A} \left(\int_{\omega_2 \in \Omega^{i-1}} I_{\{Y(\omega_2) \le X(\omega_1)\}} d\mathbb{P}^{i-1}(\omega_2) \right) d\mathbb{P}^{i-1}(\omega_1) = \int_{\omega_1 \in A} F(X(\omega_1)) d\mathbb{P}^{i-1}(\omega_1)$$
$$= \int_{\omega_1 \in \Omega^{i-1}} F(X)(\omega_1) I_A(\omega_1) d\mathbb{P}^{i-1}(\omega_1) = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[F(X)I_A],$$

which yields the third assertion.

Remark 3.1.4. Note that the third part of the previous lemma is also true for the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$: Let $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{A}$ be a sub- σ -algebra and $X, Y \geq 0$ random variables on the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$. Moreover, assume that Y is independent of \mathcal{E} and let X be \mathcal{E} -measurable. If $F(t) := \mathbb{P}[Y \leq t]$ for all $t \geq 0$, then

$$\mathbb{P}[Y \le X | \mathcal{E}] = F(X) \quad \mathbb{P}-\text{a.s.}$$

Proposition 3.1.5. For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, the \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution of $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is given by

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}\left[S_i - S_{i-1} \le t\right] = \mathbb{P}\left[\min_{s \le t}(\kappa^i + \sigma W_s + \mu s) \le 0\right] \quad \text{for } t \ge 0.$$
(3.3)

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. We can easily see that

$$(S_i - S_{i-1})I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}} = \inf\{s \ge 0 | V_{S_{i-1} + s} = K^i\}I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}}.$$

Since V satisfies $V_t = V_0 \exp(\mu t + \sigma W_t)$ for all $t \ge 0$, we obtain the following equations on $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$:

$$V_{S_{i-1}+s} = V_0 \exp(\sigma W_{S_{i-1}+s} + \mu(S_{i-1}+s))$$

= $V_0 \exp(\sigma W_{S_{i-1}+s} - \sigma W_{S_{i-1}} + \sigma W_{S_{i-1}} + \mu(S_{i-1}+s))$
= $V_0 \exp(\mu S_{i-1} + \sigma W_{S_{i-1}}) \exp(\sigma(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s).$

$$\begin{aligned} K^{i-1} &= V_0 \exp(\mu S_{i-1} + \sigma W_{S_{i-1}}) \text{ on } \{S_{i-1} < \infty\} \text{ yields} \\ &\qquad (S_i - S_{i-1})I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}} \\ &= \inf\{s \ge 0 | K^{i-1} \exp(\sigma(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s) = K^i\}I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}} \\ &= \inf\{s \ge 0 | \log(K^{i-1}/K^i) + \sigma(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\}I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, we obtain for all $t \ge 0$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}^{i-1} \left[S_i - S_{i-1} \leq t \right] \\ &= \frac{\mathbb{P}[\{\inf\{s \geq 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\} \leq t\} \cap \{S_{i-1} < \infty\}]}{\mathbb{P}[S_{i-1} < \infty]} \\ &= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[\{\inf\{s \geq 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\} \leq t\}] \\ &= \mathbb{P}[\inf\{s \geq 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma W_s + \mu s = 0\} \leq t]. \end{split}$$

To the last equality: S_{i-1} is an \mathbb{F}^W -stopping time and $(W_t, \mathcal{F}_t^W)_{t\geq 0}$ is a Brownian motion. According to the strong Markov property (see Theorem A.1.1), the process $(W_{S_{i-1}+s}-W_{S_{i-1}})_{s\geq 0}$ is a Brownian motion on the probability space $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$ which is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W \cap \Omega^{i-1}$. Since $\Omega^{i-1} = \{S_{i-1} < \infty\} \in \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W \cap \Omega^{i-1}$, the last equality holds.

Finally, Equation (3.3) follows from

$$\mathbb{P}[\inf\{s \ge 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma W_s + \mu s = 0\} \le t] = \mathbb{P}\left[\min_{s \le t}(\kappa^i + \sigma W_s + \mu s) \le 0\right].$$

Notation 3.1.6. We denote

$$F^{\Delta S}(t,x) := \mathbb{P}\left[\min_{s \le t} (x + \sigma W_s + \mu s) \le 0\right] \quad \text{for } x > 0 \text{ and } t \ge 0.$$

The function $F^{\Delta S}(t, x)$ is well known for x > 0 and $t \ge 0$; see, for instance, Chapter 3 in Jeanblanc et al. (2009) or Section 2.8 in Karatzas and Shreve (1988) (see also Appendix A.1). It is given by

$$F^{\Delta S}(t,x) = \begin{cases} \Phi\left(\frac{-x-\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) + e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2} \Phi\left(\frac{-x+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) & \text{for } x > 0 \text{ and } t > 0\\ 0 & \text{for } x > 0 \text{ and } t = 0 \end{cases}.$$

Since κ^i is deterministic, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 3.1.7. The distribution in (3.3) is given by

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \le t] = F^{\Delta S}(t, \kappa^i) \quad \text{for } t \ge 0.$$

Moreover, the $\mathcal{F}^{W}_{S_{i-1}}$ -conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution of S_i satisfies

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W] = F^{\Delta S}(t - S_{i-1}, \kappa^i) I_{\{S_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - a.s.$$

for each $t \ge 0$.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \ge 0$. The first equation is obvious. For the second equation note that S_{i-1} is an \mathbb{F}^W -stopping time, which yields

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i \leq t | \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i \leq t | \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W]I_{\{S_{i-1} < t\}} + \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i \leq t | \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W]I_{\{S_{i-1} \geq t\}}$$

$$= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i \leq t | \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W]I_{\{S_{i-1} < t\}}$$

$$= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(S_i - S_{i-1})I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}} \leq (t - S_{i-1})^+ | \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W]I_{\{S_{i-1} < t\}}$$

$$= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \leq (t - S_{i-1})^+ | \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W \cap \Omega^{i-1}]I_{\{S_{i-1} < t\}}.$$
 (3.4)

The last equality in (3.4) follows from the second statement of Lemma 3.1.3. Moreover, we know from the proof of Proposition 3.1.5 that

$$(S_i - S_{i-1})I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}}$$

= $\inf\{s \ge 0 | \log(K^{i-1}/K^i) + \sigma(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\}I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}}$

and that $(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}})_{s\geq 0}$ is a Brownian motion on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$ which is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W \cap \Omega^{i-1}$. This implies that $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$. Since $(t - S_{i-1})^+$ is $\mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W$ -measurable, it follows directly that $(t - S_{i-1})^+$ considered as a mapping on Ω^{i-1} is also $\mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ -measurable. The third statement of Lemma 3.1.3 implies

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \le (t - S_{i-1})^+ | \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W \cap \Omega^{i-1}] = F^{\Delta S}((t - S_{i-1})^+, \kappa^i).$$

Together with Equation (3.4), we obtain

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W] = F^{\Delta S}((t - S_{i-1})^+, \kappa^i) I_{\{S_{i-1} < t\}} = F^{\Delta S}(t - S_{i-1}, \kappa^i) I_{\{S_{i-1} < t\}}.$$

The previous corollary shows that the \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution of the inter-arrival times $S_i - S_{i-1}$ only depends on $\kappa^i = \log(K^{i-1}/K^i)$ and the parameters μ and σ of V. Similarly, the $\mathcal{F}^W_{S_{i-1}}$ -conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution of S_i depends on κ^i , μ , σ and S_{i-1} . This means, apart from the dependence on the time which has passed since the last default, prior default events do not influence the conditional default probability of the remaining names in the portfolio. To be more specific, if, for instance, n = 10and $\kappa^1 = \kappa^2$ and if we consider the conditional distribution functions of S_1 and S_2 , then only the time which has passed since the last default is relevant for the conditional distribution (note that $S_{i-1} = S_0 = 0$ if i = 1; hence, there is no prior default), but it makes no difference whether there has been no default or one default in the portfolio so far. This is obviously not a desirable property. Our intention is to construct a top down first-passage default model that incorporates default contagion, which means that a default of one name influences future defaults in the underlying portfolio directly. In particular, the model should allow for a switch of regimes after each default. To generate such contagion effects, the model above is not suitable. It is obvious that we have to include more stochastic features to obtain the desired property.

A possible solution to this problem provides the approach of Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) which considers a specific time change model. In the following sections we adapt their reduced form approach to our first-passage model. Therefore, we suppose that the portfolio value process is a time changed geometric Brownian motion and analyze the corresponding first hitting times. As a result of this definition, our top down first-passage model is flexible enough to incorporate default contagion.

3.2. Model definition

As already pointed out at the end of the previous section, the most important object of our model is a time change which depends on prior defaults. The next definition clarifies this term in our setting.

Definition 3.2.1. Fix a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$. A right-continuous, strictly increasing, $[0, \infty]$ -valued process G with $G_0 = 0$ is called time change. The time change is called continuous if G has \mathbb{P} -a.s. continuous paths and absolutely continuous if G has \mathbb{P} -a.s. absolutely continuous paths, i.e., there exists an appropriate process g such that for all $t \geq 0$, we have

$$G_t = \int_0^t g_s ds \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s.$$

Remark 3.2.2. Note that if a continuous time change G satisfies $G_t < \infty$ P-a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t = \infty$ P-a.s., then the *inverse process* G^{-1} defined by

$$G_t^{-1}(\omega) := \inf\{s \ge 0 | G_s(\omega) > t\} \text{ for } t \ge 0 \text{ and } \omega \in \Omega$$

is again a continuous time change that satisfies $G_t^{-1} < \infty$ P-a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t^{-1} = \infty$ P-a.s. Moreover, G^{-1} satisfies $G_t^{-1} = \min\{s \ge 0 | G_s = t\}$ and $G_{G_t^{-1}} = t$ P-a.s. for all $t \ge 0$.

Since we want to construct a top down first-passage model where the default of one firm can influence the default probability of the remaining firms in our portfolio, we have to choose a specific time change G for our model. In the following subsection we introduce our first-passage model with a general (absolutely continuous) time change G. A more detailed specification of G follows in Subsections 3.2.2 and 3.2.4.

3.2.1. Default events

The construction of the following top down structural model is strongly connected to the top down reduced form model of Giesecke and Tomecek (2005), which is one of the main building blocks of our model.

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$ be a probability space that supports a standard Brownian motion W and an absolutely continuous time change G that satisfies $G_t < \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \geq 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t = \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. Moreover, consider the underlying geometric Brownian motion V given by

$$dV_t = V_t \mu_V dt + V_t \sigma_V dW_t$$



Figure 3.2.1.: Portfolio value process and default barriers (with time change)

with constants $\mu_V \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma_V > 0$. We assume that $V_0 = v_0 > 0$ is constant. Let $\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n$ be independent random variables with values in $(0, \infty)$ that are independent of $\sigma(W_t : t \ge 0)$.

Again, our starting point is a portfolio consisting of n defaultable firms. We assume that the *portfolio value process* of this portfolio is given by the time changed process V_G . Moreover, the *i*th default barrier, $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, is defined by $K^i :=$ $K^{i-1} \exp(-\kappa^i)$ with $K^0 := V_0$. Note that in this case, $\kappa^i = \log(K^{i-1}/K^i)$ and $K^0 > K^1 > \ldots > K^n > 0$. A default occurs if the portfolio value process hits one of the barriers $K^i, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. More precisely, the *i*th default occurs if $V_{G_t} \leq K^i$ for the first time such that

$$T_i := \inf\{t \ge 0 | V_{G_t} \le K^i\} \qquad (T_0 := 0)$$

describes the *time of the ith default* in the underlying portfolio, see Figure 3.2.1 for an illustration. In addition, we define the first hitting time of barrier K^i by V by

$$S_i := \inf\{t \ge 0 | V_t \le K^i\}$$
 $(S_0 := 0).$

Remark 3.2.3. Fix $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$.

1. S_i and T_i are random times, i.e., \mathcal{A} -measurable random variables with values in $[0, \infty]$, which can be represented in the following way:

$$S_{i} = \inf\{t \ge 0 | \log(V_{t}/K^{i}) \le 0\}$$

= $\inf\{t \ge 0 | \log(V_{0}/K^{i}) + (\mu_{V} - \sigma_{V}^{2}/2)t + \sigma_{V}W_{t} \le 0\}$

and

$$T_i = \inf\{t \ge 0 | \log(V_{G_t}/K^i) \le 0\}$$

= $\inf\{t \ge 0 | \log(V_0/K^i) + (\mu_V - \sigma_V^2/2)G_t + \sigma_V W_{G_t} \le 0\}.$

If we define the process X^i by $X^i_t := \log(V_0/K^i) + \mu t + \sigma W_t$ with $\mu := \mu_V - \sigma_V^2/2$ and $\sigma := \sigma_V$, then $S_i = \inf\{s \ge 0 | X^i_s \le 0\}$ and $T_i = \inf\{s \ge 0 | X^i_{G_s} \le 0\}$.

- 2. Following the same steps described at the beginning of Section 3.1, we obtain that in general $\mathbb{P}[S_i = \infty] > 0$.
- 3. If we define $G_{\infty} := \infty$, then the properties of G imply $S_i = G_{T_i}$ and $T_i = G_{S_i}^{-1}$ \mathbb{P} -a.s.
- 4. The previous item implies $\mathbb{P}[S_i = \infty] = \mathbb{P}[T_i = \infty]$. As a consequence of this, we obtain that in general $\mathbb{P}[T_i = \infty] > 0$.

So far, our default model has obviously a structural character. Nevertheless, in the following subsections we focus on the default counting process

$$N_t := \sum_{i=1}^n I_{\{T_i \le t\}}$$

and the adjunct process $N_t^0 := \sum_{i=1}^n I_{\{S_i \leq t\}}$. Note that by definition, the default counting process N is nonexplosive.

Remark 3.2.4. In Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) the authors define a reduced form model directly: Their starting point is a standard (marked) Poisson process with respect to a specific filtration \mathbb{H}^{GT} . This process is from now on denoted by $N^{GT,0}$, and the corresponding arrival times of this \mathbb{H}^{GT} -Poisson process are denoted by $(S_i^{GT})_{i \in \mathbb{N}_0}$. The default counting process N^{GT} in the approach of Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) is a time changed Poisson process. This means

$$N_t^{GT} = N_{G_t^{GT}}^{GT,0} \quad \text{for } t \ge 0$$

where G^{GT} denotes a specific time change. Moreover, the arrival times of N^{GT} , i.e., the times T_i^{GT} in which this process jumps, satisfy $S_i^{GT} = G_{T_i^{GT}}^{GT} \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. Note that in our model the hitting times S_i and T_i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, depend on each other in a similar way (see 3. in Remark 3.2.3).

Nevertheless, in our first-passage model the arrival time T_i or, in other words, the point in time in which the process N jumps for the *i*th time, can be interpreted as the first time the portfolio value process hits the *i*th barrier. In the reduced form model of Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) there does not exist an explanation for the occurrence of a jump of the default counting process N^{GT} . Another important difference between the arrival times S_i^{GT} , $i \in \mathbb{N}$, and our first hitting times S_i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, is that all S_i^{GT} are \mathbb{P} -a.s. finite as arrival times of a standard \mathbb{H}^{GT} -Poisson process (see Remark 1.1.4), while in our model we have in general $\mathbb{P}[S_i = \infty] > 0$ (see 2. in Remark 3.2.3).

Because of the specific construction of the time change G^{GT} in the model of Giesecke and Tomecek (2005), the resulting time changed process N^{GT} is self-affecting. Hence, the time change G in our model is constructed in a similar way to the time change G^{GT} .

3.2.2. Time change

In this subsection we discuss the time change G in more detail. The main idea is that the time change should have two important properties. On the one hand, Gshould depend on the first hitting times T_i , $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, which results in a selfaffecting default counting process. On the other hand, G should be general enough to depend on other stochastic factors. As a consequence, the model is able to take into account additional dependencies on the random environment.

In order to implement this property of G, we assume that there exists a filtration $\mathbb{K} := (\mathcal{K}_t)_{t\geq 0} \subset \mathcal{A}$ satisfying the usual conditions. Additionally, \mathcal{K}_{∞} and $\sigma(W_t : t \geq 0)$ are assumed to be independent. A possible choice for \mathbb{K} is the filtration generated by a Brownian motion B that is independent of W.

In the following, we introduce a general assumption that has to be satisfied by the underlying time change G. As a consequence, if we specify a time change G (see, for instance, Subsection 3.2.4), then we have to verify that G meets this requirement.

Assumption 3.2.5. The time change G is adapted to the filtration generated by the σ -algebras

$$\mathcal{K}_t \vee \sigma(I_{\{T_i < s\}} : s \le t, i \le n).$$

Note that the previous assumption allows for the time change G_t to depend on the arrivals that occurred before t and on the random environment described by \mathbb{K} . We will see later in more detail (see Section 3.6) that if the filtration \mathbb{K} is trivial, then the time change G solely depends on the arrival times and t. For instance, a time change being deterministic between arrival times is an appropriate choice. On the other hand, if \mathbb{K} is not trivial, then the time change might depend on additional stochastic variables.

3.2.3. Setting of the first incomplete information model (IIM1)

So far, we have developed a top down first-passage structural model where the portfolio value process is given by a time changed geometric Brownian motion. In this subsection we specify important features of the incomplete information model.

For each random time T_i , $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, we define a default model (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) in the sense of Giesecke (2006) (see also Definition 2.1.10). In the following, we will specify the investor filtration \mathbb{G} and the model filtrations \mathbb{F}^{i-1} , $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, such that $\mathbb{F}^{i-1} \subset \mathbb{G}$. For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, the model filtration \mathbb{F}^{i-1} is the key to define our incomplete information model. If we apply Definition 2.1.10 to our context, then we have to specify the information which is available with respect to

$$T_i = \inf\{t \ge 0 | V_{G_t} \le K^i\}$$
(3.5)

for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Consequently, in order to define \mathbb{F}^{i-1} , we have to specify how much information is available with respect to V, G and K^i .

Note that the investor filtration \mathbb{G} models the information which is available to an investor and not only the information which is available with respect to (3.5). Since

 $\mathbb{F}^{i-1} \subset \mathbb{G}$ and since an investor indeed observes all defaults, the investor filtration $\mathbb{G} = (\mathcal{G}_t)_{t \ge 0}$ has to satisfy

$$\mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} \lor \sigma(I_{\{T_k \le s\}} : s \le t, k \le n) \subset \mathcal{G}_t \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0 \text{ and } i \in \{1, \dots, n\}.$$

Specification of the first incomplete information model: In our model the following information should be available on $\{t \leq T_{i-1}\}$:

- K^1, \ldots, K^n
- \mathbb{K} up to time t
- Number of defaults up to time t
- Time of all defaults that occurred up to time t
- G_s for $s \leq t$

On $\{t > T_{i-1}\}$, the following information should additionally be available:

• \mathbb{K} up to time t

This means that an investor always knows the barriers which trigger a default in the underlying portfolio. As long as $t \leq T_{i-1}$, we also suppose complete information about the random environment represented by \mathbb{K} and the defaults that occurred up to time t. As a consequence, the time change G is observable up to this point in time. In case of $t > T_{i-1}$, the flow of new information is much smaller: There is additional information available about the random environment described by \mathbb{K} only.

Since an investor never receives any information about the underlying process V_G is unobservable. Hence, the *i*th default is not observable with the information available with respect to (3.5). Note that by Assumption 3.2.5, the time change G_t might depend on all defaults that occurred up to time t. In this case, the fact that the *i*th default is not observable implies that the information which is available with respect to (3.5) contains only partial information about the time change after the (i - 1)st default.

The following definitions guarantee the requirements from above: Let $\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n > 0$ be deterministic, which leads to deterministic default barriers K^1, \ldots, K^n . Define the model filtrations $\mathbb{F}^{i-1} := (\mathcal{F}_t^{i-1})_{t\geq 0}, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, by

$$\mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} := \bigcap_{u>t} \mathcal{K}_u \lor \sigma(I_{\{T_k \le s\}} : s \le u, k \le i-1).$$

The investor filtration \mathbb{G} , which models the information available to an investor and not only the information available with respect to (3.5), is assumed to be given by

$$\mathcal{G}_t := \bigcap_{u > t} \mathcal{K}_u \lor \sigma(I_{\{T_k \le s\}} : s \le u, k \le n).$$

Moreover, to specify the time change G in the next subsection, we need the filtrations $\mathbb{G}^{i-1} := (\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1})_{t \geq 0}$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

- **Remark 3.2.6.** 1. Note that the σ -algebra \mathcal{K}_{∞} is independent of $\sigma(W_s : s \ge 0)$ by definition. Because K^0, K^1, \ldots, K^n and $\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n$ are deterministic, the σ algebra $\sigma(\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n)$ is trivial. Furthermore, S_i is a stopping time with respect to the right-continuous filtration $\mathbb{A} = (\mathcal{A}_t)_{t\ge 0} \subset \mathcal{A}$ generated by $\sigma(W_s : s \le t) \lor \sigma(\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n) \lor \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$, and W is still a Brownian motion with respect to this filtration.
 - 2. The default counting process N is \mathbb{G} -adapted and T_{i-1} is a stopping time with respect to $\mathbb{F}^{i-1} \subset \mathbb{G}^{i-1}$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Furthermore, T_i is not an \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -stopping time. Later, we will see that these default times are totally inaccessible in \mathbb{G} .

In order to analyze this incomplete information model, we have to consider the filtration $\mathbb{H} := (\mathcal{H}_t)_{t>0}$ defined by

$$\mathcal{H}_t := \mathcal{K}_\infty \lor \sigma(I_{\{S_i < s\}} : s \le t, i \le n).$$

By definition, each $S_i, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, is an \mathbb{H} -stopping time. Moreover, the filtration $(\sigma(I_{\{S_i \leq s\}} : s \leq t, i \leq n))_{t \geq 0}$ is right-continuous; hence, so is \mathbb{H} . Given \mathcal{H}_t , we know the number of jumps of N^0 up to time t and at which points in time these jumps have occurred, but we do not know the exact value of V.

3.2.4. Exact definition and properties of the time change

In the following definition we specify the time change G by using the filtrations \mathbb{G}^{i-1} , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, from the previous subsection. An important aim in this subsection is to prove that this time change satisfies Assumption 3.2.5. This specific form of the time change is not entirely new: Indeed, Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) introduced time changes of this type and pointed out that such time changes are especially tractable in view of simulating the arrival times $(T_i^{GT})_{i \in \mathbb{N}_0}$. Remark 3.2.8 discusses the approach in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005), and Section 3.6 presents the advantages of this choice for G.

Definition 3.2.7. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, consider a \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted, absolutely continuous time change G^i with $G^i_t < \infty \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G^i_t = \infty \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. The (overall) time change G is defined by

$$G_t := \begin{cases} \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i & on \ \{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\} \ for \ i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{n-1}}^n & on \ \{T_n \le t\} \end{cases}$$

Since each G^i is \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted, G^i_t depends on the information in \mathbb{K} up to time $T_{i-1} + t$ and on T_0, \ldots, T_{i-1} . By this definition, G is absolutely continuous, strictly increasing with $G_0 = 0$ and satisfies $G_t < \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t = \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s.

If i > 1, then for each $j \in \{1, ..., i-1\}$, T_j is given by $T_j = \inf\{t \ge 0 | V_{G_t} \le K^j\} = \inf\{t \ge T_{j-1} | V_{G_t} = K^j\}$ on $\{T_{j-1} < \infty\}$. Definition 3.2.7 and $T_0 = 0$ imply

$$T_j = \inf \left\{ t \ge T_{j-1} \left| V_{\sum_{k=1}^{j-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{j-1}}^j} = K^j \right\} \quad \text{on } \{T_{j-1} < \infty \}.$$



Figure 3.2.2.: Example of time change G

Hence, for each $j \in \{1, \ldots, i-1\}$, T_j depends on V, K^k and G^k for $k \leq j$ only.

Moreover, G is constructed such that after each default, a new term is added to the time change. This property is illustrated in Figure 3.2.2, which shows a possible path of G. In this example it is assumed that K is trivial, and the arrival times are given by $T_0 = 0$, $T_1 = 1.5$, $T_2 = 3$, $T_3 = 5$ and $T_4 = 8$. We observe that after each default, the time change G changes its slope. In more detail, the time evolves faster after each default. The change in the slope of G after the (i - 1)st arrival time is determined by the specific form of the *i*th time change G^i . We will discuss this and other examples of G in more detail in Section 3.6.

In the subsequent study we will see that this property of G, i.e., the possible change in the evolution of financial time after each default, leads to a self-affecting default counting process.

Remark 3.2.8. In Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) the authors also consider continuous time changes $(G^{GT,i})_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ that satisfy $G_t^{GT,i} < \infty$ P-a.s. for all $t \geq 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t^{GT,i} = \infty$ P-a.s. for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Here, the overall time change G^{GT} is defined by countably many $(S_i^{GT})_{i\in\mathbb{N}_0}$ which are arrival times of a standard (marked) \mathbb{H}^{GT} -Poisson process, and $(G^{GT,i})_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is such that

$$T_i^{GT} - T_{i-1}^{GT} = (G^{GT,i})_{S_i^{GT} - S_{i-1}^{GT}}^{-1} \quad \text{for } i \in \mathbb{N}$$
(3.6)

and $\lim_{i\to\infty} T_i^{GT} = \infty \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. More precisely, in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) the time change G^{GT} is given by

$$G_t^{GT} = \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} G_{T_k^{GT} - T_{k-1}^{GT}}^{GT,k} + G_{t - T_{i-1}^{GT}}^{GT,i} \quad \text{on } \{T_{i-1}^{GT} \le t < T_i^{GT}\} \text{ for } i \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Note that $(G^{GT,i})_t^{-1} < \infty$ P-a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ and $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, since S_i^{GT} are arrival times of a standard (marked) \mathbb{H}^{GT} -Poisson process, we know from Remark

1.1.4 that $\mathbb{P}[S_i^{GT} = \infty] = 0$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Therefore, Equation (3.6) implies $\mathbb{P}[T_i^{GT} = \infty] = 0$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$.

The next proposition shows that Equation (3.6) is also satisfied in our setting on the event $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$.

Proposition 3.2.9. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, the time change G^i satisfies \mathbb{P} -a.s.

$$T_i - T_{i-1} = (G^i)_{S_i - S_{i-1}}^{-1} \quad on \ \{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$$

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Since $S_i = G_{T_i}$, we have $\{S_i < \infty\} = \{T_i < \infty\}$. Moreover, together with $T_i = \inf\{t > T_{i-1} | V_{G_t} = K^i\}$ on $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} T_i - T_{i-1} &= \inf \left\{ t > T_{i-1} \left| V_{\sum_{k=1}^{i-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i} = K^i \right\} - T_{i-1} \right. \\ &= \inf \left\{ s > 0 | V_{G_{T_{i-1}} + G_s^i} = K^i \right\} \end{split}$$

on $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$. Note that the equality $V_{G_{T_{i-1}}} = V_{S_{i-1}}$ holds on $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$. This implies that $T_i - T_{i-1} = (G^i)_{\inf\{u > 0 | V_{S_{i-1}+u} = K^i\}}^{-1}$ on $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$. On the other hand, we can easily compute that $S_i - S_{i-1} = \inf\{u > 0 | V_{S_{i-1}+u} = K^i\}$ on $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$. Together, we see directly that $T_i - T_{i-1} = (G^i)_{S_i - S_{i-1}}^{-1}$ on $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$.

Next, we will show that G defined in Definition 3.2.7 satisfies Assumption 3.2.5. We deduce this property from the following lemmas. Note that in the model setting of Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) the authors discuss analogous results in Remark A.4, Lemma A.5 and Lemma A.6. Nevertheless, as stated in Remark 3.2.8, T_i^{GT} satisfy $\mathbb{P}[T_i^{GT} = \infty] = 0$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$, and in our model we have in general $\mathbb{P}[T_i = \infty] > 0$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ (see 4. in Remark 3.2.3). Therefore, we prove the relevant results in our model setting.

First, consider the random variables R_t^1, \ldots, R_t^n defined by

$$R_t^i := \begin{cases} \min\{T_i - T_{i-1}, (t - T_{i-1})^+\} I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} & \text{for } i \in \{1, \dots, n-1\} \\ (t - T_{n-1})^+ & \text{for } i = n \end{cases}$$

for $t \geq 0$.

Lemma 3.2.10. For any $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \ge 0$, $(t - T_{i-1})^+$ is a finite \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -stopping time, and R_t^i is a finite \mathbb{G}^i -stopping time.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \geq 0$. The random times $(t - T_{i-1})^+ = (t - T_{i-1})^+ I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}$ and R_t^i are finite by definition. Moreover, we know that $(t - T_{i-1})^+ I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \geq 0$ and $R_t^i \geq 0$. Then we have for $u \geq 0$

$$\{(t - T_{i-1})^+ \le u\} = \{T_{i-1} = \infty\} \cup (\{(t - T_{i-1})^+ \le u\} \cap \{T_{i-1} < \infty\})$$
$$= \{T_{i-1} = \infty\} \cup (\{t \le T_{i-1} + u\} \cap \{T_{i-1} < \infty\}).$$

Since T_{i-1} is a stopping time with respect to \mathbb{F}^{i-1} , we have $\{T_{i-1} = \infty\} \in \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}}^{i-1} = \mathcal{G}_0^{i-1} \subset \mathcal{G}_u^{i-1}$. Similarly, we get $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}, \{t \leq T_{i-1} + u\} \in \mathcal{G}_u^{i-1}$ such that $(t - T_{i-1})^+$ is a \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -stopping time. Now, consider $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$. Then

$$\{R_t^i \le u\} = \{\min\{T_i - T_{i-1}, (t - T_{i-1})^+\} I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \le u\}$$

= $\{T_{i-1} = \infty\} \cup (\{\min\{T_i - T_{i-1}, (t - T_{i-1})^+\} \le u\} \cap \{T_{i-1} < \infty\})$
= $\{T_{i-1} = \infty\} \cup ([\{T_i - T_{i-1} \le u\} \cup \{t - T_{i-1} \le u\}] \cap \{T_{i-1} < \infty\})$
= $\{T_{i-1} = \infty\} \cup ([\{T_i \le T_{i-1} + u\} \cup \{t \le T_{i-1} + u\}] \cap \{T_{i-1} < \infty\}).$
(3.7)

Since T_i and T_{i-1} are stopping times with respect to \mathbb{F}^i , we have $\{T_i \leq T_{i-1} + u\} \in \mathcal{F}^i_{T_{i-1}+u} \subset \mathcal{F}^i_{T_i+u} = \mathcal{G}^i_u$. Similarly, we obtain $\{T_{i-1} = \infty\}, \{t \leq T_{i-1} + u\}, \{T_{i-1} < \infty\} \in \mathcal{G}^i_u$, which proves the second assertion in case of $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$. If i = n, then $R^n_t = (t - T_{n-1})^+$. Because of the first part of this proof, $(t - T_{n-1})^+$ is a \mathbb{G}^{n-1} -stopping time, which implies the \mathbb{G}^n -stopping time property.

Lemma 3.2.11. For any $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $t \ge 0$, $G^{i}_{(t-T_{i-1})^{+}}$ is \mathcal{F}^{i-1}_{t} -measurable.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \ge 0$. According to the previous lemma, $(t - T_{i-1})^+$ is a finite \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -stopping time. Moreover, G^i is continuous and \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted by definition. This implies that $G^i_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{G}^{i-1}_{(t-T_{i-1})^+} = \mathcal{F}^{i-1}_{T_{i-1}+(t-T_{i-1})^+}$. Since $T_{i-1}+(t-T_{i-1})^+ \le t \lor T_{i-1}$, it follows directly that $G^i_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{F}^{i-1}_{t\lor T_{i-1}}$. This yields

$$\{G_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}^i \le u\} \in \mathcal{F}_{t \lor T_{i-1}}^{i-1}$$
 for all $u \ge 0$.

Due to $\mathcal{F}_{t\vee T_{i-1}}^{i-1} = \{A \in \mathcal{A} | A \cap \{t \vee T_{i-1} \le u\} \in \mathcal{F}_u^{i-1} \text{ for all } u \ge 0\},$ we obtain

$$\{G_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}^i \le u\} \cap \{t \lor T_{i-1} \le t\} \in \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} \text{ for all } u \ge 0.$$

Since $\{t \lor T_{i-1} \le t\} = \{T_{i-1} \le t\} \in \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}$, it follows

$$\begin{aligned} \{G^{i}_{(t-T_{i-1})^{+}} \leq u\} \\ &= (\{G^{i}_{(t-T_{i-1})^{+}} \leq u\} \cap \{T_{i-1} \leq t\}) \cup (\{G^{i}_{(t-T_{i-1})^{+}} \leq u\} \cap \{t < T_{i-1}\}) \\ &= (\{G^{i}_{(t-T_{i-1})^{+}} \leq u\} \cap \{T_{i-1} \leq t\}) \cup (\{G^{i}_{0} \leq u\} \cap \{t < T_{i-1}\}) \\ &= (\{G^{i}_{(t-T_{i-1})^{+}} \leq u\} \cap \{T_{i-1} \leq t\}) \cup \{t < T_{i-1}\} \in \mathcal{F}^{i-1}_{t}. \end{aligned}$$

Lemma 3.2.12. For all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \ge 0$, $G_{R_t^i}^i$ is \mathcal{F}_t^i -measurable.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \geq 0$. Equation (3.7) yields that R_t^i is a finite $(\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+u}^i)_{u\geq 0}$ -stopping time. Moreover, G^i is continuous and $\mathbb{G}^{i-1}(\subset (\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+u}^i)_{u\geq 0})$ -adapted by definition. Hence, $G_{R_t^i}^i$ is $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+R_t^i}^i$ -measurable. Since $T_{i-1} + R_t^i \leq T_{i-1} + (t - T_{i-1})^+ \leq t \vee T_{i-1}$, the remaining part of the proof is analogous to the proof of Lemma 3.2.11 if we replace $(t - T_{i-1})^+$ by R_t^i and \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} by \mathcal{F}_t^i . \Box

With the previous lemmas we can conclude as Giesecke and Tomecek (2005).

Proposition 3.2.13. The overall time change G satisfies Assumption 3.2.5, and G_t^{-1} is a G-stopping time for each $t \ge 0$.

Proof. First of all, note that

$$G_{R_{t}^{i}}^{i}I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} = \begin{cases} G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}I_{\{T_{i-1}\leq t< T_{i}\}} + G_{T_{i}-T_{i-1}}^{i}I_{\{T_{i}\leq t\}} & \text{for } i \in \{1,\dots,n-1\}\\ G_{t-T_{n-1}}^{n}I_{\{T_{n-1}\leq t\}} & \text{for } i = n \end{cases}$$

Moreover, the overall time change G satisfies $G_t = \sum_{k=1}^n G_{R_t^k}^k$ for each $t \ge 0$ since

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{\min\{T_k - T_{k-1}, (t - T_{k-1})^+\}I_{\{T_{k-1} < \infty\}}}^n + G_{(t - T_{n-1})^+}^n \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{\min\{T_k - T_{k-1}, (t - T_{k-1})^+\}I_{\{T_{k-1} < \infty\}}}^k + G_{(t - T_{n-1})^+}^n \right) I_{\{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\}} \\ &+ \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{\min\{T_k - T_{k-1}, (t - T_{k-1})^+\}I_{\{T_{k-1} < \infty\}}}^k + G_{(t - T_{n-1})^+}^n \right) I_{\{T_{n-1} \le t\}} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{i-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t - T_{i-1}}^n \right) I_{\{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\}} \\ &+ \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t - T_{n-1}}^n \right) I_{\{T_{n-1} \le t\}}. \end{split}$$

Lemma 3.2.12 yields that $G_{R_t^k}^k$ is $\mathcal{F}_t^k(\subset \mathcal{G}_t)$ -measurable for each $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \geq 0$. It follows immediately that G is \mathbb{G} -adapted. Furthermore, it follows from $G_t^{-1} = \inf\{s \geq 0 | G_s > t\} = \min\{s \geq 0 | G_s = t\}$ that

$$\{G_t^{-1} \le s\} = \{t \le G_s\} \in \mathcal{G}_s \quad \text{for all } s \ge 0.$$

This means that G_t^{-1} is a \mathbb{G} -stopping time for each $t \geq 0$.

To prove the last proposition in this subsection, we need the following lemma which is similar to Theorem T28, Chapter A2 in Brémaud (1981) (see Theorem 1.1.9).

Lemma 3.2.14. Let \mathscr{N} be a nonexplosive point process and define the filtration $\mathbb{E}^{\infty,\mathscr{N}} := (\mathscr{E}_t^{\infty,\mathscr{N}})_{t \geq 0}$ by

$$\mathcal{E}_t^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} := \mathcal{K}_\infty \lor \sigma(\mathcal{N}_s : s \le t).$$

Then for every $\mathbb{E}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}}$ -stopping time θ , the following equality holds:

$$\mathcal{E}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}}_{\theta} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(\mathcal{N}_{\theta \land s} : s \ge 0).$$

Proof. Since $\mathcal{K}_{\infty} \subset \mathcal{E}_{t}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}}$ and $\mathcal{N}_{\theta \wedge t}$ is $\mathcal{E}_{\theta \wedge t}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} (\subset \mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}})$ -measurable for each $t \geq 0$, the inclusion " \supset " is trivial. The proof of the inclusion " \subset " is analogous to the proof of Theorem T28, Chapter A2 in Brémaud (1981) if one recalls that

$$\mathcal{E}_a^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} = \sigma(\mathcal{N}_s, I_C : s \le a, C \in \mathcal{K}_\infty) \quad \text{for every } a \in \mathbb{R}_+$$

since $\mathcal{K}_{\infty} = \sigma(I_C : C \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}).$

Remark 3.2.15. For $\mathcal{N} = N^0$, we obtain from Theorem 1.1.8 that $\mathcal{E}_t^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} = \mathcal{H}_t$. Thus, Lemma 3.2.14 yields $\mathcal{H}_{\theta} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \vee \sigma(N_{\theta \wedge s}^0 : s \geq 0)$ for every \mathbb{H} -stopping time θ .

Proposition 3.2.16. For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, $T_1, ..., T_i$ are measurable with respect to \mathcal{H}_{S_i} . In particular, we have $\mathcal{G}_{T_i} \subset \mathcal{H}_{S_i}$.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. We know from Remark 3.2.15 that $\mathcal{H}_{S_i} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \vee \sigma(N_{S_i \wedge s}^0 : s \geq 0)$. Moreover, because $\mathcal{F}_t^{N^0} = \sigma(N_s^0 : s \leq t)$, Theorem 1.1.9 yields $\mathcal{F}_{S_i}^{N^0} = \sigma(N_{S_i \wedge s}^0 : s \geq 0)$, and from Theorem 1.1.10 we know that $\mathcal{F}_{S_i}^{N^0} = \sigma(S_j : j \leq i)$. Hence, we obtain

$$\mathcal{H}_{S_i} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(S_j : j \le i)$$

Measurability of T_1, \ldots, T_i follows directly from the definition of G by

$$G_t = \begin{cases} \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i & \text{on } \{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\} \text{ for } i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{n-1}}^n & \text{on } \{T_n \le t\} \end{cases}$$

and the fact that

$$T_j = G_{S_j}^{-1} = \inf\{t \ge 0 | G_t = S_j\}$$
 for all $j \le i$:

First, consider T_1 which is given by $T_1 = \inf\{t \ge 0 | G_t = S_1\} = \inf\{t \ge 0 | G_t^1 = S_1\}$. Then for each $s \ge 0$, we have

$$\{T_1 \le s\} = \{\inf\{t \ge 0 | G_t^1 = S_1\} \le s\} = \{S_1 \le G_s^1\}$$

Since S_1 is $\sigma(S_j : j \leq i)$ measurable and G_s^1 is \mathcal{K}_∞ -measurable by definition, this yields $\{T_1 \leq s\} \in \mathcal{K}_\infty \lor \sigma(S_j : j \leq i)$ for each $s \geq 0$. Thus, T_1 is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{K}_\infty \lor \sigma(S_j : j \leq i)$.

If i > 1, then measurability of T_2 follows from measurability of T_1 : Due to the definition of G, we have $G_{T_1} = G_{T_1}^1$. Therefore, $G_{T_1}^1 = S_1$. Moreover, we have

$$T_2 = \inf\{t \ge 0 | G_t = S_2\} = \inf\{t \ge T_1 | G_{T_1}^1 + G_{t-T_1}^2 = S_2\}$$

= $\inf\{t \ge T_1 | G_{T_1}^1 + G_{(t-T_1)^+}^2 = S_2\}$ on $\{T_1 < \infty\}$.

Together, we obtain for all $s \ge 0$

$$\{T_2 \le s\} = \{T_1 \le s\} \cap \{\inf\{t \ge T_1 | G_{T_1}^1 + G_{(t-T_1)^+}^2 = S_2\} \le s\}$$

= $\{T_1 \le s\} \cap \{\inf\{t \ge T_1 | S_1 + G_{(t-T_1)^+}^2 = S_2\} \le s\}$
= $\{T_1 \le s\} \cap \{S_2 \le S_1 + G_{(s-T_1)^+}^2\}.$

We have already proved that T_1 is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{K}_{\infty} \vee \sigma(S_j : j \leq i)$. Furthermore, it is obvious that S_1 and S_2 are $\sigma(S_j : j \leq i)$ -measurable. By Lemma 3.2.11, $G^2_{(s-T_1)^+}$ is \mathcal{F}^1_s -measurable. Since

$$\mathcal{F}_s^1 = \bigcap_{u > s} \mathcal{K}_u \lor \sigma(I_{\{T_1 \le v\}} : v \le u) \subset \mathcal{K}_\infty \lor \sigma(T_1) \subset \mathcal{K}_\infty \lor \sigma(S_j : j \le i)$$

for all $s \ge 0$, we finally obtain that $\{T_2 \le s\} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(S_j : j \le i)$ for all $s \ge 0$. This means that T_2 is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(S_j : j \le i)$.

By this procedure, we successively obtain that all T_k for $k \leq i$ are $\mathcal{K}_{\infty} \vee \sigma(S_j : j \leq i)$ -measurable. This yields the first assertion.

The inclusion $\mathcal{G}_{T_i} \subset \mathcal{H}_{S_i}$ follows from Lemma 3.2.14: Note that $\mathcal{G}_t \subset \mathcal{E}_t^{\infty,N} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(N_s : s \leq t)$. According to Lemma 3.2.14, we have $\mathcal{E}_{T_i}^{\infty,N} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(N_{T_i \land s} : s \geq 0)$. Since $\mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(N_{T_i \land s} : s \geq 0) = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(T_j : j \leq i)$, it follows

$$\mathcal{E}_{T_i}^{\infty,N} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(T_j : j \le i).$$

Finally, the second assertion holds due to $\mathcal{G}_{T_i} \subset \mathcal{E}_{T_i}^{\infty,N}$ and because T_1, \ldots, T_i are measurable with respect to \mathcal{H}_{S_i} .

3.3. Conditional distribution of the arrival times

In this section we determine conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distributions of the inter-arrival times $T_i - T_{i-1}$ and the arrival times T_i by using the results from Section 3.1.

Lemma 3.3.1. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, the inter-arrival time $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and consider $\mathbb{A} = (\mathcal{A}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ defined in Subsection 3.2.3 as the right-continuous filtration generated by $\sigma(W_s : s \leq t) \vee \sigma(\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n) \vee \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ (Note that because $\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n$ are deterministic, the σ -algebra $\sigma(\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n)$ is trivial.). Since S_j is an \mathbb{A} -stopping time, S_j is \mathcal{A}_{S_j} -measurable for each $j \in \{0, \ldots, i-1\}$. This implies that S_0, \ldots, S_{i-1} are $\mathcal{A}_{S_{i-1}}$ -measurable, and hence $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \vee \sigma(S_j : j \leq i-1) \subset \mathcal{A}_{S_{i-1}}$. Together with the \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independence of $(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}})_{s \geq 0}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$. From the proof of Proposition 3.1.5 we know that

$$(S_i - S_{i-1})I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}} = \inf\{s \ge 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma \cdot (W_{S_{i-1} + s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\}I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}}.$$

Since κ^i is deterministic for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, we finally obtain the assertion. \Box

Before we arrive at the main result of this section, we have to consider the following lemma which is related to Lemma A.11 in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005).

Lemma 3.3.2. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \ge 0$, $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{F}^{i-1}_{T_{i-1}+t} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ and \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{F}^{i-1}_{t \lor T_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \ge 0$. We know from Lemma 3.3.1 that $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$. Now, consider the counting process $\mathcal{N}_t := \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} I_{\{T_k \le t\}}$. Due to Lemma 3.2.14, we have $\mathcal{E}_{T_{i-1}}^{\infty, \mathcal{N}} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(\mathcal{N}_{T_{i-1} \land s} : s \ge 0)$. Moreover, Theorem 1.1.9 yields $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}}^{\mathcal{N}} = \sigma(\mathcal{N}_{T_{i-1} \land s} : s \ge 0)$, and from Theorem 1.1.10 we know that $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}}^{\mathcal{N}} = \sigma(T_j : j \le i-1)$. It follows

$$\mathcal{E}_{T_{i-1}}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(T_j : j \le i-1)$$

According to Theorem 1.1.10, we have $\mathcal{E}_{\infty}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \vee \sigma(T_j : j \leq i-1)$. Therefore, the inclusions $\mathcal{E}_{T_{i-1}}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\infty}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}}$ and $\mathcal{E}_{T_{i-1}}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\infty}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\infty}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}}$ imply

$$\mathcal{E}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} = \mathcal{E}_{T_{i-1}\vee t}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \vee \sigma(T_j : j \le i-1).$$

Furthermore, by definition of \mathbb{F}^{i-1} and $\mathbb{E}^{\infty,\mathcal{N}}$, we have $\mathcal{F}_s^{i-1} \subset \mathcal{E}_s^{\infty,\mathcal{N}}$ for all $s \geq 0$. As a consequence, we obtain

$$\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1} \subset \mathcal{E}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{\infty,\mathscr{N}} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(T_j : j \le i-1) \text{ and} \\ \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}\lor t}^{i-1} \subset \mathcal{E}_{T_{i-1}\lor t}^{\infty,\mathscr{N}} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(T_j : j \le i-1).$$

Since T_j , $j \leq i-1$, are $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$ -measurable by Proposition 3.2.16, this means

$$\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1} \subset \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}\vee t}^{i-1} \subset \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}.$$
(3.8)

Finally, the \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independence of $S_i - S_{i-1}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$ and (3.8) yield the assertion.

The next theorem is the main result of this section. In particular, we derive the $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}}^{i-1}$ -conditional distribution function of the inter-arrival times $T_i - T_{i-1}$ and the \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional distribution function of T_i under the probability measure \mathbb{P}^{i-1} for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Later on, we will use this result to compute intensities. Note that Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) proved a similar statement for their inter-arrival times.

We have already determined the \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution function of $S_i - S_{i-1}$ in Proposition 3.1.5 and Corollary 3.1.7, namely

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \le t] = F^{\Delta S}(t, \kappa^i) = \mathbb{P}\left[\min_{s \le t} (\kappa^i + \sigma W_s + \mu s) \le 0\right] \quad \text{for } t \ge 0$$

and

$$F^{\Delta S}(t,\kappa^{i}) = \begin{cases} \Phi\left(\frac{-\kappa^{i}-\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) + e^{-2\mu\kappa^{i}/\sigma^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{-\kappa^{i}+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) & \text{for } t > 0\\ 0 & \text{for } t = 0 \end{cases}$$

Theorem 3.3.3. For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $0 \le s \le t$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} &\leq t |\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+s}^{i-1}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[F^{\Delta S}(G_t^i, \kappa^i)I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} |\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+s}^{i-1}] \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - a.s., \end{split}$$

and the \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution function of T_i is given by

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = F^{\Delta S}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i, \kappa^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - a.s.$$

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $t \ge 0$. First, note that Lemma 3.1.3 and Proposition 3.2.9 yield

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} &\leq t |\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}] \\ &= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i - T_{i-1} \leq t |\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}]I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \\ &= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \leq G_t^i |\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}]I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \end{aligned}$$

Since G^i is \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted, G_t^i is $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$ -measurable. It follows that G_t^i considered as a random variable on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$. Ω^{i-1} . Due to Lemma 3.3.2, $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$. Hence, we obtain from Lemma 3.1.3 (in a similar way to the proof of Corollary 3.1.7)

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \le t | \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}] = F^{\Delta S}(G_t^i, \kappa^i)I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}.$$

Since $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+s}^{i-1} \subset \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$ for $s \leq t$, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} &\leq t |\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+s}^{i-1}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \leq t |\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}]|\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+s}^{i-1}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[F^{\Delta S}(G_t^i, \kappa^i)I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}|\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+s}^{i-1}]. \end{split}$$

In order to prove the second assertion, note that since T_{i-1} is an \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -stopping time, $I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$ is \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} -measurable. Hence,

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} + \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] I_{\{T_{i-1} \ge t\}} \\ = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(T_i - T_{i-1}) I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \le (t - T_{i-1})^+ | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}.$$

Because $T_i - T_{i-1} = (G^i)_{S_i - S_{i-1}}^{-1}$ on $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}$ and $\{S_{i-1} < \infty\} = \{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$, this means that

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(S_i - S_{i-1})I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}} \le G^i_{(t-T_{i-1})^+} | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}]I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}.$$

With Lemma A.1.3 and the second part of Lemma 3.1.3, we obtain

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(S_i - S_{i-1})I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}} \le G^i_{(t-T_{i-1})^+} | \mathcal{F}_{t \lor T_{i-1}}^{i-1}]I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$$
$$= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \le G^i_{(t-T_{i-1})^+} | \mathcal{F}_{t \lor T_{i-1}}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}]I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}.$$

Furthermore, we know from Lemma 3.2.11 that $G^i_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}$ is $\mathcal{F}^{i-1}_t (\subset \mathcal{F}^{i-1}_{t \vee T_{i-1}})$ measurable, and Lemma 3.3.2 yields \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independence of $S_i - S_{i-1}$ and $\mathcal{F}^{i-1}_{t \vee T_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on the probability space $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$. As above, this implies by Lemma 3.1.3

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = F^{\Delta S}(G^i_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}, \kappa^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} = F^{\Delta S}(G^i_{t-T_{i-1}}, \kappa^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}.$$

Especially in contrast to Corollary 3.1.7 that considers the case of a portfolio value process which is given by a simple geometric Brownian motion, the previous result clarifies the advantage of the time change approach.

In Section 3.1 we have defined the time of the *i*th default in our underlying portfolio by the first time the geometric Brownian motion V hits the deterministic barrier K^i . This point in time is denoted by S_i . Moreover, we have stated after Corollary 3.1.7 that the $\mathcal{F}_{S_{i-1}}^W$ -conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution of S_i depends on κ^i , μ , σ and S_{i-1} . Hence, apart from the dependence on the time since the last default, there is no influence of the previous defaults on the conditional default probability of the remaining firms in the portfolio.

In order to overcome this property, we have introduced the time change G and defined the time of the *i*th default as the first point in time T_i in which the time changed geometric Brownian motion V_G hits the deterministic barrier K^i . As a consequence, Theorem 3.3.3 states that the \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution of the *i*th default time depends on κ^i , μ , σ (which are deterministic) and T_{i-1} and additionally on the *i*th time change G^i . This dependence on G^i is new and the key property of our model.

In Subsection 3.2.4 we have pointed out that the *i*th time change G^i is responsible for a possible change in the slope of the overall time change G. Now, Theorem 3.3.3 clarifies that by choosing an appropriate time change G^i , we can specify how a default of one firm influences the conditional distribution of the next default. Examples of such time changes G^i will be considered later on in Section 3.6.

3.4. Conditional survival probabilities, default trends and intensities

This section is related to the work of Giesecke (2006) and focuses on the determination of the *i*th default trend for each default time T_i , $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. These trends are used to derive tractable solutions for prices of credit sensitive securities which depend on the *i*th default in the underlying pool of names and to construct an algorithm to simulate default times.

We start with a short introduction to the terminology which is needed later on. Thereafter, we apply the results of Giesecke (2006) to our model setting. This means that we determine the *i*th default trend for each default time T_i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, and prove that default intensities with respect to the different model filtrations \mathbb{F}^{i-1} exist. Moreover, we will see that our default times are totally inaccessible in \mathbb{G} , which is typically for reduced form models. Finally, in Subsection 3.4.3 we derive the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator C of the default counting process N by using the results from the previous sections. Since N - C is a martingale, C encodes the upwards tendency of the default counting process. Thus, N can be specified in terms of its compensator.

3.4.1. General definitions

In this subsection we introduce important terms which are discussed in the following subsections in more detail. We also refer to Section 1.2, where the case of a single firm is considered.

Notation 3.4.1. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, the \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional survival probability of T_i is denoted by Z^i , i.e., $Z_t^i := \mathbb{E}[1 - N_t^i | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}].$

Remark 3.4.2. We know from Section 1.2 that Z^i is a $(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{F}^{i-1})$ -supermartingale for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Moreover, since each default indicator process N^i is a nondecreasing process, N^i is a (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -submartingale.

Because of the previous remark, each N^i admits a (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G})-compensator C^i such that $N^i - C^i$ are (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G})-martingales. If \mathbb{G} is for each \mathbb{F}^{i-1} a filtration expansion of the Guo-Zeng type (see Definition 1.2.5), then we obtain these compensators by using the extended Jeulin-Yor theorem (see Theorem 1.2.7).

Hereafter, we show that \mathbb{G} is indeed a filtration expansion of \mathbb{F}^{i-1} of the Guo-Zeng type for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. To this end, recall that $0 = T_0 \leq T_1 \leq \ldots \leq T_n \leq \infty$ and $\mathbb{F}^0 \subset \mathbb{F}^1 \subset \ldots \subset \mathbb{F}^n := \mathbb{G}$.

Lemma 3.4.3. For every $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and every $t \ge 0$, we have

$$\mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} \cap \{T_i > t\} = \mathcal{F}_t^i \cap \{T_i > t\}.$$

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $t \ge 0$ and let \mathbb{G}^{T_i} be the progressive filtration expansion of \mathbb{F}^{i-1} , i.e.,

$$\mathcal{G}_t^{T_i} = \{ A \in \mathcal{E}_\infty | \exists F_t \in \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}, A \cap \{T_i > t\} = F_t \cap \{T_i > t\} \}$$

with $\mathcal{E}_{\infty} := \mathcal{F}_{\infty}^{i-1} \vee \sigma(T^i)$. We have

$$\mathcal{F}_t^i = \bigcap_{u>t} \mathcal{K}_u \lor \sigma(I_{\{T_k \le s\}} : s \le u, k \le i)$$
$$= \bigcap_{u>t} \mathcal{F}_u^{i-1} \lor \sigma(I_{\{T_i \le s\}} : s \le u) = \bigcap_{u>t} (\mathcal{G}^{i-1})'_u$$
(3.9)

where $(\mathbb{G}^{i-1})' = ((\mathcal{G}^{i-1})'_t)_{t\geq 0}$ denotes the minimal filtration expansion of \mathbb{F}^{i-1} . Since $(\mathbb{G}^{i-1})'$ is the smallest filtration expansion of \mathbb{F}^{i-1} such that T_i is a $(\mathbb{G}^{i-1})'$ -stopping time, we have $(\mathbb{G}^{i-1})' \subset \mathbb{G}^{T_i}$. Moreover, the progressive filtration expansion \mathbb{G}^{T_i} is right-continuous (see Chapter VI in Protter (2005)). Therefore, it follows from (3.9) that $\mathcal{F}_t^i \subset \mathcal{G}_t^{T_i}$. This implies

$$\mathcal{F}_{t}^{i} \cap \{T^{i} > t\} \subset \mathcal{G}_{t}^{T_{i}} \cap \{T^{i} > t\} = \mathcal{F}_{t}^{i-1} \cap \{T^{i} > t\}.$$

The assertion follows by noting that the reverse implication $\mathcal{F}_t^i \cap \{T^i > t\} \supset \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} \cap \{T^i > t\}$ is obvious. \Box

The following lemma is a special case of Lemma 9, Chapter 1 in Kchia (2011).

Lemma 3.4.4. For every j with $1 \le i \le j \le n$ and every $t \ge 0$, we have

$$\mathcal{F}_{t}^{j} \cap \{T_{i} > t\} = \mathcal{F}_{t}^{i-1} \cap \{T_{i} > t\}.$$
(3.10)

Especially, we have

$$\mathcal{G}_t \cap \{T_i > t\} = \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} \cap \{T_i > t\} \quad for \ all \ i \in \{1, \dots, n\}.$$

Proof. Note that the assertion holds for j = i due to Lemma 3.4.3. Moreover, Lemma 3.4.3 yields $\mathcal{F}_t^j \cap \{T_{j+1} > t\} = \mathcal{F}_t^{j+1} \cap \{T_{j+1} > t\}$ for each $t \ge 0$ and $j \in \{i, \ldots, n-1\}$, which implies that $\mathcal{F}_t^j \cap \{T_{j+1} > t\} \cap \{T_i > t\} = \mathcal{F}_t^{j+1} \cap \{T_{j+1} > t\} \cap \{T_i > t\}$. Since the default times are increasing, we have $\{T_i > t\} \subset \{T_{j+1} > t\}$. Hence, the last equation is equivalent to $\mathcal{F}_t^j \cap \{T_i > t\} = \mathcal{F}_t^{j+1} \cap \{T_i > t\}$. But this implies that if (3.10) is true for j, then it is also satisfied for j + 1. Since the statement holds for j = i, the proof of the first assertion is completed. The second statement is the special case j = n.

According to the previous lemma, \mathbb{G} is indeed a filtration expansion of \mathbb{F}^{i-1} that is of the Guo-Zeng type for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Hence, we can apply the extended Jeulin-Yor theorem as described above.

To compute the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator processes C^i of the indicator processes N^i for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, we adopt definitions from Giesecke (2006) to our default models (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) . Giesecke (2006) considers the case of only one defaultable firm and uses progressive filtration expansions. Nevertheless, we will see that we obtain similar results in our multi-firm setting due to the extended Jeulin-Yor theorem.

Definition 3.4.5. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and let $Z_{t-}^i := \lim_{s \uparrow t} Z_s^i$ and $Z_{0-}^i := 1$. The *i*th default trend \mathscr{A}^i is defined by

$$\mathscr{A}_t^i := \int_0^t \frac{1}{Z_{s-}^i} d\mathscr{C}_s^i \tag{3.11}$$

where the process \mathscr{C}^i is the $(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{F}^{i-1})$ -compensator of Z^i . We say that (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) is an intensity based default model if there exists an \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -progressive and nonnegative process λ^i such that $\mathscr{A}^i_t = \int_0^t \lambda^i_s ds \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for all $t \ge 0$. The process λ^i is called the *i*th intensity process.

Remark 3.4.6. We will see later on that $Z_t^i > 0$ P-a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ (see Lemma 3.4.15). Thus, we do not divide by 0 in (3.11).

Definition 3.4.7. For $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, we say that the default model (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) is strongly intensity based if there exists an \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -progressive and nonnegative process λ^i such that for each $t \geq 0$, we have

$$Z_t^i = \exp\left(-\int_0^t \lambda_s^i ds\right) \quad \mathbb{P}-a.s.$$

If (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) is an intensity based default model, then it follows from the extended Jeulin-Yor theorem that $C^i = (\mathscr{A}^i)^{T_i}$ with $(\mathscr{A}^i_t)^{T_i} = \mathscr{A}^i_{t \wedge T_i} = \int_0^{t \wedge T_i} \lambda^i_s ds \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. is the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator of N^i . Because of that, we are interested in the detailed form of \mathscr{A}^i and λ^i . But first, let us state a few remarks concerning the previous definitions.

- **Remark 3.4.8.** 1. Although the previous definitions are based on the definitions in Giesecke (2006), we have modified the required properties of the involved intensity. If we would adopt the definition from Giesecke (2006) directly to our approach, then the intensities would be bounded, nonnegative and \mathbb{F}^{i-1} predictable. Boundedness is needed in Proposition 5.10 in Giesecke (2006) which proves that intensities in the sense of Definition 3.4.7 are indeed short credit spreads. Moreover, Giesecke (2006) uses a progressive filtration expansion to obtain this result. For a more general result with respect to the filtration expansion which also requires relaxed predictability and boundedness assumptions, we refer to Okhrati (2013).
 - 2. Note that the *i*th default trend \mathscr{A}^i defined in Definition 3.4.5 corresponds with the \mathbb{F} -martingale hazard process Λ in Proposition 2.1.8. Indeed, the model and the results in Giesecke (2006) and the model in this chapter are closely related to the hazard process approach.
 - 3. Let $\bar{\lambda}^i$ and $\tilde{\lambda}^i$ be two \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -predictable *i*th intensity processes. Then $\bar{\lambda}^i$ and $\tilde{\lambda}^i$ are also \mathbb{G} -predictable since $\mathbb{F}^{i-1} \subset \mathbb{G}$. Moreover, note that for every *i*th intensity process λ^i and every $t \geq 0$, we have

$$C_t^i = \mathscr{A}_{t \wedge T_i}^i = \int_0^{t \wedge T_i} \lambda_s^i ds = \int_0^t \lambda_s^i I_{\{s \le T_i\}} ds \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.}$$

Therefore, it follows from Theorem T12, Chapter II in Brémaud (1981) that the \mathbb{G} -predictable processes $(\bar{\lambda}_t^i I_{\{t < T_i\}})_{t \geq 0}$ and $(\tilde{\lambda}_t^i I_{\{t < T_i\}})_{t \geq 0}$ satisfy

$$(\bar{\lambda}_t^i I_{\{t \le T_i\}})(\omega) = (\tilde{\lambda}_t^i I_{\{t \le T_i\}})(\omega) \quad \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \times dN_t^i(\omega) \text{-a.e.}$$

The next lemma, which was proved in Giesecke (2006), states that the "strongly intensity based" property of (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) is really stronger than the "intensity based" property.

Lemma 3.4.9 (See Proposition 5.8 in Giesecke (2006)). For every $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, the following statements are satisfied:

- 1. If a default model (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) is strongly intensity based, then it is intensity based in the sense of Definition 3.4.5.
- 2. If a default model (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) is intensity based in the sense of Definition 3.4.5 and additionally satisfies $\mathscr{C}^i = 1 - Z^i$, then it is also strongly intensity based.

3.4.2. Default trends

In this subsection we determine the default trends (and hence the compensators of the processes N^i) in our default model with deterministic barriers and unknown portfolio value process. Moreover, at the end of this subsection we use these trends to determine prices of contingent claims depending on the *i*th default in the underlying pool of names.

In Theorem 3.3.3 we have already computed the \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution function of T_i for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. The next corollary follows from Theorem 3.3.3 and addresses the \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional survival probability of T_i .

Corollary 3.4.10. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and each $t \ge 0$, we have

$$\mathbb{P}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} = F^{\Delta S}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i, \kappa^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P}-a.s.$$

In particular, for each $t \ge 0$, Z^i satisfies

$$Z_t = 1 - F^{\Delta S}(G^i_{t-T_{i-1}}, \kappa^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s.$$

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \ge 0$ and note that

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}]I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - \text{a.s.}$$

It follows for $B := \{T_i \leq t\}$ and every $F \in \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}$

$$\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[\mathbb{E}[I_BI_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}]I_F] = \frac{\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[I_BI_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}]I_FI_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}]}{\mathbb{P}[T_{i-1} < \infty]}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}[I_BI_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}I_FI_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}]}{\mathbb{P}[T_{i-1} < \infty]}$$
$$= \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_BI_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}I_F]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[\mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_BI_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}]I_F].$$

By the definition of the conditional expectation, this means

$$\mathbb{E}[I_B I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[I_B I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - \text{a.s.}$$

As a consequence, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}[T_i \leq t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} &= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \leq t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \\ &= F^{\Delta S}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i, \kappa^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - \text{a.s.}, \end{split}$$

where the last equality follows from Theorem 3.3.3. Finally, Lemma 3.4.11 yields the desired result. $\hfill \Box$

Lemma 3.4.11. Let X and Y be random variables on $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$ for some $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Then $XI_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} = YI_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \mathbb{P}^{i-1}$ -a.s. implies that $XI_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} = YI_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \mathbb{P}$ -a.s.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and note that $\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[A] = \mathbb{P}[A \cap \{T_{i-1} < \infty\}]/\mathbb{P}[T_{i-1} < \infty]$ for each $A \in \mathcal{A}$. Because

$$\begin{aligned} \{XI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} = YI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}\} &= (\{XI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} = YI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}\} \cap \{T_{i-1}<\infty\}) \\ &\cup (\{XI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} = YI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}\} \cap \{T_{i-1}=\infty\}) \\ &= (\{XI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} = YI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}\} \cap \{T_{i-1}<\infty\}) \\ &\cup \{T_{i-1}=\infty\}, \end{aligned}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}[XI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} = YI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}] &= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[XI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} = YI_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}]\mathbb{P}[T_{i-1}<\infty] \\ &+ \mathbb{P}[T_{i-1} = \infty] \\ &= \mathbb{P}[T_{i-1}<\infty] + \mathbb{P}[T_{i-1} = \infty] \\ &= 1. \end{split}$$

Remark 3.4.12. Because of the definition of T_i , we have

$$\mathbb{P}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = \mathbb{P}\left[\min_{0 \le s \le t} V_{G_s} \le K^i \middle| \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}\right] \quad \mathbb{P}-\text{a.s.}$$

Hence, if we fix $t \ge 0$ and consider $\mathbb{P}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}]$ as a function in K^i , then we can interpret this function as the \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional distribution function of the portfolio minimum at time t given by $M_t := \min_{0 \le s \le t} V_{G_s}$. Giesecke (2006) studies this perspective in detail.

To derive the *i*th default trend \mathscr{A}^i , the process $F^i(x)$ defined for each x > 0 by

$$F_t^i(x) := F^{\Delta S}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i, x) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$$
(3.12)

plays an important role. In the following, we discuss this process in detail and verify important properties which are essential to obtain the desired *i*th default trend. Since the process $F^i(x)$ is strongly connected to the function $F^{\Delta S}(\cdot, x)$, we start with important properties of this function.

Lemma 3.4.13. For each x > 0, $F^{\Delta S}(\cdot, x)$ is continuous and increasing and satisfies $F^{\Delta S}(t, x) < 1$ for each $t \ge 0$. Moreover, $F^{\Delta S}(\cdot, x)$ is absolutely continuous with derivative $f^{\Delta S}(\cdot, x)$ which is given by

$$f^{\Delta S}(t,x) = e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2} \frac{x}{\sigma} t^{-3/2} \varphi\left(\frac{-x+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) \quad \text{for } t > 0.$$
(3.13)

In particular, $f^{\Delta S}(\cdot, x)$ satisfies $\lim_{t\downarrow 0} f^{\Delta S}(t, x) = 0$.

Proof. Fix x > 0. Continuity and monotonicity are obvious. Moreover, $F^{\Delta S}(0, x) = 0$ and $F^{\Delta S}(t, x) \in [0, 1]$ for each t > 0. Therefore, $F^{\Delta S}(t, x) < 1$ for t > 0 if and only if

$$F^{\Delta S}(t,x) = 1 - \Phi\left(\frac{x+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) + e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2} \Phi\left(\frac{-x+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) \neq 1$$

This means that we have to prove that $\Upsilon(a, b, c) := e^{2ab/c^2} \Phi((a+b)/c) - \Phi((-a+b)/c) \neq 0$ for $a < 0, b \in \mathbb{R}$ and c > 0. On the one hand, we have

$$e^{\frac{2ab}{c^2}}\Phi\left(\frac{a+b}{c}\right) = \frac{1}{c\sqrt{2\pi}}\int_{-\infty}^{a}e^{\frac{2ab}{c^2}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{y+b}{c}\right)^2}dy = \frac{1}{c\sqrt{2\pi}}\int_{-\infty}^{a}e^{\frac{2ab}{c^2}-\frac{y^2}{2c^2}-\frac{by}{c^2}-\frac{by}{2c^2$$

On the other hand, we obtain

$$\Phi\left(\frac{-a+b}{c}\right) = \frac{1}{c\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{a} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{y-2a+b}{c}\right)^{2}} dy$$
$$= \frac{1}{c\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{a} e^{-\frac{y^{2}}{2c^{2}} + \frac{2ay}{c^{2}} - \frac{by}{c^{2}} - \frac{2a^{2}}{c^{2}} + \frac{2ab}{c^{2}} - \frac{b^{2}}{2c^{2}}} dy$$

If we define $l\left(y\right) := \exp\left((2ab - by)/c^2 - (y^2 + b^2)/(2c^2)\right)$, then we get

$$\Upsilon(a,b,c) = \frac{1}{c\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{a} l(y) \left[1 - e^{\frac{2ay - 2a^2}{c^2}}\right] dy.$$

Since a < 0, we have $2ay - 2a^2 > 0$ for all $y \in (-\infty, a)$. Together with l(y) > 0 this yields $\Upsilon(a, b, c) \neq 0$.

Moreover, from $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}[(-x \pm \mu t)/(\sigma \sqrt{t})] = (x/2\sigma)t^{-3/2} \pm (\mu/2\sigma)t^{-1/2}$ it follows that

$$\begin{split} f^{\Delta S}\left(t,x\right) &= \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\Phi\left(\frac{-x-\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) + e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2} \Phi\left(\frac{-x+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) \right] \\ &= \left(\frac{x}{2\sigma} t^{-3/2} - \frac{\mu}{2\sigma} t^{-1/2}\right) \varphi\left(\frac{-x-\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) \\ &+ e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2} \left(\frac{x}{2\sigma} t^{-3/2} + \frac{\mu}{2\sigma} t^{-1/2}\right) \varphi\left(\frac{-x+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) \end{split}$$

Since

$$\begin{split} \varphi\left(\frac{-x-\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{-x-\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right)^2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{2\mu x}{\sigma^2} - \frac{x^2}{2\sigma^2 t} + \frac{x\mu}{\sigma^2} - \frac{\mu^2 t}{2\sigma^2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{2\mu x}{\sigma^2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{-x+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right)^2} = e^{-\frac{2\mu x}{\sigma^2}} \varphi\left(\frac{-x+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right), \end{split}$$

this yields Equation (3.13).

Finally, we consider the limit $t \downarrow 0$. First, note that for each t > 0, we have

$$t^{-3/2}\varphi\left(\frac{-x+\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}e^{-\frac{3}{2}\log t - \frac{x^2}{2\sigma^2 t} + \frac{x\mu}{\sigma^2} - \frac{\mu^2 t}{2\sigma^2}}.$$

Since $\mu^2 t/(2\sigma^2) \to 0$ and

$$3\log t + \frac{x^2}{\sigma^2 t} = \log t^3 + \log e^{\frac{x^2}{\sigma^2 t}} = \log\left(t^3 e^{\frac{x^2}{\sigma^2 t}}\right) \to \infty,$$

we obtain $\lim_{t\downarrow 0} f^{\Delta S}(t, x) = 0.$

For the remaining part of this chapter we only consider time changes G^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, that satisfy the following assumption.

Assumption 3.4.14. For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and all $t \ge 0$, the time change G^i satisfies

$$G_t^i = \int_0^t g_s^i ds \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s. \tag{3.14}$$

for a \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted, right-continuous and positive density process g^i .

Lemma 3.4.15. For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and each x > 0, the process $F^i(x)$ satisfies the following properties:

- 1. $F_t^i(x) < 1$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \ge 0$.
- 2. $F^{i}(x)$ is continuous and increasing.
- 3. $F^{i}(x)$ is absolutely continuous with a nonnegative and right-continuous density process $f^{i}(x)$ which is for $t \geq 0$ given by

$$f_t^i(x) = g_{t-T_{i-1}}^i e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2} \frac{x}{\sigma} (G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i)^{-3/2} \varphi \left(\frac{-x + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i}{\sigma \sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i}}\right) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$$
(3.15)

 \mathbb{P} -a.s.

Moreover, $f^i(x)$ is \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -predictable if g^i is \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -predictable.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and x > 0. Note that by Lemma 3.4.13, $F^{\Delta S}(\cdot, x)$ is increasing, continuous and satisfies $F^{\Delta S}(t, x) < 1$ for all $t \ge 0$ and $\lim_{t \downarrow 0} F^{\Delta S}(t, x) = 0$. Since G^i has monotone and continuous paths by definition, the first two properties are obvious.

For $\omega \in \{T_{i-1} \ge t\}$, we obviously have $f_t^i(\omega) = 0$. According to Lemma 3.4.13, $F^{\Delta S}(\cdot, x)$ is absolutely continuous with derivative

$$f^{\Delta S}(s,x) = e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2} \frac{x}{\sigma} s^{-3/2} \varphi\left(\frac{-x+\mu s}{\sigma\sqrt{s}}\right) \quad \text{for } s > 0.$$

For $\omega \in \{T_{i-1} < t\}$, we have $[F_t^i(x)](\omega) = F^{\Delta S}(G_{t-T_{i-1}(\omega)}^i(\omega), x)$. Because of Equation (3.14), we obtain by the chain rule that

$$[f_t^i(x)](\omega) = g_{t-T_{i-1}(\omega)}^i(\omega)e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2}\frac{x}{\sigma}(G_{t-T_{i-1}(\omega)}^i(\omega))^{-3/2}\varphi\left(\frac{-x+\mu G_{t-T_{i-1}(\omega)}^i(\omega)}{\sigma\sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}(\omega)}^i(\omega)}}\right)$$

Since g^i is right-continuous by Assumption 3.4.14, it follows from $\lim_{t\downarrow 0} f^{\Delta S}(t, x) = 0$ (see Lemma 3.4.13) that $f^i(x)$ is also right-continuous. Thus, the third property is satisfied. The last assertion follows directly from Lemma 3.4.16.

Lemma 3.4.16. Fix $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and let g^i be \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -predictable. Then the process

$$g_{(\cdot-T_{i-1})^+}^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < \cdot\}} : (0,\infty) \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$$

$$g_{(-T_{i-1})^+}^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < \cdot\}}(t, \omega) = g_{(t-T_{i-1}(\omega))^+}^i(\omega) I_{\{T_{i-1}(\omega) < t\}} \text{ is } \mathbb{F}^{i-1} \text{-predictable.}$$

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. The predictable σ -algebra is generated by processes f which are \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted and càglàd (left-continuous with right limits) on $(0, \infty)$. Hence, it suffices to prove the assertion for such processes f.

Since $(t-T_{i-1})^+$ is a finite \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -stopping time for every t > 0, $f_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{G}_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}^{i-1}$. From $T_{i-1} + (t-T_{i-1})^+ \leq t \vee T_{i-1}$ it follows directly that $f_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{F}_{t\vee T_{i-1}}^{i-1}$. Moreover, because $I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$ is
$\mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} (\subset \mathcal{F}_{t \lor T_{i-1}}^{i-1})$ -measurable, we obtain that $f_{(t-T_{i-1})^+} I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{F}_{t \lor T_{i-1}}^{i-1}$.

Now, it follows analogously to the proof of Lemma 3.2.11 that $f_{(t-T_{i-1})}+I_{\{T_{i-1}< t\}}$ is \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} -measurable. As $(f_{(t-T_{i-1})}+I_{\{T_{i-1}< t\}})_{t>0}$ is also càglàd on $(0,\infty)$, this implies the assertion.

In the following, we determine the *i*th default trend and *i*th default intensity. For the corresponding result in the single-firm setting of Giesecke (2006) we refer to Proposition 6.4 in this paper.

Proposition 3.4.17. For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, the *i*th default time T_i is totally inaccessible in \mathbb{G} , and the *i*th default trend \mathscr{A}^i is continuous. For each $t \geq 0$, we have

$$\mathscr{A}_t^i = -\log(1 - F_t^i(\kappa^i)) \quad \mathbb{P}-a.s.$$
(3.16)

Moreover, the default model (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) is strongly intensity based, and \mathscr{A}^i admits a right-continuous ith intensity process λ^i given by

$$\lambda_t^i = \frac{f_t^i(\kappa^i)}{1 - F_t^i(\kappa^i)} \quad \mathbb{P}-a.s.$$
(3.17)

for $t \geq 0$.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. From Lemma 3.4.15 we know that $F_t^i(\kappa^i) < 1$ for all $t \ge 0$. Consequently, we have $Z_t^i = 1 - F_t^i(\kappa^i) \in (0, 1]$ for all $t \ge 0$. Moreover, $F^i(\kappa^i)$ is continuous and increasing by Lemma 3.4.15. Thus, Z^i is continuous and decreasing. Because Z^i is \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -adapted by definition, it follows from the continuity property of Z^i that Z^i is \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -predictable.

Since by the Doob-Meyer decomposition theorem (see Theorem 1.2.1) the compensator \mathscr{C}^i is unique, \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -predictability and monotonicity of Z^i are sufficient for $\mathscr{C}^i = 1 - Z^i$. In this case, we obtain

$$\mathscr{A}_{t}^{i} = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{Z_{s}^{i}} d(1 - Z_{s}^{i}) = -\int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{Z_{s}^{i}} dZ_{s}^{i} = -\log Z_{t}^{i},$$

where the last equality follows by change of variables (see, for instance, Theorem 54, Chapter I in Protter (2005)). The previous equation yields (3.16). Furthermore, continuity of Z^i implies continuity of $(\mathscr{A}^i)^{T_i}$, which is the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator of N^i according to the extended Jeulin-Yor theorem. Therefore, T_i is a totally inaccessible \mathbb{G} -stopping time (see, for instance, Chapter V, Theorem T40 in Dellacherie (1972)).

Since $F^i(\kappa^i)$ satisfies the third property in Lemma 3.4.15, \mathscr{A}^i inherits absolute continuity from $F^i(\kappa^i)$. Moreover, λ^i is the derivative of \mathscr{A}^i with respect to $t \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. and is given by (3.17).

At last, note that we have an intensity based model with $\mathscr{C}^i = 1 - Z^i$. Thus, it follows from Lemma 3.4.9 that the model is also strongly intensity based.

Remark 3.4.18. Note that

$$\mathscr{A}_t^i = -\log(1 - F_t^i(\kappa^i))I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} = -\log(Z_t^i)I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.}$$

since $Z_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} \ge t\}} = \mathbb{P}[T_i > t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] I_{\{T_{i-1} \ge t\}} = I_{\{T_{i-1} \ge t\}}$ P-a.s. Hence,

$$-\log(Z_t^i) = -\log(Z_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} + I_{\{T_{i-1} \ge t\}})$$

= $-\log(Z_t^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} + 0 \cdot I_{\{T_{i-1} \ge t\}} = -\log(Z_t^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.}$

Moreover, from (3.15) it follows directly that $\lambda_t^i = f_t^i(\kappa^i)/(1 - F_t^i(\kappa^i))I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$ P-a.s.

Explicit form of \mathscr{A}^i and λ^i : We know exactly how \mathscr{A}^i and λ^i in Proposition 3.4.17 look like. Because of (3.12) and (3.15), we obtain \mathbb{P} -a.s.

$$\mathscr{A}_{t}^{i} = -\log\left(\Phi\left(\frac{\kappa^{i} + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}{\sigma\sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}}\right) - e^{-2\mu\kappa^{i}/\sigma^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{-\kappa^{i} + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}{\sigma\sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}}\right)\right)I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$$

$$(3.18)$$

and

$$\lambda_{t}^{i} = \frac{g_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i} e^{-2\mu\kappa^{i}/\sigma^{2}} \frac{\kappa^{i}}{\sigma} (G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i})^{-3/2} \varphi \left(\frac{-\kappa^{i} + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}{\sigma \sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}}\right)}{\Phi \left(\frac{\kappa^{i} + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}{\sigma \sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}}\right) - e^{-2\mu\kappa^{i}/\sigma^{2}} \Phi \left(\frac{-\kappa^{i} + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}{\sigma \sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}}\right)} I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}.$$

According to Proposition 3.4.17, the *i*th default trend \mathscr{A}^i satisfies $\mathscr{A}^i_t = -\log(1 - F^i_t(\kappa^i))$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. The following proposition uses this result to determine prices of default sensitive contingent claims. More precisely, we consider securities paying out the bounded, \mathcal{G}_T -measurable amount X at time T if the *i*th default in the underlying pool of names did not occur up to this point in time, i.e., if $T < T_i$. In case of $T \ge T_i$, the payout is equal to zero.

In general, the price of this security at time $t \leq T$ is given by

$$PV(t,T) = \mathbb{E}\left[X \exp\left(-\int_{t}^{T} r_{s} ds\right) I_{\{T < T_{i}\}} \middle| \mathcal{G}_{t}\right]$$

if r denotes the deterministic risk-free interest rate and \mathbb{P} is assumed to be the risk neutral probability measure. The subsequent proposition and the corresponding proof are closely related to Proposition 5 in Giesecke and Goldberg (2004b) and Proposition 5.4 and Corollary 5.5 in Giesecke (2006).

Proposition 3.4.19. Consider a defaultable promised payoff X at time T and let X be bounded and \mathcal{G}_T -measurable. Moreover, suppose that the risk free interest rate $r = (r_s)_{s\geq 0}$ is deterministic and fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. If the process Y defined by

 $Y_t := \mathbb{E}[X \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i - \mathscr{A}_T^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i]$ is \mathbb{P} -a.s. continuous at T_i , then the price of X at time $t \leq T$ is given by

$$PV(t,T) = \mathbb{E}\left[\left. X \exp\left(-\int_t^T r_s ds + \mathscr{A}_t^i - \mathscr{A}_T^i\right) \right| \mathcal{F}_t^i \right] I_{\{t < T_i\}} \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s.$$
(3.19)

On $\{t < T_i\}$, we have for every $T' \ge t$

$$\mathbb{P}[T_i \le T' | \mathcal{G}_t] = 1 - \mathbb{E}[\exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i - \mathscr{A}_{T'}^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i] \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s.$$
(3.20)

Proof. It suffices to consider the case of a zero interest rate, i.e., r = 0. Define the processes L by $L_t := \mathbb{E}[X \exp(-\mathscr{A}_T^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i]$. Since \mathscr{A}_t^i is \mathcal{F}_t^i -measurable, this means

$$Y_t = \mathbb{E}[X \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i - \mathscr{A}_T^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i] = \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i) \mathbb{E}[X \exp(-\mathscr{A}_T^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i] = \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i) L_t$$

for all $t \geq 0$. Moreover, \mathscr{A}^i is continuous and of finite variation such that the quadratic covariation of L and $\exp(\mathscr{A}^i)$ satisfies $d[L, \exp(\mathscr{A}^i)]_t = 0$. Integration by parts leads to

$$dY_t = \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i) dL_t + L_{t-} d(\exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i)) + d[L, \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i)]_t = \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i) dL_t + L_{t-} d(\exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i)).$$

Moreover, by change of variables, we obtain

$$dY_t = \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i) dL_t + Y_{t-} d\mathscr{A}_t^i.$$

From Theorem 28, Chapter II in Protter (2005) we know that

$$[Y, 1 - N^{i}]_{t} = Y_{0}(1 - N_{0}^{i}) + \sum_{0 < s \le t} \Delta Y_{s} \Delta (1 - N_{s}^{i})$$

where $\Delta Y_t := Y_t - Y_{t-}$. By assumption, the process Y does not jump at T_i . Therefore, we obtain $d[Y, 1 - N^i]_t = 0$ for all $t \leq T$. If we define the process U by $U_t := Y_t(1 - N_t^i)$, then integration by parts yields

$$\begin{aligned} dU_t &= -Y_{t-}dN_t^i + (1 - N_{t-}^i)dY_t + d[Y, 1 - N^i]_t \\ &= -Y_{t-}dN_t^i + (1 - N_{t-}^i)(\exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i)dL_t + Y_{t-}d\mathscr{A}_t^i) \\ &= -Y_{t-}dN_t^i + (1 - N_{t-}^i)\exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i)dL_t + Y_{t-}d\mathscr{A}_{t\wedge T_i}^i \\ &= (1 - N_{t-}^i)\exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i)dL_t - Y_{t-}(dN_t^i - d\mathscr{A}_{t\wedge T_i}^i). \end{aligned}$$

In other words, we have

$$U_T - U_t = \int_t^T (1 - N_{s-}^i) \exp(\mathscr{A}_s^i) dL_s - \int_t^T Y_{s-} (dN_s^i - d\mathscr{A}_{s \wedge T_i}^i)$$
(3.21)

for all $t \leq T$. Note that both integrators in Equation (3.21) are square-integrable \mathbb{F}^{i} -martingales: It is easily seen that L is a bounded \mathbb{F}^{i} -martingale. Furthermore, we know from Lemma 3.4.4 that \mathbb{F}^{i} is a filtration expansion of the Guo-Zeng type of \mathbb{F}^{i-1} . Thus, according to the extended Jeulin-Yor theorem, $(N_{t}^{i} - \mathscr{A}_{t\wedge T_{i}}^{i})_{t\geq 0}$ is an \mathbb{F}^{i} -martingale, and Lemma 1.2.4 states that $(N_{t}^{i} - \mathscr{A}_{t\wedge T_{i}}^{i})_{t\geq 0}$ is square-integrable

with quadratic variation $[N^i - (\mathscr{A}^i)^{T_i}, N^i - (\mathscr{A}^i)^{T_i}] = N^i$. Moreover, the integrands in Equation (3.21) are bounded and \mathbb{F}^i -predictable. Together, we obtain that U is an \mathbb{F}^i -martingale. Hence, it follows for all $t \leq T$ that

$$Y_t(1 - N_t^i) = U_t = \mathbb{E}[U_T | \mathcal{F}_t^i] = \mathbb{E}[Y_T(1 - N_T^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[X | \mathcal{F}_T^i](1 - N_T^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i] = \mathbb{E}[X(1 - N_T^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i],$$

i.e.,

$$Y_t I_{\{t < T_i\}} = \mathbb{E}[X \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i - \mathscr{A}_T^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i] I_{\{t < T_i\}} = \mathbb{E}[X I_{\{T < T_i\}} | \mathcal{F}_t^i].$$

By Lemma 3.4.4, we have $\mathcal{G}_t \cap \{T_i > t\} = \mathcal{F}_t^i \cap \{T_i > t\}$ for all $t \ge 0$, which implies $\mathbb{E}[XI_{\{T < T_i\}} | \mathcal{F}_t^i] = \mathbb{E}[XI_{\{T < T_i\}} | \mathcal{G}_t]$ on $\{t < T_i\}$. This yields the first assertion since

$$PV(t,T) = \mathbb{E}[XI_{\{T < T_i\}} | \mathcal{G}_t] = \mathbb{E}[XI_{\{T < T_i\}} | \mathcal{F}_t^i] = \mathbb{E}[X \exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i - \mathscr{A}_T^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i]I_{\{t < T_i\}}.$$

If we use r = 0, X = 1 and T = T' in Equation (3.19), we arrive at

$$PV(t,T') = \mathbb{E}[I_{\{T' < T_i\}} | \mathcal{F}_t^i] I_{\{t < T_i\}} = \mathbb{E}[\exp(\mathscr{A}_t^i - \mathscr{A}_{T'}^i) | \mathcal{F}_t^i] I_{\{t < T_i\}},$$

which implies Equation (3.20).

3.4.3. The compensator of the default counting process

So far, we have determined the default trends \mathscr{A}^i and the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensators C^i of the indicator processes N^i for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. It remains to consider the default counting process N given by

$$N_t = \sum_{i=1}^n I_{\{T_i \le t\}} \quad \text{for } t \ge 0$$

and to compute the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator C of this process. For a similar result, we refer to Theorem 12, Chapter 1 in Kchia (2011). Moreover, note that our default trends \mathscr{A}^i are absolutely continuous and admit the density λ^i for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. The following theorem shows that the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator of N is also an absolutely continuous process.

Theorem 3.4.20. The (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator C of the default counting process N is for each $t \ge 0$ given by

$$C_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathscr{A}_{T_i \wedge t}^i \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s.$$

Moreover, N admits the right-continuous (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -intensity λ^N given by

$$\lambda_t^N = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\}} \quad \mathbb{P}-a.s.$$

for $t \geq 0$.

Proof. We know from Proposition 3.4.17 that the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator of N^i is given by $C_t^i = \mathscr{A}_{t \wedge T_i}^i = \int_0^{T_i \wedge t} \lambda_s^i ds$ and λ^i satisfies

$$\lambda_t^i = \lambda_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} = \frac{f_t^i(\kappa^i)}{1 - F_t^i(\kappa^i)}$$
(3.22)

with $f^i(x)$ given in (3.15) and $F^i(x)$ given in (3.12) for x > 0. As $F^i(x)$ is continuous and $f^i(x)$ is right-continuous (see Lemma 3.4.15), it follows directly that λ^i has \mathbb{P} a.s. right-continuous paths. Therefore, we obtain

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathscr{A}_{T_i \wedge t}^i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_0^{T_i \wedge t} \lambda_s^i ds = \int_0^t \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\}} ds = \int_0^{t \wedge T_n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\}} ds.$$

The process $(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} \leq t < T_i\}})_{t \geq 0}$ is obviously G-adapted and nonnegative. Moreover, it inherits right-continuity from λ^i and $(I_{\{T_{i-1} \leq t < T_i\}})_{t \geq 0}$, $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. In particular, $(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} \leq t < T_i\}})_{t \geq 0}$ is G-progressive.

The process $(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathscr{A}_{T_i \wedge t}^i)_{t \geq 0}$ is increasing, continuous and \mathbb{G} -adapted, which implies \mathbb{G} -predictability. Furthermore, we have

$$N_t - \sum_{i=1}^n \mathscr{A}_{T_i \wedge t}^i = \sum_{i=1}^n N_t^i - \sum_{i=1}^n \mathscr{A}_{T_i \wedge t}^i = \sum_{i=1}^n (N_t^i - C_t^i).$$

Since $N^i - C^i$ is a (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -martingale for every $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, so is the process $(N_t - \sum_{i=1}^n \mathscr{A}^i_{T_i \wedge t})_{t \geq 0}$. Because the compensator is unique, this completes the proof. \Box

Remark 3.4.21. As the compensator C is \mathbb{G} -predictable by definition, we are able to find a \mathbb{G} -predictable intensity $\overline{\lambda}^N$; see, for instance, Proposition 3.13, Chapter I in Jacod and Shiryaev (2003). If all g^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, are additionally \mathbb{G}^{i-1} predictable, then this \mathbb{G} -predictable intensity is given by

$$\bar{\lambda}_t^N = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < t \le T_i\}} \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.}$$

for $t \geq 0$. This can be verified as follows: We know from Lemma 3.4.15 that $f^i(\kappa^i)$ is \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -predictable if g^i is \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -predictable. Since $\lambda_t^i = f_t^i(\kappa^i)/(1 - F_t^i(\kappa^i))$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \geq 0$ and $F^i(\kappa^i)$ is continuous, this means that λ^i is \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -predictable. The inclusion $\mathbb{F}^{i-1} \subset \mathbb{G}$ implies that λ^i is \mathbb{G} -predictable, and hence the process $(\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < t \leq T_i\}})_{t \geq 0}$ satisfies the same property.

Remark 3.4.22. Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) prove for their time changed Poisson process N^{GT} (see Remark 3.2.4) that for each $i \in \mathbb{N}$, $(N_{t \wedge T_i^{GT}}^{GT} - G_{t \wedge T_i^{GT}}^{GT})_{t \geq 0}$ is a martingale with respect to their investor filtration \mathbb{G}^{GT} . Moreover, if $T_i^{GT} \to \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s., then $N^{GT} - G^{GT}$ is a \mathbb{G}^{GT} -local martingale. In this case, G^{GT} is the $(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}^{GT})$ -compensator of N^{GT} . We refer to Theorem 3.3 in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) for more details.

3.5. Another incomplete information model

Note that in Subsection 3.2.3 the incomplete information model in the definition of our top down first-passage model (IIM1) was constructed such that the default barriers K^1, \ldots, K^n (and hence $\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n$) are deterministic and the portfolio value process V_G is not observable by the investor. But if we take into account Subsection 2.1.3, there exist two more extreme cases of incomplete information:

- Information model in which neither the portfolio value process nor the default barriers are publicly available.
- Information model in which the portfolio value process is publicly available, but the default barriers are unobservable.

Replacing the incomplete information model (IIM1 from Subsection 3.2.3) by another incomplete information model results in a new top down first-passage approach.

In general, we could study both additional cases of incomplete information. Nevertheless, assuming that the portfolio value process is observable, the corresponding model in Giesecke (2006) relies on independence between the single default barrier and the firm's asset value process. But this is not an appropriate requirement in our multi-firm setting because the portfolio value process V_G , modeled as a time changed Brownian motion, depends on the default barriers. This is a consequence of the time change construction in Subsection 3.2.4. More precisely, G satisfies

$$G_t = \begin{cases} \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i & \text{on } \{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\} \text{ for } i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{n-1}}^n & \text{on } \{T_n \le t\} \end{cases}$$

by definition, and hence the overall time change is closely connected to the arrival times T_1, \ldots, T_{n-1} . Since our default times are defined as first hitting times, they also depend on the default barriers K^1, \ldots, K^{n-1} . Thus, the model setting in the third incomplete information model in Giesecke (2006) is not suitable for our top down first-passage approach.

In conclusion, we just focus on the incomplete information model in which neither the portfolio value process nor the default barriers are available. After defining this additional incomplete information model in detail, we discuss the results of Sections 3.3 and 3.4 in the context of this new model.

3.5.1. Setting of the second incomplete information model (IIM2)

In order to study the model with stochastic and unobservable default barriers and unobservable portfolio value process V_G , we have to specify the model filtration \mathbb{F}^{i-1} of the default model (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) and the investor filtration \mathbb{G} which satisfies $\mathbb{F}^{i-1} \subset \mathbb{G}$ for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Recall that in case of the model filtration \mathbb{F}^{i-1} , this means that we have to specify how much information is available with respect to

$$T_i = \inf\{t \ge 0 | V_{G_t} \le K^i\},\tag{3.23}$$

i.e., how much information is available with respect to V, G and K^{i} .

Specification of the second incomplete information model: In IIM2 the following information should be available on $\{t \leq T_{i-1}\}$:

- \mathbb{K} up to time t
- Number of defaults up to time t
- Time of all defaults that occurred up to time t
- G_s for $s \leq t$

On $\{t > T_{i-1}\}$, the following information should additionally be available:

• \mathbb{K} up to time t

By these assumptions, an investor cannot observe the barriers any more which trigger the default in the underlying portfolio. Since an investor never has any information about the underlying process V, the portfolio value process V_G is unobservable as in IIM1. The available information with respect to G and the defaults also coincides with IIM1. Note that with the information which is available with respect to (3.23) the *i*th default is not observable.

The requirements from above are satisfied if we define the model filtrations \mathbb{F}^{i-1} and \mathbb{G}^{i-1} for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ exactly as in IIM1 and suppose that $\kappa^i, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, are independent random variables with values in $(0, \infty)$. In addition to the independence of $\sigma(W_t : t \ge 0)$, which has already been claimed at the beginning of Section 3.2, we assume that $\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n, \sigma(W_t : t \ge 0)$ and \mathcal{K}_{∞} are independent. The distribution function of each κ^i is based on the approach in Yi et al. (2011). We assume that it is given by

$$\psi^{i}\left(x;a_{i},v_{i},\sigma_{i}\right) := \begin{cases} \frac{\varphi(x;a_{i}+v_{i},\sigma_{i})-e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2}}\varphi(x;v_{i}-a_{i},\sigma_{i})}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_{i}+v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right)-e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{v_{i}-a_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right)} & \text{if } x \ge 0\\ 0 & \text{if } x < 0 \end{cases}$$

with $\sigma_i > 0$ and $a_i > |v_i|$. Here, $\varphi(x; \bar{\mu}, \bar{\sigma})$ denotes the probability density function of the normal distribution $\mathcal{N}(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\sigma}^2)$. Figure 3.5.1 shows some examples of the density ψ^i for different parameters. If we set $\Psi^i(x) := \mathbb{P}[\kappa^i \leq x]$, then $\Psi^i(x) = 0$ if x < 0and

$$\Psi^{i}\left(x\right) = \frac{\Phi\left(\frac{x-a_{i}-v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right) - \Phi\left(\frac{-a_{i}-v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right) - e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2}}\left(\Phi\left(\frac{x+a_{i}-v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right) - \Phi\left(\frac{a_{i}-v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right)\right)}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_{i}+v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right) - e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{v_{i}-a_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right)}$$

if $x \ge 0$. Finally, recall that $K^i = K^{i-1} \exp(-\kappa^i)$. Consequently, the default barriers K^1, \ldots, K^n are also random.

Remark 3.5.1. The random variable κ^i is \mathbb{P} -independent of $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. If i = 1, this follows directly from the assumptions on κ^1 and $\mathcal{H}_{S_0} = \mathcal{H}_0 = \mathcal{K}_\infty$. Therefore, let us consider $i \in \{2, \ldots, n\}$. We know from the proof of Proposition 3.2.16 that $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} = \mathcal{K}_\infty \lor \sigma(S_j : j \leq i-1)$. Because S_j is measurable with respect to $\sigma(W_t : t \geq 0) \lor \sigma(\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^j)$ for $j \in \{1, \ldots, i-1\}$, we obtain $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \subset \sigma(W_t : t \geq 0) \lor \sigma(\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^{i-1}) \lor \mathcal{K}_\infty$. Again, the assumptions on κ^i imply that κ^i and $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$ are \mathbb{P} -independent.



Figure 3.5.1.: Density functions $\psi^{i}\left(x;a_{i},v_{i},\sigma_{i}\right)$ of κ^{i}

3.5.2. Conditional distribution of the arrival times

IIM2 differs from IIM1 by stochastic κ^i for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Suppose that $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ is fixed. We know from the proof of Proposition 3.1.5 that

$$(S_i - S_{i-1}) I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}} = \inf\{s \ge 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma(W_{S_{i-1} + s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\} I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}}$$

Moreover, Proposition 3.1.5 and Corollary 3.1.7 yield

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} &\leq t | \kappa^i = x] \\ &= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[\inf\{s \geq 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\} \leq t | \kappa^i = x] \\ &= F^{\Delta S}(t, x) \quad \text{for } x > 0. \end{aligned}$$

Since κ^i is \mathbb{P} -independent of $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} = \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \vee \sigma(S_j : j \leq i-1)$ (see Remark 3.5.1), κ^i and S_{i-1} are \mathbb{P} -independent. Hence,

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[\kappa^i \le x] = \mathbb{P}[\kappa^i \le x | S_{i-1} < \infty] = \mathbb{P}[\kappa^i \le x] = \Psi^i(x) \quad \text{for } x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Altogether, we obtain the \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution of the inter-arrival times $S_i - S_{i-1}$ by integrating over possible values of κ^i , i.e., for each $t \ge 0$, we have

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \leq t] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[\inf\{s \geq 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\} \leq t] = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[\inf\{s \geq 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\} \leq t | \kappa^i]] = \int_0^\infty F^{\Delta S}(t, x) d\Psi^i(x).$$
(3.24)

This integral was computed by Yi et al. (2011) (see Theorem A.1.5 and Proposition A.1.7) such that we arrive at the following corollary.

Corollary 3.5.2. In IIM2 the distribution in (3.24) is given by

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}\left[S_i - S_{i-1} \le t\right] = \int_0^\infty F^{\Delta S}(t, x) d\Psi^i(x) = \frac{\Upsilon^i(t)}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_i + v_i}{\sigma_i}\right) - e^{-2a_i v_i/\sigma_i^2} \Phi\left(\frac{v_i - a_i}{\sigma_i}\right)}$$

for t > 0 where $\Upsilon^i(t) := A^i(t) + B^i(t) - C^i(t) - D^i(t)$ with

$$\begin{aligned} A^{i}(t) &= \Phi_{2} \left(-\frac{a_{i} + v_{i} + \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma_{i}^{2} + \sigma^{2} t}}, -\frac{-a_{i} - v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}, \rho^{i}(t) \right), \\ B^{i}(t) &= \Phi_{2} \left(-\frac{a_{i} + v_{i} - 2\mu\sigma_{i}^{2}/\sigma^{2} - \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma_{i}^{2} + \sigma^{2} t}}, -\frac{-a_{i} - v_{i} + 2\mu\sigma_{i}^{2}/\sigma^{2}}{\sigma_{i}}, \rho^{i}(t) \right) \\ &\cdot e^{-2\mu(a_{i} + v_{i})/\sigma^{2} + 2\mu^{2}\sigma_{i}^{2}/\sigma^{4}}, \\ C^{i}(t) &= \Phi_{2} \left(-\frac{v_{i} - a_{i} + \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma_{i}^{2} + \sigma^{2} t}}, -\frac{-v_{i} + a_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}, \rho^{i}(t) \right) e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2}}, \\ D^{i}(t) &= \Phi_{2} \left(-\frac{v_{i} - a_{i} - 2\mu\sigma_{i}^{2}/\sigma^{2} - \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma_{i}^{2} + \sigma^{2} t}}, -\frac{-v_{i} + a_{i} + 2\mu\sigma_{i}^{2}/\sigma^{2}}{\sigma_{i}}, \rho^{i}(t) \right) \\ &\cdot e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2} - 2\mu(v_{i} - a_{i})/\sigma^{2} + 2\mu^{2}\sigma_{i}^{2}/\sigma^{4}} \end{aligned}$$

and $\rho^i(t) = \frac{-\sigma_i}{\sqrt{\sigma_i^2 + \sigma^2 t}}$. Here, $\Phi_2(x_1, x_2, \rho)$ denotes the 2-dimensional normal distribution function with standard normal marginal distributions and correlation coefficient ρ . In the special case of $\mu/\sigma^2 = v_i/\sigma_i^2$, we have

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}\left[S_i - S_{i-1} \le t\right] = \frac{\Phi\left(-\frac{a_i + v_i + \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma^2 t + \sigma_i^2}}\right) + e^{-2a_i\mu/\sigma^2}\Phi\left(-\frac{a_i - v_i - \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma^2 T + \sigma_i^2}}\right) - \Phi\left(-\frac{a_i + v_i}{\sigma_i}\right) - e^{-2a_i\mu/\sigma^2}\Phi\left(\frac{v_i - a_i}{\sigma_i}\right)}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_i + v_i}{\sigma_i}\right) - e^{-2a_iv_i/\sigma_i^2}\Phi\left(\frac{v_i - a_i}{\sigma_i}\right)}.$$

We are interested in conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distributions of $T_i - T_{i-1}$ and T_i for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Again, we compute these distributions by using the unconditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution of the inter-arrival times $S_i - S_{i-1}$. But first, we have to prove a corresponding result to Lemma 3.3.2 from IIM1.

Lemma 3.5.3. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, the inter-arrival time $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. We have

$$(S_i - S_{i-1}) I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}} = \inf\{s \ge 0 | \kappa^i + \sigma \cdot (W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}}) + \mu s = 0\} I_{\{S_{i-1} < \infty\}}.$$
(3.25)

The assumptions on $\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n, \sigma(W_t : t \ge 0)$ and \mathcal{K}_{∞} imply that W is a Brownian motion with respect to \mathbb{A} where the right-continuous filtration $\mathbb{A} = (\mathcal{A}_t)_{t\ge 0}$ is generated by $\sigma(W_s : s \le t) \lor \sigma(\kappa^1, \ldots, \kappa^n) \lor \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$. By the strong Markov property (see Theorem A.1.1), we know that $(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}})_{s\ge 0}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{A}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on the probability space $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$. Since $\sigma(\kappa^i) \lor \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} =$ $\sigma(\kappa^i) \lor \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \lor \sigma(S_j : j \le i-1) \subset \mathcal{A}_{S_{i-1}}$, it follows that $(W_{S_{i-1}+s} - W_{S_{i-1}})_{s\ge 0}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $(\sigma(\kappa^i) \lor \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}) \cap \Omega^{i-1}$.

Furthermore, the σ -algebras $\sigma(\kappa^i) \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ are \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$: From Remark 3.5.1 we know that κ^i is \mathbb{P} -independent of $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$, i.e., $\mathbb{P}[C \cap H] = \mathbb{P}[C] \cdot \mathbb{P}[H]$ for each $C \in \sigma(\kappa^i)$ and each $H \in \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$. Consider $D \in \sigma(\kappa^i) \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ and $E \in \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$. This means $D = C \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ and $E = H \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ for some $C \in \sigma(\kappa^i)$ and $H \in \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$. Because $\Omega^{i-1} \in \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$, we obtain $E \in \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$. It follows

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[D \cap E] = \frac{\mathbb{P}[C \cap E \cap \Omega^{i-1}]}{\mathbb{P}[\Omega^{i-1}]} = \frac{\mathbb{P}[C] \cdot \mathbb{P}[E \cap \Omega^{i-1}]}{\mathbb{P}[\Omega^{i-1}]} = \mathbb{P}[C] \cdot \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[E].$$
(3.26)

Moreover, note that

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[D] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[C \cap \Omega^{i-1}] = \frac{\mathbb{P}[C \cap \Omega^{i-1}]}{\mathbb{P}[\Omega^{i-1}]}.$$
(3.27)

Since κ^i is \mathbb{P} -independent of $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$ and $\Omega^{i-1} \in \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}$, Equation (3.27) implies $\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[D] = \mathbb{P}[C]$. Together with (3.26), this yields $\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[D \cap E] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[D] \cdot \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[E]$ for all $D \in \sigma(\kappa^i) \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ and all $E \in \mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$.

To sum up, we obtain that the σ -algebra generated by κ^i and $(W_{S_{i-1}+s}-W_{S_{i-1}})_{s\geq 0}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}}\cap\Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1},\mathcal{A}^{i-1},\mathbb{P}^{i-1})$. Together with (3.25), this implies the assertion.

Now, we obtain the desired result.

Lemma 3.5.4. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \ge 0$, in IIM2 the inter-arrival time $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ and \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{F}_{t \lor T_{i-1}}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$.

Proof. This follows analogously to the proof of Lemma 3.3.2 from the \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independence of $S_i - S_{i-1}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{S_{i-1}} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$.

Finally, we are able to prove the following result with regard to the conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distributions.

Theorem 3.5.5. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \ge 0$, denote $F^{(2,i)}(t) := \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \le t]$ in IIM2 and consider $0 \le s \le t$. Then we have

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \le t | \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+s}^{i-1}] \\ = \mathbb{E}^{i-1}[F^{(2,i)}(G_t^i)I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} | \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+s}^{i-1}] \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - a.s.,$$
(3.28)

and the \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -distribution function of T_i is given by

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = F^{(2,i)}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} \le t\}} \quad \mathbb{P}^{i-1} - a.s$$

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $t \ge 0$. As in the proof of Theorem 3.3.3, we know that

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \le t | \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}] \\= \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \le G_t^i | \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}]I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}.$$

Since G_t^i is $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$ -measurable and $S_i - S_{i-1}$ is \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent of $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ on $(\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1})$ (see Lemma 3.5.4), Lemma 3.1.3 yields

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[(T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \le t | \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}] = F^{(2,i)}(G_t^i)I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}.$$

Equation (3.28) follows as in the proof of Theorem 3.3.3.

Moreover, we obtain analogously to proof of Theorem 3.3.3 that

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[S_i - S_{i-1} \le G^i_{(t-T_{i-1})^+} | \mathcal{F}_{t \lor T_{i-1}}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}]I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}.$$

Since $G_{(t-T_{i-1})^+}^i$ is \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1} ($\subset \mathcal{F}_{t\vee T_{i-1}}^{i-1}$)-measurable (see Lemma 3.2.11) and $S_i - S_{i-1}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{t\vee T_{i-1}}^{i-1} \cap \Omega^{i-1}$ are \mathbb{P}^{i-1} -independent on the probability space ($\Omega^{i-1}, \mathcal{A}^{i-1}, \mathbb{P}^{i-1}$) (see Lemma 3.5.4), Lemma 3.1.3 implies

$$\mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_i \le t | \mathcal{F}_t^{i-1}] = F^{(2,i)}(G^i_{(t-T_{i-1})^+})I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} = F^{(2,i)}(G^i_{t-T_{i-1}})I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}.$$

3.5.3. Default trends

An important variable for computing the *i*th default trend and the *i*th default intensity is Z^i for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, namely the \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -conditional survival probability of T_i . In IIM1 Z^i is given in Corollary 3.4.10. Similarly, we obtain in IIM2 from Theorem 3.5.5 and Equation (3.24) that

$$Z_{t}^{i} = 1 - \mathbb{P}^{i-1}[T_{i} \leq t | \mathcal{F}_{t}^{i-1}]$$

= $1 - F^{(2,i)}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i})I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$
= $1 - \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} F^{\Delta S}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}, x)d\Psi^{i}(x)\right]I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$
= $1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} F_{t}^{i}(x)d\Psi^{i}(x) \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.}$ (3.29)

where $F^{i}(x)$ is defined in (3.12). Moreover, the previous equation and Corollary 3.5.2 yield

$$Z_t^i = 1 - \left(\frac{\Upsilon^i(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i)}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_i+v_i}{\sigma_i}\right) - e^{-2a_iv_i/\sigma_i^2}\Phi\left(\frac{v_i-a_i}{\sigma_i}\right)}\right) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.}$$
(3.30)

where $\Upsilon^{i}(t)$ is given in Corollary 3.5.2.

The following proposition yields the *i*th default trend and the *i*th default intensity in this model. See Proposition 6.5 in Giesecke (2006) for the corresponding result in the single-firm setting.

Proposition 3.5.6. For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, in IIM2 the *i*th default time T_i is totally inaccessible in \mathbb{G} , and the *i*th default trend \mathscr{A}^i is continuous. For each $t \ge 0$, we have

$$\mathscr{A}_t^i = -\log\left(1 - \int_0^\infty F_t^i(x)d\Psi^i(x)\right) \quad \mathbb{P}-a.s.$$
(3.31)

Moreover, the default model (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) is strongly intensity based, and \mathscr{A}^i admits a right-continuous ith intensity process λ^i given by

$$\lambda_t^i = \frac{\int_0^\infty f_t^i(x) d\Psi^i(x)}{1 - \int_0^\infty F_t^i(x) d\Psi^i(x)} \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s.$$
(3.32)

for $t \geq 0$.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. From Lemma 3.4.15 we know that $F_t^i(x) < 1$ for each x > 0 and $t \ge 0$. Hence, Z^i given in (3.29) satisfies $Z_t^i \in (0, 1]$ for all $t \ge 0$. Since $F^i(x)$ is a continuous and increasing process for each x > 0, Z^i is continuous and decreasing. Thus, the compensator \mathscr{C}^i is given by $\mathscr{C}^i = 1 - Z^i$. As in the proof of Proposition 3.4.17, we obtain that \mathscr{A}^i satisfies Equation (3.31) and that T_i is a totally inaccessible G-stopping time. Again, λ^i is the derivative of the *i*th default trend \mathscr{A}^i with respect to $t \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. It follows that

$$\begin{split} \lambda_t^i &= -\frac{1}{Z_t^i} \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left[1 - \int_0^\infty F_{t+\varepsilon}^i(x) d\Psi^i(x) - 1 + \int_0^\infty F_t^i(x) d\Psi^i(x) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{Z_t^i} \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_0^\infty (F_{t+\varepsilon}^i(x) - F_t^i(x)) d\Psi^i(x) \quad \mathbb{P}-\text{a.s.} \end{split}$$

Since $f_t^i(x) \ge 0$ for all x > 0 and because it is easily seen that $f_t^i(\cdot)$ is pointwise bounded, i.e., for \mathbb{P} -a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, there exists $b(t, \omega) \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $|f_t^i(\cdot)(\omega)| \le b(t, \omega)$, Equation (3.32) holds due to Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem.

Finally, it follows analogously to the proof of Proposition 3.4.17 that the default model (T_i, \mathbb{F}^{i-1}) is strongly intensity based.

Explicit form of \mathscr{A}^i : The previous proposition and Equations (3.29) and (3.30) yield \mathbb{P} -a.s.

$$\mathscr{A}_{t}^{i} = -\log\left(1 - \left(\frac{\Upsilon^{i}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i})}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_{i}+v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right) - e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{v_{i}-a_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right)}\right)I_{\{T_{i-1}< t\}}\right)$$
$$= -\log\left(1 - \frac{\Upsilon^{i}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i})}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_{i}+v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right) - e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{v_{i}-a_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right)}\right)I_{\{T_{i-1}< t\}}$$
(3.33)

where $\Upsilon^{i}(t)$ is given in Corollary 3.5.2. Note that the second equality follows analogously to Remark 3.4.18.

3.5.4. The compensator of the default counting process

It remains to consider the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator of the default counting process N in IIM2. Note that in IIM1, as well as in IIM2, the (\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{G}) -compensator of N^i is given by C^i with $C_t^i = \mathscr{A}_{t \wedge T_i}^i \mathbb{P}^{i-1}$ -a.s. Moreover, in both models the *i*th default trend \mathscr{A}^i is of the form $\mathscr{A}_t^i = -\log(Y_t)I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$ P-a.s. for a continuous process Y. Thus, \mathscr{A}^i and λ^i in IIM2 have similar properties compared to IIM1. For instance, \mathscr{A}^i is absolutely continuous and

$$\lambda_t^i = \frac{\int_0^\infty f_t^i(x) d\Psi^i(x)}{1 - \int_0^\infty F_t^i(x) d\Psi^i(x)} = \frac{\int_0^\infty f_t^i(x) d\Psi^i(x)}{1 - \int_0^\infty F_t^i(x) d\Psi^i(x)} I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.}$$

 $F^{i}(x)$ defined in Equation (3.12) is continuous and $f^{i}(x)$ is given in Equation (3.15) by

$$f_t^i(x) = g_{t-T_{i-1}}^i e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2} \frac{x}{\sigma} (G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i)^{-3/2} \varphi \left(\frac{-x + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i}{\sigma \sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^i}}\right) I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}} \quad \mathbb{P}-\text{a.s.}$$

for x > 0. Since G^i has a right-continuous density process g^i by Assumption 3.4.14, we know from Lemma 3.4.15 that $f^i(x)$ is also right-continuous. Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem yields that λ^i is right-continuous, too.

If g^i is additionally \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -predictable, then $f^i(x)$ is \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -predictable for each x > 0due to Lemma 3.4.15. Note that $[f^i_t(\cdot)](\omega)$ is for \mathbb{P} -a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$ continuous and define $f^i_t(0) := \lim_{x \downarrow 0} f^i_t(x) = 0$. Then for every y > 0, the Lebesgue-Stieltjes integral satisfies

$$\sum_{y_k^m, y_{k+1}^m \in \pi_m} [f_t^i(z_k^m)](\omega)(\Psi^i(y_{k+1}^m) - \Psi^i(y_k^m)) \to \int_0^y [f_t^i(x)](\omega)d\Psi^i(x) \quad (m \to \infty)$$

for \mathbb{P} -a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$ and all t > 0. Here, $\pi_m = \{y_0^m, y_1^m, \ldots, y_m^m\}$ is a sequence of finite partitions of [0, y], i.e., $0 = y_0^m < y_1^m < \ldots < y_m^m = y$, with $\lim_{m \to \infty} (y_{k+1}^m - y_k^m) = 0$ for all $k \in \{0, \ldots, m-1\}$ and $z_k^m \in [y_k^m, y_{k+1}^m]$. This implies that the map $\int_0^y f^i(x) d\Psi^i(x) : (0, \infty) \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -predictable. Finally, it follows directly that $\int_0^\infty f^i(x) d\Psi^i(x) : (0, \infty) \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is also \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -predictable.

Hence, the results from Subsection 3.4.3 are also satisfied in IIM2.

3.6. Examples of time changes

In this section we study the overall time change G in more detail. More precisely, we discuss explicit examples which are related to those in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005). All time changes are supposed to be absolutely continuous such that we have

$$G_t = \int_0^t g_s ds \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.} \quad \text{and} \quad G_t^i = \int_0^t g_s^i ds \quad \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.} \tag{3.34}$$

for suitable processes g and g^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. By Assumption 3.4.14, the density processes g^i are \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted, right-continuous and positive.

In the following, we distinguish between two cases. In the first case, the filtration \mathbb{K} is trivial and the time change G is deterministic between arrival times. In the second case, \mathbb{K} is not trivial any more, which implies that G might depend on additional stochastic variables between the arrival times $T_i, i \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$.

3.6.1. Preliminary remarks

By the definition of the overall time change in Subsection 3.2.4, we have

$$G_{t} = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{i-1} G_{T_{k}-T_{k-1}}^{k} + G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i} \right) I_{\{T_{i-1} \le t < T_{i}\}} + \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{T_{k}-T_{k-1}}^{k} + G_{t-T_{n-1}}^{n} \right) I_{\{T_{n-1} \le t\}}.$$
(3.35)

Since G and G^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, satisfy (3.34), this implies

$$g_t = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} g_{t-T_{i-1}}^i I_{\{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\}} + g_{t-T_{n-1}}^n I_{\{T_{n-1} \le t\}}.$$
(3.36)

Because all g^i are right-continuous and positive, so is g. Moreover, in a similar way to the proof of Lemma 3.2.11 we can show that $g^i_{t-T_{i-1}}I_{\{T_{i-1}\leq t\}}$ is $\mathcal{F}^{i-1}_t(\subset \mathcal{G}_t)$ -measurable for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $t \geq 0$, which implies that g is \mathbb{G} -adapted.

In this section we specify the time changes G^i and their corresponding density processes g^i for $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Since the time change G^i is only relevant on subsets of $\{T_{i-1} \leq t\}$ in Equation (3.35), we specify G^i on the set $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$ and define

$$G_t^i := G_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} + t I_{\{T_{i-1} = \infty\}}.$$
(3.37)

Note that T_{i-1} is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{G}_t^{i-1} = \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$ for each $t \geq 0$ such that the sets $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$ and $\{T_{i-1} = \infty\}$ are elements in \mathcal{G}_t^{i-1} for all $t \geq 0$. A consistent density process to G^i defined in (3.37) is given by

$$g_t^i = g_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} + I_{\{T_{i-1} = \infty\}}.$$
(3.38)

Now, let us consider the following properties of G^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$:

(i)
$$G^{i}I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}$$
 is \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted

- (ii) $G^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}$ is absolutely continuous.
- (iii) $G_t^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} < \infty$ P-a.s. for all $t \ge 0$.
- (iv) $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t^i = \infty$ P-a.s. on $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$.

If G^i defined in (3.37) satisfies (i)-(iv), then G^i meets all requirements from Definition 3.2.7.

3.6.2. Time change that is deterministic between arrival times

In this subsection we focus on time changes that are deterministic between arrival times. Thus, we assume that $\mathbb{K} = (\mathcal{K}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is trivial. This means that $\mathcal{K}_t = \mathcal{N}$ for each $t \geq 0$ where \mathcal{N} denotes the set of all \mathbb{P} -null sets of \mathcal{A} .

We adapt the idea of Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) and study time changes G^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, of the form

$$G_t^i = \int_0^t \nu_{s+T_{i-1}}^0 ds + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \int_0^t \nu_{s+T_{i-1}-T_k}^k ds \quad \text{on } \{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$$
(3.39)

for specific processes ν^i for $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$. The next definition specifies these so called impact processes.

Definition 3.6.1. For each $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$, the impact process ν^i is given by $\nu_t^0 := g_t^1$ and

$$\nu_t^i := \begin{cases} g_t^{i+1} - g_{t+T_i - T_{i-1}}^i & \text{on } \{T_i < \infty\} \\ 0 & \text{on } \{T_i = \infty\} \end{cases}$$

for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$.

Note that the density process of the overall time change G satisfies for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$

$$g_t = g_{t-T_{i-1}}^i \quad \text{on } \{T_{i-1} \le t < T_i\},\$$

$$g_{T_i+t} = g_t^{i+1} \quad \text{on } \{T_i \le T_i + t < T_{i+1}\} \cap \{T_i < \infty\}$$

Hence, it follows for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$

$$\Delta g_{T_i} = g_0^{i+1} - g_{T_i - T_{i-1}}^i = \nu_0^i \quad \text{on } \{T_i < \infty\}.$$

This explains why the processes ν^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$, are called impact processes: The density process g jumps at time T_i by ν_0^i on $\{T_i < \infty\}$, and ν_t^i encodes the *impact* of the *i*th default on g at time $T_i + t$. In case of i = 0, ν^0 is equal to the density process of the time change up to the first default. See also Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) for this interpretation of the impact processes.

Because after the *n*th default there is no possible future default in our underlying portfolio, it is not necessary to consider a jump of g at time T_n . Indeed, by construction, g does not jump at T_n : In case of i = n, we have $g_t = g_{t-T_{n-1}}^n$ on $\{T_{n-1} \leq t < T_n\}$ and $g_{T_n+t} = g_{T_n+t-T_{n-1}}^n$ on $\{T_n < \infty\}$. This means $\Delta g_{T_n} =$ $g_{T_n-T_{n-1}}^n - g_{T_n-T_{n-1}}^n = 0$ on $\{T_n < \infty\}$.

Because of Definition 3.6.1, we obtain the following result.

Proposition 3.6.2. For each $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$, the impact process ν^i satisfies the following properties:

1. $\nu^{i}I_{\{T_{i}<\infty\}}$ is right-continuous and \mathbb{G}^{i} -adapted. 2. $\nu_{t}^{i} > -\sum_{k=0}^{i-1} \nu_{t+T_{i}-T_{k}}^{k} \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. on $\{T_{i}<\infty\}$ for all $t \geq 0$. 3. $\int_{0}^{t} \nu_{s}^{i} ds < \infty \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. on $\{T_{i}<\infty\}$ for all $t \geq 0$.

Proof. Fix $t \ge 0$. The first and the last assertion are obvious for i = 0. Thus, let us consider $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$. Right-continuity follows directly from the definition of ν^i , and the third assertion holds because G_t^i and G_t^{i+1} are finite for all $t \ge 0$. Note that $(t + T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}$ is an $(\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+s}^i)_{s\ge 0}$ -stopping time because

$$\{(t+T_i-T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} \le s\}$$

= $\{T_{i-1}=\infty\} \cup (\{T_{i-1}<\infty\} \cap \{t+T_i \le T_{i-1}+s\}) \in \mathcal{F}^i_{T_{i-1}+s}$ for all $s \ge 0$.

Since g^i is right-continuous and adapted with respect to the filtration $\mathbb{G}^{i-1} \subset (\mathcal{F}^i_{T_{i-1}+t})_{t\geq 0}$, the random variable $g^i_{(t+T_i-T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}}I_{\{(t+T_i-T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}<\infty\}}$ is $\mathcal{F}^i_{T_{i-1}+(t+T_i-T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}}$ -measurable. Furthermore, it follows from

$$T_{i-1} + (t + T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} = T_{i-1}I_{\{T_{i-1} = \infty\}} + (T_i + t)I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} \le T_i + t$$

that $g^i_{(t+T_i-T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}}I_{\{(t+T_i-T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}<\infty\}}$ is $\mathcal{F}^i_{T_i+t}(=\mathcal{G}^i_t)$ -measurable. The inclusion

$$\{T_i < \infty\} \subset \{(t + T_i - T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} < \infty\}$$

implies that

$$g_{(t+T_i-T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}}^{i}I_{\{(t+T_i-T_{i-1})I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}<\infty\}}I_{\{T_i<\infty\}} = g_{t+T_i-T_{i-1}}^{i}I_{\{T_i<\infty\}}$$

is \mathcal{G}_t^i -measurable. Finally, we obtain that $\nu_t^i I_{\{T_i < \infty\}} = (g_t^{i+1} - g_{t+T_i - T_{i-1}}^i) I_{\{T_i < \infty\}}$ is \mathcal{G}_t^i -measurable.

From now on, consider again $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$. In order to prove the inequality in the second assertion, note that summing up over all ν^k for $k \in \{0, ..., i\}$ yields on $\{T_i < \infty\}$

$$\nu_{t+T_i}^0 + \sum_{k=1}^i \nu_{t+T_i-T_k}^k = g_{t+T_i}^1 + \sum_{k=1}^i (g_{t+T_i-T_k}^{k+1} - g_{t+T_i-T_k+T_{k-T_{k-1}}}^k) = g_t^{i+1}.$$
 (3.40)

The second assertion holds because g^{i+1} is positive.

Remark 3.6.3. Equation (3.40) ensures that all $G_t^i = \int_0^t g_s^i ds, i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, satisfy (3.39).

Finally, we are interested in how the density process g of the overall time change G depends on the impact processes. If we sum up over all ν^k for $k \in \{0, \ldots, i-1\}$, we obtain on $\{T_{i-1} \leq t\}$

$$\nu_t^0 + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \nu_{t-T_k}^k = g_t^1 + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} (g_{t-T_k}^{k+1} - g_{t-T_{k-1}}^k) = g_{t-T_{i-1}}^i.$$

Together with Equation (3.36), this yields

$$g_{t} = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \left(\nu_{t}^{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \nu_{t-T_{k}}^{k} \right) I_{\{T_{i-1} \le t < T_{i}\}} + \left(\nu_{t}^{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \nu_{t-T_{k}}^{k} \right) I_{\{T_{n-1} \le t\}}$$
$$= \nu_{t}^{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \nu_{t-T_{k}}^{k} I_{\{T_{k} \le t\}}.$$
(3.41)

In the remaining part of this subsection we determine the time change G and the time changes G^i for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ by specifying impact processes ν^i for $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ that satisfy the properties from Proposition 3.6.2 and additionally guarantee that $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t^{i+1} = \infty$ P-a.s. on $\{T_i < \infty\}$. Note that if $\nu^i, i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$, meet all these requirements, then $G^i, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, given in Equation (3.39) satisfy (i)-(iv) defined in Subsection 3.6.1.

Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) state examples of positive and negative impact processes; see Examples 3.11 and 3.12 in Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) and Examples 3.6.4 and 3.6.6 below. In the following, we take a closer look at their proposed impact processes. Since we would like to model the situation in which one default in our portfolio increases the likelihood of further defaults, the case of positive impact processes is more relevant to us. Hence, we add another example of positive impact processes and then discuss differences and similarities.

Example 3.6.4 (Positive impact process I). Define $\nu_t^i := \alpha_i e^{-\beta_i t}$ on $\{T_i < \infty\}$ with $\alpha_i \ge 0$ and $\beta_i > 0$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ and set $\nu_t^0 := \alpha_0 e^{-\beta_0 t} = \alpha_0$ with $\beta_0 := 0$ and $\alpha_0 > 0$ constant. Moreover, α_i and β_i may depend on T_0, \ldots, T_i .

Note that it is obvious that these ν^i , $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$, satisfy the conditions from Proposition 3.6.2 and additionally guarantee that $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t^{i+1} = \infty$ P-a.s. on $\{T_i < \infty\}$. Moreover, G^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, is on $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$ given by

$$G_{t}^{i} = \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{k=0}^{i-1} \nu_{s+T_{i-1}-T_{k}}^{k} ds = \alpha_{0}t + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \int_{0}^{t} \alpha_{k} e^{-\beta_{k}(s+T_{i-1}-T_{k})} ds$$
$$= \alpha_{0}t + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \left(\frac{\alpha_{k}}{\beta_{k}} e^{-\beta_{k}(T_{i-1}-T_{k})} - \frac{\alpha_{k}}{\beta_{k}} e^{-\beta_{k}(t+T_{i-1}-T_{k})} \right),$$
(3.42)

and g^i satisfies on $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$

$$g_t^i = \sum_{k=0}^{i-1} \nu_{t+T_{i-1}-T_k}^k = \sum_{k=0}^{i-1} \alpha_k e^{-\beta_k (t+T_{i-1}-T_k)}.$$
(3.43)

Finally, Equation (3.41) yields

$$g_t = \nu_t^0 + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \nu_{t-T_k}^k I_{\{T_k \le t\}} = \alpha_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \alpha_k e^{-\beta_k (t-T_k)} I_{\{T_k \le t\}} = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \alpha_k e^{-\beta_k (t-T_k)} I_{\{T_k \le t\}}.$$
(3.44)

Example 3.6.5 (Positive impact process II). Define $\nu_t^i := \gamma_i (t+1)^{-\delta_i}$ on $\{T_i < \infty\}$ with $\gamma_i \ge 0$ and $\delta_i > 1$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ and set $\nu_t^0 := \gamma_0 (t+1)^{-\delta_0} = \gamma_0$ with $\delta_0 := 0$ and $\gamma_0 > 0$ constant. Again, γ_i and δ_i may depend on T_0, \ldots, T_i .

Again, the conditions from Proposition 3.6.2 are satisfied and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t^{i+1} = \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. on $\{T_i < \infty\}$. More precisely, $G^i, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, is on $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$ given by

$$G_t^i = \gamma_0 t + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \int_0^t \gamma_k \left(s + T_{i-1} - T_k + 1\right)^{-\delta_k} ds$$

= $\gamma_0 t + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \left(\frac{\gamma_k}{-\delta_k + 1} (t + T_{i-1} - T_k + 1)^{-\delta_k + 1} - \frac{\gamma_k}{-\delta_k + 1} (T_{i-1} - T_k + 1)^{-\delta_k + 1}\right).$

Furthermore, g^i satisfies on $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$

$$g_t^i = \sum_{k=0}^{i-1} \gamma_k (t + T_{i-1} - T_k + 1)^{-\delta_k}, \qquad (3.45)$$

and g is given by

$$g_t = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \gamma_k (t - T_k + 1)^{-\delta_k} I_{\{T_k \le t\}}$$

Example 3.6.6 (Negative impact process). Consider a constant impact process ν^0 that satisfies $\nu^0 > 0$ and $p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1} \in (0, 1)$. We obtain a negative impact process by setting $\nu_t^i := -\nu^0(1-p_i) \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} p_j$ on $\{T_i < \infty\}$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$. Moreover, p_i may depend on T_0, \ldots, T_i .

The impact processes ν^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$, defined above obviously satisfy the first and third condition from Proposition 3.6.2 and guarantee that $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t^{i+1} = \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. on $\{T_i < \infty\}$. The second condition from Proposition 3.6.2 is satisfied since on $\{T_i < \infty\}$, we have

$$-\sum_{k=0}^{i-1}\nu_{t+T_i-T_k}^k = -\nu^0 + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1}\nu^0(1-p_k)\prod_{j=1}^{k-1}p_j = -\nu^0\prod_{j=1}^{i-1}p_j < \nu_t^i.$$

Remark 3.6.7. Suppose that $g^i I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}$ is given by (3.43) or by (3.45). Then g^i specified in Equation (3.38) is continuous and \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted, and hence \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -predictable. Moreover, g^i is bounded.

Figure 3.6.1 shows a possible path of g and G for the exponential impact processes from Example 3.6.4 and Figure 3.6.2 shows a realization of Example 3.6.5. In both figures we have identical default times $T_0 = 0$, $T_1 = 1.5$, $T_2 = 3$, $T_3 = 5$ and $T_4 = 8$, and the parameters of the time change satisfy $\alpha_i = \gamma_i$ and $\beta_i = \delta_i$ for $i \in \{0, \ldots, 4\}$. We see that at the default time T_i , the path of the density process jumps by α_i (γ_i). As a consequence, the graph of the corresponding time change gets steeper after this default, i.e., time evolves faster. After the jump by α_i (γ_i), the density decreases again. This is controlled by the choice of the parameter β_i in case of Figure 3.6.1 and by the parameter δ_i in case of Figure 3.6.2: The greater β_i (δ_i), the faster decreases





The default times are $T_0 = 0$, $T_1 = 1.5$, $T_2 = 3$, $T_3 = 5$ and $T_4 = 8$. The parameters of the time change are given by $\alpha_0 = 1$, $\alpha_1 = 6$, $\alpha_2 = 7$, $\alpha_3 = 5$, $\alpha_4 = 6$, $\beta_0 = 0$, $\beta_1 = 7$, $\beta_2 = 5$, $\beta_3 = 3$ and $\beta_4 = 1.5$.

Figure 3.6.2.: Example II: density process g and time change G for a portfolio of size n > 4



The default times are $T_0 = 0$, $T_1 = 1.5$, $T_2 = 3$, $T_3 = 5$ and $T_4 = 8$. The parameters of the time change are given by $\gamma_0 = 1$, $\gamma_1 = 6$, $\gamma_2 = 7$, $\gamma_3 = 5$, $\gamma_4 = 6$, $\delta_0 = 0$, $\delta_1 = 7$, $\delta_2 = 5$, $\delta_3 = 3$ and $\delta_4 = 1.5$.

the density process g after T_i . This shape of g is plausible for our model: Directly after a default, which occurs by surprise, there is uncertainty in the market. This uncertainty results in a financial time evolving faster than usual. After some time to adapt to the new situation, the market becomes more stable, and hence financial time evolves slower again.

If we compare the density processes of Figure 3.6.1 and Figure 3.6.2, then they look very similar at the first glance. But if we look more closely, then we see that in Figure 3.6.1 g decreases faster after the defaults. This is a natural consequence of the exponential form of the impact processes. Moreover, this also implies that in case of $\alpha_i = \gamma_i$ and $\beta_i = \delta_i$ and identical default times, the corresponding path of the time change in Example 3.6.4 is always greater than or equal to the corresponding path of the time change in Example 3.6.5. Indeed, this holds since $e^{-\beta x} \leq (x+1)^{-\beta}$ for $\beta \geq 0$ and each $x \geq 0$, which implies

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \alpha_k e^{-\beta_k (t - T_k(\omega))} I_{\{T_k(\omega) \le t\}} \le \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \alpha_k (t - T_k(\omega) + 1)^{-\beta_k} I_{\{T_k(\omega) \le t\}}.$$

In case of IIM1, Figure 3.6.3 shows the dependence of the conditional survival probability $\mathbb{P}[T_2 > t | \mathcal{F}_t^1]$ for $T_1 = 1$ on the parameters of the time change defined in Example 3.6.4. Since we set $T_1 = 1$, this conditional survival probability is equal to 1 up to time $T_1 = 1$. We see that the conditional survival probability decreases faster over the course of time if α_1 is higher. This comes up to our expectations since the higher the jump of g at time T_1 , the faster the time change G evolves after the first default event and the likelier is the next default. The dependence on β_1 shows a reverse situation. The higher β_1 , the steeper is the decrease of g after the first default in Figure 3.6.1. Therefore, the conditional survival probability increases with β_1 .

In IIM2 the (conditional) survival probability additionally depends on the parameters of the barrier distribution. Figure 3.6.4 shows this dependence of $\mathbb{P}[T_1 > t | \mathcal{F}_t^0] = \mathbb{P}[T_1 > t]$ in case of a piecewise deterministic time change with parameters $\alpha_0 = 1$ and $\beta_0 = 0$.

Simulating default times

We have constructed a top down first-passage model of default with features of reduced form models. Hence, we can simulate our totally inaccessible default times T_1, \ldots, T_n by an algorithm that is typical for reduced form models; see, for instance, Section 5.3 and 7.7 in Schönbucher (2003) for the case of doubly stochastic Poisson processes. A very similar algorithm was used in Giesecke and Goldberg (2004b) to generate the totally inaccessible default times in their bottom up first-passage model.

IIM1 and IIM2 have in common that there is no available information about the portfolio value process. As a consequence, the *i*th default trends \mathscr{A}^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, do not depend on this process, which leads to a tractable simulation process. The





In both figures we have $V_0 = 100$, $\mu_V = 0.01$, $\sigma_V = 0.1$, $K^1 = 60$, $K^2 = 40$, $\alpha_0 = 1$ and $\beta_0 = 0$. On the left hand side, we set $\beta_1 = 0.8$; on the right hand side, we set $\alpha_1 = 1$.

Figure 3.6.4.: Survival probability $\mathbb{P}[T_1 > t | \mathcal{F}_t^0] = \mathbb{P}[T_1 > t]$ in IIM2 with time change that is deterministic between arrival times



In all subfigures we have $V_0 = 100$, $\mu_V = 0.01$, $\sigma_V = 0.1$, $\alpha_0 = 1$ and $\beta_0 = 0$.

explicit form of \mathscr{A}^i is given by

$$\mathscr{A}_{t}^{i} = -\log\left(\Phi\left(\frac{\kappa^{i} + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}{\sigma\sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}}\right) - e^{-2\mu\kappa^{i}/\sigma^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{-\kappa^{i} + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}{\sigma\sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}}\right)\right)I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$$
(3.46)

 \mathbb{P} -a.s. in IIM1 (see Equation (3.18)) and by

$$\mathscr{A}_{t}^{i} = -\log\left(1 - \frac{\Upsilon^{i}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i})}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_{i}+v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right) - e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{v_{i}-a_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right)}\right)I_{\{T_{i-1}< t\}}$$
(3.47)

P-a.s. in IIM2 (see Equation (3.33)) where $\Upsilon^{i}(t)$ is specified in Corollary 3.5.2. Moreover, the time changes G^{i} are given in Equation (3.39) and satisfy in case of Example 3.6.4 on $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$

$$G_t^i = \int_0^t \sum_{k=0}^{i-1} \nu_{s+T_{i-1}-T_k}^k ds = \alpha_0 t + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \left(\frac{\alpha_k}{\beta_k} e^{-\beta_k (T_{i-1}-T_k)} - \frac{\alpha_k}{\beta_k} e^{-\beta_k (t+T_{i-1}-T_k)} \right).$$

We generate each default time conditioned on the available information. In case of IIM1 and IIM2, this means that we generate the *i*th default, $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, conditioned on the information that is available up to the (i-1)st default because \mathbb{K} is assumed to be trivial. In detail, the algorithm for simulating default times $\mathcal{I}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{I}_n$ reads as follows:

- 1. Initialize i = 1 and $\tilde{T}_0 = 0$.
- 2. Simulate an independent standard uniform random variable U^i .
- 3. Set $\underline{T}_i = \inf\{t > \underline{T}_{i-1} | \mathscr{A}_t^i \ge -\log U^i\}.$
- 4. If i = n, then stop, else set i = i + 1.

 \mathscr{A}_t^i in step three is given as the *i*th default trend \mathscr{A}_t^i (see (3.46) or (3.47)) where T_j is replaced by \mathcal{I}_j for $j \in \{0, \ldots, i-1\}$.

3.6.3. Time change that is stochastic between arrival times

To construct a time change G that is stochastic between arrival times, we can apply the two fold time change used by Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) to construct time changed Hawkes processes. An important advantage of time changes of this specific type is an easier simulation of the default times T_i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, compared to models with a general time change.

As already mentioned at the beginning of this section, the time change might depend on additional stochastic factors apart from T_1, \ldots, T_{n-1} if \mathbb{K} is not trivial any more. We assume that $\mathbb{K} = (\mathcal{K}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ is generated by a stochastic process Y. A possible example of Y is a Brownian motion B. Note that \mathcal{K}_{∞} has to be \mathbb{P} independent of $\sigma(W_s : s \geq 0)$ by assumption, which implies for Y = B that W and B are independent Brownian motions.

Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) propose a time change G that satisfies

$$G_t = M_{H_t}$$

where M and H are both appropriately measurable, absolutely continuous time changes. In the subsequent section we show that if M is constructed similarly to Gin Subsection 3.6.2 and if, given \mathcal{K}_0 , H is an independent, absolutely continuous, \mathbb{K} adapted time change, then $(M_{H_t})_{t\geq 0}$ satisfies Definition 3.2.7, and hence $(M_{H_t})_{t\geq 0}$ is adapted with respect to \mathbb{G} .

From now on, let H be an absolutely continuous time change admitting the form

$$H_t = \int_0^t h_s ds$$

for a K-adapted process h such that H satisfies $H_t < \infty$ P-a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} H_t = \infty$ P-a.s. In analogy to G in the previous subsection, let M be defined by

$$M_t := \begin{cases} \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} M_{\bar{T}_k - \bar{T}_{k-1}}^k + M_{t - \bar{T}_{i-1}}^i & \text{on } \{\bar{T}_{i-1} \le t < \bar{T}_i\} \text{ for } i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} M_{\bar{T}_k - \bar{T}_{k-1}}^k + M_{t - \bar{T}_{n-1}}^n & \text{on } \{\bar{T}_n \le t\} \end{cases}$$

where \bar{T}_i is given by $\bar{T}_i := M_{S_i}^{-1}$ for $i \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$ $(M^{-1}$ is the inverse process of M) and M^1, \ldots, M^n are absolutely continuous time changes that satisfy $M_t^i < \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} M_t^i = \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Additionally, we assume that each M^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, is adapted to the filtration $\bar{\mathbb{G}}^{i-1} := (\bar{\mathcal{G}}_t^{i-1})_{t\ge 0}$ where $\bar{\mathcal{G}}_t^{i-1} := \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{\bar{T}_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$ and $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_t^{i-1} := \mathcal{K}_0 \vee \sigma(I_{\{\bar{T}_k \le s\}} : s \le t, k \le i-1)$.

Now, let us consider the process G defined by $G_t := M_{H_t}$. Obviously, G is an absolutely continuous time change with $G_t < \infty$ P-a.s. for all $t \ge 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t = \infty$ P-a.s. Using this time change to define the portfolio value process V_G leads to

$$T_i = G_{S_i}^{-1} = H_{M_{S_i}^{-1}}^{-1}$$
 for $i \in \{0, \dots, n\}$

 $(H^{-1}$ is the inverse process of H). It follows

$$\bar{T}_i = M_{S_i}^{-1} = H_{T_i} \text{ for } i \in \{0, \dots, n\}$$

In the following, we verify that G admits the representation from Definition 3.2.7.

Lemma 3.6.8. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, the process G^i defined by

$$G_t^i := (M_{H_{t+T_{i-1}} - H_{T_{i-1}}}^i) I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}} + t I_{\{T_{i-1} = \infty\}}$$
(3.48)

is a \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted, absolutely continuous time change with $G_t^i < \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \geq 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t^i = \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s.

Proof. Fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Since M^i and H are time changes, G^i is strictly increasing and satisfies $G_0^i = 0$. Absolute continuity, finiteness and $\lim_{t\to\infty} G_t^i = \infty$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. follow directly from the corresponding properties of M^i and H. To prove that G^i is \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted, we have to show that $\{G_t^i \leq s\} \in \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$ for all $s \geq 0$ and $t \geq 0$. Hence, fix $s \geq 0$ and $t \geq 0$ and note that the properties of M^i imply

$$\{G_t^i \le s\} = (\{H_{t+T_{i-1}} - H_{T_{i-1}} \le (M^i)_s^{-1}\} \cap \{T_{i-1} < \infty\}) \cup (\{t \le s\} \cap \{T_{i-1} = \infty\}).$$

Thus, we have to prove that

$$\{H_{t+T_{i-1}}I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} - H_{T_{i-1}}I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} \le (M^i)_s^{-1}\} \cap \{T_{i-1}<\infty\} \in \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}.$$
 (3.49)

Since M_u^i is $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{\infty}^{i-1} (= \mathcal{K}_0 \vee \sigma(\bar{T}_j : j \leq i-1))$ -measurable for each $u \geq 0$, we have

$$\{(M^i)_s^{-1} \le u\} = \{s \le M_u^i\} \in \mathcal{K}_0 \lor \sigma(\bar{T}_j : j \le i-1) \text{ for each } u \ge 0.$$

It follows that $(M^i)_s^{-1}$ is $\mathcal{K}_0 \vee \sigma(\bar{T}_j : j \leq i-1)$ -measurable. Moreover, we know that H is $\mathbb{K}(\subset \mathbb{F}^{i-1})$ -adapted and that T_0, \ldots, T_{i-1} and $T_{i-1} + t$ are \mathbb{F}^{i-1} -stopping times. This implies that $H_{T_k}I_{\{T_k < \infty\}}$ is $\mathcal{F}_{T_k}^{i-1}$ -measurable for each $k \in \{0, \ldots, i-1\}$ and that $H_{T_{i-1}+t}I_{\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}}$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$. Since $\bar{T}_k = H_{T_k}I_{\{T_k < \infty\}} + \infty I_{\{T_k = \infty\}}$ for each $k \in \{0, \ldots, i-1\}$, this means that $\bar{T}_0, \ldots, \bar{T}_{i-1}$ are measurable with respect to $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$. To sum up, we obtain:

1.
$$(M^i)_s^{-1}$$
 is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{K}_0 \vee \sigma(\bar{T}_j : j \leq i-1) \subset \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}}^{i-1} \subset \mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$.

2. $H_{t+T_{i-1}}I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}} - H_{T_{i-1}}I_{\{T_{i-1}<\infty\}}$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{F}_{T_{i-1}+t}^{i-1}$.

But this implies (3.49). Therefore, G^i is \mathbb{G}^{i-1} -adapted.

The following lemma specifies the overall time change which is obtained by using the time changes
$$G^i$$
, $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, given by Equation (3.48).

Lemma 3.6.9. Suppose that G^i , $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, are given by Equation (3.48). Then $G_t = M_{H_t}$ satisfies

$$G_{t} = \begin{cases} \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} G_{T_{k}-T_{k-1}}^{k} + G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i} & on \ \{T_{i-1} \leq t < T_{i}\} \ for \ i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} G_{T_{k}-T_{k-1}}^{k} + G_{t-T_{n-1}}^{n} & on \ \{T_{n} \leq t\} \end{cases}$$
$$= \begin{cases} \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} M_{\bar{T}_{k}-\bar{T}_{k-1}}^{k} + M_{H_{t}-\bar{T}_{i-1}}^{i} & on \ \{\bar{T}_{i-1} \leq H_{t} < \bar{T}_{i}\} \ for \ i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} M_{\bar{T}_{k}-\bar{T}_{k-1}}^{k} + M_{H_{t}-\bar{T}_{n-1}}^{n} & on \ \{\bar{T}_{n} \leq H_{t}\} \end{cases}$$

In particular, $(G_t)_{t>0} = (M_{H_t})_{t>0}$ is adapted with respect to \mathbb{G} .

Proof. For $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ consider $\sum_{k=1}^{j-1} G_{T_k - T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{j-1}}^j$ on $\{T_{j-1} \leq t\}$. If we plug in (3.48), then we obtain

$$\sum_{k=1}^{j-1} G_{T_k-T_{k-1}}^k + G_{t-T_{j-1}}^j = \sum_{k=1}^{j-1} M_{H_{T_k-T_{k-1}}-H_{T_{k-1}}}^k + M_{H_{t-T_{j-1}}+T_{j-1}-H_{T_{j-1}}}^j$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{j-1} M_{\bar{T}_k-\bar{T}_{k-1}}^k + M_{H_t-\bar{T}_{j-1}}^j.$$

The assertion holds since $\overline{T}_i = H_{T_i}$ and since continuity and strict monotonicity of H imply $\{\overline{T}_{i-1} \leq H_t < \overline{T}_i\} = \{T_{i-1} \leq t < T_i\}$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $\{\overline{T}_n \leq H_t\} = \{T_n \leq t\}$.

Example 3.6.10. A possible example of h is a squared Brownian motion, i.e., $h = \hat{\sigma}B^2$ and

$$H_t = \hat{\sigma} \int_0^t B_s^2 ds \quad \text{for } \hat{\sigma} > 0.$$

Moreover, applying the results from Subsection 3.6.2 yields possible examples of M^i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. For instance, suppose that M^i on $\{\overline{T}_{i-1} < \infty\}$ is given by

$$\begin{split} M_t^i &= \int_0^t \sum_{k=0}^{i-1} \nu_{s+\bar{T}_{i-1}-\bar{T}_k}^k ds = \alpha_0 t + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \int_0^t \alpha_k e^{-\beta_k (s+\bar{T}_{i-1}-\bar{T}_k)} ds \\ &= \alpha_0 t + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \left(\frac{\alpha_k}{\beta_k} e^{-\beta_k (\bar{T}_{i-1}-\bar{T}_k)} - \frac{\alpha_k}{\beta_k} e^{-\beta_k (t+\bar{T}_{i-1}-\bar{T}_k)} \right) \end{split}$$

with $\alpha_0 > 0$, $\beta_0 = 0$, $\alpha_k \ge 0$ and $\beta_k > 0$ for $k \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$. Note that the impact processes ν^k , $k \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$, are defined as in Example 3.6.4. Furthermore, the properties of H and M imply $\{S_i < \infty\} = \{\overline{T}_i < \infty\} = \{T_i < \infty\}$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

The density process of M is given by Equation (3.44) in Subsection 3.6.2. More precisely, we have $M_t = \int_0^t \eta_s ds$ with

$$\eta_t = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \alpha_k e^{-\beta_k (t - \bar{T}_k)} I_{\{\bar{T}_k \le t\}}.$$

As a consequence, the overall time change G satisfies $G_t = M_{H_t} = \int_0^{H_t} \eta_s ds$, which implies that $G_t = \int_0^t g_s ds$ with

$$g_t = h_t \eta_{H_t} = h_t \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \alpha_k e^{-\beta_k (H_t - \bar{T}_k)} I_{\{\bar{T}_k \le H_t\}}.$$

Figure 3.6.5 shows a possible path of the density process g and the time change G in case of Example 3.6.10. Note that the parameters of the time change M correspond with the parameters in Figure 3.6.1. Because of the additional randomness in the density process g, the path of G evolves less smooth than in Figure 3.6.1. We can still observe changes in the slope of the time change after T_1 and T_4 , but obviously, these are not only induced by the choice of the parameters α_i . In case of the arrival times T_2 and T_3 , we see almost no immediate change in the slope of G any more. Hence, the influence of the impact processes ν_i is apparently smaller than in case of piecewise deterministic time changes.

Figure 3.6.6 shows in a similar way to Figure 3.6.3 the dependence of the conditional survival probability $\mathbb{P}[T_2 > t | \mathcal{F}_t^1]$ for $T_1 = 1$ on the parameters of G (in particular, the parameters of M) in case of IIM1. But now, we consider the time change introduced in Example 3.6.10 which is stochastic between arrival times. Figure 3.6.6 presents only one path of $\mathbb{P}[T_2 > t | \mathcal{F}_t^1]$ for $T_1 = 1$. We see immediately that the general shape is similar to the piecewise deterministic case, but the surface is less smooth, which is obviously a consequence of the additional randomness in the time change.





The default times are $T_0 = 0$, $T_1 = 1.5$, $T_2 = 3$, $T_3 = 5$ and $T_4 = 8$. The parameters of the time change are given by $\alpha_0 = 1$, $\alpha_1 = 6$, $\alpha_2 = 7$, $\alpha_3 = 5$, $\alpha_4 = 6$, $\beta_0 = 0$, $\beta_1 = 7$, $\beta_2 = 5$, $\beta_3 = 3$, $\beta_4 = 1.5$ and $H_t = \hat{\sigma} \int_0^t B_s^2 ds$ with $\hat{\sigma} = 1$.

Simulating default times

Recall again that \mathscr{A}^i satisfies

$$\mathscr{A}_{t}^{i} = -\log\left(\Phi\left(\frac{\kappa^{i} + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}{\sigma\sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}}\right) - e^{-2\mu\kappa^{i}/\sigma^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{-\kappa^{i} + \mu G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}{\sigma\sqrt{G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i}}}\right)\right)I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$$

 \mathbb{P} -a.s. in IIM1 (see Equation (3.18)) and

$$\mathscr{A}_{t}^{i} = -\log\left(1 - \frac{\Upsilon^{i}(G_{t-T_{i-1}}^{i})}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_{i}+v_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right) - e^{-2a_{i}v_{i}/\sigma_{i}^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{v_{i}-a_{i}}{\sigma_{i}}\right)}\right)I_{\{T_{i-1} < t\}}$$

 \mathbb{P} -a.s. in IIM2 (see Equation (3.33)). In Example 3.6.10 where $h = \hat{\sigma}B^2$ for an independent Brownian motion B, the time change G^i given in Equation (3.48) satisfies on $\{T_{i-1} < \infty\}$

$$\begin{split} G_t^i &= \alpha_0 [H_{t+T_{i-1}} - H_{T_{i-1}}] + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \left(\frac{\alpha_k}{\beta_k} e^{-\beta_k (\bar{T}_{i-1} - \bar{T}_k)} \right. \\ &\quad - \frac{\alpha_k}{\beta_k} e^{-\beta_k ([H_{t+T_{i-1}} - H_{T_{i-1}}] + \bar{T}_{i-1} - \bar{T}_k)} \right) \\ &= \alpha_0 \left[\hat{\sigma} \int_{T_{i-1}}^{t+T_{i-1}} B_s^2 ds \right] + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \left(\frac{\alpha_k}{\beta_k} e^{-\beta_k \hat{\sigma} \int_{T_k}^{T_{i-1}} B_s^2 ds} - \frac{\alpha_k}{\beta_k} e^{-\beta_k \hat{\sigma} \int_{T_k}^{t+T_{i-1}} B_s^2 ds} \right). \end{split}$$



Figure 3.6.6.: Path of conditional survival probability $\mathbb{P}[T_2 > t | \mathcal{F}_t^1]$ for $T_1 = 1$ in IIM1 with time change that is deterministic between arrival times

In both surface plots we have $V_0 = 100$, $\mu_V = 0.01$, $\sigma_V = 0.1$, $K^1 = 60$, $K^2 = 40$, $\alpha_0 = 1$ and $\beta_0 = 0$. On the left hand side, we set $\beta_1 = 0.8$; on the right hand side, we set $\alpha_1 = 1$. The third subfigure shows the corresponding path of the time change $H_t = \hat{\sigma} \int_0^t B_s^2 ds$ with $\hat{\sigma} = 1$.

If the overall time change G is defined by these G^i , $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, then the density process of the time change H is an additional stochastic variable that also has to be simulated. In order to simulate the totally inaccessible default times in IIM1 and IIM2, we can now apply the algorithm from Subsection 3.6.2 with an additional step at the beginning:

- 1. Simulate a path of B.
- 2. Initialize i = 1 and $\tilde{T}_0 = 0$.
- 3. Simulate an independent standard uniform random variable U^i .
- 4. Set $\underline{T}_i = \inf\{t > \underline{T}_{i-1} | \mathscr{A}_t^i \ge -\log U^i\}.$
- 5. If i = n, then stop, else set i = i + 1.

The above two fold time change is more tractable than a general time change that is stochastic between arrival times. Giesecke and Tomecek (2005) point out that this time change is very applicable if we want to make a comparison between different parametrizations of the impact processes ν^i , $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$. This is illustrated

in an example in which each parametrization corresponds to a specific assumption of how the default counting process N depends on prior defaults:

Let us consider k different parametrizations of the impact processes. With the algorithm described above we are able to simulate default times $(\underline{T}_i^1)_{i \in \{1,...,n\}}$, ..., $(\underline{T}_i^k)_{i \in \{1,...,n\}}$ for only one simulation of the process H by repeating 2.-5. for each parametrization. As a result, we can compare the different parametrizations by using the same simulation of H for all parametrizations. In addition, different results for $(\underline{T}_i^1)_{i \in \{1,...,n\}}$, ..., $(\underline{T}_i^k)_{i \in \{1,...,n\}}$, ..., $(\underline{T}_i^k)_{i \in \{1,...,n\}}$, can be attributed to different assumptions on ν^i , $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$. In particular, different realizations of H do not complicate the comparison, which leads to a much easier situation for the modeler.

Part II.

Systemic risk measures

An important feature of our top down first-passage model is the self-affecting property of the default counting process, which means that a default can increase the likelihood of the next default. Thus, our model in Part I incorporates possible feedback of events to prices of credit sensitive securities. The reasons for this phenomenon are different forms of *contagion*. Direct contagion between counterparties is the most obvious form since the default of a firm leads to direct financial losses for its creditors and a loss of funding for its borrowers. But there are also several types of indirect contagion. Consider, for example, two firms A and B and suppose that firm A is a creditor of firm B. If now firm B defaults, then market participants could fear possible negative effects of this default to firm A. As a consequence, a market participant might not be willing to lend money to firm A any more. Hence, the situation has deteriorated for firm A although direct contagion has only minor or no impact. Related effects could occur to firms that are similar to the defaulted firm because market participants could expect difficulties for such firms in the near future. Another important form of indirect contagion shows the recent financial crisis: If market participants lose trust in each other and start to question their own models, then contagion can occur as a result of panic. For a more detailed discussion concerning these and other forms of contagion we refer to Staum (2013).

Especially the last mentioned form of contagion clarifies the contribution of contagion to *systemic risk* in a financial system. The recent financial crisis has revealed multiple problems concerning identification, measuring and controlling this specific form of risk. Thus, this research topic became more and more important. The complex interactions between the different entities of a given system and the various possible perspectives on this topic lead to various aspects that can be analyzed in the context of systemic risk. Consequently, many research approaches exist that study these different aspects:

One possibility is to consider the whole financial system as a network consisting of nodes and edges. The nodes represent the different firms which are interconnected by edges representing exposures between these firms. Authors who adopt this network modeling point of view are especially interested in different types of contagion that – in the worst case scenario – lead to the destabilization of the whole financial system; see, for instance, Nier et al. (2007), Gai and Kapadia (2010), Amini et al. (2013), Hurd and Gleeson (2011) and Cont et al. (2013). Another point of view, which is closely connected to the network approaches, is taken in so called clearing models. In these approaches some sort of clearing mechanism is modeled, and the most important objects are so called clearing vectors. Examples of these kind of models are Eisenberg and Noe (2001) and generalizations of this approach in Cifuentes et al. (2005) and Rogers and Veraart (2013). An excellent overview of this far reaching field of research is provided in Staum (2013).

In the second part of this thesis we study systemic risk from the perspective of financial regulators or central banks. In contrast to Part I, here we do not study portfolios from the perspective of a modeler or an investor. Instead, we study whole financial systems from the viewpoint of financial regulators. Regulators are interested in measuring and managing the risk in order to maintain the stability of the financial system. Closely connected to this subject is the attribution of systemic risk to the different entities contained in the underlying system.

In case of single-firm risk modeling, risk measurement from the perspective of a financial regulator is an important and far reaching field of research. Artzner et al. (1999) introduced an axiomatic approach to this topic and defined so called coherent risk measures as maps ρ which assign risk to random payments and satisfy four economically desirable properties. These are monotonicity, a translation property, subadditivity and positive homogeneity. Because of the monotonicity property, higher payments lead to less risk. The translation property ensures that adding a sure amount a to a random payment reduces the risk by a. Subadditivity and positive homogeneity guarantee that the risk measure rewards diversification, which means that diversification of capital to different investments results in a position that is less risky. In case of a finite probability space, Artzner et al. (1999) derived a so called dual representation by which a coherent risk measure can be characterized as the largest expected loss with respect to a given family of probability measures. Delbaen (2000, 2002) extended the approach and the results of Artzner et al. (1999) to general probability spaces. A further generalization was obtained by Föllmer and Schied (2002) and Frittelli and Rosazza Gianin (2002) by replacing the subadditivity and positive homogeneity axioms by the weaker condition of convexity. Risk measures of this kind are called *convex risk measures*. Again, one of the key results is a dual representation of convex risk measures. Based on these fundamental papers, the research area of axiomatic single-firm risk measurement has developed very fast, and there exists a large number of research approaches.

In connection to systemic risk, Chen et al. (2013) introduced an axiomatic approach and studied so called *systemic risk measures* which satisfy desirable properties. This axiomatic approach considers the topic of systemic risk from an entirely new perspective. Therefore, systemic risk measures provide a new tool for measuring and managing the risk contained in a financial system, in particular in view of regulatory issues. Moreover, this approach is an extension of the traditional portfolio approach in which the whole economy is considered as a portfolio managed by the financial regulator. Several drawbacks of this traditional portfolio framework are discussed in Chen et al. (2013): The most problematic issue is the possibility to compensate the losses of one firm with the profits of another. Although this procedure may be reasonable for a real portfolio manager, a financial regulator might disagree. Since, in general, different firms with different owners are pursuing quite different interests, in most cases a regulator "is not able to directly cross-subsidize different firms" (Chen et al. (2013), p. 1373). Furthermore, a regulator might prefer a specific loss distribution between the different entities in a financial system. In conclusion, offsetting gains and losses is not an appropriate concept. This problem of cross-subsidizing is avoided by introducing systemic risk measures that are strongly connected to so called aggregation functions. These provide more flexible possibilities to pool the losses of the individual firms.

Similar to single-firm risk measurement, the axiomatic approach to systemic risk has the advantage of not depending on the choice of a specific risk measure. On the contrary, every functional that satisfies the defining properties is covered by this approach. Therefore, the systemic risk measures introduced in Tarashev et al. (2010), Acharya et al. (2012) and Gauthier et al. (2012) can be regarded as special cases of systemic risk measures in the sense of Chen et al. (2013). However, the approach in Chen et al. (2013) admits several important drawbacks: Only the case of a finite probability space is studied and all systemic risk measures have to be positively homogeneous. Furthermore, they only consider static systemic risk measures which means that no time-dynamic aspects are taken into account.

The range of possible loss distributions of the different entities in the financial system is tremendously reduced by considering a finite probability space. For example, the normal distribution is not covered by this modeling approach. This emphasizes the importance of extending the approach in Chen et al. (2013) to a general probability space. Therefore, Chapter 5 is dedicated to systemic risk measures defined on multi-dimensional L^p -spaces. This chapter is based on the paper "Systemic risk measures on general probability spaces" which is joint work with E. Kromer and L. Overbeck. By studying systemic risk measures in conjunction with a general probability space, we have to work in a much more technical framework compared to Chen et al. (2013). This is rewarded by the possibility of applying the concept of systemic risk measures to more general loss distributions.

A second point of criticism concerns the fact that Chen et al. (2013) solely consider systemic risk measures which are positively homogeneous. Although this property may be desirable in some cases, positively homogeneous systemic risk measures are not suitable for every risk measurement framework. To address this problem, we introduce in Chapter 5 so called *convex systemic risk measures* which not necessarily have to be positively homogeneous. Nevertheless, by dropping the axiom of positive homogeneity, we have to introduce a new property. This is strongly connected to the constancy property of standard single-firm risk measures, which was originally studied in Frittelli and Rosazza Gianin (2002). Constancy on a set $A \subset \mathbb{R}$ means that the risk measure assigns the risk -a to the fixed payment $a \in A$. In the context of convex systemic risk measures, we introduce and discuss a generalized version of this property. Nonetheless, the introduction of an appropriate constancy property for systemic risk measures does not seem to restrict the scope of possible choices for these risk measures.

Similar to the approach in Chen et al. (2013), our convex systemic risk measures can be decomposed into a so called convex single-firm risk measure and a convex aggregation function. Here, the single-firm risk measure is essentially identical with standard single-firm risk measures and, as indicated above, the aggregation function specifies how the losses of the different firms in the system are pooled. Based on this fundamental characterization of convex systemic risk measures, we generalize the representation results of Chen et al. (2013). In particular, we provide a primal and a dual representation result for convex systemic risk measures.

The last aspect of systemic risk studied in Chapter 5 is the problem of risk attribution. We consider the question of what fraction each firm contributes to the systemic risk of the whole financial system; see Staum and Liu (2012) and Drehmann and Tarashev (2013). In conjunction with systemic risk measures, a possible solution to this problem provides our approach in Chapter 5. We will see that if the supremum in the dual representation of systemic risk measures is attained, then the different summands of this optimal value can be used to define a risk attribution method that satisfies, for instance, the full allocation property. This property states that by summing up the risk that is attributed to each firm, one obtains the systemic risk contained in the entire financial system. Obviously, this is a desired property. Moreover, in the context of the traditional portfolio framework, the full allocation property is well known and, for instance, was studied in Denault (2001), Tasche (2004), Kalkbrener (2005), Cheridito and Kromer (2011) and Kromer and Overbeck (2014).

So far, we have always focused on so called static risk measures. This means we consider a one period model and valuate, in case of standard single-firm risk measures, the future value of a financial position or, in case of systemic risk measures, a random vector where each component represents the loss of a specific firm in the financial system. There exist many research studies extending the fundamental results of Artzner et al. (1999) to a *dynamic framework*. In this context, the term dynamic can be understood in several ways since there exist various dynamic aspects of risk measurement.

A first extension of the static approach is the theory of conditional risk measures. Here, the focus lies on informational aspects. Over time, additional information is available, and conditional risk measures take into account this information. As a consequence, a conditional risk measure is a map ρ_t where for each random payment X, $\rho_t(X)$ depends on the information that is available at time t. In this framework one can specify a dynamic risk measure as a family (ρ_t) of conditional risk measures such that each $\rho_t(X)$ is measurable with respect to the σ -algebra \mathcal{F}_t representing the available information at time t. Examples of such studies are Bion-Nadal (2004), Detlefsen and Scandolo (2005) and Föllmer and Penner (2006) among many others.

Another possibility to introduce dynamics is to study risk measures that are defined on discrete-time or continuous-time stochastic processes. These processes represent, for instance, the market or accounting value of a firm's equity or the market value of selected financial securities; see Artzner et al. (2007) and Cheridito et al. (2006). Examples of research that studies risk measures on discrete-time processes are Riedel (2004), Artzner et al. (2007), Cheridito et al. (2006), Cheridito and Kupper (2011), Jobert and Rogers (2008) and Acciaio et al. (2012). Continuous-time processes have been discussed in Cheridito et al. (2004, 2005). As, for instance, Acciaio and Penner (2011) point out, an important advantage of these risk measures on processes is the possibility to consider the "time value of money". Moreover, since bounded discrete-time processes can be identified with random variables on a specific product space, there exists also a connection between risk measures on such processes and risk measures on random variables. For more details we refer to Artzner et al. (2007) and Acciaio et al. (2012). A nice overview of dynamic risk measures in discrete time is given in Acciaio and Penner (2011).

Finally, one can combine risk measurement on processes with the theory of conditional risk measures. In this way, one obtains dynamic risk measures on processes; see, for instance, Cheridito et al. (2006), Cheridito and Kupper (2011), Jobert and Rogers (2008), Acciaio and Penner (2011) and Acciaio et al. (2012).

Note that in the dynamic setting one always considers risk measures at different

points in time. As a consequence, a natural question in the context of dynamic risk measurement is how these risk measures at different points in time are connected. Thus, one has to introduce an appropriate time-consistency concept. Looking at the relevant literature, we find different suggestions for this issue of time-consistency. The most widely used approach is the so called strong time-consistency, which is connected to the dynamic programming principle; see, for instance, Artzner et al. (2007). This time-consistency concept has been used in most approaches mentioned so far and can be characterized in several ways, for example, by an additivity property of the corresponding acceptance sets or by a supermartingale property of the risk measures; see, for instance, Delbaen (2006), Cheridito et al. (2006), Penner (2007) and Acciaio et al. (2012) and the references therein. Since this form of time-consistency is a rather strong requirement, in particular in view of the existence of consistent updates, other forms of weaker time-consistency properties were studied, among others, in Weber (2006), Artzner et al. (2007), Roorda and Schumacher (2007), Penner (2007) and Roorda and Schumacher (2013).

Static risk measures introduced in Chapter 4 and studied in Chapter 5 in the context of systemic risk do not allow for any dynamic features. Furthermore, note that all the approaches to systemic risk in the previously mentioned papers are essentially static. Thus, we develop in Chapter 7 the first dynamic approach to systemic risk. The results of this chapter are summarized in the paper "Dynamic systemic risk measures for bounded discrete-time processes" which is joint work with E. Kromer and L. Overbeck. We extend the approach from Chapter 5 and consider conditional convex and positively homogeneous systemic risk measures on multi-dimensional discrete-time stochastic processes. Note that our systemic risk measures from Chapter 5 evaluate losses for each node of the underlying network. Consequently, in the conditional setting in Chapter 7 we assume that each firm in the network admits a discrete-time stochastic process representing its losses over time. Here, we use some of the techniques from Cheridito et al. (2006) who have studied dynamic single-firm risk measures in a non systemic context. After generalizing the main results from Chapter 5, in particular the decomposition and the dual representation result, we follow the dynamic approaches for standard single-firm risk measures and introduce dynamic systemic risk measures as families of conditional systemic risk measures. Moreover, adjusted to our setting, we consider the concept of strong time-consistency. Since our dynamic convex systemic risk measures can be decomposed into a dynamic convex single-firm risk measure and a dynamic convex aggregation function, we introduce a time-consistency property for both components and study how these properties depend on each other.

Another possible way to extend the results from Chen et al. (2013) and Kromer et al. (2014a) to a conditional setting, which was considered independently of the approach in Chapter 7 and Kromer et al. (2014b), can be found in Hoffmann et al. (2014). Here, the authors solely focus on the decomposition result in conjunction with generalized conditional aggregation functions.

The second part of this thesis is organized as follows. First, we introduce static single-firm risk measures in Chapter 4. We discuss important representation results and the most important examples. Chapter 5 studies systemic risk measures on general probability spaces and extends the results from Chen et al. (2013) to convex, not necessarily positively homogeneous, systemic risk measures. In Chapter 6 we discuss some of the concepts in Cheridito et al. (2006) where risk measures on discrete-time processes are covered. These ideas are used in Chapter 7 in which we generalize our axiomatic approach to systemic risk regarding different dynamic aspects. That is, we focus in Chapter 7 on conditional and dynamic convex systemic risk measures.
4. Introduction to static risk measures

The aim of this chapter is to introduce static risk measures that take into account the risk of a single firm or one financial position. Most definitions and theorems of Sections 4.1-4.3 are based on Chapter 4 in Föllmer and Schied (2011), which provides an excellent overview of the research topic on convex risk measures.

We start in Section 4.1 with the basic axioms and define convex and coherent risk measures. Moreover, we discuss the connection between risk measures and the corresponding set of acceptable positions. In Section 4.2 we repeat well known results concerning the dual representations of static risk measures. Sections 4.3 and 4.4 consider risk measures on L^{∞} - and L^{p} -spaces in more detail. Finally, in Section 4.5 we illustrate the previous results by presenting the most important examples of convex and coherent risk measures.

From now on, a financial position X is considered as a map $X : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, and $X(\omega)$ represents the discounted net worth of the financial position X at scenario $\omega \in \Omega$. Furthermore, we suppose that X is an element in the space \mathcal{X}^{fp} of all financial positions which will be described in detail in the following sections. First, unless explicitly stated otherwise, we assume that \mathcal{X}^{fp} is the linear space of bounded functions on Ω .

4.1. Definitions and important properties

Consider the following properties of a function $\rho : \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$:

- (M) Monotonicity: If $X \leq Y$, then $\rho(X) \geq \rho(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$.
- (T) Translation property: $\rho(X + a) = \rho(X) a$ for all $X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (C) Convexity: $\rho(aX + (1-a)Y) \le a\rho(X) + (1-a)\rho(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$ and $a \in [0, 1]$.
- (**PH**) Positive homogeneity: $\rho(aX) = a\rho(X)$ for all $X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Definition 4.1.1. A risk measure is a function $\rho : \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$ that satisfies the properties (M) and (T). A convex risk measure is a risk measure that additionally satisfies the property (C), and a coherent risk measure is a convex risk measure that additionally satisfies the property (PH).

Because of the monotonicity property, a position with a higher net worth is associated with less risk. The translation property ensures that adding a fixed amount of money a to a financial position X leads to a risk reduction by this amount a. We can motivate this property by the idea that the risk of a position X represents the amount which has to be added to X such that the new position $X + \rho(X)$ is acceptable. For example, we could specify acceptable positions by including all positions X the risk of which does not hit a specific barrier. Note that the translation property yields $\rho(X + \rho(X)) = \rho(X) - \rho(X) = 0$. A risk measure satisfying the convexity property does not penalize diversification: The risk of the diversified position aX + (1-a)Y is less than or equal to the weighted risk of the positions X and Y. The last property, i.e., positive homogeneity, states that the risk of a financial position increases linear with its size. Nevertheless, in many cases this property is not satisfied. This was the reason for developing the theory of convex risk measures. Finally, note that if ρ is positively homogeneous, then the following property holds:

(N) Normalization: $\rho(0) = 0$.

Remark 4.1.2. Artzner et al. (1999) were the first who introduced coherent risk measures. They defined coherent risk measures by using the properties of monotonicity, the translation property, positive homogeneity and the following property:

(SA) Subadditivity: $\rho(X+Y) = \rho(X) + \rho(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$.

The definition of Artzner et al. (1999) is equivalent to our definition above since under positive homogeneity, convexity and subadditivity are equivalent.

Let $\|\cdot\|$ be the supremum norm defined by $\|X\| := \sup_{\omega \in \Omega} |X(\omega)|$ for $X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$ and consider a risk measure $\rho : \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$. Since $X \leq Y + \|X - Y\|$ implies that $\rho(X) \geq \rho(Y) - \|X - Y\|$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$, we obtain $|\rho(X) - \rho(Y)| \leq \|X - Y\|$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$. This means that every risk measure $\rho : \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$ is (1-)Lipschitz continuous with respect to the supremum norm $\|\cdot\|$

Now, we take a closer look at financial positions that are acceptable. At first, we define a so called acceptance set which characterizes acceptable positions as positions X satisfying $\rho(X) \leq 0$. This means that the position X is acceptable if no capital has to be added. Thereafter, we discuss the relationship between acceptance set and the corresponding risk measure.

Definition 4.1.3. The acceptance set of a risk measure ρ is defined by

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rho} := \{ X \in \mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{tp}} | \rho(X) \le 0 \}.$$

Proposition 4.1.4 (See Proposition 4.6 in Föllmer and Schied (2011)). Let ρ : $\mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a risk measure and \mathcal{A}_{ρ} the corresponding acceptance set. Then the following properties are satisfied:

1. $\mathcal{A}_{\rho} \neq \emptyset$ and

- a) $\inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | r \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}\} > -\infty,$
- b) if $X \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}$ and $Y \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$ with $Y \geq X$, then $Y \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}$,
- c) \mathcal{A}_{ρ} is $\|\cdot\|$ -closed.

2. ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | r + X \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}\} \text{ for all } X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{tp}}.$$

- 3. ρ is a convex risk measure if and only if the set \mathcal{A}_{ρ} is convex, i.e., $aX + (1 a)X' \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}$ for all $X, X' \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}$ and $a \in [0, 1]$.
- 4. ρ is positively homogeneous if and only if the set \mathcal{A}_{ρ} is a cone, i.e., $aX \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}$ for all $X \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$. In particular, ρ is a coherent risk measure if and only if \mathcal{A}_{ρ} is a convex cone.

On the other hand, one can define for every set $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$ of acceptable positions a risk measure ρ by using the idea that $\rho(X)$ represents the smallest amount which has to be added to X such that the new position $X + \rho(X)$ is acceptable.

Proposition 4.1.5 (See Proposition 4.7 in Föllmer and Schied (2011)). Consider $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$ that satisfies the properties 1.a) and 1.b) from Proposition 4.1.4. Then the so called capital requirement $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}$ defined by

$$\rho_{\mathcal{A}}(X) := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | r + X \in \mathcal{A}\} \quad for \ X \in \mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{fp}}$$

satisfies the following properties:

- 1. $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}: \mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a risk measure.
- 2. If the set \mathcal{A} is convex, then $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}$ is a convex risk measure.
- 3. If the set \mathcal{A} is a cone, then $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}$ is positively homogeneous. Especially, if \mathcal{A} is a convex cone, then $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}$ is a coherent risk measure.
- 4. A is a subset of the acceptance set $\mathcal{A}_{\rho_{\mathcal{A}}}$, and we have $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_{\rho_{\mathcal{A}}}$ if and only if \mathcal{A} satisfies property 1.c) from Proposition 4.1.4.

4.2. Representations of risk measures

In this section we first consider representations of risk measures for $\mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} = \{X | X : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}\}$ where the state space Ω is supposed to be finite. We will see that this case of a finite state space is also the starting point in Chapter 5, which studies systemic risk measures on general probability spaces. A first general representation of coherent risk measures can be found in Artzner et al. (1999). Recall that $X(\omega)$ is the discounted value of the position X. Therefore, we set the total return r in Artzner et al. (1999) equal to 1.

Theorem 4.2.1 (See Proposition 4.1 in Artzner et al. (1999)). Suppose that Ω is finite. A risk measure $\rho : \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$ is coherent if and only if there exists a family \mathcal{Q} of probability measures on $(\Omega, \mathfrak{P}(\Omega))$ ($\mathfrak{P}(\Omega)$ denotes the set of all subsets of Ω) such that

$$\rho(X) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{Q}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] \quad for \ all \ X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}.$$

Föllmer and Schied (2002) proved the corresponding theorem for convex risk measures.

Theorem 4.2.2 (See Theorem 5 in Föllmer and Schied (2002)). Suppose that Ω is finite and let $\mathcal{M}_1(\Omega, \mathfrak{P}(\Omega))$ be the set of all probability measures on $(\Omega, \mathfrak{P}(\Omega))$.

A risk measure $\rho : \mathcal{X}^{fp} \to \mathbb{R}$ is convex if and only if there exists a function $\alpha : \mathcal{M}_1(\Omega, \mathfrak{P}(\Omega)) \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ such that

$$\rho(X) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Omega, \mathfrak{P}(\Omega))} \{ \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] - \alpha(\mathbb{Q}) \} \text{ for all } X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}.$$

Remark 4.2.3. Note that the representation of coherent risk measures in Theorem 4.2.1 is a special case of the representation of convex risk measures in Theorem 4.2.2. If we consider for a coherent risk measure ρ the function $\alpha(\mathbb{Q}) := \sup_{X \in \mathcal{X}^{f_{p}}} \{\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] - \rho(X)\} = \sup_{X \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X]$ for $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_{1}(\Omega, \mathfrak{P}(\Omega))$ (see, for instance, Föllmer and Schied (2002)), then we can easily prove that $\alpha(\mathbb{Q}) \in \{0, +\infty\}$ for all $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_{1}(\Omega, \mathfrak{P}(\Omega))$. Hence, the representation in Theorem 4.2.1 with $\mathcal{Q} = \{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_{1}(\Omega, \mathfrak{P}(\Omega)) | \alpha(\mathbb{Q}) = 0\}$ follows from Theorem 4.2.2.

From now on, we consider a general measurable space (Ω, \mathcal{F}) and suppose that \mathcal{X}^{fp} is the space of all bounded measurable functions on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) . Moreover, let $\mathcal{M}_{1,f} := \mathcal{M}_{1,f}(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$ be the space of all finitely additive set functions $Q : \mathcal{F} \to [0, 1]$ with $Q[\Omega] = 1$ and let $\mathcal{M}_1 := \mathcal{M}_1(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$ be the space of all probability measures on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) . In order to facilitate the notation, we adapt the notation from Föllmer and Schied (2011) and denote the integral of $X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$ with respect to $Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f}$ by $\mathbb{E}_Q[X]$.

The representation in the following theorem is called *robust representation*.

Theorem 4.2.4 (See Theorem 4.16 in Föllmer and Schied (2011)). Let $\rho : \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex risk measure. Then ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \max_{Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f}} \{ \mathbb{E}_Q[-X] - \alpha_{\min}(Q) \} \quad \text{for all } X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$$

$$(4.1)$$

where the function α_{min} is given by

$$\alpha_{\min}(Q) := \sup_{X \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}} E_Q[-X] = \sup_{X \in \mathcal{X}^{fp}} \{ \mathbb{E}_Q[-X] - \rho(X) \} \quad for \ Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f}.$$

Moreover, this function is minimal in the sense that $\alpha_{\min}(Q) \leq \alpha(Q)$ for all $Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f}$ and all functions $\alpha : \mathcal{M}_{1,f} \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ that satisfy representation (4.1) with α instead of α_{\min} and $\inf_{Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f}} \alpha(Q) \in \mathbb{R}$.

Remark 4.2.5. The functions $\alpha : \mathcal{M}_{1,f} \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ from the previous theorem that satisfy representation (4.1) with α instead of α_{min} and $\inf_{Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f}} \alpha(Q) \in \mathbb{R}$ are called *penalty functions* of the risk measure ρ .

The coherent case is a special case of the previous theorem. To prove this special case, one has to show that the penalty function α_{min} takes only the values 0 and $+\infty$ (see Remark 4.2.3).

Corollary 4.2.6 (See Corollary 4.19 in Föllmer and Schied (2011)). Let $\rho : \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a coherent risk measure. Then ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \max_{Q \in \mathcal{Q}_{max}} \mathbb{E}_Q[-X] \quad \text{for all } X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}$$

$$(4.2)$$

where the convex set Q_{max} is defined by

$$\mathcal{Q}_{max} := \{ Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f} | \alpha_{min}(Q) = 0 \}.$$

Moreover, the largest set $\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathcal{M}_{1,f}$ which satisfies representation (4.2) with \mathcal{Q} instead of \mathcal{Q}_{max} is equal to \mathcal{Q}_{max} .

Finally, the set $\mathcal{M}_{1,f}$ in representation (4.1) can be reduced to the set \mathcal{M}_1 if the risk measure satisfies an additional condition.

Theorem 4.2.7 (See Theorem 4.22 in Föllmer and Schied (2011)). Let $\rho : \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex risk measure. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. ρ is continuous from below, *i.e.*, $X_m \uparrow X$ pointwise implies $\rho(X_m) \downarrow \rho(X)$.
- 2. The minimal penalty function α_{min} of ρ is concentrated on the set \mathcal{M}_1 , i.e., $\alpha_{min}(Q) < +\infty$ for $Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f}$ implies that Q is σ -additive.

In particular, if one of these properties is satisfied, then

$$\rho(X) = \max_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_1} \{ \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] - \alpha_{\min}(\mathbb{Q}) \} \quad \text{for all } X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}}.$$

4.3. Risk measures on L^{∞}

From now on, let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ be a general probability space and set $\mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} = L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. This setting was considered first of all in Delbaen (2000, 2002), Föllmer and Schied (2002) and Frittelli and Rosazza Gianin (2002). The results in this section are again based on Föllmer and Schied (2011).

In case of $\mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} = L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$, we focus on risk measures $\rho : L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}) \to \mathbb{R}$ that satisfy

$$\rho(X) = \rho(Y) \quad \text{if } X = Y \quad \mathbb{P}-\text{a.s.} \tag{4.3}$$

Let us write for short $L^{\infty} := L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ and $L^p := L^p(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. These spaces are endowed with the usual norms $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ and $\|\cdot\|_p$, respectively. These are defined by $\|X\|_{\infty} := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | |X| \leq r \mathbb{P}$ -a.s.} for $X \in L^{\infty}$ and $\|X\|_p := (\int |X|^p d\mathbb{P})^{1/p}$ for $X \in L^p$.

Define $\mathcal{M}_{1,f}(\mathbb{P}) := \mathcal{M}_{1,f}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ as the set of finitely additive set functions $Q : \mathcal{F} \to [0,1]$ with $Q[\Omega] = 1$ which are absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbb{P} . Similarly, let $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P}) := \mathcal{M}_1(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ be the set of all probability measures on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) which are absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbb{P} .

First, we state an important property which follows from (4.3).

Lemma 4.3.1 (See Lemma 4.32 in Föllmer and Schied (2011)). Consider a convex risk measure ρ that satisfies (4.3) and admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \sup_{Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f}} \{ \mathbb{E}_Q[-X] - \alpha(Q) \} \text{ for all } X \in L^{\infty}$$

for a penalty function α . Then we have $\alpha(Q) = +\infty$ for all $Q \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f} \setminus \mathcal{M}_{1,f}(\mathbb{P})$.

In what follows, we need several continuity properties. Since we discuss functions $v: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$ in the next section, the following definition includes such functions.

Definition 4.3.2. Consider a function $v : L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ for $1 \le p \le \infty$.

1. v is called lower semicontinuous (l.s.c.) at X_0 (with respect to the norm topology) if for all sequences $(X_m) \subset L^p$ with $||X_m - X_0||_p \to 0$, it follows that

$$\upsilon(X_0) \le \liminf_{m \to \infty} \upsilon(X_m).$$

v is called lower semicontinuous (with respect to the norm topology) if v is lower semicontinuous at all $X \in L^p$ (with respect to the norm topology).

- 2. v is called continuous from above if for every sequence $(X_m) \subset L^p$ with $X_m \downarrow X \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for some $X \in L^p$, it follows that $v(X_m) \to v(X)$.
- 3. v is called continuous from below if for every sequence $(X_m) \subset L^p$ with $X_m \uparrow X \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for some $X \in L^p$, it follows that $v(X_m) \to v(X)$.
- 4. υ satisfies the Fatou-property if for every sequence $(X_m) \subset L^p$ with $|X_m| \leq Y$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for some $Y \in L^p$ and $X_m \to X$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for some $X \in L^p$, it follows that

$$\upsilon(X) \le \liminf_{m \to \infty} \upsilon(X_m).$$

If we focus on the space L^{∞} , then we obtain the following representation result.

Theorem 4.3.3 (See Theorem 4.33 in Föllmer and Schied (2011)). Let $\rho : L^{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex risk measure. Then the following statements are equivalent:

1. There exists a penalty function $\alpha : \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P}) \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ such that

$$\rho(X) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P})} \{ \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] - \alpha(\mathbb{Q}) \} \text{ for all } X \in L^{\infty}.$$

$$(4.4)$$

- 2. ρ is continuous from above.
- 3. ρ satisfies the Fatou-property.
- 4. The acceptance set \mathcal{A}_{ρ} is weak* closed, i.e., it is closed with respect to the topology $\sigma(L^{\infty}, L^1)$.

In particular, if one of these properties is satisfied, then ρ can be represented with the minimal penalty function restricted on $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P})$, i.e.,

$$\alpha_{\min}(\mathbb{Q}) = \sup_{X \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] = \sup_{X \in L^{\infty}} \{\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] - \rho(X)\} \quad for \ \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_{1}(\mathbb{P}).$$

Föllmer and Penner (2006) provide in their introduction a well known interpretation of representation (4.4): "[...] the risk of a position is evaluated as the worst expected loss, suitably modified, under a whole class of probabilistic models. These alternative models are described by probability measures Q [\mathbb{Q} with our notation] on the underlying set of scenarios. But they are taken seriously at a different degree, and this is made precise by the non-negative penalty function $\alpha(Q)$ [$\alpha(\mathbb{Q})$]." (Föllmer and Penner (2006), p. 61)

It remains to consider the coherent case.

Theorem 4.3.4 (See Corollary 4.37 in Föllmer and Schied (2011)). Let $\rho : L^{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a coherent risk measure. Then there exists a set $\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P})$ such that ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{Q}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] \quad \text{for all } X \in L^{\infty}$$
(4.5)

if and only if the equivalent properties from Theorem 4.3.3 are satisfied. In this case, the set

$$\mathcal{Q}_{max} := \{ Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P}) | \alpha_{min}(Q) = 0 \}$$

is the maximal subset of $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P})$ which satisfies representation (4.5) with \mathcal{Q}_{max} instead of \mathcal{Q} .

Note that it follows from Theorem 4.2.7 and Lemma 4.3.1 that the supremum in (4.4) (and hence also in (4.5)) is attained if ρ is continuous from below.

4.4. Risk measures on L^p

Filipovic and Svindland (2007) point out that considering risk measures on L^{∞} reduces the scope of possible risk models dramatically. For example, normal distributed random variables are excluded by such approaches. Hence, the theory of risk measures was extended to the theory of risk measures on L^p for $1 \leq p < \infty$; see, for instance, Filipovic and Svindland (2007) and Kaina and Rüschendorf (2009) and the references therein. In this section we introduce risk measures on L^p -spaces and repeat important results from the previously mentioned papers.

In case of L^p -spaces, we modify the definition of risk measures in the sense that risk measures now map from L^p to $\mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$. Delbaen (2002) motivated this change of definition by the existence of positions which are so risky that they will never be acceptable regardless of how much capital is put aside. As a consequence, such positions X satisfy $\rho(X) = +\infty$.

For the remaining part of this section we understand equalities and inequalities between random variables \mathbb{P} -a.s. Now, let us consider the corresponding properties to (M), (T), (C) and (PH) for functions $\rho : L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ and $1 \le p \le \infty$:

- (M') Monotonicity: If $X \leq Y$, then $\rho(X) \geq \rho(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in L^p$.
- (**T**') Translation property: $\rho(X + a) = \rho(X) a$ for all $X \in L^p$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (C') Convexity: $\rho(aX + (1-a)Y) \le a\rho(X) + (1-a)\rho(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in L^p$ and $a \in [0, 1]$.
- (**PH'**) Positive homogeneity: $\rho(aX) = a\rho(X)$ for all $X \in L^p$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Definition 4.4.1. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$. A risk measure (on L^p) is a function $\rho : L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ that satisfies the properties (M') and (T'). A convex risk measure (on L^p) is a risk measure (on L^p) that additionally satisfies the property (C'), and a coherent risk measure (on L^p) is a convex risk measure (on L^p) that additionally satisfies the property (PH').

The following lemma is well known and states that the previous definition can also be used to define convex risk measures on L^{∞} .

Lemma 4.4.2. For every proper function $\rho : L^{\infty} \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ that satisfies (M'), (T') and (C'), we have $\rho(X) < \infty$ for all $X \in L^{\infty}$, i.e., $\rho : L^{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}$.

In particular, this means that ρ is a convex risk measure in the sense of Definition 4.1.1.

Proof. For each $X \in L^{\infty}$, we have $X \leq ||X||_{\infty} < \infty$. Moreover, because ρ is proper, there exists some $Y \in L^{\infty}$ with $\rho(Y) < \infty$ and $||Y||_{\infty} < \infty$. Since $0 \geq Y - ||Y||_{\infty}$, the properties (M') and (T') imply $\rho(0) \leq \rho(Y - ||Y||_{\infty}) = \rho(Y) + ||Y||_{\infty} < \infty$. If we apply again (M') and (T'), then we obtain $\rho(X) \leq \rho(-||X||_{\infty}) = \rho(0) + ||X||_{\infty} < \infty$.

Again, we can study the relationship between risk measures $\rho: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ and their acceptance sets given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rho} := \{ X \in L^p | \rho(X) \le 0 \}.$$

The subsequent propositions follow from the remarks in Chapter 1 in Kaina and Rüschendorf (2009).

Proposition 4.4.3. Let $\rho: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ be a proper risk measure and \mathcal{A}_{ρ} the corresponding acceptance set. Then the following properties are satisfied:

1. $\mathcal{A}_{\rho} \neq \emptyset$ and

a)
$$\inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | r + Y \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}\} > -\infty \text{ for all } Y \in L^{p} \text{ where } \inf \emptyset := +\infty,$$

b) if $X \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}$ and $Y \in L^{p}$ with $Y > X$, then $Y \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}$.

2. ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | r + X \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}\} \quad for \ all \ X \in L^p$$

where $\inf \emptyset := +\infty$.

- 3. ρ is a convex risk measure if and only if \mathcal{A}_{ρ} is convex.
- 4. ρ is positively homogeneous if and only if \mathcal{A}_{ρ} is a cone. In particular, ρ is a coherent risk measure if and only if \mathcal{A}_{ρ} is a convex cone.

Proposition 4.4.4. Consider $\emptyset \neq A \subset L^p$ that satisfies the properties 1.a) and 1.b) from Proposition 4.4.3. Then

$$\rho_{\mathcal{A}}(X) := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | r + X \in \mathcal{A}\} \quad for \ X \in L^p$$

satisfies the following properties:

- 1. $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}$ is a risk measure.
- 2. If \mathcal{A} is convex, then $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}$ is a convex risk measure.
- 3. If \mathcal{A} is a cone, then $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}$ is positively homogeneous. Especially, if \mathcal{A} is a convex cone, then $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}$ is a coherent risk measure.

4. A is a subset of the acceptance set $\mathcal{A}_{\rho_{\mathcal{A}}}$.

Note that in case of $\mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} = L^{\infty}$, it suffices to claim that $\inf\{m \in \mathbb{R} | m + Y \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}\} > -\infty$ for Y = 0 only (see Proposition 4.1.5).

At the end of this section we repeat important representation results for risk measures on L^p . For $1 \le p < \infty$, the dual space of L^p is given by L^q with 1/p+1/q = 1 (up to isomorphism). We define

$$\mathcal{M}_1^q(\mathbb{P}) := \left\{ \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P}) \left| \frac{d\mathbb{Q}}{d\mathbb{P}} \in L^q \right\} \quad \text{for } 1 \le p < \infty. \right.$$

By using the duality theorem for conjugate functions (see Theorem A.2.9), we obtain a first representation result.

Theorem 4.4.5 (See Theorem 2.4 in Kaina and Rüschendorf (2009)). Fix $1 \le p < \infty$ and let $\rho : L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ be a proper convex risk measure on L^p . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. ρ is l.s.c.
- 2. There exists a subset $\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathcal{M}_1^q(\mathbb{P})$ and a function $\alpha : \mathcal{Q} \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ such that $\inf_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{Q}} \alpha(\mathbb{Q}) \in \mathbb{R}$ and

$$\rho(X) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{Q}} \{ \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] - \alpha(\mathbb{Q}) \} \text{ for all } X \in L^p.$$

In particular, if one of these properties is satisfied, then ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_1^q(\mathbb{P})} \{ \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] - \rho^*(\mathbb{Q}) \} \text{ for all } X \in L^p$$

$$(4.6)$$

with $\rho^*(\mathbb{Q}) := \sup_{X \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X]$ for $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_1^q(\mathbb{P})$.

Remark 4.4.6. If we replace the proper convex risk measure on L^p by a convex risk measure on L^{∞} in the previous theorem, then the theorem still holds with $\mathcal{M}_1^q(\mathbb{P})$ replaced by the space $\mathcal{M}_{1,f}(\mathbb{P})$. Additionally, the supremum in (4.6) is attained. This follows from Theorem 4.2.4 and Lemma 4.3.1. But since risk measures on L^{∞} are automatically Lipschitz continuous, this representation does always exist. Finally, note that the last representation result for convex risk measures on L^p , $p < \infty$, is based on probability measures, which is not the case for the corresponding representation result for convex risk measures on L^{∞} .

In case of coherent risk measures, Kaina and Rüschendorf (2009) prove a more specific representation result.

Theorem 4.4.7 (See Theorem 2.9 in Kaina and Rüschendorf (2009)). Fix $1 \le p < \infty$ and let $\rho : L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ be a proper coherent risk measure on L^p . Then the following properties are equivalent:

2. There exists a subset $\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathcal{M}_1^q(\mathbb{P})$ such that

$$\rho(X) = \max_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{Q}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] \quad for \ all \ X \in L^p.$$

3. ρ is finite and continuous with respect to the norm topology.

The previous result shows that the supremum in the dual representation is always attained if ρ is a proper and l.s.c. coherent risk measure on L^p , $p < \infty$.

4.5. Examples of convex and coherent risk measures

In this section we discuss important examples of convex and coherent risk measures. Again, we refer to Föllmer and Schied (2011) for more details and additional examples.

A risk measure that is frequently used in practice is the Value at Risk.

Example 4.5.1 (Value at Risk). Let $L^0 := L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ denote the space of all random variables on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. The Value at Risk of a financial position $X \in \mathcal{X}^{\text{fp}} = L^0$ is defined by

$$\operatorname{VaR}_{\lambda}(X) := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | \mathbb{P}[X + r < 0] \le \lambda\} \quad \text{for } \lambda \in (0, 1).$$

This means that the Value at Risk is the minimal amount one has to add to the position X such that the probability of a loss of this new position is bounded by λ . One can easily prove that the Value at Risk is monotone, satisfies the translation property and is positively homogeneous. But it does not satisfy the convexity property. For a counterexample see, for instance, Example 4.46 in Föllmer and Schied (2011). As a consequence, the Value at Risk does not reward diversification, which is not a desired property. Another disadvantage is that it does not provide any information on the size of a loss.

Another risk measure which is based on the Value at Risk is the so called Average Value at Risk.

Example 4.5.2 (Average Value at Risk). The Average Value at Risk of a position $X \in L^1$ is defined by

$$\operatorname{AVaR}_{\lambda}(X) := \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{0}^{\lambda} \operatorname{VaR}_{\gamma}(X) d\gamma \text{ for } \lambda \in (0, 1].$$

This risk measure, which is indeed a coherent risk measure, is also called *Conditional Value at Risk* or *Expected Shortfall*. The corresponding dual representation is given by

$$\operatorname{AVaR}_{\lambda}(X) = \max_{\mathbb{Q}\in Q_{\lambda}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] \quad \text{for } X \in \mathcal{X}^{\operatorname{fp}}$$

where \mathcal{Q}_{λ} is the set of all probability measures \mathbb{Q} which are absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbb{P} and satisfy $d\mathbb{Q}/d\mathbb{P} \leq 1/\lambda \mathbb{P}$ -a.s; see, for instance, Theorem 4.52 in Föllmer and Schied (2011).

An important example of a convex risk measure is the following.

Example 4.5.3 (Entropic risk measure). Assume that the preferences of an investor are given by the function $U_{\gamma}(X) := \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[1 - e^{-\gamma X}]$ where $X \in L^{\infty}$ and $\gamma > 0$. If we consider the set

$$\mathcal{A}_{\gamma} := \{ X \in L^{\infty} | U_{\gamma}(X) \ge U_{\gamma}(0) \} = \{ X \in L^{\infty} | \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[e^{-\gamma X}] \le 1 \},\$$

then it is easily seen that \mathcal{A}_{γ} is convex and satisfies the conditions from Proposition 4.1.5. Hence, the capital requirement $\rho_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}$ defined by this acceptance set is a convex risk measure according to Proposition 4.1.5. This risk measures is called *entropic risk measure*. Moreover,

$$\rho_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}(X) = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | r + X \in \mathcal{A}_{\gamma}\} = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[e^{-\gamma X}] \le e^{\gamma r}\} = \frac{1}{\gamma} \log \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[e^{-\gamma X}].$$

The dual representation of this convex risk measure is given by

$$\rho_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}(X) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_{1}(\mathbb{P})} \{ \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X] - \alpha^{min}(\mathbb{Q}) \} \text{ for } X \in L^{\infty}$$

where the minimal penalty function α_{min} satisfies

$$\alpha_{\min}(\mathbb{Q}) = \frac{1}{\gamma} H(\mathbb{Q}|\mathbb{P}) \quad \text{for } \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{P}).$$

Here, $H(\mathbb{Q}|\mathbb{P})$ denotes the relative entropy of \mathbb{Q} with respect to \mathbb{P} defined by

$$H(\mathbb{Q}|\mathbb{P}) := \begin{cases} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} \left[\frac{d\mathbb{Q}}{d\mathbb{P}} \log \frac{d\mathbb{Q}}{d\mathbb{P}} \right] & \text{if } \mathbb{Q} \ll \mathbb{P} \\ +\infty & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

For more details we refer again to Föllmer and Schied (2011).

In our last example we consider a further generalization of the entropic risk measure.

Example 4.5.4 (Distortion entropic risk measure). Let $g : [0,1] \to [0,1]$ be a nondecreasing function with g(0) = 0 and g(1) = 1. Then g induces the so called distorted probability \mathbb{P}_g defined by $\mathbb{P}_g[A] := g \circ \mathbb{P}[A]$ for $A \in \mathcal{F}$. By using this distorted probability, we can define the so called distorted expectation \mathbb{E}_g as a Choquet integral (see, for instance, Example 4.14 in Föllmer and Schied (2011)):

$$\mathbb{E}_g[X] := \int_0^\infty \mathbb{P}_g(X > t) dt + \int_{-\infty}^0 (\mathbb{P}_g(X > t) - 1) dt \quad \text{for } X \in L^\infty.$$

Furthermore, this distorted expectation enables us to define the *distortion entropic* risk measure, which is a generalization of the entropic risk measure introduced in Example 4.5.3 and given by

$$\rho_{g,\gamma}(X) := \frac{1}{\gamma} \log \mathbb{E}_g[e^{-\gamma X}] \text{ for } X \in L^{\infty} \text{ and } \gamma > 0.$$

5. Static systemic risk measures on general probability spaces

This chapter is based on the paper "Systemic risk measures on general probability spaces" which is joint work with E. Kromer and L. Overbeck. We study the extension of the approach in Chen et al. (2013) to general probability spaces and convex, not necessarily positively homogeneous, systemic risk measures. We will see that the static risk measures introduced in the previous chapter are an important building block for the construction of systemic risk measures.

The first section in this chapter is dedicated to the introduction of our main objects of interest: convex and positively homogeneous systemic risk measures. After introducing our notation, we generalize several different axioms from the theory of standard single-firm risk measurement. Section 5.2 provides a basic decomposition result which is essential for the remaining part of this chapter. We will see that each systemic risk measure can be decomposed into a single-firm risk measure and a so called aggregation function. Thereafter, we illustrate in Section 5.3 the construction of systemic risk measures by considering some examples. Since we generalize the results of Chen et al. (2013), their examples can still be used in our setting. Nevertheless, we study the larger class of convex systemic risk measures, and therefore we can also add new examples. Section 5.4 is dedicated to different representation results. We first define acceptance sets corresponding to a given convex systemic risk measure and then provide a primal representation, which illustrates the connection between convex systemic risk measures and the corresponding acceptance sets. Based on this first representation result, we finally prove the dual representation of convex systemic risk measures. An important application of this dual representation is considered in Section 5.5. We will see that if the supremum in the dual representation is attained, then the different summands of the corresponding optimal value can be used to define a risk attribution method in a sensible way. Thus, our approach in this chapter enables us to allocate the risk of the financial system to the different firms contained in this system.

5.1. Model and notation

Throughout this chapter fix the underlying general probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. We work in a one-period model and consider a finite set of n firms. From a network modeling point of view this means that we consider a financial network which consists of n nodes.

Let $L^p := L^p(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. The random vector $\bar{X} = (\bar{X}_1, \dots, \bar{X}_n) \in (L^p)^n$ represents the *losses* of the different firms, i.e., \bar{X}_i is assumed to be the random

loss of firm $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. It is important to note that in this chapter we valuate losses $\bar{X}_1, \ldots, \bar{X}_n$. In contrast to this, in Chapter 4 the random variable X represents the net *worth* of a specific financial position. We will see later on that this chapter of perspective affects the properties of the risk measures studied in this chapter.

From now on, we interpret equalities and inequalities between random vectors $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^m, m \in \mathbb{N}$, componentwise \mathbb{P} -a.s. This means $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^m$ satisfy $\bar{X} \leq \bar{Y}$ if and only if $\bar{X}_i \leq \bar{Y}_i$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$.

In case of $1 \leq p < \infty$, we endow the space L^p with the usual L^p -norm given by $||X||_p := (\int |X|^p d\mathbb{P})^{1/p} = \mathbb{E}[|X|^p]^{1/p}$ for $X \in L^p$. Similarly, if $p = \infty$, then the space L^∞ is endowed with the norm $||X||_{\infty} := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | |X| \leq r \mathbb{P}$ -a.s.} for $X \in L^\infty$. Let us now consider the dual space of L^p for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, i.e., the space of all continuous and linear functionals on L^p . It is well known that in case of $1 \leq p < \infty$, the dual space of L^p satisfies $(L^p)^* = L^q$ (up to isomorphism) where $q \in (1, \infty]$ is such that 1/p + 1/q = 1, and the pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : L^p \times L^q \to \mathbb{R}$ between L^p and L^q is given by

$$\langle X,\xi\rangle := \mathbb{E}[X\xi];$$

see, for instance, Theorem IV.8.1 and Theorem IV.8.5 in Dunford and Schwartz (1957). If we set $p = \infty$, then the dual space of L^{∞} satisfies $(L^{\infty})^* = ba$ (up to isomorphism) where the Banach space $ba := ba(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ is the space of all bounded, finitely additive functions μ on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) with the property that $\mathbb{P}[A] = 0$ implies $\mu[A] = 0$. In this case, the pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : L^{\infty} \times ba \to \mathbb{R}$ between L^{∞} and ba is given by

$$\langle X, \mu \rangle := \int_{\Omega} X(\omega) d\mu(\omega);$$

see Theorem IV.8.16 in Dunford and Schwartz (1957). In order to simplify the notation, we use

$$\langle X,\xi \rangle = \mathbb{E}[X\xi] \text{ for } X \in L^p, \xi \in (L^p)^* \text{ and all } 1 \leq p \leq \infty$$

for the pairing between L^p and $(L^p)^*$.

Now, let us consider the multi-dimensional case. For $m \in \mathbb{N}$, in particular in case of m > 1, we equip the space $(L^p)^m$ for $1 \le p \le \infty$ with the norm

$$\|\bar{X}\|_{p,m} := \sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\bar{X}_i\|_p \text{ for } \bar{X} = (\bar{X}_1, \dots, \bar{X}_m) \in (L^p)^m.$$

The dual spaces satisfy $((L^p)^m)^* = (L^q)^m$ (up to isomorphism) for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $((L^\infty)^m)^* = (ba)^m$ (up to isomorphism) for $p = \infty$, and the pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m : (L^p)^m \times ((L^p)^m)^* \to \mathbb{R}$ between $(L^p)^m$ and $((L^p)^m)^*$ is given by

$$\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m := \sum_{i=1}^m \langle \bar{X}_i, \bar{\xi}_i \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i \bar{\xi}_i] \quad \text{for } \bar{X} = (\bar{X}_1, \dots, \bar{X}_m) \in (L^p)^m$$

and $\bar{\xi} = (\bar{\xi}_1, \dots, \bar{\xi}_m) \in ((L^p)^m)^*.$

For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, we use the corresponding norm topology on $((L^p)^m)^*$ in case of 1 . If <math>p = 1 or $p = \infty$, we consider the weak*-topologies $\sigma((L^{\infty})^m, (L^1)^m)$

and $\sigma((ba)^m, (L^{\infty})^m)$, respectively. Both topologies are compatible with the corresponding pairing above; see Appendix A.2 for more details. Note that with these notations and definitions we have determined the paired spaces $((L^p)^m, ((L^p)^m)^*)$ in the sense of Definition A.2.1.

Finally, in the multi-dimensional case, we will frequently use the notations $1_m :=$ $(1,\ldots,1)$ and $0_m := (0,\ldots,0)$ (*m*-times) for $m \in \mathbb{N}$.

Now, let us come back to the main objects in this chapter. Recall that we focus on a network consisting of n firms. Our aim is to define systemic risk measures as mappings

$$\rho: (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$$

which quantify the risk associated with an economy $\overline{X} \in (L^p)^n$. Moreover, this economy is specified by the losses X_1, \ldots, X_n of the individual firms in the underlying system. In what follows, we will see that systemic risk measures are connected to convex and coherent risk measures which were discussed in Chapter 4. More precisely, every systemic risk measure is a decomposition of a single-firm risk measure, which is essentially identical to a risk measure from Chapter 4, and a so called aggregation function.

First of all, let us consider important properties of a function $\rho_0: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$:

- $(\mathbf{R1})$ Monotonicity: If $X \ge Y$, then $\rho_0(X) \ge \rho_0(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in L^p$.
- Convexity: $\rho_0(aX + (1 a)Y) \le a\rho_0(X) + (1 a)\rho_0(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in L^p$ $(\mathbf{R2})$ and $a \in [0, 1]$.
- Translation property: $\rho_0(X + a) = \rho_0(X) + a$ for all $X \in L^p$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}$. $(\mathbf{R3})$
- Positive homogeneity: $\rho_0(aX) = a\rho_0(X)$ for all $X \in L^p$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$. $(\mathbf{R4})$
- Constancy on $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathbb{R}$: $\rho_0(a) = a$ for all $a \in \mathcal{R}$. $(\mathbf{R5})$
- (R6) Normalization: $\rho_0(1) = 1$.

As we want to quantify the risk of a given economy that is represented by individual losses, the properties above slightly differ from the corresponding properties in Chapter 4, where we have considered the worth of a financial position. Because of these different viewpoints, the inequality in property (R1) is reversed compared to the monotonicity property from Chapter 4. Similarly, in the translation property (R3) we add a to $\rho_0(X)$ instead of subtracting a from $\rho_0(X)$. Nevertheless, the motivation behind the properties (R1)-(R4) above is analogous to the motivation of the corresponding properties in Chapter 4.

The constancy property (R5) was originally introduced and studied in Frittelli and Rosazza Gianin (2002). Note that the translation property and $\rho_0(0) = 0$ imply constancy on \mathbb{R} . Moreover, the normalization property (R3) is equivalent to constancy on $\{1\}$.

Definition 5.1.1. A convex single-firm risk measure is a function $\rho_0: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup$ $\{+\infty\}$ that satisfies the properties (R1) and (R2). A positively homogeneous singlefirm risk measure is a convex single-firm risk measure that additionally satisfies the properties (R_4) and (R_6) . A coherent single-firm risk measure is a positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure that additionally satisfies the property (R3).

This definition of convex single-firm risk measures (that satisfy monotonicity and convexity) is neither equivalent to the definition of standard risk measures in Chapter 4 nor to the definition of standard convex risk measures in Chapter 4. Solely the term coherent single-firm risk measure coincides with the term coherent risk measure defined in Chapter 4 (up to the sign change and normalization). We will explain this difference in detail below. Nevertheless, note that every standard convex risk measure $\hat{\rho}$ defined in Chapter 4 induces a convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 in the sense of Definition 5.1.1 by $\rho_0(X) := \hat{\rho}(-X)$ for $X \in L^p$.

Let us consider the following properties of a function $\rho: (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$:

- (S1) Monotonicity: If $\bar{X} \ge \bar{Y}$, then $\rho(\bar{X}) \ge \rho(\bar{Y})$ for all $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n$.
- (S2) Preference consistency: If $\rho(\bar{X}(\omega)) \ge \rho(\bar{Y}(\omega))$ for $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, then $\rho(\bar{X}) \ge \rho(\bar{Y})$.
- (S3) f_{ρ} -constancy: Either $\operatorname{Im} \rho|_{\mathbb{R}^n} = \mathbb{R}$ and there exists a surjective function $f_{\rho} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\rho(a1_n) = f_{\rho}(a)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ or $\operatorname{Im} \rho|_{\mathbb{R}^n} = \mathbb{R}_+$ and there exists a function $f_{\rho} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that f_{ρ} is surjective and strictly increasing on $[b, \infty)$, $f_{\rho}(a) = 0$ for $a \leq b$ and $\rho(a1_n) = f_{\rho}(a)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (S4) Convexity:
 - (S4a) Outcome convexity: $\rho(a\bar{X} + (1-a)\bar{Y}) \le a\rho(\bar{X}) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{Y})$ for all $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n$ and $a \in [0, 1]$.
 - (S4b) Risk convexity: Suppose $\rho(\bar{Z}(\omega)) = a\rho(\bar{X}(\omega)) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{Y}(\omega))$ for $\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z} \in (L^p)^n$, a given scalar $a \in [0, 1]$ and for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Then $\rho(\bar{Z}) \leq a\rho(\bar{X}) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{Y})$.
- (S5) Positive homogeneity: $\rho(a\bar{X}) = a\rho(\bar{X})$ for all $\bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$.
- (S6) Normalization: $\rho(1_n) = n$.

We understand (S2) and (S4b) in the following way: If the property (S2) is satisfied, then $\mathbb{P}[\{\omega \in \Omega | \rho(\bar{x}) \geq \rho(\bar{y}), (\bar{x}, \bar{y}) = (\bar{X}(\omega), \bar{Y}(\omega))\}] = 1$ implies that $\rho(\bar{X}) \geq \rho(\bar{Y})$. Similarly, if the property (S4b) is satisfied, then $\mathbb{P}[\{\omega \in \Omega | \rho(\bar{z}) = a\rho(\bar{x}) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{y}), (\bar{z}, \bar{x}, \bar{y}) = (\bar{Z}(\omega), \bar{X}(\omega), \bar{Y}(\omega))\}] = 1$ implies that $\rho(\bar{Z}) \leq a\rho(\bar{X}) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{Y})$.

Note that $\rho|_{\mathbb{R}^n} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable function. As a consequence, $\rho|_{\mathbb{R}^n} \circ \overline{X} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is also measurable.

For the remaining part of this chapter it is essential to know that the properties (S1), (S3) and (S4a) guarantee the existence of the inverse function f_{ρ}^{-1} of f_{ρ} . Moreover, there exist two different cases: If $\operatorname{Im} \rho|_{\mathbb{R}^n} = \mathbb{R}$, then f_{ρ} and the inverse function f_{ρ}^{-1} are maps from \mathbb{R} to \mathbb{R} . On the other hand, if $\operatorname{Im} \rho|_{\mathbb{R}^n} = \mathbb{R}_+$, then the function f_{ρ} is surjective and strictly increasing on $[b, \infty)$ and the inverse function f_{ρ}^{-1} maps from \mathbb{R}_+ into $[b, \infty)$. Occasionally, we do not distinguish between these two cases for simplicity.

Definition 5.1.2. A positively homogeneous systemic risk measure is a function $\rho : (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ that satisfies the properties (S1), (S2), (S4), (S5) and (S6). If ρ satisfies the properties (S1)-(S4) and the function f_{ρ} from property (S3) satisfies $\|f_{\rho}(Z)\|_p < \infty$ and $\|f_{\rho}^{-1}(Z)\|_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p$ $(\|f_{\rho}^{-1}(Z)\|_p < \infty$ for

all $Z \in L^p_+ := \{X \in L^p | X \ge 0\}$ if $\operatorname{Im} f_{\rho} = \mathbb{R}_+$, we call ρ a convex systemic risk measure.

Monotonicity (S1), outcome convexity (S4a) and positive homogeneity (S5) have already been considered in case of single-firm risk measurement, and we can interpret these properties in the same way. The normalization property (S6) is the systemic counterpart to property (R6). Preference consistency (S2) and risk convexity (S4b) were originally introduced, motivated and studied in Chen et al. (2013). To interpret the preference consistency, consider two economies X and Y. If in a.e. scenario $\omega \in \Omega$ the systemic risk of an economy $Y(\omega) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is less than or equal to the systemic risk of another economy $\bar{X}(\omega) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then this relation should still be satisfied by the systemic risk of the random economies $\bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$ and $\bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n$. Similarly, the risk convexity property is based on assumptions on realizations of economies \bar{X}, \bar{Y} and \overline{Z} . If for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$ the systemic risk of $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ is equal to the convex combination of the systemic risk of $X(\omega)$ and $Y(\omega)$, then the systemic risk of the random economy Z is bounded from above by the convex combination of the systemic risk of X and Y. Note that the transition from constant economies $\bar{X}(\omega)$, $\bar{Y}(\omega)$ and $\bar{Z}(\omega)$, $\omega \in \Omega$, to random economies \bar{X} , \bar{Y} and \bar{Z} can be interpreted as introduction of "randomness". Due to property (S4b), this process of transition does not lead to an increase of the systemic risk of Z beyond the convex combination of the systemic risk of X and Y.

Chen et al. (2013) point out that in case of an economy that consists of a single firm, i.e., n = 1, outcome convexity and constancy on \mathbb{R} imply risk convexity directly. Indeed, in this case, $\rho(Z(\omega)) = a\rho(X(\omega)) + (1-a)\rho(Y(\omega))$ for $X, Y, Z \in L^p$ is equivalent to $Z(\omega) = aX(\omega) + (1-a)Y(\omega)$ for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, which means that Z = aX + (1-a)Y. Now, the inequality $\rho(Z) \leq a\rho(X) + (1-a)\rho(Y)$ follows directly from outcome convexity.

It remains to discuss the f_{ρ} -constancy property (S3). This property is new, and we will see that it is essential in the decomposition result below. Note that the f_{ρ} -constancy property tells us something about the behavior of ρ on constants: Let us assume that each firm in the financial network has the same constant loss $a \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the systemic risk of this economy is equal to the value of a function $f_{\rho} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ in a. Since for every function from \mathbb{R} to \mathbb{R} surjectivity, monotonicity and convexity imply strict monotonicity, we know that f_{ρ} is strictly increasing and unbounded. Let us consider a second economy in which each firm has the same constant loss $c \in \mathbb{R}$ with c > a. Then strict monotonicity of f_{ρ} implies that the systemic risk of the second economy is strictly greater than the systemic risk of the first economy, i.e., $\rho(c1_n) > \rho(a1_n)$. A direct consequence of the unboundedness of f_{ρ} is that the systemic risk of $a1_n$ increases to infinity if the constant loss a increases to infinity. Therefore, we solely study systemic risk measures without an upper bound.

Finally, let us consider the following properties of a function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$:

- (A1) Monotonicity: If $\bar{x} \ge \bar{y}$, then $\Lambda(\bar{x}) \ge \Lambda(\bar{y})$ for all $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.
- (A2) Convexity: $\Lambda(a\bar{x} + (1-a)\bar{y}) \leq a\Lambda(\bar{x}) + (1-a)\Lambda(\bar{y})$ for all $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $a \in [0,1]$.
- (A3) f_{Λ} -constancy: Either Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}$ and there exists a surjective function f_{Λ} : $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\Lambda(a1_n) = f_{\Lambda}(a)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ or Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+$ and there

exists a function $f_{\Lambda} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that f_{Λ} is surjective and strictly increasing on $[b, \infty)$, $f_{\Lambda}(a) = 0$ for $a \leq b$ and $\Lambda(a1_n) = f_{\Lambda}(a)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$.

- (A4) Positive homogeneity: $\Lambda(a\bar{x}) = a\Lambda(\bar{x})$ for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$.
- (A5) Normalization: $\Lambda(1_n) = n$.

Definition 5.1.3. A positively homogeneous aggregation function is a function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ that satisfies the properties (A1), (A2), (A4) and (A5). If Λ satisfies the properties (A1)-(A3) and the function f_{Λ} from (A3) satisfies $||f_{\Lambda}(Z)||_p < \infty$ and $||f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(Z)||_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p$ ($||f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(Z)||_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p_+$ if $\operatorname{Im} f_{\Lambda} = \mathbb{R}_+$), we call Λ a convex aggregation function.

Remark 5.1.4. If $p = \infty$, the properties (A1)-(A3) imply that $||f_{\Lambda}(Z)||_p < \infty$ and $||f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(Z)||_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p$ ($||f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(Z)||_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p_+$ if $\operatorname{Im} f_{\Lambda} = \mathbb{R}_+$). Therefore, we do not have to claim these additional properties in the previous definition in case of $p = \infty$.

It is well known that every convex and finite valued function on \mathbb{R}^n is continuous. Thus, the convex aggregation function Λ is continuous and measurable. Note that the f_{Λ} -constancy property (A3) is similar to the f_{ρ} -constancy property (S3), and the motivation for both properties is the same: The value of the aggregation function of an economy in which every firm has the same constant loss $a \in \mathbb{R}$ is equal to the value of $f_{\rho} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ in a. We will see in the decomposition theorem below (see Theorem 5.2.1) that the constancy properties (R5), (S3) and (A3) are highly dependent on each other. Moreover, the constancy properties are key properties that enable us to drop the positive homogeneity property and to consider convex systemic risk measures that are not necessarily positively homogeneous. At this point, it is important to note that standard convex risk measures $\hat{\rho}$ defined in Chapter 4 satisfy the translation property. In addition to this, many examples of standard convex risk measures also satisfy $\hat{\rho}(0) = 0$. Since these two properties imply $\hat{\rho}(a) = -a$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$, these standard convex risk measures satisfy the corresponding constancy property on \mathbb{R} . Nonetheless, if we consider single-firm risk measures in conjunction with systemic risk measures, then the translation property, which is satisfied by all standard convex risk measures, is not required any more (see again Theorem 5.2.1). This is precisely the reason for changing the definition of convex single-firm risk measures in this chapter compared to the standard approach in Chapter 4.

The following lemma clarifies why we claim the f_{Λ} -constancy property for convex aggregation functions.

Lemma 5.1.5. Let $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex aggregation function with $\operatorname{Im} \Lambda = \mathbb{R}$ $[\operatorname{Im} \Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+]$. Then $\Lambda((L^p)^n) = L^p [\Lambda((L^p)^n) = L^p_+]$.

Proof. Let us suppose that $\text{Im } \Lambda = \mathbb{R}$. The proof of the other case is analogous. Fix $\bar{X} = (\bar{X}_1, \ldots, \bar{X}_n) \in (L^p)^n$ and define the random variable $Z_{\bar{X}}$ by

$$Z_{\bar{X}}(\omega) := \max\{X_1(\omega), \dots, X_n(\omega)\}I_A(\omega) + \min\{X_1(\omega), \dots, X_n(\omega)\}I_{A^c}(\omega)$$

where $A := \{ \omega \in \Omega | \Lambda(X(\omega)) \ge 0 \}$. Then $Z_{\bar{X}} \in L^p$ because the maximum and the minimum of L^p -integrable (bounded) random variables are L^p -integrable (bounded). The monotonicity property of Λ implies $0 \leq \Lambda(X(\omega)) \leq \Lambda(Z_{\bar{X}}(\omega)1_n)$ for all $\omega \in A$ and $0 > \Lambda(\bar{X}(\omega)) \ge \Lambda(Z_{\bar{X}}(\omega)1_n)$ for all $\omega \in A^c$. It follows

$$|\Lambda(X(\omega))| \le |\Lambda(Z_{\bar{X}}(\omega)1_n)| = |f_{\Lambda}(Z_{\bar{X}}(\omega))| \quad \text{for all } \omega \in \Omega,$$

which yields $\mathbb{E}[|\Lambda(\bar{X})|^p] \leq \mathbb{E}[|f_{\Lambda}(Z_{\bar{X}})|^p]$ in case of $p < \infty$ and $\inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | |\Lambda(\bar{X})| \leq 1 \}$ $r\} \leq \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} ||f_{\Lambda}(Z_{\bar{X}})| \leq r\}$ in case of $p = \infty$. Since $\|f_{\Lambda}(Z_{\bar{X}})\|_{p} < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p$, we obtain

$$\|\Lambda(X)\|_p \le \|f_\Lambda(Z_{\bar{X}})\|_p < \infty$$

But this means that $\Lambda(\overline{X}) \in L^p$. Thus, $\Lambda((L^p)^n) \subset L^p$.

To prove the other inclusion, consider an arbitrary random variable $X \in L^p$. The properties (A1)-(A3) imply the existence of the inverse function f_{Λ}^{-1} . Therefore, we can define the random variable Y_X by

$$Y_X(\omega) := f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(X(\omega)) \text{ for } \omega \in \Omega.$$

Since $||f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(Z)||_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p$, we obtain that $Y_X \in L^p$. The definition of Y_X implies $f_{\Lambda}(Y_X) = X$ and the f_{Λ} -constancy property of Λ yields $\Lambda(Y_X 1_n) =$ $f_{\Lambda}(Y_X) = X$. This means that $L^p \subset \Lambda((L^p)^n)$. Together with the first part of this proof, we have $\Lambda((L^p)^n) = L^p$.

The previous lemma guarantees that for every $\bar{X} \in L^p$, the image $\Lambda(\bar{X})$ is again an element in the space L^p . On the other hand, the surjectivity of the real valued function Λ is transferred to Λ considered as a mapping from $(L^p)^n$ to L^p .

Lemma 5.1.6. Let $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a positively homogeneous aggregation function. Then Λ also satisfies the f_{Λ} -constancy property (A3). The corresponding function f_{Λ} is given by

$$f_{\Lambda}(a) = \begin{cases} an & \text{if } a \ge 0\\ a(-\Lambda(-1_n)) & \text{if } a < 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

in case of Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}$ and $f_{\Lambda}(a) = na^+$ in case of Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+$.

Proof. For every positively homogeneous aggregation function Λ , we have $\Lambda(a1_n) =$ $a\Lambda(1_n) = an$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Therefore, $\mathbb{R}_+ \subset \operatorname{Im} \Lambda$. If $\Lambda(\bar{x}) \geq 0$ for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then monotonicity and positive homogeneity lead to $0 \leq \Lambda(a_{1_n}) \leq \Lambda(0_n) = 0$ for a < 0. This means that $f_{\Lambda}(a) = na^+$.

If there exists $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\Lambda(\bar{x}) < 0$, then there exists $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ with $\bar{x}_i < 0$. If we define $y := \min_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} \bar{x}_i$, then by monotonicity, we have $\Lambda(y1_n) \leq \Lambda(\bar{x}) < 0$, and positive homogeneity implies $\Lambda(y1_n) = (-y)\Lambda(-1_n)$. Thus, $\Lambda(-1_n) < 0$ and Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}$. It remains to prove that f_{Λ} given by (5.1) is convex. In other words, we have to show that $-\Lambda(-1_n) \leq n$. But this inequality follows from convexity and positive homogeneity of Λ , which imply that $0 = \Lambda(0_n) =$ $\Lambda(1_n + (-1_n)) \le \Lambda(1_n) + \Lambda(-1_n).$ **Remark 5.1.7.** Note that $||f_{\Lambda}(Z)||_p < \infty$ and $||f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(Z)||_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p$ $(||f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(Z)||_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p_+$ if $\operatorname{Im} f_{\Lambda} = \mathbb{R}_+)$ are automatically satisfied if Λ is a positively homogeneous aggregation function. As a consequence, every positively homogeneous aggregation function is also a convex aggregation function. By repeating the same argument for systemic risk measures, we obtain that every positively homogeneous systemic risk measure is also a convex systemic risk measure.

5.2. Structural decomposition

The aim of this section is to generalize the decomposition result in Chen et al. (2013) for convex systemic risk measures defined on a general probability space. We will see that each convex systemic risk measure is a composition of a convex single-firm risk measure and a convex aggregation function. By the final remark in the previous section, every positively homogeneous systemic risk measure is also a convex systemic risk measure. Therefore, the positively homogeneous case considered in Chen et al. (2013) can be regarded as a special case of our decomposition theorem for convex systemic risk measures.

The proof of the decomposition theorem below is in several arguments similar to the proof of Theorem 1 in Chen et al. (2013). Nevertheless, the extension from positively homogeneous systemic risk measures to convex systemic risk measures which are not necessarily positively homogeneous requires an application of Lemma 5.1.5, which is new in the context of convex systemic risk measurement. Since this lemma strongly depends on the f_{Λ} -constancy property of Λ , the constancy properties (f_{ρ} -constancy, f_{Λ} -constancy and constancy of ρ_0) play a key role in our decomposition result for convex systemic risk measures.

Theorem 5.2.1 (Convex structural decomposition).

a) A function $\rho : (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ is a convex systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a convex aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ and a convex single-firm risk measure $\rho_0 : L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ that satisfies the constancy property on \mathbb{R} such that ρ is the composition of ρ_0 and Λ , *i.e.*,

 $\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in (L^p)^n.$

b) A function $\rho: (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}_+$ is a convex systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a convex aggregation function $\Lambda: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}_+$ and a convex single-firm risk measure $\rho_0: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ that satisfies the constancy property on \mathbb{R}_+ such that ρ is the composition of ρ_0 and Λ , i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in (L^p)^n.$$

Proof. In case of part a), set $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{S} = \mathbb{R}$, and in case of part b), set $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\mathcal{S} = [b, \infty)$ for $b \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Let ρ be a convex systemic risk measure with $f_{\rho} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{R}$ such that f_{ρ} is surjective and strictly increasing on \mathcal{S} . We define the function Λ by

$$\Lambda(\bar{x}) := \rho(\bar{x}) \quad \text{for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(5.2)

Then the convexity property (A2) follows from the corresponding property of ρ since

$$\Lambda(a\bar{x} + (1-a)\bar{y}) = \rho(a\bar{x} + (1-a)\bar{y}) \le a\rho(\bar{x}) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{y}) = a\Lambda(\bar{x}) + (1-a)\Lambda(\bar{y})$$

for all $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $a \in [0, 1]$. Similarly, monotonicity of ρ yields the monotonicity property (A1) of Λ .

Because ρ satisfies f_{ρ} -constancy, the following equality is satisfied for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$:

$$\Lambda(a1_n) = \rho(a1_n) = f_\rho(a) \,.$$

By setting $f_{\Lambda} := f_{\rho}$, f_{Λ} -constancy (A3) of Λ follows directly. Therefore, $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathcal{R}$. Furthermore, Lemma 5.1.5 gives $\Lambda((L^p)^n) = L^p$ in case of a) and $\Lambda((L^p)^n) = L^p_+$ in case of b).

Now, let us define $\tilde{\rho}_0 : \Lambda((L^p)^n) \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ by

$$\tilde{\rho}_0(X) := \rho(\bar{X}) \quad \text{where } \bar{X} \in (L^p)^n \text{ satisfies } \Lambda(\bar{X}) = X.$$
 (5.3)

Moreover, define $\rho_0: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ by

$$\rho_0(X) := \begin{cases} \tilde{\rho}_0(X) & \text{if } \Lambda((L^p)^n) = L^p \\ \tilde{\rho}_0(X^+) & \text{if } \Lambda((L^p)^n) = L^p_+ \end{cases}.$$
(5.4)

Then $\tilde{\rho}_0$ is well-defined: For two economies $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n$ with $\Lambda(\bar{X}) = \Lambda(\bar{Y})$, we obtain

$$\rho(\bar{X}(\omega)) = \Lambda(\bar{X})(\omega) \ge \Lambda(\bar{Y})(\omega) = \rho(\bar{Y}(\omega)) \quad \text{and} \\ \rho(\bar{X}(\omega)) = \Lambda(\bar{X})(\omega) \le \Lambda(\bar{Y})(\omega) = \rho(\bar{Y}(\omega))$$

for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Furthermore, preference consistency of ρ implies that $\rho(\bar{X}) = \rho(\bar{Y})$.

In the following, we will show that $\tilde{\rho}_0$ defined by (5.3) is monotone, convex and satisfies constancy on \mathcal{R} . Then it follows immediately that ρ_0 defined by (5.4)

satisfies the monotonicity property (R1), convexity (R2) and constancy on \mathcal{R} (R5). In order to prove the monotonicity property, consider $X, Y \in \Lambda((L^p)^n)$ with $\Lambda(\bar{X}) = X, \Lambda(\bar{Y}) = Y$ and $X \leq Y$. Then

$$\rho(\bar{X}(\omega)) = \Lambda(\bar{X})(\omega) \le \Lambda(\bar{Y})(\omega) = \rho(\bar{Y}(\omega))$$

for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, and preference consistency of ρ yields $\tilde{\rho}_0(X) \leq \tilde{\rho}_0(Y)$.

It remains to prove the convexity property and constancy on \mathcal{R} . First, let $X, Y \in \Lambda((L^p)^n)$ and $a \in [0,1]$ and define Z := aX + (1-a)Y. Moreover, let $\overline{X}, \overline{Y}, \overline{Z} \in (L^p)^n$ be such that

 $\tilde{\rho}_0(X) = \rho(\bar{X}), \quad \tilde{\rho}_0(Y) = \rho(\bar{Y}), \quad \tilde{\rho}_0(Z) = \rho(\bar{Z})$

where $\Lambda(\bar{X}) = X$, $\Lambda(\bar{Y}) = Y$ and $\Lambda(\bar{Z}) = Z$. Then we obtain

$$\rho(Z(\omega)) = \Lambda(Z)(\omega) = Z(\omega) = aX(\omega) + (1-a)Y(\omega)$$
$$= a\Lambda(\bar{X})(\omega) + (1-a)\Lambda(\bar{Y})(\omega) = a\rho(\bar{X}(\omega)) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{Y}(\omega))$$

for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, and risk convexity of ρ implies

$$\tilde{\rho}_0(Z) = \rho(\bar{Z}) \le a\rho(\bar{X}) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{Y}) = a\tilde{\rho}_0(X) + (1-a)\tilde{\rho}_0(Y).$$

This means that $\tilde{\rho}_0$ satisfies the convexity property. Finally, note that for all $a \in \mathcal{R}$, there exists $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\Lambda(\bar{x}) = a$ and $\tilde{\rho}_0(a) = \rho(\bar{x})$. Since $a = \Lambda(\bar{x}) = \rho(\bar{x})$, we obtain $\tilde{\rho}_0(a) = a$ for all $a \in \mathcal{R}$. Therefore, $\tilde{\rho}_0$ satisfies the constancy property on \mathcal{R} . The equality $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ follows immediately from the definition of ρ_0 and Λ .

For the second part of the proof consider a convex aggregation function Λ with $f_{\Lambda} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{R}$ that is surjective and strictly increasing on S and suppose that ρ_0 is a convex single-firm risk measure with $\rho_0(a) = a$ for all $a \in \mathcal{R}$. Monotonicity (S1) and outcome convexity (S4a) of ρ are satisfied due to the corresponding properties of ρ_0 and Λ . To prove preference consistency (S2), consider $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n$ with

$$(\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}(\omega)) = \rho(\bar{X}(\omega)) \ge \rho(\bar{Y}(\omega)) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{Y}(\omega))$$

for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Because ρ_0 satisfies constancy on \mathcal{R} and $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathcal{R}$, we obtain $\Lambda(\bar{X}(\omega)) \geq \Lambda(\bar{Y}(\omega))$ for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. The monotonicity property of ρ_0 leads to

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \ge (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{Y}) = \rho(\bar{Y}),$$

which means that property (S2) is satisfied.

Now, consider $\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z} \in (L^p)^n$ and $a \in [0,1]$ and suppose that $\rho(\bar{Z}(\omega)) = a\rho(\bar{X}(\omega)) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{Y}(\omega))$ for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Since $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$, this means

$$\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{Z}(\omega))) = a\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X}(\omega))) + (1-a)\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{Y}(\omega)))$$
(5.5)

for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Note again that $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathcal{R}$ and $\rho_0(c) = c$ for all $c \in \mathcal{R}$. Therefore, Equation (5.5) yields

$$\Lambda(\bar{Z}(\omega)) = a\Lambda(\bar{X}(\omega)) + (1-a)\Lambda(\bar{Y}(\omega))$$

for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, i.e., $\Lambda(\bar{Z}) = a\Lambda(\bar{X}) + (1-a)\Lambda(\bar{Y})$. The convexity property of ρ_0 implies

$$\rho(\bar{Z}) = \rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{Z})) \le a\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X})) + (1-a)\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{Y})) = a\rho(\bar{X}) + (1-a)\rho(\bar{Y}).$$

Hence, ρ satisfies the risk convexity property (S4b). It remains to show the f_{ρ} constancy property (S3). Since Λ satisfies the f_{Λ} -constancy property and $\rho_0(c) = c$ for all $c \in \mathcal{R}$, we have

$$\rho(a1_n) = \rho_0(\Lambda(a1_n)) = f_\Lambda(a) \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathbb{R}.$$

But this means that f_{ρ} -constancy (S3) is satisfied with $f_{\rho} := f_{\Lambda}$.

Remark 5.2.2. In the previous proof Lemma 5.1.5 ensures that $\tilde{\rho}_0$ specified in Equation (5.3) is a mapping defined on the entire space L^p or on the entire space L_+^p , respectively. In the positively homogeneous case studied in Chen et al. (2013), this property is an immediate consequence of positive homogeneity and normalization.

The following corollary addresses the positively homogeneous special case of Theorem 5.2.1.

Corollary 5.2.3 (Positively homogeneous structural decomposition).

a) A function $\rho: (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ is a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a positively homogeneous aggregation function $\Lambda: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ and a coherent single-firm risk measure $\rho_0: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ such that ρ is the composition of ρ_0 and Λ , i.e.,

$$\rho(X) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(X) \quad \text{for all } X \in (L^p)^n.$$

b) A function $\rho: (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}_+$ is a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a positively homogeneous aggregation function $\Lambda: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}_+$ and a positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure $\rho_0: L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ such that ρ is the composition of ρ_0 and Λ , i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \quad for \ all \ \bar{X} \in (L^p)^n.$$

Proof. Note that every positively homogeneous systemic risk measure ρ is also a convex systemic risk measure, and every positively homogeneous aggregation function Λ is a convex aggregation function. Similarly, every coherent [positively homogeneous] single-firm risk measure ρ_0 is also a convex systemic risk measure which satisfies constancy on \mathbb{R} [\mathbb{R}_+]. Therefore, we can apply the convex decomposition theorem (see Theorem 5.2.1).

First, let us suppose that ρ is a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure. Then it remains to prove that Λ defined by (5.2) and $\tilde{\rho}_0$ defined by (5.3) are positively homogeneous and normalized. Note that ρ_0 defined by (5.4) inherits both properties from $\tilde{\rho}_0$. In case of part a), we additionally have to verify the translation property (R3) for $\rho_0 = \tilde{\rho}_0$.

Positive homogeneity (A4) and normalization (A5) of Λ follow directly from the corresponding property of ρ . Moreover, $\Lambda(1_n/n) = (1/n)\Lambda(1_n) = 1$ and $\rho(1_n/n) = (1/n)\rho(1_n) = 1$ such that $\tilde{\rho}_0(1) = \rho(1_n/n) = 1$, which means that $\tilde{\rho}_0$ is normalized. Now, consider $X \in \Lambda((L^p)^n)$ and $\bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$ such that $\Lambda(\bar{X}) = X$. Since Λ is positively homogeneous, we have $\Lambda(a\bar{X}) = a\Lambda(\bar{X}) = aX$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Hence, the positive homogeneity property of ρ implies $\tilde{\rho}_0(aX) = \rho(a\bar{X}) = a\rho(\bar{X}) = a\tilde{\rho}_0(X)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

To prove the translation property (R3) in case of part a), note that we know from Theorem 5.2.1 that $\rho_0(a) = a$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$. Since ρ_0 is convex and positively homogenous, ρ_0 is also subadditive (see Remark 4.1.2). It follows for $X \in L^p$ and all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ that

$$\rho_0(X+a) \le \rho_0(X) + \rho_0(a) = \rho_0(X) + a \quad \text{and} \\ \rho_0(X+a) = \rho_0(X-(-a)) \ge \rho_0(X) - \rho_0(-a) = \rho_0(X) + a$$

This means that ρ_0 satisfies the translation property (R3).

For the second part of the proof it remains to show the normalization property (S6) and positive homogeneity (S5). Obviously, ρ is positively homogeneous since Λ and ρ_0 satisfy the corresponding property. Finally, ρ_0 has the positive homogeneous and the translation property in case of a), and ρ_0 is positively homogeneous and satisfies $\rho_0(1) = 1$ in case of b). Therefore, we have $\rho_0(a) = a$ for all $a \in \mathcal{R}$ in both cases. This property together with the normalization property of Λ yields that ρ is normalized.

Remark 5.2.4. In the first part of the proof of the previous corollary we have shown that every positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure ρ_0 which satisfies constancy on \mathbb{R} also admits the translation property. Consequently, an alternative formulation for part a) of Corollary 5.2.3 is the following:

a') A function $\rho : (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ is a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a positively homogeneous aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ and a positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure $\rho_0 : L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ that satisfies the constancy property on \mathbb{R} such that ρ is the composition of ρ_0 and Λ , i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$$

5.3. Examples of systemic risk measures

In this section we provide examples of convex and positively homogeneous systemic risk measures. Since the positively homogeneous systemic risk measures considered in Chen et al. (2013) are special cases of our convex systemic risk measures, we can carry over their examples to our setting. Nevertheless, our systemic risk measures do not necessarily have to be positively homogeneous such that we can add completely new examples. We will see that all examples in the subsequent section are based on the decomposition results above. This means that we construct convex [positively homogeneous] systemic risk measures by defining the corresponding convex [positively homogeneous] single-firm risk measure and the corresponding convex [positively homogeneous] aggregation function.

Example 5.3.1. The first possibility to obtain a simple positively homogeneous aggregation function is to sum up the losses/ profits of each firm $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. The resulting aggregation function $\Lambda_{\text{sum}} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by

$$\Lambda_{\text{sum}}(\bar{x}) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{x}_i.$$
(5.6)

Note that Λ_{sum} is a linear function. We can generalize this positively homogeneous aggregation function by considering $\Lambda_{\text{aff}} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\Lambda_{\text{aff}}(\bar{x}) := b^t \bar{x} + c \text{ for } b \in \mathbb{R}^n, b > 0_n \text{ and } c \in \mathbb{R}.$$

We know from Example 4.5.2 that the Average Value at Risk is given by

$$AVaR_{\lambda}(X) = \max_{\mathbb{Q}\in\mathcal{Q}_{\lambda}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[X] \quad \text{for all } X \in L^{p} \text{ and } \lambda \in (0,1]$$
(5.7)

where \mathcal{Q}_{λ} is the set of all probability measures \mathbb{Q} which are absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbb{P} and satisfy $d\mathbb{Q}/d\mathbb{P} \leq 1/\lambda \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. Note that we interpret X_1, \ldots, X_n as losses while in Example 4.5.2 the perspective is reversed. This explains why we have $\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[X]$ instead of $\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}}[-X]$ in representation (5.7).

If we now consider the corresponding composition, then we obtain the positively homogeneous systemic risk measure

$$\rho_{\text{SEM}}(\bar{X}) := \text{AVaR}_{\lambda}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{X}_{i}\right) \text{ for } \bar{X} \in (L^{p})^{n} \text{ and } \lambda \in (0,1].$$

This risk measure, also referred to as *Systemic Expected Shortfall*, has already been discussed in Acharya et al. (2010). Nevertheless, Chen et al. (2013) point out that a financial regulator, in general, does not want to compensate the losses of one firm with the profits of another. In conclusion, the positively homogeneous systemic risk measure ρ_{SEM} is not an appropriate choice to meet these specific demands.

In the next example we provide a positively homogeneous aggregation function that covers the criticism above. Moreover, by considering this positively homogeneous aggregation function in conjunction with a convex systemic risk measure, we obtain a first example of a convex systemic risk measure which is not positively homogeneous.

Example 5.3.2. Let the positively homogeneous aggregation function $\Lambda_{\text{loss}} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ \mathbb{R}_+ be defined by

$$\Lambda_{\rm loss}(\bar{x}) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{x}_i^+.$$
 (5.8)

Since this aggregation function sets all profits equal to 0, it is not possible to crosssubsidize the losses of one firm with the gains of another. The previous aggregation function defined in (5.8) can be modified by introducing a lower bound which is not necessarily equal to 0. In this case, we obtain the convex aggregation function $\Lambda_{b,\text{loss}}: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}_+$ defined by

$$\Lambda_{b,\text{loss}}(\bar{x}) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\bar{x}_i - b)^+ \text{ for } b \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

If this convex aggregation function is applied, then the losses above b are aggregated only. Since $\Lambda_{b,\text{loss}}$ is convex but not positively homogeneous and $\text{Im}\Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+$, these aggregation functions are covered by the second part of Theorem 5.2.1.

In order to define a convex systemic risk measure, we can use the aggregation function $\Lambda_{\rm loss}$ in conjunction with the distortion entropic risk measure defined in Example 4.5.4. This convex single-firm risk measure is given by

$$\rho_0^{g,\gamma}(X) = \frac{1}{\gamma} \log \mathbb{E}_g[e^{\gamma X}] \quad \text{for } X \in L^\infty \text{ and } \gamma > 0$$

where \mathbb{E}_q denotes the distorted expectation for a nondecreasing function $g:[0,1] \rightarrow$ [0,1] with g(0) = 0 and g(1) = 1. Together with the positively homogeneous aggregation function defined in (5.8), we obtain the distortion entropic systemic risk measure

$$\rho_{g,\gamma}(\bar{X}) := \frac{1}{\gamma} \log \mathbb{E}_g \left[e^{\gamma \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{X}_i^+} \right] \quad \text{for } \bar{X} \in (L^\infty)^n \text{ and } \gamma > 0.$$
 (5.9)

This systemic risk measure is convex but not positively homogeneous. This follows from the fact that the underlying distortion entropic risk measure $\rho_0^{g,\gamma}$ is not positively homogeneous. Finally, note that the $f_{\rho_{g,\gamma}}$ -constancy property is satisfied with $f_{\rho_{g,\gamma}}(a) = f_{\Lambda_{\text{loss}}}(a) = na^+$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$.

Another critical property, which has already been pointed out in Chen et al. (2013), is that both positively homogeneous aggregation functions Λ_{sum} and Λ_{loss} do not distinguish between large losses and small losses. As a consequence, one large loss is as bad as several smaller losses summing up to the same amount. The following two examples consider convex aggregation functions without this property.

Example 5.3.3. It seems to be reasonable that a financial regulator strongly prefers several smaller losses against one large loss. Then the convex aggregation function $\Lambda_{\exp} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}_+$ defined by

$$\Lambda_{\exp}(\bar{x}) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} (e^{\gamma \bar{x}_i^+} - 1) \quad \text{for } \gamma > 0$$

is a possible choice. Here, the regulator penalizes losses exponentially, and hence the convex aggregation function Λ_{\exp} is not positively homogeneous. The corresponding function $f_{\Lambda_{\exp}}$ is given by $f_{\Lambda_{\exp}}(a) = n(e^{\gamma a^+} - 1)$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$. Since $\Lambda_{\exp}(\bar{X}) \in L^{\infty}$ for all $\bar{X} \in (L^{\infty})^n$, this convex aggregation function is suitable for convex systemic risk measures defined on $(L^{\infty})^n$. As in the previous examples, this aggregation function does not allow the compensation of losses of one firm with gains of another.

Example 5.3.4. Let us consider the piecewise linear convex aggregation function $\Lambda_{\text{plin}} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}_+$ defined by

$$\Lambda_{\text{plin}}(\bar{x}) := \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda(\bar{x}_i)$$

where $\lambda : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is given by

$$\lambda(x) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } x < 0\\ ax & \text{for } 0 \le x < c\\ b(x-c) + ac & \text{for } x \ge c \end{cases}$$

with 0 < a < b and c > 0. Again, this convex aggregation function is not positively homogeneous. Furthermore, by applying the aggregation function Λ_{plin} , we distinguish between losses being below or above the barrier c: If a loss increases above c, then we pay greater attention to those losses. This is implemented by increasing the slope of the convex aggregation function Λ_{plin} . The following example has already been discussed in Chen et al. (2013) and is motivated by the clearing model of Eisenberg and Noe (2001).

Example 5.3.5. Let us consider a financial network consisting of n nodes. These nodes represent the different firms that are interconnected by the matrix $\Pi = (\Pi_{ij})_{i,j \in \{1,...,n\}}$ denoting the interfirm liabilities. For every firm $i \in \{1,...,n\}$, Π_{ij} is the proportion of its total liabilities that firm i has to pay to firm j. We suppose that an external regulator is able to intervene in the system by injecting capital. As usual, we interpret $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ as the realized loss, i.e., \bar{x}_i represents the loss of firm $i \in \{1,...,n\}$. To cover these losses, each firm has two options: The first possibility is to receive money (the amount \bar{b}_i) from the regulator; the other possibility is to reduce payments to other firms (by \bar{y}_i). However, reducing the payments to other firms leads to new losses of these firms. More precisely, firm j additionally loses the amount $\Pi_{ij}\bar{y}_i$.

In this context, the following function measures the "net systemic cost of the contagion" (Chen et al. (2013), p. 1380):

$$\tilde{\Lambda}_{\mathrm{CM}}(\bar{x}) := \min_{(\bar{y},\bar{b})\in A^{\bar{x}}} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{y}_i + \gamma \bar{b}_i \right\} \quad \text{for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } \gamma > 1$$
(5.10)

where $A^{\bar{x}}$ is defined by

$$A^{\bar{x}} := \{ (\bar{y}, \bar{b}) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ \times \mathbb{R}^n_+ | \bar{b}_i + \bar{y}_i \ge \bar{x}_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \prod_{j \in \bar{y}_j} \bar{y}_j \text{ for all } i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \}.$$

Moreover, we can normalize $\Lambda_{\rm CM}$ to

$$\Lambda_{\rm CM}(\bar{x}) = \frac{\tilde{\Lambda}_{\rm CM}(\bar{x}) \cdot n}{\tilde{\Lambda}_{\rm CM}(1_n)} \quad \text{for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

By varying the parameter γ in Equation (5.10), a regulator can balance between losses arising from payment reductions between counterparties $(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{y}_i)$ and the costs of supporting the system by injecting new capital $(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{b}_i)$.

The function $\Lambda_{\rm CM}$ is a positively homogeneous aggregation function in the sense of Definition 5.1.3. This can be verified as follows:

The normalization property (A5) is obvious. To show positive homogeneity (A4), fix $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and a > 0. Then

$$a\tilde{\Lambda}_{\rm CM}(\bar{x}) = \min_{(\bar{z}/a,\bar{c}/a)\in A^{\bar{x}}} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{z}_i + \gamma \bar{c}_i \right\} = \tilde{\Lambda}_{\rm CM}(a\bar{x})$$

and $\tilde{\Lambda}_{CM}(0 \cdot \bar{x}) = \tilde{\Lambda}_{CM}(0_n) = 0 = 0 \cdot \tilde{\Lambda}_{CM}(\bar{x})$. Hence, $\tilde{\Lambda}_{CM}$ is positively homogeneous, which implies positive homogeneity of Λ_{CM} .

Now, note that if $\bar{x}, \bar{v} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\bar{x} \geq \bar{v}$, then $A^{\bar{x}} \subset A^{\bar{v}}$ since every $(\bar{y}, \bar{b}) \in A^{\bar{x}}$ satisfies $\bar{b}_i + \bar{y}_i - \sum_{j=1}^n \prod_{ji} \bar{y}_j \geq \bar{x}_i \geq \bar{v}_i$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. It follows directly that $\tilde{\Lambda}_{CM}(\bar{x}) \geq \tilde{\Lambda}_{CM}(\bar{v})$, which means that Λ_{CM} satisfies the monotonicity property (A1). Similarly, if $(\bar{z}, \bar{c}) \in A^{a\bar{x}}$ and $(\bar{w}, \bar{d}) \in A^{(1-a)\bar{v}}$ for $\bar{x}, \bar{v} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $a \in [0, 1]$, then the following inequality holds for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$:

$$(\bar{c}_i + \bar{d}_i) + (\bar{z}_i + \bar{w}_i) \ge a\bar{x}_i + (1-a)\bar{v}_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \prod_{j \in i} (\bar{z}_j + \bar{w}_j).$$

It follows that $(\bar{z} + \bar{w}, \bar{c} + \bar{d}) \in A^{a\bar{x} + (1-a)\bar{v}}$, and thus we obtain for all $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $a \in [0, 1]$ that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Lambda}_{\rm CM}(a\bar{x} + (1-a)\bar{v}) &= \min_{(\bar{y},\bar{b})\in A^{a\bar{x}+(1-a)\bar{v}}} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{y}_{i} + \gamma \bar{b}_{i} \right\} \\ &\leq \min_{(\bar{z},\bar{c})\in A^{a\bar{x}}, (\bar{w},\bar{d})\in A^{(1-a)\bar{v}}} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\bar{z}_{i} + \bar{w}_{i}) + \gamma (\bar{c}_{i} + \bar{d}_{i}) \right\} \\ &= \min_{(\bar{z},\bar{c})\in A^{a\bar{x}}} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{z}_{i} + \gamma \bar{c}_{i} \right\} + \min_{(\bar{w},\bar{d})\in A^{(1-a)\bar{v}}} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{w}_{i} + \gamma \bar{d}_{i} \right\} \\ &= a\tilde{\Lambda}_{\rm CM}(\bar{x}) + (1-a)\tilde{\Lambda}_{\rm CM}(\bar{v}). \end{split}$$

Therefore, $\Lambda_{\rm CM}$ satisfies the convexity property (A2).

5.4. Representations of systemic risk measures

This section is dedicated to different representation results for convex and positively homogeneous systemic risk measures. After defining the acceptance sets of a convex systemic risk measure, we first provide a primal representation which clarifies the connection between these acceptance sets and the convex systemic risk measure. Then, based on this primal representation, we deduce a dual representation result.

From now on, we consider convex [positively homogeneous] systemic risk measures $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ with convex [positively homogeneous] single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and convex [positively homogeneous] aggregation function Λ . This means $\operatorname{Im} \Lambda = \mathbb{R}$ or $\operatorname{Im} \Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\rho_0 : L^p \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$. Because of the decomposition results (see Theorem 5.2.1 and Corollary 5.2.3), ρ_0 satisfies constancy on \mathbb{R} in case of $\operatorname{Im} \Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+$.

Definition 5.4.1. The acceptance sets of the convex systemic risk measure $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ with convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and convex aggregation function Λ are given by

 $\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0} := \{ (r, X) \in \mathbb{R} \times L^p | r \ge \rho_0(X) \} \quad and \quad \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} := \{ (Y, \overline{Z}) \in L^p \times (L^p)^n | Y \ge \Lambda(\overline{Z}) \}.$

Before we study the connection between these acceptance sets and the corresponding convex systemic risk measure in detail, let us define the following properties for a subset of a linear vector space $\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$.

Definition 5.4.2. Let \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} be two linear spaces. A set $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$ satisfies the monotonicity property if $(x, y_1) \in \mathcal{S}$, $y_2 \in \mathcal{Y}$ and $y_1 \geq y_2$ imply $(x, y_2) \in \mathcal{S}$. A set $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$ satisfies the epigraph property if $(x_1, y) \in \mathcal{S}$, $x_2 \in \mathcal{X}$ and $x_2 \geq x_1$ imply $(x_2, y) \in \mathcal{S}$.

Proposition 5.4.3. Suppose that $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ is a convex systemic risk measure with convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and convex aggregation function Λ . Let \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{A}_{Λ} be the corresponding acceptance sets.

1. \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{A}_{Λ} satisfy the following properties:

- a) \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{A}_{Λ} satisfy the monotonicity property.
- b) \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{A}_{Λ} satisfy the epigraph property.
- c) \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{A}_{Λ} are convex sets.
- d) $(a,a) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ with $\inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r,a) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}\} = a$ for all $a \in \operatorname{Im} \Lambda$ and $(f_{\Lambda}(a), a1_n) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$ with essinf $\{Y \in L^p | (Y, a1_n) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}\} = f_{\Lambda}(a)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$.

If $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ is a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure, then the following properties are additionally satisfied:

- e) \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{A}_{Λ} are cones.
- f) $(n, 1_n) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$ with essinf $\{Y \in L^p | (Y, 1_n) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}\} = n$.
- 2. ρ admits the so called primal representation

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}, (Y, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}\} \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in (L^p)^n \quad (5.11)$$

where we set $\inf \emptyset := +\infty$.

Proof. The monotonicity properties, the epigraph properties, convexity and the properties in 1.d) follow directly from the properties of ρ_0 and A. Similarly, positive homogeneity and normalization of ρ_0 and Λ imply the additional properties in case of positively homogeneous systemic risk measures. It remains to prove the primal representation.

We know that ρ_0 is for all $X \in L^p$ representable by

$$\rho_0(X) = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | r \ge \rho_0(X)\} = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, X) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}\}.$$

Analogously, we obtain for all $\overline{Z} \in (L^p)^n$

$$\Lambda(\bar{Z}) = \operatorname{ess\,inf}\{Y \in L^p | Y \ge \Lambda(\bar{Z})\} = \operatorname{ess\,inf}\{Y \in L^p | (Y, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{A}_\Lambda\}.$$

Together with the equality $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$, the previous representations imply that for all $\overline{X} \in (L^p)^n$, we have

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | r \ge (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X})\} = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, \Lambda(\bar{X})) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}\} \\ = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, \operatorname{ess\,inf}\{Y \in L^p | (Y, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}\}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}\}.$$

Finally, representation (5.11) follows from the monotonicity property of \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} .

In the following proposition we start with subsets of $\mathbb{R} \times L^p$ and $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n$ and study in which cases these sets induce convex or positively homogeneous systemic risk measures.

Proposition 5.4.4. Assume that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{B} \subset \mathbb{R} \times L^p$ and $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C} \subset \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n$ and define

$$\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(X) := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, X) \in \mathcal{B}\} \quad \text{for } X \in L^p,$$
$$\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}(\bar{x}) := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, \bar{x}) \in \mathcal{C}\} \quad \text{for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Suppose that $\inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, X) \in \mathcal{B}\} > -\infty$ for all $X \in L^p$ and $\inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, \bar{x}) \in \mathcal{C}\} > -\infty$ for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Moreover, let \mathcal{B} be such that there exists $r \in \mathbb{R}$ with $(r, 0) \in \mathcal{B}$ and let \mathcal{C} be such that for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, there exists $r \in \mathbb{R}$ with $(r, \bar{x}) \in \mathcal{C}$. Then the following statements are satisfied:

- 1. If \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} satisfy the monotonicity property, then $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$ are monotone.
- 2. If \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are convex, then $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$ are convex.
- 3. If \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are cones, then $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$ are positively homogeneous.
- 4. If $(1,1) \in \mathcal{B}$ with $\inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r,1) \in \mathcal{B}\} = 1$ and $(n,1_n) \in \mathcal{C}$ with $\inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r,1_n) \in \mathcal{C}\} = n$, then $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$ are normalized.
- 5. If $(a, a) \in \mathcal{B}$ and $\inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, a) \in \mathcal{B}\} = a$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$, then $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(a) = a$.
- 6. Define $f_{\mathcal{C}}(a) := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, a1_n) \in \mathcal{C}\}\$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and suppose that the function $f_{\mathcal{C}} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is surjective. Then $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$ satisfies f_{Λ} -constancy with $f_{\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}} = f_{\mathcal{C}}$.

In particular, if \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} satisfy all of the properties from 1.-5., then $\rho^{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{C}} : (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ defined by

$$\rho^{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{C}}(\bar{X}) := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r,Y) \in \mathcal{B}, (Y,\bar{X}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}}\} \quad for \ \bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$$
(5.12)

(where $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}}$ is the acceptance set of $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$) is a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure with $\rho^{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{C}} = \rho_0^{\mathcal{B}} \circ \Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$. If \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} satisfy the properties from 1., 2., 5. and 6. and $\|f_{\mathcal{C}}(Z)\|_p < \infty$ and $\|f_{\mathcal{C}}^{-1}(Z)\|_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p$, then $\rho^{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{C}}$ defined in (5.12) is a convex systemic risk measure with $\rho^{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{C}} = \rho_0^{\mathcal{B}} \circ \Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$.

Furthermore, \mathcal{B} is a subset of $\mathcal{A}_{\rho^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}}$, and \mathcal{C} is a subset of $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}}$.

Proof. First, let \mathcal{B} satisfy the monotonicity property and consider $X, Y \in L^p$ with $X \geq Y$. Then

$$\left\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, X) \in \mathcal{B}\right\} \subset \left\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, Y) \in \mathcal{B}\right\},\$$

which implies that $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(X) \ge \rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(Y)$. If the set \mathcal{B} is convex, then it follows for $X, Y \in L^p$ and $a \in [0, 1]$ that

$$\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(aX + (1-a)Y) = \inf \left\{ ax + (1-a)y \in \mathbb{R} \, | \, a(x,X) + (1-a)(y,Y) \in \mathcal{B} \right\}$$

$$\leq \inf \left\{ ax + (1-a)y \in \mathbb{R} \, | \, (x,X) \, , (y,Y) \in \mathcal{B} \right\} = a\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(X) + (1-a)\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(Y) \, .$$

This means that $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}$ is convex. Now, suppose that \mathcal{B} is a cone and let a > 0 and $X \in L^p$. Then we have

$$\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(aX) = \inf \left\{ ar \in \mathbb{R} \, | (ar, aX) \in \mathcal{B} \right\} \le \inf \left\{ ar \in \mathbb{R} \, | (r, X) \in \mathcal{B} \right\} = a\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(X) \,.$$

For the other inequality consider $x < \rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(X) = \inf \{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, X) \in \mathcal{B}\}$. Then $(r, X) \notin \mathcal{B}$, and thus $(ax, aX) \notin \mathcal{B}$. It follows that $ax < \rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(aX)$ and finally

 $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(aX) = a\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(X)$. In conclusion, $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}$ satisfies $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(aX) = a\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(X)$ for all $X \in L^p$ and a > 0. This implies $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(0) = \rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(a \cdot 0) = a\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(0)$ for all a > 0. Since $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(0) < \infty$ due to the assumptions on \mathcal{B} , this means that $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(0) = 0$. Altogether, $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}$ is positively homogeneous.

By using the same arguments, we can show that $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$ inherits monotonicity, convexity and positive homogeneity from the corresponding properties of \mathcal{C} .

Note that part 4, part 5 and part 6 are trivial and that the assumptions on \mathcal{C} imply that $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}(\bar{x}) = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, \bar{x}) \in \mathcal{C}\} \in \mathbb{R}$ for every $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Now, suppose that all of the properties from 1.-5. are satisfied. Then we can consider $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$ as a mapping on $(L^p)^n$ that maps into L^p , and the composition of $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}$ leads to

$$(\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}} \circ \Lambda^{\mathcal{C}})(\bar{X}) = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, \Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}(\bar{X})) \in \mathcal{B}\} = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, \operatorname{ess\,inf}\{Y \in L^p | (Y, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}}\}) \in \mathcal{B}\} = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, Y) \in \mathcal{B}, (Y, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}}\}$$
(5.13)

for $\bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$. Remark 5.2.4 implies that $\rho^{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{C}}$ is a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure. Similarly, if the properties from 1., 2., 5. and 6. are satisfied and $\|f_{\mathcal{C}}(Z)\|_p < \infty$ and $\|f_{\mathcal{C}}^{-1}(Z)\|_p < \infty$ for all $Z \in L^p$, then it follows from (5.13) and Theorem 5.2.1 that $\rho^{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{C}}$ is a convex systemic risk measure.

It remains to show that $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}}$ and $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}}$. To this end, consider $(x, X) \in \mathcal{B}$. By definition of $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}$, this implies $\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(X) \leq x$. Since $\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}} = \{(r, X) \in \mathbb{R} \times L^p | r \geq \rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}(X)\}$, we can conclude that $(x, X) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0^{\mathcal{B}}}$. The inclusion $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda^{\mathcal{C}}}$ is verified analogously.

The dual representation of convex systemic risk measures requires additional continuity properties of the convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and the convex aggregation function Λ . More precisely, ρ_0 is supposed to be lower semicontinuous and Λ , considered as a mapping on $(L^p)^n$, is supposed to be continuous. Note that in Chen et al. (2013) single-firm risk measures are convex functions from $\mathbb{R}^{|\Omega|}$ to \mathbb{R} and aggregation functions map from $\mathbb{R}^{n \times |\Omega|}$ into \mathbb{R} where Ω is a finite probability space. Since all finite, convex functions on \mathbb{R}^m , $m \in \mathbb{N}$, are continuous, Chen et al. (2013) do not need to claim any additional properties in their dual representation result.

In the subsequent theorem we consider the dual representation result for convex systemic risk measures. Thereafter, the positively homogeneous case can be deduced as a special case. In what follows, we need the indicator function $\iota_{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ defined by

$$\iota_{\mathcal{E}}(x) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } x \in \mathcal{E} \\ \infty & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

where $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{X}$ is a subset of a linear vector space \mathcal{X} .

Theorem 5.4.5. Suppose that $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ is a convex systemic risk measure characterized by a l.s.c. convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and a convex aggregation function Λ that is continuous on $(L^p)^n$. Then ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \sup_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in(L^p)^*\times((L^p)^n)^*} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i] - \alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \right\} \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in (L^p)^n \quad (5.14)$$

where $\alpha_n : (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^* \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ is given by

$$\alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}) := \sup_{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}, (V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}} \left\{ -r + \mathbb{E}[(Y-V)\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i\bar{\xi}_i] \right\}.$$
 (5.15)

In addition, a feasible solution $(\xi, \overline{\xi}) \in (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^*$ to optimization problem (5.14) satisfies

$$\xi \ge 0$$
, $\mathbb{E}[\xi] \le 1$ and $\xi \ge 0$.

If additionally $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$, then we obtain $\mathbb{E}[\xi] = 1$.

Remark. Note that in case of $p = \infty$, $\mathbb{E}[\xi] \leq 1$ means $\int 1d\xi = \xi[\Omega] \leq 1$. If additionally $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$, then we obtain $\xi[\Omega] = 1$, which means that $\xi : \mathcal{F} \to [0, 1]$ is a finitely additive set function which is absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbb{P} and normalized to 1. In other words, $\xi \in \mathcal{M}_{1,f}(\mathbb{P})$. In case of $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ and $1 \leq p < \infty$, the first component of a feasible solution $(\xi, \overline{\xi})$ to (5.14) represents a density function.

Proof. Fix $X \in (L^p)^n$. *Part 1:* First of all, we will verify representation (5.14). Since every convex systemic risk measure admits the primal representation from Proposition 5.4.3, we have

$$\rho(X) = \inf \{ r \in \mathbb{R} | (r, Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}, (Y, X) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} \}$$

=
$$\inf_{(r, Y) \in \mathbb{R} \times L^p} \{ r + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}} (r, Y) + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}} (Y, \bar{X}) \}$$

By definition, the convex conjugate $\iota^*_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}} : \mathbb{R} \times (L^p)^* \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ of $\iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}$ satisfies

$$\iota_{\mathcal{A}\rho_{0}}^{*}(-x,\xi) = \sup_{(r,Y)\in\mathbb{R}\times L^{p}} \{-rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}\rho_{0}}(r,Y)\} = \sup_{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{A}\rho_{0}} \{-rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi]\}$$

for $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R} \times (L^p)^*$. Note that $\iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}$ is convex because \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} is convex. Moreover, since ρ_0 is assumed to be l.s.c., we know that $\iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}$ is closed. It follows from the duality theorem for conjugate functions (see Theorem A.2.9) that

$$\iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_{0}}}(r,Y) = \sup_{(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R} \times (L^{p})^{*}} \{ rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_{0}}}^{*}(x,\xi) \}$$
$$= \sup_{(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R} \times (L^{p})^{*}} \{ -rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_{0}}}^{*}(-x,\xi) \}$$

for all $(r, Y) \in \mathbb{R} \times L^p$. Similarly, the convex conjugate $\iota^*_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}} : (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^* \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ of $\iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}$ satisfies

$$\iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^{*}(-\psi,\bar{\xi}) = \sup_{(V,\bar{Z})\in L^{p}\times(L^{p})^{n}} \left\{ -\mathbb{E}[V\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}(V,\bar{Z}) \right\}$$
$$= \sup_{(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}} \left\{ -\mathbb{E}[V\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}] \right\}$$

for $(-\psi, \bar{\xi}) \in (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^*$. Furthermore, the continuity property of Λ implies closedness of \mathcal{A}_{Λ} , which means that the convex function $\iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}$ is closed. Therefore,

$$\iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}(Y,\bar{X}) = \sup_{(\psi,\bar{\xi})\in(L^p)^*\times((L^p)^n)^*} \left\{ -\mathbb{E}[Y\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^*(-\psi,\bar{\xi}) \right\}$$

for $(Y, \overline{X}) \in L^p \times (L^p)^n$. Together, we obtain that the systemic risk measure ρ satisfies

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \inf_{(r,Y)\in\mathbb{R}\times L^{p}} \{r + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_{0}}}(r,Y) + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}(Y,\bar{X})\}$$

$$= \inf_{(r,Y)\in\mathbb{R}\times L^{p}} \sup_{\substack{(x,\xi)\in\mathbb{R}\times(L^{p})^{*}, \\ (\psi,\bar{\xi})\in(L^{p})^{*}\times((L^{p})^{n})^{*}}} \{r - rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] - \mathbb{E}[Y\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}]$$

$$- \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_{0}}}^{*}(-x,\xi) - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^{*}(-\psi,\bar{\xi})\}$$

$$= \sup_{\substack{(x,\xi)\in\mathbb{R}\times(L^{p})^{*}, \\ (\psi,\bar{\xi})\in(L^{p})^{*}\times((L^{p})^{n})^{*}}} \inf_{(r,Y)\in\mathbb{R}\times L^{p}} \{r - rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] - \mathbb{E}[Y\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}]$$

$$- \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_{0}}}^{*}(-x,\xi) - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^{*}(-\psi,\bar{\xi})\}\}$$

$$= \sup_{\substack{(1,\xi)\in\mathbb{R}\times(L^{p})^{*}, \\ (\xi,\bar{\xi})\in(L^{p})^{*}\times((L^{p})^{n})^{*}}} \{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_{0}}}^{*}(-1,\xi) - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^{*}(-\xi,\bar{\xi})\}\}.$$
(5.16)

We are allowed to interchange infimum and supremum in (5.16) due to Lemma 5.4.6. Representation (5.14) follows directly from

$$\iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}^*(-1,\xi) + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^*(-\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \sup_{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0},(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}} \left\{ -r + \mathbb{E}[(Y-V)\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i\bar{\xi}_i] \right\}$$
$$= \alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}).$$

Part 2: In this part of the proof we will verify the claimed properties of feasible solutions to optimization problem (5.14). In case of $p < \infty$, assume that there exists $A \in \mathcal{F}$ with $\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$ and $\xi < 0$ on A. We will show that this implies $\alpha_n(\xi, \overline{\xi}) = \infty$: Consider an arbitrary element $(r, Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ and define $Z_{(Y,m)} \in L^p$ for $m \in \mathbb{N}$ by $Z_{(Y,m)} := (-|Y| - m)I_A + YI_{A^c}$. Since $Y \geq Z_{(Y,m)}$, the monotonicity property of \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} yields $(r, Z_{(Y,m)}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, we have

$$\mathbb{E}[Z_{(Y,m)}\xi] = \mathbb{E}[(-|Y|-m)\xi I_A] + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi I_{A^c}] = \mathbb{E}[(-|Y|-m)\xi|A]\mathbb{P}[A] + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi I_{A^c}].$$

Because $\mathbb{E}[(-|Y|-m)\xi|A]\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$ and $\mathbb{E}[Y\xi I_{A^c}] \in \mathbb{R}$, letting m tend to ∞ leads to $\lim_{m\to\infty} \mathbb{E}[Z_{(Y,m)}\xi] = \infty$, and therefore $\alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \infty$. In conclusion, it suffices to consider $\xi \ge 0$ in optimization problem (5.14).

Similarly, considering an element $\bar{\xi} \in (L^p)^n$ that satisfies $\bar{\xi}_j < 0$ on a set $A \in \mathcal{F}$ with $\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$ for $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ leads to $\alpha_n(\xi, \bar{\xi}) = \infty$. This means that $\bar{\xi} \ge 0$.

If $p = \infty$, assume that there exists $A \in \mathcal{F}$ with $\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$ and $\xi[A] < 0$. Consider again an arbitrary element $(r, Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ and define $Z_{(Y,m)} \in L^{\infty}$ by $Z_{(Y,m)} :=$ $(-\|Y\|_{\infty} - m)I_A - \|Y\|_{\infty}I_{A^c}(\leq Y)$. The monotonicity property of \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} implies that $(r, Z_{(Y,m)}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Furthermore, we have $\int Z_{(Y,m)}d\xi = (-\|Y\|_{\infty} - m)\xi[A] - \|Y\|_{\infty}\xi[A^c]$, and boundedness of ξ yields $|\xi[A^c]| \leq M_{(\xi)}$ for some $M_{(\xi)} \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, we obtain $\lim_{m\to\infty} \int Z_{(Y,m)}d\xi = \infty$, which implies $\alpha_n(\xi, \bar{\xi}) = \infty$. In conclusion, we only have to consider $\xi \geq 0$. $\bar{\xi} \geq 0$ follows analogously.

From now on, let $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Assume that $\xi \in (L^p)^*$ is such that $-1 + \mathbb{E}[\xi] > 0$. From the constancy property of ρ_0 we know that $(\lambda, \lambda) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ for all $\lambda > 0$. Moreover, we have $\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} (-\lambda + \mathbb{E}[\lambda\xi]) = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} (\lambda(-1 + \mathbb{E}[\xi])) = \infty$, which implies that $\alpha_n(\xi, \overline{\xi}) = \infty$. Therefore, it suffices to consider $\xi \in (L^p)^*$ with $\mathbb{E}[\xi] \leq 1$.

Finally, suppose that $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ and let $\xi \in (L^p)^*$ be such that $1 - \mathbb{E}[\xi] > 0$. The constancy property of ρ_0 implies that $(-\lambda, -\lambda) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ for every $\lambda > 0$. Furthermore, we have $\lim_{\lambda\to\infty} (\lambda - \mathbb{E}[\lambda\xi]) = \lim_{\lambda\to\infty} (\lambda(1 - \mathbb{E}[\xi])) = \infty$. Together, it follows that $\alpha_n(\xi, \overline{\xi}) = \infty$, and hence $\mathbb{E}[\xi] \ge 1$.

Lemma 5.4.6. Suppose that the requirements from Theorem 5.4.5 are satisfied. Define $\mathcal{X} := \mathbb{R} \times L^p$ and $\mathcal{U} := \mathbb{R} \times L^p \times L^p \times (L^p)^n$ and consider the paired spaces $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X}^*)$ and $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}^*)$. If $1 , the spaces <math>\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X}^*, \mathcal{U}$ and \mathcal{U}^* are endowed with the corresponding norm topology. If $p \in \{1, \infty\}$, then we endow \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{U} with the corresponding norm topology and \mathcal{X}^* and \mathcal{U}^* are endowed with the weak* topologies $\sigma(\mathcal{X}^*, \mathcal{X})$ and $\sigma(\mathcal{U}^*, \mathcal{U})$, respectively. Let $\overline{X} \in (L^p)^n$ and $K : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{U}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be defined by

$$K((r,Y)(x,\xi,\psi,\bar{\xi})) := r - rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] - \mathbb{E}[Y\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}^*(-x,\xi) - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^*(-\psi,\bar{\xi}).$$

Then we have

$$\inf_{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{X}}\sup_{(x,\xi,\psi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}^*}K((r,Y),(x,\xi,\psi,\bar{\xi})) = \sup_{(x,\xi,\psi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}^*}\inf_{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{X}}K((r,Y),(x,\xi,\psi,\bar{\xi})).$$

Proof. Fix $X \in (L^p)^n$. First, note that for every $(r, Y) \in \mathcal{X}$, $K((r, Y), \cdot)$ is upper semicontinuous (u.s.c.): This follows from continuity of the linear functional $(x, \xi, \psi, \bar{\xi}) \mapsto r - rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] - \mathbb{E}[Y\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i \bar{\xi}_i]$ and closedness (lower semicontinuity) of $\iota^*_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}$ and $\iota^*_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}$; see, for instance, Theorem 5 in Rockafellar (1974) (see Theorem A.2.9). Moreover, K is concave in the second argument since $(x, \xi, \psi, \bar{\xi}) \mapsto r - rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] - \mathbb{E}[Y\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i \bar{\xi}_i]$ is linear and $\iota^*_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}$ and $\iota^*_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}$ are convex; see again Theorem 5 in Rockafellar (1974). By Theorem 6 in Rockafellar (1974) (see Theorem A.2.12), K is the Lagrangian of the minimization problem "minimize f over \mathcal{X} " where f is given by $f(r, Y) = F((r, Y), 0_{n+3})$ for $F : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{U} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ defined by

$$F((r,Y),(s,V,X,Z))$$

$$:= \sup_{(x,\xi,\psi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}^*} \left\{ K((r,Y),(x,\xi,\psi,\bar{\xi})) - sx - \mathbb{E}[V\xi] - \mathbb{E}[X\psi] - \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i\bar{\xi}_i] \right\}.$$

Moreover, Theorem 6 in Rockafellar (1974) states that $F((r, Y), \cdot)$ is closed and convex. In addition, F satisfies for $(r, Y) \in \mathcal{X}$ and $(s, V, X, \overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{U}$

$$\begin{split} F((r,Y),(s,V,X,Z)) &= \sup_{(x,\xi,\psi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}^*} \left\{ r - rx + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] - \mathbb{E}[Y\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}^* (-x,\xi) - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^* (-\psi,\bar{\xi}) \\ &- sx - \mathbb{E}[V\xi] - \mathbb{E}[X\psi] - \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i\bar{\xi}_i] \right\} \\ &= r + \sup_{(x,\xi,\psi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}^*} \left\{ -(r+s)x + \mathbb{E}[(Y-V)\xi] - \mathbb{E}[(Y+X)\psi] \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[(\bar{X}_i - \bar{Z}_i)\bar{\xi}_i] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}^* (-x,\xi) - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^* (-\psi,\bar{\xi}) \right\} \\ &= r + \sup_{(x,\xi)\in\mathbb{R}\times(L^p)^*} \left\{ -(r+s)x + \mathbb{E}[(Y-V)\xi] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}^* (-x,\xi) \right\} \\ &+ \sup_{(\psi,\bar{\xi})\in(L^p)^*\times((L^p)^n)^*} \left\{ -\mathbb{E}[(Y+X)\psi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[(\bar{X}_i - \bar{Z}_i)\bar{\xi}_i] - \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}^* (-\psi,\bar{\xi}) \right\} \\ &= r + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}(r+s,Y-V) + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}(Y+X,\bar{X}-\bar{Z}). \end{split}$$

Hence, F is convex in both arguments. Define the convex function φ by

$$\begin{split} \varphi(s,V,X,\bar{Z}) &:= \inf_{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{X}} F((r,Y),(s,V,X,\bar{Z})) \\ &= \inf_{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{X}} \{r + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}(r+s,Y-V) + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}(Y+X,\bar{X}-\bar{Z})\} \end{split}$$

for $(s, V, X, \overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{U}$. Since $\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0} = \{(r, X) \in \mathbb{R} \times L^p | r \ge \rho_0(X)\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} = \{(Y, \overline{Z}) \in L^p \times (L^p)^n | Y \ge \Lambda(\overline{Z})\}$, we obtain for φ that

$$\begin{split} \varphi(s,V,X,\bar{Z}) &= \inf_{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{X}} \{r + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}(r+s,Y-V) + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}}(Y+X,\bar{X}-\bar{Z})\} \\ &= \inf_{r\in\mathbb{R}} \{r + \iota_{\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}}(r+s,\Lambda(\bar{X}-\bar{Z})-X-V)\} \\ &= \rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X}-\bar{Z})-X-V) - s. \end{split}$$

Note that $\rho_0(0) = 0$ because ρ_0 satisfies the constancy property. This implies that $\varphi(0, 0, \Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}), \bar{Z}) = 0$, and therefore φ is proper. It follows that φ is closed if φ is l.s.c. Hence, if we can show that φ is l.s.c., then it follows from Theorem 7 in Rockafellar (1974) (see Theorem A.2.13) that we are allowed to interchange supremum and infimum. We will show that the function $\varrho: (V, X, \bar{Z}) \mapsto \rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}) - X - V)$ is l.s.c., which implies the desired lower semicontinuity property of φ immediately. Consider a sequence $(V_{(m)}, X_{(m)}, \bar{Z}_{(m)}) \subset L^p \times L^p \times (L^p)^n$ with $(V_{(m)}, X_{(m)}, \bar{Z}_{(m)}) \to (V, X, \bar{Z})$ in $L^p \times L^p \times (L^p)^n$. Because $\bar{X} - \bar{Z}_{(m)} \to \bar{X} - \bar{Z}$ in $(L^p)^n$, the continuity property of Λ implies $\Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}_{(m)}) \to \Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z})$ in L^p . As a consequence, we have

$$\Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}_{(m)}) - X_{(m)} - V_{(m)} \to \Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}) - X - V \quad \text{in } L^p.$$

Finally, lower semicontinuity of ρ_0 yields

$$\varrho(V, X, \bar{Z}) = \rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}) - X - V)$$

$$\leq \liminf_{m \to \infty} \rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}_{(m)}) - X_{(m)} - V_{(m)}) = \liminf_{m \to \infty} \varrho(V_{(m)}, X_{(m)}, \bar{Z}_{(m)}),$$

which means that ρ is l.s.c.

Remark 5.4.7. Theorem 5.4.5 holds for convex aggregation functions Λ satisfying L^p -continuity. Alternatively, we could claim 1-Lipschitz continuity for $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ because this property implies the required L^p -continuity.

This implication can be verified as follows: Suppose that the convex aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is 1-Lipschitz continuous, i.e., $|\Lambda(\bar{x}) - \Lambda(\bar{y})| \leq ||\bar{x} - \bar{y}|| = \sum_{i=1}^n |\bar{x}_i - \bar{y}_i|$ for all $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and consider a sequence $(\bar{X}_{(m)}) \subset (L^p)^n$ with $\bar{X}_{(m)} \to \bar{X}$ in L^p . First, let us suppose that $p < \infty$. Since Λ is measurable, 1-Lipschitz continuity and Hölder's inequality yield

$$|\Lambda(\bar{X}_{(m)}) - \Lambda(\bar{X})| \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} |(\bar{X}_{(m)})_i - \bar{X}_i| \le n^{(p-1)/p} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} |(\bar{X}_{(m)})_i - \bar{X}_i|^p\right)^{1/p}$$

As a consequence, we obtain

$$\|\Lambda(\bar{X}_{(m)}) - \Lambda(\bar{X})\|_{p}^{p} = \mathbb{E}[|\Lambda(\bar{X}_{(m)}) - \Lambda(\bar{X})|^{p}]$$

$$\leq n^{p-1} \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} |(\bar{X}_{(m)})_{i} - \bar{X}_{i}|^{p}\right] = n^{p-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|(\bar{X}_{(m)})_{i} - \bar{X}_{i}\|_{p}^{p}.$$

Now, let $p = \infty$. Then $|\Lambda(\bar{X}_{(m)}) - \Lambda(\bar{X})| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} |(\bar{X}_{(m)})_i - \bar{X}_i|$ and $||Y||_{\infty} = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} ||Y| \leq r\}$ for $Y \in L^{\infty}$ imply

$$\|\Lambda(\bar{X}_{(m)}) - \Lambda(\bar{X})\|_{\infty} \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|(\bar{X}_{(m)})_{i} - \bar{X}_{i}\|_{\infty}.$$

Thus, $\|\bar{X}_{(m)} - \bar{X}\|_p \to 0$ leads to $\|\Lambda(\bar{X}_{(m)}) - \Lambda(\bar{X})\|_p \to 0$ for all $p \in [1, \infty]$, which means that Λ is L^p -continuous.

The following remark connects the previous theorem with the positively homogeneous special case.

Remark 5.4.8. Suppose that the function $f_{\Lambda} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ (see property (A3)) is positively homogeneous. Note that this does not automatically imply positive homogeneity of the corresponding convex aggregation function Λ . Then every feasible solution $(\xi, \overline{\xi}) \in (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^*$ to optimization problem (5.14) additionally satisfies

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{\xi}_i] \le f_{\Lambda}(1)\mathbb{E}[\xi].$$
(5.17)

The proof of this inequality is similar to the proof of $\mathbb{E}[\xi] \leq 1$: Suppose that $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^*$ is such that $-f_{\Lambda}(1)\mathbb{E}[\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{\xi}_i] > 0$. Since $\Lambda(\lambda \mathbf{1}_n) = f_{\Lambda}(\lambda) =$

 $\lambda f_{\Lambda}(1)$, we have $(\lambda f_{\Lambda}(1), \lambda 1_n) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$ for every $\lambda > 0$. Hence, $\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} (-\mathbb{E}[\lambda f_{\Lambda}(1)\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\lambda \bar{\xi}_i]) = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} (\lambda(-f_{\Lambda}(1)\mathbb{E}[\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{\xi}_i])) = \infty$ implies that $\alpha_n(\xi, \bar{\xi}) = \infty$. As a consequence, we only have to consider $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^*$ with (5.17).

If we additionally assume that Λ is positively homogeneous, then it follows from the normalization property that $f_{\Lambda}(1) = \Lambda(1_n) = n$. Therefore, in case of a positively homogeneous aggregation function Λ , we obtain

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{\xi}_i] \le n \mathbb{E}[\xi]$$

for every feasible solution to optimization problem (5.14).

In the following dual representation result for positively homogeneous systemic risk measures the following sets play a key role:

$$\mathcal{A}^*_{\rho_0} := \{ (x, \psi) \in \mathbb{R} \times (L^p)^* | rx - \mathbb{E}[Y\psi] \ge 0 \text{ for all } (r, Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0} \},\$$
$$\mathcal{A}^*_{\Lambda} := \left\{ (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^* \left| \mathbb{E}[V\xi] - \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i \bar{\xi}_i] \ge 0 \text{ for all } (V, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} \right\}.$$

Theorem 5.4.9. Suppose that $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ is a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure characterized by a l.s.c. positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and a positively homogeneous aggregation function Λ that is continuous on $(L^p)^n$. Then ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \sup_{(1,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}^*_{\rho_0}, (\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}^*_{\Lambda}} \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i] \quad \text{for all } \bar{X}\in(L^p)^n.$$
(5.18)

In addition, a feasible solution $(\xi, \overline{\xi})$ to this optimization problem satisfies

$$\xi \ge 0$$
, $\mathbb{E}[\xi] \le 1$, $\bar{\xi} \ge 0$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{\xi}_i] \le n \mathbb{E}[\xi]$.

If additionally $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$, then we obtain $\mathbb{E}[\xi] = 1$.

Proof. Since every positively homogeneous systemic risk measure ρ which is a composition of a positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and a positively homogeneous aggregation function Λ is also a convex systemic risk measure which is a composition of the convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and the convex aggregation function Λ , we can apply the convex dual representation result (see Theorem 5.4.5). As a consequence, ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \sup_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in(L^p)^*\times((L^p)^n)^*} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i] - \alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \right\} \quad \text{for all } \bar{X}\in(L^p)^n$$

where $\alpha_n : (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^* \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ is given by

$$\alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \sup_{(r,Y)\in\mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}, (V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}} \left\{ -r + \mathbb{E}[(Y-V)\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i\bar{\xi}_i] \right\}.$$
According to Proposition 5.4.3, positive homogeneity of ρ_0 and Λ implies that \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{A}_{Λ} are cones. Then we can easily verify that

$$\alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } (1,\xi) \in \mathcal{A}^*_{\rho_0} \text{ and } (\xi,\bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}^*_{\Lambda} \\ \infty & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

In case of $(1,\xi) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}^*$ and $(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}^*$, we have $-r + \mathbb{E}[(Y-V)\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i\bar{\xi}_i] \leq 0$ for all $(r,Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ and $(V,\bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$. Since $\rho_0(0) = 0$ and $\Lambda(0_n) = 0$, we obtain $\alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = 0$. On the other hand, suppose that $(1,\xi) \notin \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}^*$. Then there exists $(r,Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ such that $-r + \mathbb{E}[Y\xi] > 0$. Moreover, we have $\lambda(r,Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$ for $\lambda \geq 0$ because \mathcal{A}_{ρ_0} is a cone. But this implies that $\alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \infty$. The same argumentation applies if we suppose that $(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \notin \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}^*$.

Since (5.19) leads to representation (5.18), it remains to prove the assertions for feasible solutions to optimization problem (5.18). But these follow from Theorem 5.4.5 and Remark 5.4.8, which completes the proof.

Remark 5.4.10. According to Corollary 2.3 in Kaina and Rüschendorf (2009), convex single-firm risk measures ρ_0 on L^{∞} that satisfy monotonicity (R1), convexity (R2), the translation property (R3) and $\rho_0(0) = 0$ are finite and continuous on L^{∞} . Consequently, if we consider convex systemic risk measures $\rho = \Lambda \circ \rho_0$ on $(L^{\infty})^n$ in conjunction with single-firm risk measures ρ_0 satisfying the translation property, then we do not require any additional continuity property of ρ_0 in Theorem 5.4.5 and Theorem 5.4.9.

We are interested in the relationship between the dual representation of ρ , in particular the $\bar{\xi}$ -component of a feasible solution ($\xi, \bar{\xi}$) to (5.18), and the subdifferential of ρ specified in the following definition.

Definition 5.4.11. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and suppose that $v : (L^p)^m \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ is proper and convex. The subdifferential of v at $\overline{X} \in \operatorname{dom} v$ is defined as the set

$$\begin{aligned} \partial v(\bar{X}) &:= \left\{ \bar{\xi} \in ((L^p)^m)^* \left| \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E}[(\bar{Y}_i - \bar{X}_i)\bar{\xi}_i] \le v(\bar{Y}) - v(\bar{X}) \text{ for all } \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^m \right\} \right. \\ &= \left\{ \bar{\xi} \in ((L^p)^m)^* \left| \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i\bar{\xi}_i] + v(\bar{X}) \le v(\bar{X} + \bar{Z}) \text{ for all } \bar{Z} \in (L^p)^m \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

If $\bar{\xi} \in \partial v(\bar{X})$, then $\bar{\xi}$ is called subgradient of v at $\bar{X} \in \operatorname{dom} v$. The function v is called subdifferentiable at $\bar{X} \in \operatorname{dom} v$ if $\partial v(\bar{X}) \neq \emptyset$.

Corollary 5.4.12. Let ρ be a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure characterized by a l.s.c. positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and a positively homogeneous aggregation function Λ that is continuous on $(L^p)^n$. Fix an arbitrary economy $\bar{X} \in \text{dom }\rho$. Then for every optimal solution $(\xi^o, \bar{\xi}^o)$ to (5.18), $\bar{\xi}^o$ is a subgradient of ρ at \bar{X} , i.e., $\bar{\xi}^o \in \partial \rho(\bar{X})$. *Proof.* Fix $\overline{X} \in \text{dom } \rho$ and let $(\xi^o, \overline{\xi}^o)$ be an optimal solution to (5.18). The assertion holds since we have for every $\overline{Y} \in (L^p)^n$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[(\bar{Y}_{i} - \bar{X}_{i})\bar{\xi}_{i}^{o}] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{Y}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}^{o}] - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}^{o}] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{Y}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}^{o}] - \rho(\bar{X}) \le \rho(\bar{Y}) - \rho(\bar{X}).$$

5.5. Risk attribution

In this section we return to the problem of risk attribution, i.e., we are interested in the question of what fraction each firm contributes to the systemic risk of the whole financial system. We will see that the dual representation results from the previous section provide a possible solution to this problem.

Before we discuss this specific risk attribution method in detail, let us formally define the term systemic risk attribution in our setting. Similar definitions can be found in the traditional portfolio framework; see, for instance, Denault (2001), Tasche (2004), Kalkbrener (2005), Cheridito and Kromer (2011) and Kromer and Overbeck (2014).

Definition 5.5.1. Let us consider a network of n firms and fix a convex systemic risk measure ρ . A systemic risk attribution of $\overline{X} \in \text{dom }\rho$ is a vector $k(\overline{X}) = (k_1(\overline{X}), \ldots, k_n(\overline{X})) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ where $k_i(\overline{X})$ represents the systemic risk attributed to firm $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. The systemic risk attribution $k(\overline{X})$ satisfies the full allocation property (with respect to ρ) if

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} k_i(\bar{X}).$$

The full allocation property states that the risk which is attributed to the different firms adds up to the systemic risk contained in the entire financial system. Because we try to answer the question of what fraction is caused by which firm in the financial system, this full allocation property is clearly a desirable property of systemic risk attributions.

In the following, we propose a possible risk attribution method for both the positively homogeneous and the convex case.

Positively homogeneous case: Let $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ be a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure with corresponding positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and positively homogeneous aggregation function Λ and fix an economy $\overline{X} \in \text{dom } \rho$. Moreover, let us consider the case in which there exists an optimal solution $(\xi^o, \overline{\xi}^o)$ to dual problem (5.18), i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \sup_{(1,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}^*_{\rho_0}, (\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}^*_{\Lambda}} \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i] = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}^o_i].$$

Then, based on the idea in Chen et al. (2013), we can define a systemic risk attribution by

$$k(\bar{X}) := k(\bar{X}, \bar{\xi}^o) := (k_1(\bar{X}, \bar{\xi}^o), \dots, k_n(\bar{X}, \bar{\xi}^o))$$

where the risk attributed to firm $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ is given by

$$k_i(\bar{X}, \bar{\xi}^o) := \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i \bar{\xi}_i^o]. \tag{5.20}$$

Obviously, the systemic risk attribution defined above is unique if the corresponding optimal solution to (5.18) is unique, and the definition of $k(\bar{X}, \bar{\xi}^o)$ leads to

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} k_i(\bar{X}, \bar{\xi}^o).$$

Thus, the full allocation property with respect to ρ is satisfied.

Convex case: Let $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ be a convex systemic risk measure with corresponding convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and convex aggregation function Λ and fix again an economy $\bar{X} \in \text{dom }\rho$. Now, consider the case in which there exists an optimal solution $(\xi^o, \bar{\xi}^o)$ to dual problem (5.14), i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \sup_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in(L^p)^*\times((L^p)^n)^*} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i] - \alpha_n(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i^o] - \alpha_n(\xi^o,\bar{\xi}^o).$$

A similar risk attribution method to (5.20) that satisfies the full allocation property can be defined by

$$k(\bar{X}) := k(\bar{X}, \xi^{o}, \bar{\xi}^{o}) := (k_{1}(\bar{X}, \xi^{o}, \bar{\xi}^{o}), \dots, k_{n}(\bar{X}, \xi^{o}, \bar{\xi}^{o}))$$

where the risk attributed to firm $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ is given by

$$k_i(\bar{X},\xi^o,\bar{\xi}^o) := \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i^o] - \gamma_i\alpha_n(\xi^o,\bar{\xi}^o).$$
(5.21)

Here, $\gamma_i \in \mathbb{R}$ are chosen such that $\sum_{i=1}^n \gamma_i = 1$.

In the following, we generalize Theorem 4 in Chen et al. (2013) for positively homogenous systemic risk measures on general probability spaces. This result is closely related to the so called no-undercut property of a risk attribution method which was, for instance, studied in Delbaen (2000) and Denault (2001).

Theorem 5.5.2. Let $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ be a positively homogeneous systemic risk measure that admits representation (5.18) and fix $\bar{X} \in \text{dom }\rho$. For $\bar{a} \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$, let us define $\bar{a} \star \bar{X} := (\bar{a}_1 \bar{X}_1, \dots, \bar{a}_n \bar{X}_n) \in (L^p)^n$. If $(\xi^o, \bar{\xi}^o)$ is an optimal solution to (5.18), then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{a}_i k_i(\bar{X}, \bar{\xi}^o) \le \rho(\bar{a} \star \bar{X}).$$

Proof. Fix $\bar{X} \in \text{dom }\rho$. If $\rho(\bar{a} \star \bar{X}) = +\infty$, the assertion is trivial. Hence, suppose that $\bar{a} \star \bar{X} \in \operatorname{dom} \rho$. The dual representation result for positively homogeneous systemic risk measures yields

$$\rho(\bar{a}\star\bar{X}) = \sup_{(1,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}^*_{\rho_0}, (\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}^*_{\Lambda}} \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{a}_i \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i].$$
(5.22)

Let $(\xi^o, \overline{\xi}^o)$ be an optimal solution to (5.18), i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \sup_{(1,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}^*_{\rho_0}, (\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}^*_{\Lambda}} \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i] = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i^o],$$

and let $k(\bar{X}) = k(\bar{X}, \bar{\xi}^o)$ be the corresponding systemic risk attribution. Then $(1,\xi^o) \in \mathcal{A}^*_{\rho_0}$ and $(\xi^o,\bar{\xi}^o) \in \mathcal{A}^*_{\Lambda}$, which implies that $(\xi^o,\bar{\xi}^o)$ is a feasible solution to optimization problem (5.22) for all $\bar{a} \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$. Thus, we obtain

$$\rho(\bar{a}\star\bar{X}) \ge \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{a}_i \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i\bar{\xi}_i^o] = \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{a}_i k_i(\bar{X},\bar{\xi}^o).$$

The previous result can be interpreted as follows: Fix an arbitrary economy $\bar{X} \in \operatorname{dom} \rho$ and define a new economy $\bar{a} \star \bar{X}$ by scaling the original economy \bar{X} componentwise by the vector $\bar{a} \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$. Then the systemic risk of this new economy $\bar{a} \star X$, i.e., $\rho(\bar{a} \star X)$, is always bounded from below by the weighted sum of the attributed risk components of the original economy X.

Finally, we deal with the question of differentiability of positively homogeneous systemic risk measures and study the relation to systemic risk attribution. Again, the dual representation proved in Theorem 5.4.9 plays a key role to answer this question. A definition of the necessary notions of differentiability can be found in Appendix A.2.3.

Let us now consider the set

$$\mathcal{Z}^{\#} := \{ (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in (L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^* | (1, \xi) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}^*, (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}^* \}$$

of all feasible solutions to optimization problem (5.18) and the set

$$\mathcal{Z}^{\#}(\bar{X}) := \left\{ (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{Z}^{\#} \left| \rho(\bar{X}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{X}_i \bar{\xi}_i] \right. \right\}$$

of all optimal solutions to (5.18) for a fixed economy $\bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$.

Theorem 5.5.3. Let $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ be a finite valued positively homogeneous systemic risk measure that admits representation (5.18). Then ρ has a directional derivative at $\bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$ in the direction $\bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n$ that is given by

$$d^+\rho(\bar{X})(\bar{Y}) = \max_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{Z}^{\#}(\bar{X})} \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Y}_i\bar{\xi}_i].$$

Proof. Consider an arbitrary element $(U, \bar{Z}) \in L^p \times (L^p)^n$. Since ρ is finite valued, this is also true for the positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure ρ_0 . As a consequence, there exists $r_U \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\rho_0(U) \leq r_U$, and thus $(r_U, U) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}$. From $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{Z}^{\#}$ it follows that $(1, \xi) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}^*$ and $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}^*$. Furthermore, $(1, \xi) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}^*$ implies that $\mathbb{E}[U\xi] \leq r_U$. Moreover, since $\Lambda(\bar{Z}) \in L^p$, there exists $Y_{\bar{Z}} \in L^p$ such that $\Lambda(\bar{Z}) \leq Y_{\bar{Z}}$, and $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}^*$ yields $\sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i \bar{\xi}_i] \leq \mathbb{E}[Y_{\bar{Z}} \xi]$. Since ρ_0 is finite, we can find an element $r_{\bar{Z}} \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\rho_0(Y_{\bar{Z}}) \leq r_{\bar{Z}}$. As above, $(1, \xi) \in \mathcal{A}_{\rho_0}^*$ again implies $\mathbb{E}[Y_{\bar{Z}}\xi] \leq r_{\bar{Z}}$. Thus, there exists $M_{(U,\bar{Z})} > 0$ with

$$\mathbb{E}[U\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i \bar{\xi}_i] \le M_{(U,\bar{Z})} \quad \text{for all } (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{Z}^{\#}.$$

It follows that for each $(U, \overline{Z}) \in L^p \times (L^p)^n$, there exists M > 0 such that

$$\left| \mathbb{E}[U\xi] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i \bar{\xi}_i] \right| \le M \quad \text{for all } (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{Z}^{\#}.$$

This means that $\mathcal{Z}^{\#}$ is pointwise bounded. Moreover, this property is equivalent to norm boundedness of $\mathcal{Z}^{\#}$ due to the uniform boundedness principle (see Theorem A.2.3). Since $\mathcal{Z}^{\#}$ is convex, weak*-closed and norm bounded, Alaoglu's theorem (see Theorem A.2.4) implies weak*-compactness of $\mathcal{Z}^{\#}$. Now, consider the function $J: (L^p)^n \times \mathcal{Z}^{\#} \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$J(\bar{Z},(\xi,\bar{\xi})) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{Z}_i \bar{\xi}_i] = \left\langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi} \right\rangle_n.$$

If we fix $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n$ and endow $(L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^*$ with the weak* topology $\sigma((L^p)^* \times ((L^p)^n)^*, L^p \times (L^p)^n)$, then the function J satisfies assumption D1 from Bernhard and Rapaport (1995) (see Condition A.2.18): The first two properties are trivial since $\mathcal{Z}^{\#}$ is weak*-compact and for all $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{Z}^{\#}$, the map $(t, (\xi, \bar{\xi})) \mapsto J(\bar{X} + t\bar{Y}, (\xi, \bar{\xi}))$ is continuous at $(0, (\xi, \bar{\xi}))$. The third condition is satisfied with

$$d_{1}^{+}J(\bar{X} + t\bar{Y}, (\xi, \bar{\xi}))(\bar{Y}) = \lim_{u \downarrow 0} \frac{J(X + (t+u)Y, (\xi, \xi)) - J(X + tY, (\xi, \xi))}{u}$$
$$= \lim_{u \downarrow 0} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[(\bar{X}_{i} + (t+u)\bar{Y}_{i})\bar{\xi}_{i}] - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[(\bar{X}_{i} + t\bar{Y}_{i})\bar{\xi}_{i}]}{u}$$
$$= \lim_{u \downarrow 0} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[u\bar{Y}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}]}{u}$$
$$= J(\bar{Y}, (\xi, \bar{\xi}))$$
(5.23)

for $t \geq 0$ and $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$. (5.23) implies that $(t, (\xi, \bar{\xi})) \mapsto d_1^+ J(\bar{X} + t\bar{Y}, (\xi, \bar{\xi}))(\bar{Y})$ is continuous at $(0, (\xi, \bar{\xi}))$ for each $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$, which yields the forth condition. Finally, we obtain with Theorem D1 in Bernhard and Rapaport (1995) (see Theorem A.2.19) that ρ given by $\rho(\bar{Z}) = \sup_{(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}} J(\bar{Z}, (\xi, \bar{\xi}))$ for $\bar{Z} \in (L^p)^n$ satisfies

$$d^{+}\rho(\bar{X})(\bar{Y}) = \max_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{Z}^{\#}(\bar{X})} d_{1}^{+}J(\bar{X},(\xi,\bar{\xi}))(\bar{Y}).$$

The assertion follows from

$$d_{1}^{+}J(\bar{X},(\xi,\bar{\xi}))(\bar{Y}) = \lim_{u \downarrow 0} \frac{J(\bar{X} + u\bar{Y},(\xi,\bar{\xi})) - J(\bar{X},(\xi,\bar{\xi}))}{u} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\bar{Y}_{i}\bar{\xi}_{i}].$$

Finally, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 5.5.4. Let $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ be a finite valued positively homogeneous systemic risk measure that admits representation (5.18). If (5.18) has a unique solution $(\xi^{o}, \bar{\xi}^{o}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$ at $\bar{X} \in (L^{p})^{n}$, then ρ is Gâteaux differentiable at \bar{X} . Moreover, the Gâteaux derivative of ρ at \overline{X} is given by

$$D_G \rho(\bar{X})(\bar{Y}) = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Y}_i \bar{\xi}_i^o] \quad \text{for all } \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n.$$

Proof. If (5.18) has a unique solution $(\xi^o, \bar{\xi}^o) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$ at $\bar{X} \in (L^p)^n$, then we know from Theorem 5.5.3 that

$$d^+\rho(\bar{X})(\bar{Y}) = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[\bar{Y}_i\bar{\xi}_i^o] \text{ for all } \bar{Y} \in (L^p)^n.$$

Hence, the mapping $d^+\rho(\bar{X}): (L^p)^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is linear and continuous. As a consequence, the assertion holds with $D_G \rho(\bar{X}) = d^+ \rho(\bar{X})$.

Remark 5.5.5. If we consider convex systemic risk measures on $(L^{\infty})^n$ where $\rho =$ $\rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ and ρ_0 satisfies (R1)-(R3), then finiteness of ρ follows from properness of ρ (see Lemma 4.4.2). Thus, in this specific case it is sufficient to require proper positively homogeneous systemic risk measures in Theorem 5.5.3 and Corollary 5.5.4.

Note that Corollary 5.5.4 provides a link between our systemic risk attribution proposed in this section and the differentiability of the corresponding systemic risk measure. By fixing $X \in (L^p)^n$ and assuming that a finite, positively homogeneous systemic risk measure $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ admits representation (5.18) with the unique optimal solution $(\xi^o, \overline{\xi}^o) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$, we obtain for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ that

$$k_i(X,\xi^o) = \mathbb{E}[X_i\xi^o_i] = D_G\rho(X)(1_{(n,i)} \star X)$$

where $1_{(n,i)} \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ is defined by

$$(1_{(n,i)})_j := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } j = i \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \quad \text{for } j \in \{1, \dots, n\}.$$

That is, the *i*th component of the systemic risk attribution $k(\bar{X}, \xi^o)$ defined in Equation (5.20) is equal to the Gâteaux derivative of ρ at X in the direction $1_{(n,i)} \star X$. Let us consider the function $r: \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $r(\bar{a}) := \rho(\bar{a} \star \bar{X})$. Then the Gâteaux derivative of ρ at X in the direction $1_{(n,i)} \star X$ corresponds with the *i*th partial derivative of r at 1_n , i.e., $D_G \rho(\bar{X})(1_{(n,i)} \star \bar{X}) = \partial_i r(1_n)$. Therefore, as already pointed out in Chen et al. (2013), for positively homogeneous systemic risk measures which satisfy the requirements from Corollary 5.5.4, the risk attribution method defined in (5.20) corresponds to the well known Aumann-Shapley prices given by

$$k_i^{\mathrm{AS}} := \int_0^1 \partial_i r(t \mathbf{1}_n) dt = \partial_i r(\mathbf{1}_n) \quad \text{for } i \in \{1, \dots, n\}.$$

This risk attribution method is also called Euler allocation rule. For additional information concerning this specific method we refer the reader, for instance, to Denault (2001) and Tasche (2008).

6. From static to dynamic risk measures

Static risk measures introduced in Chapter 4 do not take into account any dynamic features like the availability of additional information over a specific period of time. Another possibility is to consider not only random variables as input for risk measures but discrete-time or continuous-time stochastic processes. These processes represent, for instance, the market or accounting value of a firm's equity or the market value of selected financial securities; see Artzner et al. (2007) and Cheridito et al. (2006).

We have already pointed out in the introduction to this part of the thesis that there exist multiple approaches studying these different dynamic aspects of risk measurement. For an overview we refer to Acciaio and Penner (2011).

In this chapter we discuss the approach introduced in Cheridito et al. (2006) and Cheridito and Kupper (2011). This approach provides an excellent starting point for a dynamic generalization of our systemic risk measures studied in Chapter 5. From now on, the main objects of interest are conditional risk measures on discrete-time stochastic processes. Thus, we combine risk measurement on processes with the theory of conditional risk measures where the focus lies on informational aspects. As a consequence of this, the corresponding risk measures depend at time t on the available information at this point in time.

Focusing on risk measures which depend on different (discrete) points in time leads to the new problem of time-consistency of these risk measures. Consequently, we have to study how the different risk measures depend on each other. As a possible solution, Cheridito et al. (2006) use the concept of strong time-consistency. In this chapter we repeat this notion of time-consistency and highlight important results from Cheridito et al. (2006).

The outline of this chapter is the following: In Section 6.1 we introduce the notation, important definitions and properties of conditional risk measures for bounded discrete-time processes. Thereafter, Section 6.2 repeats dual representation results for the convex and the coherent case. After introducing dynamic risk measures in this context in Section 6.3, we consider the strong time-consistency property. Finally, in Section 6.4 we present some examples from Cheridito et al. (2006) and Cheridito and Kupper (2011).

6.1. Notation, definitions and important properties

Throughout this chapter we fix the underlying filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}, \mathbb{P})$ with $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ and $\mathcal{F}_0 = \{\emptyset, \Omega\}$. We denote the space of all extended random variables by $L^0(\overline{\mathbb{R}})$, i.e., $L^0(\overline{\mathbb{R}})$ contains all measurable functions $\gamma : (\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}) \to (\overline{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{B}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}))$ where $\overline{\mathbb{R}} = \mathbb{R} \cup \{\pm \infty\}$, and $\mathcal{B}(\overline{\mathbb{R}})$ denotes the corresponding Borel- σ - algebra. We equip the space $L^1 := L^1(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ with the usual L^1 -norm, i.e., $\|\varsigma\|_1 := \int |\varsigma| d\mathbb{P}$ for $\varsigma \in L^1$, and the space $L^{\infty} = L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ is equipped with the norm $\|\gamma\|_{\infty} := \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} | |\gamma| \le r \mathbb{P}\text{-a.s.}\}$ for $\gamma \in L^{\infty}$.

In this chapter we understand equalities and inequalities between random variables and stochastic processes \mathbb{P} -a.s. For processes X and Y this means that $X \leq Y$ if and only if $X_t \leq Y_t \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Let \mathcal{R}^0 be the space of \mathbb{F} -adapted processes and define

$$\mathcal{R}^{\infty} := \{ X \in \mathcal{R}^0 | \| X \|_{\mathcal{R}^{\infty}} < \infty \} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{A}^1 := \{ \xi \in \mathcal{R}^0 | \| \xi \|_{\mathcal{A}^1} < \infty \}$$

with

$$\begin{aligned} \|X\|_{\mathcal{R}^{\infty}} &:= \inf \left\{ r \in \mathbb{R} \left| \sup_{t \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} |X_{t}| \leq r \right\} \text{ and } \\ \|\xi\|_{\mathcal{A}^{1}} &:= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} |\Delta\xi_{t}| \right] \text{ where } \xi_{-1} &:= 0, \ \Delta\xi_{t} &:= \xi_{t} - \xi_{t-1} \text{ for } t \in \mathbb{N}_{0}. \end{aligned}$$

If we consider the bilinear form $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \mathcal{R}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{A}^1 \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\langle X,\xi\rangle := \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t\in\mathbb{N}_0} X_t\Delta\xi_t\right],$$

then the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}, \mathcal{A}^1)$ denotes the weakest topology on \mathcal{R}^{∞} such that for all $\xi \in \mathcal{A}^1$, the functional $X \mapsto \langle X, \xi \rangle$ on \mathcal{R}^{∞} is continuous and linear. Similarly, the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{A}^1, \mathcal{R}^{\infty})$ denotes the weakest topology on \mathcal{A}^1 such that for all $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$, the functional $\xi \mapsto \langle X, \xi \rangle$ on \mathcal{A}^1 is continuous and linear. For additional information concerning these definitions we refer to Section 7.1 and Appendix A.2.

Let τ be a finite (F-)stopping time and θ be an (F-)stopping time such that $0 \leq \tau \leq \theta \leq \infty$. Then the projection $p^{\tau,\theta} : \mathcal{R}^0 \to \mathcal{R}^0$ is given by

$$p^{\tau,\theta}(X)_t := I_{\{\tau \le t\}} X_{t \land \theta} \quad \text{for } t \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

Furthermore, we define

$$\left\|X\right\|_{\tau,\theta} := \operatorname{ess\,inf}\left\{\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \left|\sup_{t \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \left|p^{\tau,\theta}(X_{t})\right| \leq \gamma\right\} \quad \text{for } X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$$

with $L^{\infty}_{\tau} := L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_{\tau}, \mathbb{P})$. At last, define $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$ and $\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau, \theta} \subset \mathcal{A}^{1}$ by

$$\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} := p^{\tau,\theta} \mathcal{R}^{\infty} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta} := p^{\tau,\theta} \mathcal{A}^{1}.$$

Cheridito et al. (2006) define risk measures on the space $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$. Thus, the main objects of interest are processes on the interval $[\tau, \theta] \cap \mathbb{N}_0 := \{(t, \omega) \in \mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega | \tau(\omega) \leq t \leq \theta(\omega)\}$. It is important to note that in accordance with the static setting in Chapter 4, these processes are assumed to represent the evolution of different financial values. This means that we focus on value processes in this chapter.

For $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ and $X \in \mathbb{R}^{\infty}$, the processes $Y := \gamma I_{[\tau,\theta)}$ and $Z := XI_{[\tau,\theta)}$ are understood in the following way:

$$Y_t(\omega) = \gamma(\omega)I_{[\tau,\theta)}(t,\omega)$$
 and $Z_t(\omega) = X_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\theta)}(t,\omega)$ for $t \in \mathbb{N}_0, \omega \in \Omega$.

Now, consider the following properties of a mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$:

- (n) Normalization: $\rho(0) = 0$.
- (m) Monotonicity: If $X \ge Y$, then $\rho(X) \le \rho(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.
- (t) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -translation property: $\rho(X + \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \rho(X) \gamma$ for all $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$.
- (c) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convexity: $\rho(\gamma X + (1 \gamma)Y) \leq \gamma \rho(X) + (1 \gamma)\rho(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ with $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1$.
- (**ph**) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -positive homogeneity: $\rho(\gamma X) = \gamma \rho(X)$ for all $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $\gamma \in (L^{\infty}_{\tau})_{+} := \{\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | \gamma \ge 0\}.$

Definition 6.1.1. A conditional risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$) is a mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ that satisfies the properties (n), (m) and (t). A conditional convex risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$) is a conditional risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$) that additionally satisfies the property (c), and a conditional coherent risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$) is a conditional convex risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$) that additionally satisfies the property (ph). For a conditional risk measure ρ on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$, we set $\rho(X) := \rho(p^{\tau,\theta}(X))$.

We can interpret the properties above as in the static case. Nevertheless, in contrast to the static approach, conditional risk measures take into account the information available at the stopping time τ . For technical reasons, Definition 6.1.1, which is based on Definition 3.1 in Cheridito et al. (2006), requires the normalization property (n) for conditional risk measures on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$. Furthermore, note that the main objects in Cheridito et al. (2006) are so called *conditional monetary utility functions (on* $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$) defined by $\phi := -\rho$ for conditional risk measures ρ on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$. Since we are studying risk measures throughout this thesis, we adapt the results from Cheridito et al. (2006) to our setting.

In the conditional setting in this chapter the translation property holds for random variables $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$. Thus, we obtain a stronger notion of Lipschitz continuity.

Proposition 6.1.2 (See Proposition 3.3 in Cheridito et al. (2006)). Every mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ with (m) and (t) satisfies the following properties:

- (*lc*) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -Lipschitz continuity: $|\rho(X) \rho(Y)| \le ||X Y||_{\tau,\theta}$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.
- (*lp*) Local property: $\rho(I_A X + I_{A^c} Y) = I_A \rho(X) + I_{A^c} \rho(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta}$ and $A \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$.

First of all, let us discuss the dependence between the set of acceptable positions and the corresponding conditional risk measure ρ on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Definition 6.1.3. The acceptance set of a conditional risk measure ρ on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{B}_{\rho} := \{ X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} | \rho(X) \le 0 \}.$$

The following two propositions are based on Propositions 3.6, 3.9 and 3.10 in Cheridito et al. (2006). For the corresponding results regarding static risk measures see Proposition 4.1.4 and Proposition 4.1.5.

Proposition 6.1.4. Let $\rho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ be a conditional risk measure and \mathcal{B}_{ρ} the corresponding acceptance set. Then the following properties are satisfied:

- 1. $\mathcal{B}_{\rho} \neq \emptyset$ and
 - a) $0 \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$ and $\operatorname{ess\,inf}\{\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)} \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}\} = 0$,
 - b) if $X \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$ and $Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ with $Y \ge X$, then $Y \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$,
 - c) if $(X^{(m)}) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$ and $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ with $||X^{(m)} X||_{\tau,\theta} \to 0$ \mathbb{P} -a.s., then $X \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$,
 - d) if $A \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ and $X, Y \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$, then $I_A X + I_{A^c} Y \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$.
- 2. ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | X + \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)} \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho} \} \quad for \ all \ X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$$

- 3. ρ is a conditional convex risk measure on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ if and only if \mathcal{B}_{ρ} is \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convex, i.e., $\gamma X + (1 - \gamma)Y$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$ and $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ with $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1$.
- 4. ρ is positively homogeneous if and only if \mathcal{B}_{ρ} is an \mathcal{F}_{τ} -cone, i.e., $\gamma X \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$ for all $X \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$ and $\gamma \in (L^{\infty}_{\tau})_{+}$. In particular, ρ is a conditional coherent risk measure on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ if and only if \mathcal{B}_{ρ} is an \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convex \mathcal{F}_{τ} -cone.

Now, suppose that $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$ is a set of acceptable positions. If we define a conditional risk measure ρ on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$ by using the idea that $\rho(X)$ is the smallest amount that has to be added to the position X such that the new position is acceptable, then we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 6.1.5. Consider $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ that satisfies the properties 1.a) and 1.b) from Proposition 6.1.4. Then

$$\rho_{\mathcal{B}}(X) := \operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | X + \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)} \in \mathcal{B} \} \quad for \ X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$$

satisfies the following properties:

- 1. $\rho_{\mathcal{B}}$ is a conditional risk measure on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.
- 2. If \mathcal{B} is \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convex, then $\rho_{\mathcal{B}}$ is a conditional convex risk measure on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.
- 3. If \mathcal{B} is an \mathcal{F}_{τ} -cone, then $\rho_{\mathcal{B}}$ is positively homogeneous. Especially, if \mathcal{B} is an \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convex \mathcal{F}_{τ} -cone, then $\rho_{\mathcal{B}}$ is a conditional coherent risk measure on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.
- 4. \mathcal{B} is a subset of the acceptance set $\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{\mathcal{B}}}$, and the smallest subset of $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ that contains \mathcal{B} and satisfies the properties 1.c) and 1.d) from Proposition 6.1.4 is equal to $\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{\mathcal{B}}}$.

6.2. Representation of conditional risk measures

In the conditional setting studied in this chapter there exist several dual representation results for conditional risk measures on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$. In this section we present selected representation results from Cheridito et al. (2006). But first, let us consider the following definition.

Definition 6.2.1. For $X \in \mathbb{R}^{\infty}$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{A}^1$, we define

$$\langle X,\xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} := \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in [\tau,\theta] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} X_t \Delta \xi_t \middle| \mathcal{F}_\tau \right].$$

The sets \mathcal{A}^1_+ , $(\mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta})_+$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ are defined by

$$\mathcal{A}^{1}_{+} := \{ \xi \in \mathcal{A}^{1} | \Delta \xi_{t} \geq 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_{0} \}, \\ (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta})_{+} := p^{\tau,\theta} \mathcal{A}^{1}_{+}, \\ \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta} := \{ \xi \in (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta})_{+} | \langle 1, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} = 1 \}.$$

Remark 6.2.2. 1. For $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta}$, we have

$$\langle X,\xi\rangle = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t\in\mathbb{N}_0} X_t\Delta\xi_t\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t\in\mathbb{N}_0} X_t\Delta\xi_t \middle| \mathcal{F}_{\tau}\right]\right] = \mathbb{E}[\langle X,\xi\rangle^{\tau,\theta}].$$

2. Because of the Radon-Nikodym theorem, we can identify probability measures \mathbb{Q} which are absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbb{P} by its densities $\frac{d\mathbb{Q}}{d\mathbb{P}}$ where $\frac{d\mathbb{Q}}{d\mathbb{P}} \in \{\varsigma \in L^1 | \varsigma \geq 0, \mathbb{E}[\varsigma] = 1\}$. Hence, Cheridito et al. (2006) point out that we can consider processes in $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ as conditional probability densities on the product space $\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega$. We will see below that regarding the dual representations, the set $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ replaces the set of absolutely continuous probability measures from the static results.

To obtain a dual representation, Cheridito et al. (2006) introduce a continuity property for mappings $v : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$.

Definition 6.2.3. A mapping $v : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ is called continuous for bounded decreasing sequences if for $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and every decreasing sequence $(X^{(m)}) \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ with $X^{(m)}_t \downarrow X_t \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, it follows that $\lim_{m\to\infty} v(X^{(m)}) = v(X) \mathbb{P}$ -a.s.

We also need generalized penalty functions which are appropriate for the setting in this chapter.

Definition 6.2.4. Define the spaces $L^0_{\tau}(\overline{\mathbb{R}})$ and $L^0_{\tau}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+)$ by

 $L^0_\tau(\overline{\mathbb{R}}) := \{ \gamma \in L^0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}) | \gamma \text{ is } \mathcal{F}_\tau \text{-measurable} \} \quad and \quad L^0_\tau(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+) := \{ \gamma \in L^0_\tau(\overline{\mathbb{R}}) | \gamma \ge 0 \}.$

Then a penalty function (on $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$) is a mapping $\alpha^{\tau,\theta}: \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^0_{\tau}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+)$ that satisfies

$$\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\xi\in\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}}\alpha^{\tau,\theta}(\xi)=0$$

The following theorem is the adaption of the corresponding result in Cheridito et al. (2006) to our setting.

Theorem 6.2.5 (See Theorem 3.16 in Cheridito et al. (2006)). Let $\rho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ be a conditional convex risk measure. Then the following properties are equivalent:

1. ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \underset{\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{ \langle -X, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha^{\tau,\theta}(\xi) \} \quad \text{for } X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$$
(6.1)

where $\alpha^{\tau,\theta}$ is a penalty function on $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$.

- 2. The acceptance set \mathcal{B}_{ρ} is a $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}, \mathcal{A}^1)$ -closed subset of \mathcal{R}^{∞} .
- 3. ρ is continuous for bounded decreasing sequences.

In particular, if one of these properties is satisfied, then ρ can be represented with the minimal penalty function

$$\alpha_{\min}^{\tau,\theta}(\xi) := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{X \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}} \langle -X, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{X \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}} \{ \langle -X, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} - \rho(X) \} \quad for \ \xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}.$$

Moreover, this penalty function on $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ is minimal in the sense that $\alpha_{\min}^{\tau,\theta}(\xi) \leq \alpha^{\tau,\theta}(\xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ and all penalty functions $\alpha^{\tau,\theta}$ on $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ that satisfy representation (6.1).

The coherent special case reads as follows.

Corollary 6.2.6 (See Theorem 3.18 in Cheridito et al. (2006)). Let $\rho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ be a conditional coherent risk measure. Then there exists a set $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{Q}_{\tau,\theta} \subset \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ such that ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(X) = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\xi \in \mathcal{Q}_{\tau,\theta}} \langle -X, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} \quad \text{for all } X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$$
(6.2)

if and only if the equivalent properties from Theorem 6.2.5 are satisfied. In this case, the set

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\tau,\theta}^{0} := \{\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta} | \alpha_{min}^{\tau,\theta}(\xi) = 0\}$$

is the smallest $\sigma(\mathcal{A}^1, \mathcal{R}^\infty)$ -closed, \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convex subset of $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ that contains $\mathcal{Q}_{\tau,\theta}$ and satisfies representation (6.2) with $\mathcal{Q}^0_{\tau,\theta}$ instead of $\mathcal{Q}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Let us compare the previous dual representation results for conditional convex and coherent risk measures on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ with the dual representation results for convex and coherent risk measures on L^{∞} from Section 4.3. The additional information which is available at time τ is represented by the fact that we use conditional expectations in (6.1) and (6.2) (recall that $\langle -X, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta}$ is defined as a conditional expectation) instead of the usual expectations in (4.4) and (4.5), respectively. Moreover, the penalty function on $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ is also random. If we interpret the elements in $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ as conditional probability measures on the product space $\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega$ (see Remark 6.2.2), then we obtain the conditional convex risk measure ρ on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ by considering the essential supremum over different probabilistic models.

6.3. Time-consistent dynamic risk measures

This section addresses another dynamic aspect in the axiomatic risk measurement approach. We adopt the definition from Cheridito et al. (2006) and define dynamic risk measures as families of conditional risk measures at different points in time. In order to clarify the relationship between these different conditional risk measures, we subsequently introduce and discuss an appropriate time-consistency concept. For a detailed analysis we refer the reader to Cheridito et al. (2006) and Cheridito and Kupper (2011).

Throughout this section let $S \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $T \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{+\infty\}$ with $S \leq T$.

Definition 6.3.1. For every $t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, let $\rho_{t,T} : \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty} \to L_t^{\infty}$ be a conditional risk measure on $\mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}$ with acceptance set $\mathcal{B}_{t,T}$. A dynamic risk measure is defined as a family $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in[S,T]\cap\mathbb{N}_0}$. The corresponding family of acceptance sets is given by $(\mathcal{B}_{t,T})_{t\in[S,T]\cap\mathbb{N}_0}$. Let τ and θ be stopping times with $\tau < \infty$ and $S \leq \tau \leq \theta \leq T$ and define $\rho_{\tau,\theta} : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ by

$$\rho_{\tau,\theta}(X) := \sum_{t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \rho_{t,T}(I_{\{\tau=t\}}X).$$
(6.3)

The corresponding set $\mathcal{B}_{\tau,\theta} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ is given by

$$\mathcal{B}_{\tau,\theta} := \{ X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} | I_{\{\tau=t\}} X \in \mathcal{B}_{t,T} \text{ for all } t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0 \}.$$

A dynamic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ is called convex [coherent] if all $\rho_{t,T}$, $t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, are conditional convex [coherent] risk measures on $\mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}$.

Cheridito et al. (2006) point out that $\rho_{\tau,\theta}$ defined in (6.3) is a conditional risk measure on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ with acceptance set $\mathcal{B}_{\tau,\theta}$ that inherits convexity and positive homogeneity from $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in[S,T]\cap\mathbb{N}_0}$. Similarly, $\rho_{\tau,\theta}$ is continuous for bounded decreasing sequences if all $\rho_{t,T}$, $t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, satisfy this property.

Definition 6.3.2. A dynamic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ is called time-consistent if the following property is satisfied for all finite stopping times τ, θ with $S \leq \tau \leq \theta \leq T$:

(TC) If $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,T}$ with

 $XI_{[\tau,\theta)} = YI_{[\tau,\theta)}$ and $\rho_{\theta,T}(X) \le \rho_{\theta,T}(Y)$,

then $\rho_{\tau,T}(X) \leq \rho_{\tau,T}(Y)$.

Time-consistency is equivalent to the following property (TC'). For a proof see Proposition 4.4 in Cheridito et al. (2006).

(TC') For each $t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$ and every finite stopping time θ that satisfies $t \leq \theta \leq T$, equation

$$\rho_{t,T}(X) = \rho_{t,T}(XI_{[t,\theta)} - \rho_{\theta,T}(X)I_{[\theta,\infty)})$$

holds for all $X \in \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}$.

The time-consistency property (TC) can be described as follows: Let us consider two processes X and Y that are equal up to the stopping time θ , i.e., $XI_{[\tau,\theta)} = YI_{[\tau,\theta)}$, and let the time- θ -risk of one process be greater than or equal to the time- θ -risk of the other process, i.e., $\rho_{\theta,T}(X) \leq \rho_{\theta,T}(Y)$. Then this relation is still satisfied for the risk of these processes at the smaller stopping time τ .

In case of $T \in \mathbb{N}$ or in case of a dynamic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ where all conditional risk measures are continuous for bounded decreasing sequences, time-consistency and the weaker property of so called one-step time-consistency are equivalent. More precisely, the following result is satisfied.

Proposition 6.3.3 (See Proposition 4.5 in Cheridito et al. (2006)). Consider a dynamic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ that satisfies one-step time-consistency, *i.e.*,

$$\rho_{t,T}(X) = \rho_{t,T}(XI_{\{t\}} - \rho_{t+1,T}(X)I_{[t+1,\infty)}) \quad for \ all \ t \in [S, T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0 \ and \ X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{t,T}.$$

Additionally, suppose that at least one of the following conditions holds:

- 1. $T \in \mathbb{N}$.
- 2. All conditional risk measures $\rho_{t,T}$, $t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, are continuous for bounded decreasing sequences.

Then the dynamic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in [S,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ is time-consistent.

The connection between time-consistent dynamic risk measures and their acceptance sets is discussed in Theorem 4.6 in Cheridito et al. (2006).

Finally, we introduce the term relevant risk measures, which was originally studied in Artzner et al. (1999). Following the idea that a position X with $X \leq 0$ and $X \neq 0$ has positive risk, i.e., $\rho(X) > 0$, Cheridito et al. (2006) adapt the definition from Artzner et al. (1999) to their setting of conditional risk measurement.

We will see that this property guarantees the existence of time-consistent dynamic extensions of conditional risk measures on $\mathcal{R}_{S,T}^{\infty}$.

Definition 6.3.4. Consider a conditional risk measure $\rho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$. Then ρ is called θ -relevant if

$$A \subset \{\rho(-\varepsilon I_A I_{[t \land \theta, \infty)}) > 0\}$$

for all $\varepsilon > 0$, $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $A \in \mathcal{F}_{t \wedge \theta}$. The set $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}^{rel}$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}^{rel} := \left\{ \xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta} \left| \mathbb{P}\left[\sum_{j \ge t \land \theta} \Delta \xi_j > 0 \right] = 1 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0 \right\}.$$

Remark 6.3.5. 1. Cheridito et al. (2006) point out that if θ is finite, then θ -relevance of a conditional risk measure ρ on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ is equivalent to $A \subset \{\rho(-\varepsilon I_A I_{[\theta,\infty)}) > 0\}$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$ and $A \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta}$. Furthermore, supposing that the previous property is satisfied, we have

$$\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}^{rel} = \{ \xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta} | \mathbb{P}[\Delta \xi_{\theta} > 0] = 1 \}.$$

2. There exist specific dual representations of θ -relevant conditional convex and coherent risk measures on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$. In these representations the set $\mathcal{D}^{rel}_{\tau,\theta}$ replaces the set $\mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ from representations of general conditional risk measures on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$. For more details we refer to Section 3.3 in Cheridito et al. (2006).

We close this section by stating an important result for *T*-relevant risk measures.

Proposition 6.3.6 (See Corollary 4.8 in Cheridito et al. (2006)). Consider a *T*-relevant conditional risk measure ρ on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{S,T}$. Then we can find at most one timeconsistent dynamic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in[S,T]\cap\mathbb{N}_0}$ that satisfies $\rho_{S,T} = \rho$.

6.4. Examples of dynamic risk measures

In this section we present examples of dynamic convex and coherent risk measures. To this end, we have to introduce two additional spaces and the pasting of probability measures or the pasting of the corresponding densities, respectively.

Definition 6.4.1. For $T \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{+\infty\}$, we define the sets

$$\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T := \{\varsigma \in L^1_T | \varsigma \ge 0, \mathbb{E}[\varsigma] = 1\} \quad and \quad \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T^{rel} := \{\varsigma \in L^1_T | \varsigma > 0, \mathbb{E}[\varsigma] = 1\}$$

where $L_T^1 := L^1(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_T, \mathbb{P})$. If $T = \infty$, we use $\mathcal{F}_\infty := \sigma(\bigcup_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} \mathcal{F}_t)$. Moreover, for $\varsigma, \vartheta \in \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T$, $s \in [0, T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$ and $A \in \mathcal{F}_s$, let us define the pasting $\varsigma \otimes_A^s \vartheta$ by

$$\varsigma \otimes^s_A \vartheta := \begin{cases} \varsigma & \text{ on } A^c \cup \{ \mathbb{E}[\vartheta | \mathcal{F}_s] = 0 \} \\ \mathbb{E}[\varsigma | \mathcal{F}_s] \frac{\vartheta}{\mathbb{E}[\vartheta | \mathcal{F}_s]} & \text{ on } A \cap \{ \mathbb{E}[\vartheta | \mathcal{F}_s] > 0 \} \end{cases}.$$

A subset \mathcal{P} of $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T$ is called m1-stable if $\varsigma \otimes^s_A \vartheta \in \mathcal{P}$ for all $\varsigma, \vartheta \in \mathcal{P}, s \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$ and $A \in \mathcal{F}_s$.

Remark 6.4.2. Suppose that $T \in \mathbb{N}$. Then we can identify $\varsigma \in \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T$ with $\xi^{\varsigma} \in \mathcal{A}^1_{0,T}$ defined by

$$\xi_t^{\varsigma} := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } t \in [0, T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0 \\ \varsigma & \text{for } t \in [T, \infty) \cap \mathbb{N}_0 \end{cases}$$

Thus, we have $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T \subset \mathcal{D}_{0,T} = \{\xi \in (\mathcal{A}_{0,T}^1)_+ | \langle 1, \xi \rangle^{0,T} = 1\}$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T^{rel} \subset \mathcal{D}_{0,T}^{rel} = \{\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{0,T} | \mathbb{P}[\xi_T - \xi_{T-1} > 0] = 1\}$ in case of $T \in \mathbb{N}$.

The following three examples are considered in detail in Section 5 in Cheridito et al. (2006). In order to verify the assertions from the following examples, one needs additional results from Sections 3 and 4 in Cheridito et al. (2006). Repeating these results would go beyond the scope of this introductory chapter. Nevertheless, the following examples give a good impression of the structure of time-consistent dynamic convex and coherent risk measures.

Example 6.4.3 (Dynamic coherent risk measures defined by worst stopping). Consider $T \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{+\infty\}$ and a set \mathcal{P}^{rel} that satisfies $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{P}^{rel} \subset \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T^{rel}$ and define for all $t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$

$$\Xi_t(\gamma) := \underset{\varsigma \in \mathcal{P}^{rel}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \frac{\mathbb{E}[-\varsigma\gamma|\mathcal{F}_t]}{\mathbb{E}[\varsigma|\mathcal{F}_t]} \quad \text{for } \gamma \in L_T^{\infty}.$$
(6.4)

If \mathcal{P}^{rel} is m1-stable and if we set

$$\rho_{t,T}^{\text{WS}}(X) := \operatorname{ess\,sup}\{\Xi_t(X_\theta) | \theta \text{ is a finite stopping time with } t \le \theta \le T\}$$

for all $t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$ and $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{t,T}$, then $(\rho^{\text{WS}}_{t,T})_{t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ is a time-consistent dynamic coherent risk measure and every $\rho^{\text{WS}}_{t,T}$ is *T*-relevant.

Example 6.4.4 (Dynamic coherent risk measures that depend on an average over time). Define for $T \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{+\infty\}, \ \emptyset \neq \mathcal{P}^{rel} \subset \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T^{rel}$ and $t \in [0, T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$

$$\rho_{t,T}^{\operatorname{Av}}(X) := \Xi_t \left(\frac{\sum_{s \in [t,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} r_s X_s}{\sum_{s \in [t,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} r_s} \right) \quad \text{for } X \in \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}$$

where Ξ_t is defined by (6.4) and $(r_s)_{s \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ is a sequence of nonnegative real numbers that satisfy

$$\sum_{s \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} r_s = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{s \in [t,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} r_s > 0 \quad \text{for all } t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0.$$

Then $(\rho_{t,T}^{\operatorname{Av}})_{t\in[0,T]\cap\mathbb{N}_0}$ defines a dynamic coherent risk measure and every $\rho_{t,T}^{\operatorname{Av}}$ is *T*-relevant. If additionally \mathcal{P}^{rel} is m1-stable, then $(\rho_{t,T}^{\operatorname{Av}})_{t\in[0,T]\cap\mathbb{N}_0}$ is time-consistent.

From now on, we focus on dynamic convex risk measures.

Example 6.4.5 (Dynamic robust entropic risk measure). Consider $T \in \mathbb{N}_0$, a set \mathcal{P}^{rel} that satisfies $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{P}^{rel} \subset \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T^{rel}$ and a > 0. For each $t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, we define $\rho_{t,T}^{entr}$ by

$$\rho_{t,T}^{\text{entr}}(X) := \underset{\varsigma \in \mathcal{P}^{rel}}{\text{ess sup}} \left\{ \frac{1}{a} \log \frac{\mathbb{E}[\varsigma \exp(-aX_T) | \mathcal{F}_t]}{\mathbb{E}[\varsigma | \mathcal{F}_t]} \right\} \quad \text{for } X \in \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}.$$

Cheridito et al. (2006) prove that for every $t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, $\rho_{t,T}^{\text{entr}}$ is a *T*-relevant conditional convex risk measure on $\mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}$. Moreover, each $\rho_{t,T}^{\text{entr}}$ is continuous for bounded decreasing sequences, and if \mathcal{P}^{rel} is m1-stable, then $(\rho_{t,T}^{\text{entr}})_{t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ is timeconsistent.

In addition, for every $t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, the conditional convex risk measure $\rho_{t,T}^{\text{entr}}$ satisfies $\rho_{t,T}^{\text{entr}}(X) = \tilde{\rho}_{t,T}^{\text{entr}}(X_T)$ for $X \in \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}$ where $\tilde{\rho}_{t,T}^{\text{entr}} : L_T^{\infty} \to L_t^{\infty}$ admits the representation

$$\tilde{\rho}_{t,T}^{\text{entr}}(\gamma) = \underset{\varsigma \in \mathcal{P}^{rel}, \vartheta \in \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{T}^{rel}}{\text{ess sup}} \left\{ \mathbb{E}[-\vartheta \gamma | \mathcal{F}_{t}] - \frac{1}{a} H_{t}(\vartheta | \varsigma) \right\} \quad \text{for } \gamma \in L_{T}^{\infty}.$$

Here, $H_t(\vartheta|\varsigma)$ denotes the conditional relative entropy defined by

$$H_t(\vartheta|\varsigma) := \mathbb{E}\left[\left.\vartheta \log \frac{\vartheta}{\varsigma}\right| \mathcal{F}_t\right] \quad \text{for } \varsigma, \vartheta \in \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_T^{rel}.$$

The last example in this section shows how we can generate time-consistent dynamic convex risk measures by using so called generators. For proofs and additional information we refer to Cheridito and Kupper (2011).

Example 6.4.6 (Generating time-consistent dynamic convex risk measures). Fix $T \in \mathbb{N}$ and consider for $t \in [0, T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$ mappings $H_t : L_{t+1}^{\infty} \to L_t^{\infty}$ that satisfy the following properties:

- (H1) $H_t(0) = 0.$
- (H2) If $X_{t+1} \ge Y_{t+1}$, then $H_t(X_{t+1}) \le H_t(Y_{t+1})$ for all $X_{t+1}, Y_{t+1} \in L_{t+1}^{\infty}$.
- (H3) $H_t(X_{t+1}+a) \ge H_t(X_{t+1}) a \text{ for all } X_{t+1} \in L^{\infty}_{t+1} \text{ and } a \in (L^{\infty}_t)_+.$

Then the family $(H_t)_{t \in [0,T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ generates a time-consistent dynamic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ by

$$\rho_{t,T}(X) := \begin{cases} -X_T & \text{if } t = T\\ -X_t + H_t(-\rho_{t+1,T}(X) - X_t) & \text{if } t < T \end{cases} \quad \text{for } X \in \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}.$$

Moreover, $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ is convex if each H_t satisfies

(H4) $H_t(aX_{t+1}+(1-a)Y_{t+1}) \le aH_t(X_{t+1})+(1-a)H_t(Y_{t+1})$ for all $X_{t+1}, Y_{t+1} \in L^{\infty}_{t+1}$ and $a \in L^{\infty}_t$ with $0 \le a \le 1$.

We call mappings $H_t: L_{t+1}^{\infty} \to L_t^{\infty}$ that satisfy (H1)-(H3) generators of the timeconsistent dynamic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in [0,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$. A specific kind of these generators are composed generators which are defined in the following way:

For $t \in [0, T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, consider a map $F_t : L_{t+1}^{\infty} \to L_t^{\infty}$ that satisfies the following properties:

- (F1) $F_t(0) = 0.$
- (F2) If $X_{t+1} \ge Y_{t+1}$, then $F_t(X_{t+1}) \le F_t(Y_{t+1})$ for all $X_{t+1}, Y_{t+1} \in L_{t+1}^{\infty}$.
- (F3) $F_t(X_{t+1} + a) = F_t(X_{t+1}) a \text{ for all } X_{t+1} \in L_{t+1}^{\infty} \text{ and } a \in L_t^{\infty}.$

Let $h_t : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}, t \in [0, T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, be such that

- **(h1)** $h_t(0) = 0,$
- (h2) h_t is monotonically decreasing,
- (h3) $|h_t(r_1) h_t(r_2)| \le |r_1 r_2|$ for all $r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{R}$.

Then $H_t := h_t \circ (-F_t) : L_{t+1}^{\infty} \to L_t^{\infty}$ satisfies the properties (H1)-(H3). In particular, $(h_t, F_t)_{t \in [0, T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0}$ induces a time-consistent dynamic risk measure. Moreover, if additionally all F_t satisfy

(F4)
$$F_t(aX_{t+1} + (1-a)Y_{t+1}) \le aF_t(X_{t+1}) + (1-a)F_t(Y_{t+1})$$
 for all $X_{t+1}, Y_{t+1} \in L_{t+1}^\infty$ and $a \in L_t^\infty$ with $0 \le a \le 1$

and all h_t are convex, then H_t satisfies (H4), which means that we obtain a timeconsistent dynamic convex risk measure.

7. Conditional and dynamic systemic risk measures

In this chapter we generalize the model from Chapter 5 by using the setting of Cheridito et al. (2006) presented in Chapter 6 and study conditional and dynamic systemic risk measures on multi-dimensional bounded discrete-time processes. We refer the reader to the paper "Dynamic systemic risk measures for bounded discrete-time processes" which is joint work with E. Kromer and L. Overbeck and provides a summary of the results in this chapter.

After introducing general notations, we define in Section 7.1 conditional convex and positively homogeneous systemic risk measures. In Section 7.2 we prove a decomposition result for conditional convex systemic risk measures which is similar to the corresponding result in the static case. In conclusion, we can represent every conditional convex systemic risk measure as a composition of a conditional convex single-firm risk measure and a convex aggregation function. This decomposition is the basis for the subsequent study. In Section 7.3 we discuss different representation results for conditional convex systemic risk measures. Section 7.3.1 provides the primal representation result, which is proved analogously to the corresponding result in Chapter 5. In the following subsection we apply techniques from Cheridito et al. (2006) and introduce and study continuity properties of the underlying conditional convex single-firm risk measure and the underlying convex aggregation function. Based on these results, we finally prove a dual representation result for conditional convex systemic risk measures in Subsection 7.3.3.

In Section 7.4 we go one step further and introduce dynamic systemic risk measures as families of conditional systemic risk measures. Furthermore, we use the concept of strong time-consistency and study time-consistent systemic risk measures. In this context, we introduce in Subsection 7.4.1 a time-consistency property for our convex aggregation function and examine how this property depends on the timeconsistency property of the corresponding systemic risk measure. In Subsection 7.4.2 we consider examples of time-consistent dynamic aggregation functions and finally we discuss our results concerning time-consistent dynamic systemic risk measures.

7.1. Notation and definitions

In this chapter we fix a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}, \mathbb{P})$ with $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ and $\mathcal{F}_0 = \{\emptyset, \Omega\}$. As in Chapter 5, we consider a finite set of *n* firms or, in other words, *n* nodes in a financial network. The *n*-dimensional discrete-time process $\bar{X} = (\bar{X}^1, \ldots, \bar{X}^n)$ represents the losses of these *n* firms over time. Here, \bar{X}^i is supposed to be an element in the space \mathcal{R}^∞ defined in Chapter 6 and describes the loss process of firm $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

From now on, let $m \in \mathbb{N}$ be arbitrary. In this chapter we need the following generalizations of the spaces introduced in Chapter 6:

Let $\mathcal{R}^{0,m}$ be the space of \mathbb{F} -adapted *m*-dimensional processes $\bar{X} = (\bar{X}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ such that for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$, $\bar{X}^i = (\bar{X}^i_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ is an element in \mathcal{R}^0 . Again, we understand equalities and inequalities between random variables and (multi-dimensional) stochastic processes \mathbb{P} -a.s. This means *m*-dimensional processes $\bar{X} = (\bar{X}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} \in \mathcal{R}^{0,m}$ and $\bar{Y} = (\bar{Y}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} \in \mathcal{R}^{0,m}$ satisfy $\bar{X} \leq \bar{Y}$ if and only if $\bar{X}^i_t \leq \bar{Y}^i_t$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and all $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. Furthermore, define

$$\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m} := \{ \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{0,m} | \| \bar{X} \|_{\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}} < \infty \} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{A}^{1,m} := \{ \bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{R}^{0,m} | \| \bar{\xi} \|_{\mathcal{A}^{1,m}} < \infty \}$$

with

$$\|\bar{X}\|_{\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}} := \max_{i \in \{1,...,m\}} \|\bar{X}^i\|_{\mathcal{R}^{\infty}} \text{ and } \|\bar{\xi}\|_{\mathcal{A}^{1,m}} := \sum_{i=1}^m \|\bar{\xi}^i\|_{\mathcal{A}^1}$$

and note that $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,1}$ and $\mathcal{A}^{1,1}$ are equal to \mathcal{R}^{∞} and \mathcal{A}^{1} , respectively.

By definition of the space $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$, each $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ satisfies $\bar{X}^i \in \mathcal{R}^\infty$ for all $i \in \{1,\ldots,m\}$. Thus, $\bar{X}_t = (\bar{X}_t^1,\ldots,\bar{X}_t^m)$ is an element in $(L^\infty)^m := (L^\infty(\Omega,\mathcal{F},\mathbb{P}))^m$ for each $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

We define the bilinear form $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m : \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,m} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

1

$$\left\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \right\rangle_m := \sum_{i=1}^m \langle \bar{X}^i, \bar{\xi}^i \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} \bar{X}^i_t \Delta \bar{\xi}^i_t \right].$$

The following remark is based on statements in the proof of Lemma 3.17 in Cheridito et al. (2006).

Remark 7.1.1 (Connection between processes in \mathcal{R}^{∞} and random variables).

1. Note that any stochastic process $X = (X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} \in \mathcal{R}^\infty$ is a map $X : \mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ with $X(t, \omega) = X_t(\omega)$. Let \mathcal{H} be the σ -algebra on $\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega$ generated by the sets $\{t\} \times B, t \in \mathbb{N}_0, B \in \mathcal{F}_t$ and define the measure η on $(\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega, \mathcal{H})$ by

$$\eta(\{t\} \times B) := 2^{-(t+1)} \mathbb{P}[B] \quad \text{for } t \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ and } B \in \mathcal{F}_t.$$

Then $\mathcal{R}^{\infty} = L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} := L^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega, \mathcal{H}, \eta)$ since for every $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|X\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} &= \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} ||X_t(\omega)| \le r \text{ for } \eta\text{-a.e. } (t,\omega) \in \mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega\} \\ &= \inf\{r \in \mathbb{R} ||X_t(\omega)| \le r \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ and } \mathbb{P}\text{-a.e. } \omega \in \Omega\} \\ &= \inf\left\{r \in \mathbb{R} \left| \sup_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} |X_t(\omega)| \le r \text{ for } \mathbb{P}\text{-a.e. } \omega \in \Omega \right. \right\} \\ &= \|X\|_{\mathcal{R}^{\infty}} \,. \end{split}$$

Moreover, \mathcal{A}^1 can be identified with $L^1_{\mathcal{H}} := L^1(\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega, \mathcal{H}, \eta)$ by identifying each $\Xi \in L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$ with $\xi^{\Xi} \in \mathcal{A}^1$ where $\xi^{\Xi}_{-1} := 0$ and $\xi^{\Xi}_t(\omega) := 2^{-(t+1)}\Xi(t,\omega) + \xi^{\Xi}_{t-1}(\omega)$

for $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\omega \in \Omega$. In this case, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\Xi\|_{L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} &= \int_{(t,\omega)\in\mathbb{N}_{0}\times\Omega} |\Xi(t,\omega)| d\eta(t,\omega) = \sum_{t\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \int_{\omega\in\Omega} |\Xi(t,\omega)| 2^{-(t+1)} d\mathbb{P}(\omega) \\ &= \sum_{t\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \int_{\omega\in\Omega} |\Delta\xi^{\Xi}_{t}(\omega) 2^{(t+1)}| 2^{-(t+1)} d\mathbb{P}(\omega) = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} |\Delta\xi^{\Xi}_{t}|\right] = \left\|\xi^{\Xi}\right\|_{\mathcal{A}^{1}}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, the pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} : L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $\langle X, \Xi \rangle_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} := \int X \Xi d\eta$ satisfies

$$\langle X,\Xi\rangle_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}},L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} = \int X\Xi d\eta = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}X_{t}\Delta\xi^{\Xi}_{t}\right] = \langle X,\xi^{\Xi}\rangle.$$

2. By repeating the same arguments, $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m} = (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ and $\mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ can be identified with $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ where $(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ and $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ are equipped with the norms

$$\|\bar{X}\|_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^{m}} := \max_{i \in \{1, \dots, m\}} \|\bar{X}^{i}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} \quad \text{and} \quad \|\bar{\Xi}\|_{(L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}})^{m}} := \sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\bar{\Xi}^{i}\|_{L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}}$$

for $\bar{X} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ and $\bar{\Xi} \in (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$. Furthermore, the pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} : (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m \times (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\Xi} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} := \sum_{i=1}^m \int \bar{X}^i \bar{\Xi}^i d\eta$ satisfies $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\Xi} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} = \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi}^{\bar{\Xi}} \rangle_m$ for $\bar{X} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, \bar{\Xi} \in (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ and $\bar{\xi}^{\bar{\Xi}} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ defined by $(\bar{\xi}^{\bar{\Xi}})^i_{-1} := 0$ and $(\bar{\xi}^{\bar{\Xi}})^i_t(\omega) := 2^{-(t+1)} \bar{\Xi}^i(t, \omega) + (\bar{\xi}^{\bar{\Xi}})^i_{t-1}(\omega)$ for $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $\omega \in \Omega$ and $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

3. By these definitions, the norm on $(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ satisfies

$$\left\|\bar{X}\right\|_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m} = \sup_{\left\|\bar{\Xi}\right\|_{(L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}})^m} \le 1} \left| \left\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\Xi} \right\rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}})^m} \right| \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m.$$

This can be verified as follows: It is easily seen that

$$\begin{split} \sup_{\|\bar{\Xi}\|_{(L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}})^{m}} \leq 1} & \left| \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\Xi} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^{m}, (L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}})^{m}} \right| = \sup_{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\bar{\Xi}^{i}\|_{L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} \leq 1} \left| \sum_{i=1}^{m} \langle \bar{X}^{i}, \bar{\Xi}^{i} \rangle_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} \right| \\ \geq \max_{i \in \{1, \dots, m\}} \sup_{\|\bar{\Xi}^{i}\|_{L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} \leq 1} \left| \langle \bar{X}^{i}, \bar{\Xi}^{i} \rangle_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} \right| = \max_{i \in \{1, \dots, m\}} \| \bar{X}^{i} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}}. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, for every $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ and $\overline{\Xi} \in (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$, we have

$$\left| \langle \bar{X}^i, \bar{\Xi}^i \rangle_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^1_{\mathcal{H}}} \right| / \|\bar{\Xi}^i\|_{L^1_{\mathcal{H}}} = \left| \langle \bar{X}^i, \bar{\Xi}^i / \|\bar{\Xi}^i\|_{L^1_{\mathcal{H}}} \rangle_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^1_{\mathcal{H}}} \right| \le \|\bar{X}^i\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}}$$

due to $\|\bar{X}^i\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} = \sup_{\|\bar{\Xi}^i\|_{L^1_{\mathcal{H}}} \leq 1} |\langle \bar{X}^i, \bar{\Xi}^i \rangle_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^1_{\mathcal{H}}}|$. But this leads to

$$\begin{split} \sup_{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\bar{\Xi}^{i}\|_{L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} \leq 1} \left| \sum_{i=1}^{m} \langle \bar{X}^{i}, \bar{\Xi}^{i} \rangle_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} \right| \leq \sup_{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\bar{\Xi}^{i}\|_{L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} \leq 1} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\bar{X}^{i}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} \|\bar{\Xi}^{i}\|_{L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}}} \\ \leq \max_{i \in \{1, \dots, m\}} \|\bar{X}^{i}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}}. \end{split}$$

4. Note that $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ separates points of $(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ and $(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ separates points of $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ under $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m}$, which means that

$$\bar{X} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m \text{ and } \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\Xi} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} = 0 \text{ for all } \bar{\Xi} \in (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m \quad \Rightarrow \quad \bar{X} = 0,$$

$$\bar{\Xi} \in (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m \text{ and } \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\Xi} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} = 0 \text{ for all } \bar{X} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m \quad \Rightarrow \quad \bar{\Xi} = 0.$$

Because of the previous remark, $\mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ separates points of $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ and $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ separates points of $\mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ under $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$. Hence, we can define $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}, \mathcal{A}^{1,m})$ as the weakest topology on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ such that for all $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$, the functional $\bar{X} \mapsto \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m$ on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ is continuous and linear. Analogously, the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{A}^{1,m}, \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m})$ denotes the weakest topology on $\mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ such that for all $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$, the functional $\bar{\xi} \mapsto \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m$ on $\mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ is continuous and linear.

From now on, let τ be a finite (F-)stopping time and θ be an (F-)stopping time such that $0 \leq \tau \leq \theta \leq \infty$. Then we define the projection $p_m^{\tau,\theta} : \mathcal{R}^{0,m} \to \mathcal{R}^{0,m}$ by

$$p_m^{\tau,\theta}(\bar{X})_t := I_{\{\tau \le t\}} \bar{X}_{t \land \theta} \quad \text{for } t \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

The spaces $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m} \subset \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ are defined by

$$\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta} := p^{\tau,\theta}_m \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta} := p^{\tau,\theta}_m \mathcal{A}^{1,m},$$

and the set $(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta})_+ \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ is given by

$$(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta})_+ := \{ X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} | X \ge 0 \}.$$

In this chapter we want to define conditional convex and positively homogeneous systemic risk measures on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$, i.e., we focus on stochastic processes $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$, which describe the evolution of losses in the interval $[\tau, \theta] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$. In analogy to the static case discussed in Chapter 5, we change the perspective from value processes, considered in the standard approach in Chapter 6, to loss processes.

Before we introduce the defining properties of conditional convex and positively homogeneous systemic and single-firm risk measures, note that for $\bar{\gamma} \in (L^{\infty}_{\tau})^m$ and $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$, we understand $\bar{Y} := \bar{\gamma}I_{[\tau,\theta)}$ and $\bar{Z} := \bar{X}I_{[\tau,\theta)}$ in the following way:

$$\bar{Y}_t^i(\omega) = \bar{\gamma}^i(\omega) I_{[\tau,\theta)}(t,\omega) \quad \text{and} \\ \bar{Z}_t^i(\omega) = \bar{X}_t^i(\omega) I_{[\tau,\theta)}(t,\omega) \quad \text{for } t \in \mathbb{N}_0, \omega \in \Omega, i \in \{1,\ldots,n\}.$$

Let us consider the following properties of a mapping $\rho_0 : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$:

- (r1) Monotonicity: If $X \ge Y$, then $\rho_0(X) \ge \rho_0(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.
- (r2) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convexity: $\rho_0(\gamma X + (1-\gamma)Y) \leq \gamma \rho_0(X) + (1-\gamma)\rho_0(Y)$ for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ with $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1$.
- (r3) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -translation property: $\rho_0(X + \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \rho_0(X) + \gamma$ for all $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$.
- (r4) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -positive homogeneity: $\rho_0(\gamma X) = \gamma \rho_0(X)$ for all $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $\gamma \in (L^{\infty}_{\tau})_+$.

- (r5) Constancy on $\mathfrak{R} \subset L^{\infty}_{\tau}$: $\rho_0(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \gamma$ for all $\gamma \in \mathfrak{R}$.
- (r6) Normalization: $\rho_0(I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = 1.$

Most of these properties, i.e., (r1)-(r4), have already been introduced in Chapter 6. The constancy property (r5) is known from Chapter 5, and a special case of constancy on $\mathfrak{R} \subset L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ is constancy on $\{1\}$, which corresponds with property (r6).

Definition 7.1.2. A conditional convex single-firm risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$) is a mapping $\rho_0 : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ that satisfies the properties (r1) and (r2). A conditional positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$) is a conditional convex single-firm risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$) that additionally satisfies the properties (r4) and (r6). A conditional coherent single-firm risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$) is a conditional positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$) is a conditional positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$) that additionally satisfies the property (r3). For $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$, we set $\rho_0(X) := \rho_0(p^{\tau,\theta}(X))$.

In general, we do not postulate $\rho_0(0) = 0$ (this is the normalization property (n) from Chapter 6) for conditional convex single-firm risk measures. Nevertheless, in Section 7.2 we will see that conditional convex single-firm risk measures ρ_0 that are a part of the decomposition of a conditional convex systemic risk measure (see below) indeed satisfy this additional property.

Moreover, if $\rho_0(0) = 0$ holds, then constancy on L_{τ}^{∞} is equivalent to the translation property for X = 0 since

$$\rho_0(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \rho_0(0 + \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \rho_0(0) + \gamma = \gamma \quad \text{for } \gamma \in L^\infty_\tau.$$

Now, consider the following properties of a mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$:

- (s1) Monotonicity: If $\bar{X} \ge \bar{Y}$, then $\rho(\bar{X}) \ge \rho(\bar{Y})$ for all $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta}$.
- (s2) Preference consistency: If $\rho(\bar{X}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \ge \rho(\bar{Y}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)})$ for $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$, all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, then $\rho(\bar{X}) \ge \rho(\bar{Y})$.
- (s3) f_{ρ} -constancy: Either Im $\rho|_{\mathbb{R}^{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)}} = \mathbb{R}$ and there exists a surjective function $f_{\rho} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ with $f_{\rho}(0) = 0$ such that $\rho(a1_{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = f_{\rho}(a)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ or Im $\rho|_{\mathbb{R}^{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)}} = \mathbb{R}_{+}$ and there exists a function $f_{\rho} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_{+}$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}_{+}$ such that f_{ρ} is surjective and strictly increasing on $[b,\infty), f_{\rho}(a) = 0$ for $a \leq b$ and $\rho(a1_{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = f_{\rho}(a)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (s4) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convexity:

(s4a) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -outcome convexity: $\rho(\gamma \bar{X} + (1 - \gamma) \bar{Y}) \leq \gamma \rho(\bar{X}) + (1 - \gamma)\rho(\bar{Y})$ for all $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ with $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1$.

- (s4b) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -risk convexity: Suppose $\rho(\bar{Z}_t(\omega) I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \gamma(\omega)\rho(\bar{X}_t(\omega) I_{[\tau,\infty)}) + (1 \gamma(\omega))\rho(\bar{Y}_t(\omega) I_{[\tau,\infty)})$ for $\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}, \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ with $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1$ and for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Then $\rho(\bar{Z}) \leq \gamma \rho(\bar{X}) + (1 \gamma)\rho(\bar{Y})$.
- (s5) \mathcal{F}_{τ} -positive homogeneity: $\rho(\gamma \bar{X}) = \gamma \rho(\bar{X})$ for all $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$ and all $\gamma \in (L^{\infty}_{\tau})_+$.
- (s6) Normalization: $\rho(1_n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = n$.

As in the static case, property (s2) means that if

$$\mathbb{P}[\{\omega \in \Omega | \rho(\bar{x}_t I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \ge \rho(\bar{y}_t I_{[\tau,\infty)}), (\bar{x}_t, \bar{y}_t) = (\bar{X}_t(\omega), \bar{Y}_t(\omega)) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0\}] = 1,$$

then $\rho(\bar{X}) \ge \rho(\bar{Y})$, and (s4b) means that

$$\mathbb{P}\left[\begin{cases} \{\omega \in \Omega | \rho(\bar{z}_t I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \gamma \rho(\bar{x}_t I_{[\tau,\infty)}) + (1-\gamma)\rho(\bar{y}_t I_{[\tau,\infty)}), \\ (\bar{z}_t, \bar{x}_t, \bar{y}_t) = (\bar{Z}_t(\omega), \bar{X}_t(\omega), \bar{Y}_t(\omega)) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0 \end{cases} \right] = 1$$

implies $\rho(\bar{Z}) \leq \gamma \rho(\bar{X}) + (1 - \gamma) \rho(\bar{Y})$. Furthermore, it is important to note that the properties (s1), (s3) and (s4a) guarantee the existence of an inverse function f_{ρ}^{-1} of f_{ρ} .

Definition 7.1.3. A conditional positively homogeneous systemic risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$) is a mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ that satisfies the properties (s1), (s2), (s4), (s5), (s6) and $\operatorname{Im} \rho|_{\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}} \subset \mathbb{R}$. If ρ satisfies the properties (s1)-(s4), we call ρ a conditional convex systemic risk measure (on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$). For $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}$, we set $\rho(\bar{X}) := \rho(p_n^{\tau,\theta}(\bar{X})).$

Remark 7.1.4. Every conditional positively homogeneous systemic risk measure ρ satisfies the f_{ρ} -constancy property (s3). The corresponding function f_{ρ} is given by

$$f_{\rho}(a) = \begin{cases} an & \text{if } a \ge 0\\ a(-\rho(-1_n I_{[\tau,\infty)})) & \text{if } a < 0 \end{cases}$$
(7.1)

in case of Im $\rho|_{\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}} = \mathbb{R}$ and $f_{\rho}(a) = na^+$ in case of Im $\rho|_{\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}} = \mathbb{R}_+$. This can be verified analogously to Lemma 5.1.6. As a consequence, every conditional positively homogeneous systemic risk measure is also a convex systemic risk measure.

It remains to consider aggregation functions. In Chapter 5 we have introduced in Definition 5.1.3 convex and positively homogeneous aggregation functions as functions from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R} . In the conditional case, we can use these aggregation functions as well. To be more precisely, because of Remark 7.1.1 and $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}$, we use the aggregation functions from Chapter 5 for $p = \infty$.

Finally, note that in contrast to the definition of property (S3) in Chapter 5, we additionally assume $f_{\rho}(0) = 0$ in property (S3). The reason for this additional requirement is the dependence of the convex systemic risk measure ρ and the corresponding convex aggregation function Λ . This convex aggregation function has to guarantee that $\Lambda(\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}) = \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$. In particular, Λ has to map every $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$ to a process $\Lambda(\bar{X})$ that is equal to 0 before time τ , i.e., $\Lambda(\bar{X}) = \Lambda(\bar{X})I_{[\tau,\infty)}$. We will see below that Λ satisfies this property if we assume that $f_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$.

Remark 7.1.5. Since $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is convex, Λ is continuous and measurable. If we consider $\overline{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ as a function $\overline{X} : (\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega, \mathcal{H}) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ and Λ as a function $\Lambda : (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n)) \to (\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}))$, then $\Lambda(\overline{X}) := \Lambda \circ \overline{X}$ is a measurable function

$$\Lambda(X): (\mathbb{N}_0 \times \Omega, \mathcal{H}) \to (\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}))$$

such that $\Lambda(\bar{X}_t(\omega)) = \Lambda(\bar{X})_t(\omega)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and all $\omega \in \Omega$.

In the remaining part of this section we will show that every convex aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ induces a mapping $\Lambda : \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta} \to \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Lemma 7.1.6. Let $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be an increasing function. Then we have $g(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}) \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$. If additionally g(0) = 0, then $g(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}) \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Proof. Note that g is measurable since each increasing function $g: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is measurable. For each $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$, there exists $r_X \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that $\sup_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} |X_t| \leq r_X$. Monotonicity of g implies $g(-r_X) \leq g(X_t) \leq g(r_X)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. This means $\|g(X)\|_{\mathcal{R}^{\infty}} < \infty$ such that $g(X) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$. $g(X) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ follows directly from g(0) = 0.

The following lemma can easily be deduced from Lemma 5.1.5. Moreover, note that we need the additional assumption $f_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$ to guarantee that $\Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}) = \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Lemma 7.1.7. Let $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex aggregation function with $f_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$ and $\operatorname{Im} \Lambda = \mathbb{R}$ [Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+$]. Then $\Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}) = \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ [$\Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}) = (\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta})_+$].

Proof. First, let $\operatorname{Im} \Lambda = \mathbb{R}$. Because of Remark 7.1.1, we can consider every $\overline{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$ as an element in the space $(L_{\mathcal{H}}^{\infty})^n$. Lemma 5.1.5 yields $\Lambda((L_{\mathcal{H}}^{\infty})^n) \subset L_{\mathcal{H}}^{\infty}$ or, in other words, $\Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}) \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$. Moreover, the additional assumption $f_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$ implies that $\Lambda(0_n) = f_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$. As a consequence, we obtain $\Lambda(\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}) \subset \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$.

On the other hand, fix an arbitrary process $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$. Since f_{Λ} is a bijective function, the inverse function f_{Λ}^{-1} exists and we can define a process Y^X by

$$Y_t^X(\omega) := f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(X_t(\omega)) \quad \text{for } t \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ and } \omega \in \Omega.$$
(7.2)

Because of Lemma 7.1.6, we know that $f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(Z) \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$ for all $Z \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$. It follows $Y^X \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$ and $f_{\Lambda}(Y^X) = X$. By using the f_{Λ} -constancy property of Λ , we obtain for all $X \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$ a process $Y^X \mathbf{1}_n \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$ such that

$$\Lambda(Y^X 1_n) = f_\Lambda(Y^X) = X.$$

This yields $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \subset \Lambda(\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n})$. Summing up, we arrive at $\Lambda(\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}) = \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$.

If Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+$, we have $f_{\Lambda}^{-1} : \mathbb{R}_+ \to [b, \infty)$ and $f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(0) = b$. Hence, the process defined in (7.2) satisfies $Y^X \in \mathcal{R}_{0,\theta}^{\infty}$ for $X \in (\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty})_+$. Nevertheless, the process $(Y^X)'$ defined by $(Y^X)' := Y^X I_{[\tau,\infty)}$ satisfies $(Y^X)' \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$ and $f_{\Lambda}((Y^X)') = X$. \Box

7.2. Structural decomposition

In this section we extend the structural decomposition results from Chapter 5 to our conditional setting. Although the proof of the following theorem is similar to the proof of the static decomposition, we provide the proof in order to obtain a deeper understanding of the relationship and dependence between conditional systemic risk measures, conditional single-firm risk measures and aggregation functions.

Theorem 7.2.1 (Convex structural decomposition).

a) A mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}$ is a conditional convex systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a convex aggregation function $\Lambda: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with $f_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$ and $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ and a conditional convex singlefirm risk measure $\rho_0 : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ that satisfies the constancy property on \mathbb{R} such that ρ is the composition of ρ_0 and Λ , i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \quad for \ all \ \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta}.$$

b) A mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}_+$ is a conditional convex systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a convex aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}_+$ and a conditional convex single-firm risk measure $\rho_0: \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ that satisfies the constancy property on \mathbb{R}_+ such that ρ is the composition of ρ_0 and Λ , i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \quad for \ all \ \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau \theta}.$$

Proof. In case of part a), set $\mathfrak{R} = \mathfrak{S} = \mathbb{R}$, and in case of part b), set $\mathfrak{R} = \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\mathfrak{S} = [b,\infty)$ for $b \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Let ρ be a conditional convex systemic risk measure with $f_{\rho}: \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{R}$ such that f_{ρ} is surjective and strictly increasing on \mathfrak{S} . We define the function Λ by

$$\Lambda(\bar{x}) := \rho(\bar{x}I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \quad \text{for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

The monotonicity property (A1) and the convexity property (A2) follow directly from the corresponding property of ρ . Because ρ satisfies the f_{ρ} -constancy property, we have

$$\Lambda(a1_n) = \rho(a1_n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = f_\rho(a) \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathbb{R}.$$

If we set $f_{\Lambda} := f_{\rho}$, then we obtain the f_{Λ} -constancy property (A3). Because $f_{\rho}(0) = 0$, we also obtain the required property of f_{Λ} . Moreover, Lemma 7.1.7 gives $\Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}) = \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ in case of a) and $\Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}) = (\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta})_+$ in case of b). Now, define $\tilde{\rho}_0 : \Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}) \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ by

$$\tilde{\rho}_0(X) := \rho(\bar{X}) \quad \text{where } \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta} \text{ satisfies } \Lambda(\bar{X}) = X.$$
 (7.3)

Furthermore, define $\rho_0 : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ by

$$\rho_0(X) := \begin{cases} \tilde{\rho}_0(X) & \text{if } \Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}) = \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \\ \tilde{\rho}_0(X^+) & \text{if } \Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}) = (\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta})_+ \end{cases}$$
(7.4)

where the stochastic process $X^+ \in (\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta})_+$ is defined by $X^+_t(\omega) := \max\{X_t(\omega), 0\}$ for $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\omega \in \Omega$.

First, note that $\tilde{\rho}_0$ is well-defined: Let $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$ be such that $\Lambda(\bar{X}) = \Lambda(\bar{Y})$. Then

$$\rho(\bar{X}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \Lambda(\bar{X}_t(\omega)) = \Lambda(\bar{X})_t(\omega) = \Lambda(\bar{Y})_t(\omega) = \Lambda(\bar{Y}_t(\omega)) = \rho(\bar{Y}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)})$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, and preference consistency of ρ yields $\rho(\bar{X}) = \rho(\bar{Y})$.

In what follows, we will verify monotonicity, \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convexity and constancy on \mathfrak{R} for the mapping $\tilde{\rho}_0$ defined by (7.3). Then it follows directly that ρ_0 defined by (7.4) satisfies the monotonicity property (r1), \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convexity (r2) and constancy on \mathfrak{R} (r5).

To prove the monotonicity property for $\tilde{\rho}_0$, let $X, Y \in \Lambda(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta})$ with $\Lambda(\bar{X}) = X$, $\Lambda(\bar{Y}) = Y$ and $X \leq Y$. Then we have

$$\rho(\bar{X}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \Lambda(\bar{X}_t(\omega)) = \Lambda(\bar{X})_t(\omega) \le \Lambda(\bar{Y})_t(\omega) = \Lambda(\bar{Y}_t(\omega)) = \rho(\bar{Y}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)})$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Furthermore, preference consistency of ρ implies $\tilde{\rho}_0(X) \leq \tilde{\rho}_0(Y)$.

It remains to show \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convexity and constancy on \mathfrak{R} . First, consider $X, Y \in \Lambda(\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n})$ and $\gamma \in L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ with $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1$ and set $Z := \gamma X + (1 - \gamma) Y$. Let $\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$ be such that

$$\tilde{\rho}_0(X) = \rho(\bar{X}), \quad \tilde{\rho}_0(Y) = \rho(\bar{Y}), \quad \tilde{\rho}_0(Z) = \rho(\bar{Z})$$

where $\Lambda(\bar{X}) = X$, $\Lambda(\bar{Y}) = Y$ and $\Lambda(\bar{Z}) = Z$. Then we obtain

$$\begin{split} \rho(\bar{Z}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)}) &= \Lambda(\bar{Z})_t(\omega) \\ &= Z_t(\omega) \\ &= \gamma(\omega)X_t(\omega) + (1 - \gamma(\omega))Y_t(\omega) \\ &= \gamma(\omega)\Lambda(\bar{X})_t(\omega) + (1 - \gamma(\omega))\Lambda(\bar{Y})_t(\omega) \\ &= \gamma(\omega)\rho(\bar{X}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)}) + (1 - \gamma(\omega))\rho(\bar{Y}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \end{split}$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Now, \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convexity follows from the \mathcal{F}_{τ} -risk convexity property of ρ since

$$\tilde{\rho}_0(Z) = \rho(\bar{Z}) \le \gamma \rho(\bar{X}) + (1 - \gamma) \rho(\bar{Y}) = \gamma \tilde{\rho}_0(X) + (1 - \gamma) \tilde{\rho}_0(Y).$$

Finally, note that for all $a \in \mathfrak{R}$, there exists $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\Lambda(\bar{x}) = a$ and $\tilde{\rho}_0(aI_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \rho(\bar{x}I_{[\tau,\infty)})$. Since $a = \Lambda(\bar{x}) = \rho(\bar{x}I_{[\tau,\infty)})$, we obtain $\tilde{\rho}_0(aI_{[\tau,\infty)}) = a$ for all $a \in \mathfrak{R}$. This means that $\tilde{\rho}_0$ satisfies the constancy property on \mathfrak{R} . The equality $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ follows immediately from the definition of ρ_0 and Λ .

For the second part of the proof let Λ be a convex aggregation function with $f_{\Lambda} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{R}$ that is surjective and strictly increasing on \mathfrak{S} and satisfies $f_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$. Moreover, assume that ρ_0 is a conditional convex single-firm risk measure with $\rho_0(aI_{[\tau,\infty)}) = a$ for all $a \in \mathfrak{R}$. Monotonicity (s1) and \mathcal{F}_{τ} -outcome convexity (s4a) of ρ follow from the corresponding properties of Λ and ρ_0 . In order to prove preference consistency (s2), fix $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$ with

$$(\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}_t(\omega) I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \rho(\bar{X}_t(\omega) I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \ge \rho(\bar{Y}_t(\omega) I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{Y}_t(\omega) I_{[\tau,\infty)})$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Note that $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \Re$ (and thus $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \Re I_{[\tau,\infty)}$) and $\rho_0(aI_{[\tau,\infty)}) = a$ for all $a \in \Re$. It follows that $\Lambda(\bar{X}_t(\omega)) \ge \Lambda(\bar{Y}_t(\omega))$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. The monotonicity property of ρ_0 yields

$$\rho(X) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(X) \ge (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(Y) = \rho(Y),$$

which means that property (s2) is satisfied.

Now, consider $\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$ and $\gamma \in L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ with $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1$ and assume that $\rho(\bar{Z}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \gamma(\omega)\rho(\bar{X}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)}) + (1-\gamma(\omega))\rho(\bar{Y}_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)})$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Since $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$, this means

$$\rho_0(\Lambda(Z_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)})) = \gamma(\omega)\rho_0(\Lambda(X_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)})) + (1 - \gamma(\omega))\rho_0(\Lambda(Y_t(\omega)I_{[\tau,\infty)}))$$
(7.5)

for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Together with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \Re I_{[\tau,\infty)}$ and $\rho_0(aI_{[\tau,\infty)}) = a$ for all $a \in \mathfrak{R}$, Equation (7.5) yields

$$\Lambda(\bar{Z}_{t}(\omega)) = \gamma(\omega)\Lambda(\bar{X}_{t}(\omega)) + (1 - \gamma(\omega))\Lambda(\bar{Y}_{t}(\omega))$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. The \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convexity property of ρ_0 implies

$$\rho(\bar{Z}) = \rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{Z})) \le \gamma \rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X})) + (1 - \gamma) \rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{Y})) = \gamma \rho(\bar{X}) + (1 - \gamma) \rho(\bar{Y}).$$

Hence, ρ satisfies \mathcal{F}_{τ} -risk convexity (s4b). It remains to show the f_{ρ} -constancy property (s3). The constancy properties of Λ and ρ_0 and $f_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$ imply

$$\rho(a1_n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \rho_0(\Lambda(a1_n I_{[\tau,\infty)})) = \rho_0(f_\Lambda(a) I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = f_\Lambda(a) \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathbb{R}.$$

In conclusion, f_{ρ} -constancy is satisfied with $f_{\rho} := f_{\Lambda}$.

The positively homogeneous case reads as follows. The proof is analogous to the proof of Corollary 5.2.3.

Corollary 7.2.2 (Positively homogeneous structural decomposition).

a) A mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}$ is a conditional positively homogeneous systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a positively homogeneous aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^{n} \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \mathbb{R}$ and a conditional coherent single-firm risk measure $\rho_{0} : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ such that ρ is the composition of ρ_{0} and Λ , i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \quad for \ all \ \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta}.$$

b) A mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}_{+}$ is a conditional positively homogeneous systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a positively homogeneous aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^{n} \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \mathbb{R}_{+}$ and a conditional positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure $\rho_{0} : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ such that ρ is the composition of ρ_{0} and Λ , i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta}.$$

Remark 7.2.3. In the same way to Remark 5.2.4, there exists an alternative formulation for part a) of Corollary 7.2.2:

a') A mapping $\rho : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ with $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}$ is a conditional positively homogeneous systemic risk measure if and only if there exists a positively homogeneous aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Lambda(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}$ and a conditional positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure $\rho_0 : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \to L_{\tau}^{\infty}$ that satisfies the constancy property on \mathbb{R} such that ρ is the composition of ρ_0 and Λ , i.e.,

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau \, \theta}.$$

7.3. Representations of conditional systemic risk measures

In this section we focus on different representation results for conditional convex and positively homogeneous systemic risk measures ρ . From now on, we solely consider compositions $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ in the sense of Theorem 7.2.1 and Corollary 7.2.2. This means that the conditional convex [positively homogeneous] systemic risk measure ρ is characterized by a convex [positively homogeneous] single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and a convex [positively homogeneous] aggregation function Λ . Moreover, Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}$ and $f_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$ or Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+$, and $\rho_0 : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ satisfies constancy on \mathbb{R} in case of Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}$ and constancy on \mathbb{R}_+ in case of Im $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}_+$.

7.3.1. Primal representation

The aim of this subsection is to obtain a first representation of conditional convex systemic risk measures in terms of their acceptance sets.

Definition 7.3.1. The acceptance sets of the conditional convex systemic risk measure $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ with conditional convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and convex aggregation function Λ are given by

$$\hat{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0} := \{ (\gamma, X) \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} | \gamma \ge \rho_0(X) \} \quad and \\
\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} := \{ (Y, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta} | Y \ge \Lambda(\bar{X}) \}.$$

Note that $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} = \{(Y, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta} | Y_t \geq \Lambda(\bar{X}_t) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0\}$. In the following proposition we use the properties from Definition 5.4.2 for subsets of $L^{\infty}_{\tau} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Proposition 7.3.2. Suppose that $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ is a conditional convex systemic risk measure with conditional convex single-firm risk measure $\rho_0 : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ and convex aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$. Let $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}$ and \mathcal{B}_{Λ} be the corresponding acceptance sets.

- 1. $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}$ and \mathcal{B}_{Λ} satisfy the following properties:
 - a) $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}$ and \mathcal{B}_{Λ} satisfy the monotonicity property.
 - b) \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{B}_{Λ} satisfy the epigraph property.
 - c) $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}$ and \mathcal{B}_{Λ} are \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convex sets.
 - d) $(a, aI_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}$ with $\operatorname{ess\,inf}\{\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | (\gamma, aI_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}\} = a \text{ for all}$ $a \in \operatorname{Im} \Lambda \text{ and}$ $(f_{\Lambda}(a)I_{[\tau,\infty)}, a1_nI_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$ with $\operatorname{ess\,inf}\{\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | (\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, a1_nI_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}\} = f_{\Lambda}(a) \text{ for all } a \in \mathbb{R}.$

If $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ is a conditional positively homogeneous systemic risk measure, then the following properties are additionally satisfied:

- e) $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}$ and \mathcal{B}_{Λ} are \mathcal{F}_{τ} -cones.
- $f) \ (nI_{[\tau,\infty)}, 1_n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \ with \ \text{ess} \inf\{\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | (\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, 1_n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}\} = n.$

2. ρ admits the so called primal representation

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \operatorname{ess\,inf}\{\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | (\gamma, Y) \in \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}, (Y, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}\} \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta} \quad (7.6)$$

where we set $ess \inf \emptyset := +\infty$.

Proof. All properties in 1.a)-1.f) for \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{B}_{Λ} are satisfied due to the properties of ρ_0 and Λ . Furthermore, we know that ρ_0 is for all $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ representable by

$$\rho_0(X) = \operatorname{ess\,inf}\{\gamma \in L^\infty_\tau | \gamma \ge \rho_0(X)\} = \operatorname{ess\,inf}\{\gamma \in L^\infty_\tau | (\gamma, X) \in \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}\}.$$

Since $\mathcal{R}^{\infty} = L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}$, we can consider $V \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ as an element in the larger space $L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}$. It follows that

$$\begin{split} \Lambda(\bar{Z}) &= \operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ V \in L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} | V \ge \Lambda(\bar{Z}) \} = \operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ V \in L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} | V \ge \Lambda(\bar{Z}), V \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \} \\ &= \operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ V \in L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} | (V, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \}. \end{split}$$

for all $\overline{Z} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$. Because equality $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ is satisfied, the representations above yield

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | \gamma \ge (\rho_0 \circ \Lambda)(\bar{X}) \} = \operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | (\gamma, \Lambda(\bar{X})) \in \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0} \}$$

= $\operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | (\gamma, \operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ V \in L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} | (V, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \}) \in \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0} \}$

for all $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$. Representation (7.6) follows from the monotonicity property of $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\rho_0}$.

7.3.2. Continuity and closedness

In this subsection we provide closedness results for the acceptance sets of the conditional convex systemic risk measure $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$. These results will be applied in the next subsection to obtain a dual representation of ρ .

But first, note that for any $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$, we can identify the element $\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$. If we define

$$\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0} := \{ (X, Z) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} | X = \gamma I_{[\tau, \infty)} \text{ for } \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}, \gamma \ge \rho_0(Z) \},\$$

then we have a one-to-one relation between the sets \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} . From now on, we focus on the set \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} .

The following lemma is a generalization of Lemma A.65 in Föllmer and Schied (2011) for multi-dimensional L^{∞} -spaces.

Remark 7.3.3 (See, e.g., Section 5.14 in Aliprantis and Border (2006)). Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{V})$ be paired spaces and suppose that $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the corresponding bilinear form. Consider a net $(x_{\iota}) \subset \mathcal{X}$ and $x \in \mathcal{X}$. Then $x_{\iota} \to x$ in $\sigma(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{V})$ if and only if

$$\langle x_{\iota}, v \rangle \to \langle x, v \rangle$$
 in \mathbb{R} for all $v \in \mathcal{V}$.

Similarly, if we suppose that $(v_{\iota}) \subset \mathcal{V}$ is a net and $v \in \mathcal{V}$, then $v_{\iota} \to v$ in $\sigma(\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{X})$ if and only if

$$\langle x, v_{\iota} \rangle \to \langle x, v \rangle$$
 in \mathbb{R} for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$.

Lemma 7.3.4. Define the set $\mathcal{B}_{\infty,m}^r := \{ \bar{X} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m | \| \bar{X} \|_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m} \leq r \}$ for r > 0.

- 1. For every r > 0, the set $\mathcal{B}^r_{\infty,m}$ is closed in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$, i.e., for every sequence $(\bar{Y}^{(k)}) \subset \mathcal{B}^r_{\infty,m}$ that converges to \bar{Y} in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$, we have $\bar{Y} \in \mathcal{B}^r_{\infty,m}$.
- 2. A convex subset \mathcal{C} of $(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ is $\sigma((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m)$ -closed if the set $\mathcal{C}_r := \mathcal{C} \cap \mathcal{B}^r_{\infty,m}$ is closed in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ for every r > 0.

Proof. Part 1: Fix r > 0 and let $(\bar{Y}^{(k)}) \subset \mathcal{B}^r_{\infty,m}$ with $\bar{Y}^{(k)} \to \bar{Y}$ in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$. This means that $\|\bar{Y}^{(k)} - \bar{Y}\|_{(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} = \sum_{i=1}^m \|(\bar{Y}^{(k)})^i - \bar{Y}^i\|_{L^1_{\mathcal{H}}} \to 0$. Hence, $(\bar{Y}^{(k)})^i \to \bar{Y}^i$ in $L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$ for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. Moreover, there exists a subsequence $\bar{Y}^{(k_l)}$ such that $(\bar{Y}^{(k_l)})^i \to \bar{Y}^i \eta$ -a.s. and in $L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$ for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. In addition, the inequality

$$|\bar{Y}^{i}| \le |(\bar{Y}^{(k_{l})})^{i}| + |(\bar{Y}^{(k_{l})})^{i} - \bar{Y}^{i}| \le ||(\bar{Y}^{(k_{l})})^{i}||_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} + |(\bar{Y}^{(k_{l})})^{i} - \bar{Y}^{i}| \quad \eta - \text{a.s}$$

implies

$$\begin{aligned} \max_{i \in \{1,...,m\}} |\bar{Y}^{i}| &\leq \max_{i \in \{1,...,m\}} \left(\left\| (\bar{Y}^{(k_{l})})^{i} \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} + |(\bar{Y}^{(k_{l})})^{i} - \bar{Y}^{i}| \right) \\ &\leq \max_{i \in \{1,...,m\}} \left\| (\bar{Y}^{(k_{l})})^{i} \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} + \max_{i \in \{1,...,m\}} |(\bar{Y}^{(k_{l})})^{i} - \bar{Y}^{i}| \\ &\leq r + \max_{i \in \{1,...,m\}} |(\bar{Y}^{(k_{l})})^{i} - \bar{Y}^{i}| \quad \eta - \text{a.s.} \end{aligned}$$

Since the convergence $(\bar{Y}^{(k_l)})^i \to \bar{Y}^i$ holds η -a.s., it follows $\max_{i \in \{1,...,m\}} |\bar{Y}^i| \leq r$ η -a.s. Therefore, we obtain $|\bar{Y}^i| \leq r \eta$ -a.s. for all $i \in \{1,...,m\}$, which implies $\|\bar{Y}^i\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} \leq r$ for all $i \in \{1,...,m\}$ because $\|\bar{Y}^i\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} = \inf\{c \in \mathbb{R} ||\bar{Y}^i| \leq c \eta$ -a.s.}. But this leads to $\max_{i \in \{1,...,m\}} \|\bar{Y}^i\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} \leq r$, which shows that $\bar{Y} \in \mathcal{B}^r_{\infty,m}$.

Part 2: First, note that the natural injection

$$\Upsilon: ((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, \sigma((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m)) \to ((L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m, \sigma((L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m))$$

is continuous: To this end, consider a net $(\bar{X}^{(\iota)}) \subset (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ with $\bar{X}^{(\iota)} \to \bar{X} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ in the topological space $((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, \sigma((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m))$. Then

$$\langle \bar{X}^{(\iota)}, \bar{\Xi} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} \to \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\Xi} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} \quad \text{for all } \bar{\Xi} \in (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m.$$

Since $\langle \bar{Z}, \bar{Y} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} = \langle \bar{Y}, \bar{Z} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m}$ for all $\bar{Y}, \bar{Z} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$, this implies

$$\langle \bar{Z}, \bar{X}^{(\iota)} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} = \langle \bar{X}^{(\iota)}, \bar{Z} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} \to \langle \bar{X}, \bar{Z} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m} = \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{X} \rangle_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m}$$

for all $\overline{Z} \in (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$. But this means that $\overline{X}^{(\iota)} \to \overline{X}$ in $((L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m, \sigma((L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m))$. Hence, Υ is continuous. Now, suppose that C_r is closed in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m$ for every r > 0 and let C be convex. Since for $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in C_r$ and $a \in [0, 1]$, we have

$$\begin{split} & \max_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} \left\| a \bar{X}^{i} + (1-a) \bar{Y}^{i} \right\|_{L_{\mathcal{H}}^{\infty}} \leq \max_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} \left(a \| \bar{X}^{i} \|_{L_{\mathcal{H}}^{\infty}} + (1-a) \| \bar{Y}^{i} \|_{L_{\mathcal{H}}^{\infty}} \right), \\ & \leq a \max_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} \left\| \bar{X}^{i} \right\|_{L_{\mathcal{H}}^{\infty}} + (1-a) \max_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} \left\| \bar{Y}^{i} \right\|_{L_{\mathcal{H}}^{\infty}} \leq r, \end{split}$$

the set C_r is convex for every r > 0. It follows that each C_r is also $\sigma((L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m)$ closed; see, for instance, Theorem A.60 in Föllmer and Schied (2011). Continuity of Υ implies that C_r is $\sigma((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m)$ -closed in $(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m$. Finally, the Krein-Šmulian theorem (see Theorem A.2.5) yields that \mathcal{C} is $\sigma((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^m, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^m)$ -closed. \Box

In the following definition, we introduce continuity properties for mappings defined on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ and $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$. This definition is closely related to Definition 3.15 in Cheridito et al. (2006) (see Definition 6.2.3).

Definition 7.3.5. We say that a sequence $(\bar{X}^{(k)}) \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta}$ is increasing (decreasing) if each $(\bar{X}^{(k)})^i \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$, $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$, is increasing (decreasing) in k. Moreover, for every $s \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $\bar{X}^{(k)}_s \uparrow \bar{X}_s$ P-a.s. for some $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta}$ means that $(\bar{X}^{(k)}_s)^i \uparrow (\bar{X}_s)^i$ P-a.s. for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$.

We call a mapping $v : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m} \to L^{\infty}$ continuous for bounded increasing sequences if for $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ and every increasing sequence $(\bar{X}^{(k)}) \subset \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ with $\bar{X}_t^{(k)} \uparrow \bar{X}_t$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we obtain $\lim_{k\to\infty} v(\bar{X}^{(k)}) = v(\bar{X}) \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. Similarly, a mapping $\Upsilon : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m} \to L^{\infty}$ is called continuous for bounded

Similarly, a mapping $\Upsilon : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m} \to L^{\infty}$ is called continuous for bounded decreasing sequences in the first argument and bounded increasing sequences in the second argument if for $(X, \bar{Y}) \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ and every sequence $(X^{(k)}, \bar{Y}^{(k)}) \subset \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ that satisfies $X_t^{(k)} \downarrow X_t$ and $\bar{Y}_t^{(k)} \uparrow \bar{Y}_t \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we obtain $\lim_{k\to\infty} \Upsilon(X^{(k)}, \bar{Y}^{(k)}) = \Upsilon(X, \bar{Y}) \mathbb{P}$ -a.s.

The subsequent lemma is one of the main results in this subsection and yields a closedness result for the acceptance set \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} . For the proof we borrow ideas from the proof of Lemma 3.17 in Cheridito et al. (2006) and Section 4 in Cheridito et al. (2004).

Lemma 7.3.6. Let ρ_0 be a conditional convex single-firm risk measure. If ρ_0 is continuous for bounded increasing sequences, then the acceptance set \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}, \mathcal{A}^1 \times \mathcal{A}^1)$ -closed.

Proof. Consider the map $\varrho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ defined by $\varrho(X,Y) := \rho_0(Y) - X_{\tau}$. If ρ_0 is continuous for bounded increasing sequences, then ϱ is continuous for bounded decreasing sequences in the first argument and bounded increasing sequences in the second argument. Moreover, since for each $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ and $Z \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$, $\gamma \geq \rho_0(Z)$ if and only if $0 \geq \varrho(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z)$, we obtain

$$\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0} = \{ (X, Z) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} | X = \gamma I_{[\tau, \infty)} \text{ for } \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \text{ and } 0 \ge \varrho(\gamma I_{[\tau, \infty)}, Z) \}.$$

Consider a net $(X^{\iota}, Y^{\iota}) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}$ and $(X^{\#}, Y^{\#}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$ with $(X^{\iota}, Y^{\iota}) \to (X^{\#}, Y^{\#})$ in the topological space $(\mathcal{R}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}, \sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}, \mathcal{A}^1 \times \mathcal{A}^1))$. Then $(X^{\#}, Y^{\#}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and $X^{\#} = \gamma^{\#} I_{[\tau,\infty)}$ for some $\gamma^{\#} \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$. Assume that $0 < \varrho(X^{\#}, Y^{\#})$ on a set $A \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ with $\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$. The function $\tilde{\varrho} : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\tilde{\varrho}(X,Z) := \mathbb{E}[\varrho(X_{\tau}I_{[\tau,\infty)},Z)I_A]$$

is obviously decreasing in the first and increasing in the second argument and convex. Moreover, $\tilde{\rho}$ is continuous for bounded decreasing sequences in the first argument and bounded increasing sequences in the second argument: Consider $(X, Y) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ and a sequence $(X^{(k)}, Y^{(k)}) \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ that satisfies $X^{(k)}_t \downarrow X_t$ and $Y^{(k)}_t \uparrow Y_t$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Then $\varrho(X^{(k)}_\tau I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y^{(k)}) \uparrow \varrho(X_\tau I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y)$ \mathbb{P} -a.s. Hence, by the monotone convergence theorem, we obtain $\tilde{\varrho}(X^{(k)}, Y^{(k)}) \uparrow \tilde{\varrho}(X, Y)$.

Now, note that $\mathcal{R}^{\infty} = L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}$ and identify \mathcal{A}^1 with $L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$. Define the convex set $\mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\varrho}} := \{(X, Z) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} | X = \gamma I_{[\tau, \infty)} \text{ for } \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \text{ and } 0 \geq \tilde{\varrho}(\gamma I_{[\tau, \infty)}, Z) \}.$ We will show that the set

$$\mathcal{C}_r := \mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\varrho}} \cap \{ (X, Z) \in L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} | \, \| (X, Z) \|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} \le r \}$$

is closed in $L^1_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$ for each r > 0. Then it follows from the second part of Lemma 7.3.4 that $\mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\varrho}}$ is $\sigma(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^1_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^1_{\mathcal{H}})$ -closed.

To this end, fix r > 0, consider C_r as a subset of $L^1_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$ and let $(\gamma^{(k)} I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z^{(k)}) \subset C_r$ be a sequence which converges to $(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z)$ in $L^1_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$.

By the first part of Lemma 7.3.4, we have $\|(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z)\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} \leq r$. It remains to show that $0 \geq \tilde{\varrho}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z)$. Since $(\gamma^{(k)} I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z^{(k)}) \subset \mathcal{C}_r$ converges to $(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z)$ in $L^1_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$, there exists a subsequence $(\gamma^{(k)} I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z^{(k)}) \subset L^1_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$ such that $(\gamma^{(k_l)} I_{\{\tau \leq t\}}, Z^{(k_l)}_t) \to (\gamma I_{\{\tau \leq t\}}, Z_t)$ P-a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. If we define $Y_t^{(m)} := \inf_{l \geq m} (Z_t^{(k_l)} \wedge Z_t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, then $(Y^{(m)})$ is increasing with $Y_t^{(m)} \uparrow Z_t$ P-a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $Y_t^{(m)} \leq Z_t^{(k_m)}$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Similarly, define $\phi^{(m)} := \sup_{l \geq m} (\gamma^{(k_l)} \vee \gamma)$ such that $(\phi^{(m)})$ is decreasing with $\phi^{(m)} \downarrow \gamma$ P-a.s. and $\phi^{(m)} \geq \gamma^{(k_m)}$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$.

The monotonicity property of $\tilde{\varrho}$ yields $\tilde{\varrho}(\gamma^{(k_m)}I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z^{(k_m)}) \geq \tilde{\varrho}(\phi^{(m)}I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y^{(m)})$, and together with the continuity property of $\tilde{\varrho}$, we obtain

$$0 \ge \liminf_{m \to \infty} \tilde{\varrho}(\gamma^{(k_m)} I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z^{(k_m)}) \ge \lim_{m \to \infty} \tilde{\varrho}(\phi^{(m)} I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y^{(m)}) = \tilde{\varrho}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Z).$$

Thus, \mathcal{C}_r is closed in $L^1_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$.

As $(X^{\iota}, Y^{\iota}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}$, we know that $X^{\iota} = \gamma^{\iota} I_{[\tau,\infty)}$ and $0 \ge \varrho(\gamma^{\iota} I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y^{\iota})$. This implies $\tilde{\varrho}(\gamma^{\iota} I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y^{\iota}) = \mathbb{E}[\varrho(\gamma^{\iota} I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y^{\iota})I_A] \le 0$, i.e., $(X^{\iota}, Y^{\iota}) \in \mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\varrho}}$. Because $\mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\varrho}}$ is $\sigma(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}, L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \times L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}})$ -closed, this means that $(X^{\#}, Y^{\#}) \in \mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\varrho}}$ and

$$0 \ge \tilde{\varrho}(X^{\#}, Y^{\#}) = \mathbb{E}[\varrho(\gamma^{\#}I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y^{\#})I_A] = \mathbb{E}[\varrho(\gamma^{\#}I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y^{\#})|A]\mathbb{P}[A].$$

Since $\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$ and $0 < \varrho(X^{\#}, Y^{\#})$ on A, this is a contradiction. It follows $\varrho(X^{\#}, Y^{\#}) \leq 0$, i.e., \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}, \mathcal{A}^1 \times \mathcal{A}^1)$ -closed. \Box

Before we prove the analogous result to Lemma 7.3.6 for the acceptance set \mathcal{B}_{Λ} , note that every convex aggregation function $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is automatically continuous. This implies that Λ satisfies the following property: For $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ and every increasing sequence $(\bar{X}^{(k)}) \subset \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ with $\bar{X}_t^{(k)} \uparrow \bar{X}_t$ P-a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, it follows that $\Lambda(\bar{X}_t^{(k)}) \uparrow \Lambda(\bar{X}_t)$ P-a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Lemma 7.3.7. Let Λ be a convex aggregation function. Then the acceptance set \mathcal{B}_{Λ} is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n+1}, \mathcal{A}^{1,n+1})$ -closed.

Proof. Define the mapping $\Upsilon_t : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{\infty}_t$ by $\Upsilon_t(X, \overline{Z}) := \Lambda(\overline{Z}_t) - X_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Since Λ is continuous, each Υ_t is continuous for bounded decreasing sequences in the first argument and bounded increasing sequences in the second argument. Moreover, since for each $(X, \overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$, $X_t \ge \Lambda(\overline{Z}_t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ if and only if $0 \ge \Upsilon_t(X, \overline{Z})$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we obtain

$$\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} = \{ (X, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta} | 0 \ge \Upsilon_t(X, \bar{Z}) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0 \}.$$

Consider a net $(Y^{\iota}, \bar{X}^{\iota}) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$ and $(Y^{\#}, \bar{X}^{\#}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n+1}$ with $(Y^{\iota}, \bar{X}^{\iota}) \to (Y^{\#}, \bar{X}^{\#})$ in the topological space $(\mathcal{R}^{\infty, n+1}, \sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty, n+1}, \mathcal{A}^{1, n+1}))$. Then $(Y^{\#}, \bar{X}^{\#}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta}$. Assume that there exists $s \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that $0 < \Upsilon_s(Y^{\#}, \bar{X}^{\#})$ on a set $A_s \in \mathcal{F}_s$ with $\mathbb{P}[A_s] > 0$. For all other $(s \neq)t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we set $A_t := \emptyset$. For each $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the function $\Upsilon_t : \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta} \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\widetilde{\Upsilon}_t(Y, \overline{X}) := \mathbb{E}[\Upsilon_t(Y, \overline{X})I_{A_t}]$$

is decreasing in the first and increasing in the second argument, convex and continuous for bounded decreasing sequences in the first argument and bounded increasing sequences in the second argument.

From now on, we use that $\mathcal{R}^{\infty} = L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}$ and identify \mathcal{A}^1 with $L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$. Define $\mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\Upsilon}} := \{(Y, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta} | 0 \geq \tilde{\Upsilon}_t(Y, \bar{X}) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0\}$ and consider the set

$$\mathcal{C}_r := \mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\Upsilon}} \cap \{ (Y, \bar{X}) \in L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \times (L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^n | \| (Y, \bar{X}) \|_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1}} \le r \}.$$

We will show that C_r is closed in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1}$ for each r > 0. According to the second part of Lemma 7.3.4, this implies that $\mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\Upsilon}}$ is $\sigma((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1}, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1})$ -closed.

Fix r > 0 and let $(Z^{(k)}, \overline{U}^{(k)}) \subset C_r$ be a sequence which converges to (Z, \overline{U}) in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1}$. By the first part of Lemma 7.3.4, we know that $||(Z, \overline{U})||_{(L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1}} \leq r$. Hence, it remains to verify that $0 \geq \tilde{\Upsilon}_t(Z, \overline{U})$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. For $t \neq s$ this is trivial. In conclusion, we have to consider the case t = s.

Since $(Z^{(k)}, \bar{U}^{(k)}) \subset C_r$ converges to (Z, \bar{U}) in the space $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1}$, we can find a subsequence $(Z^{(k_l)}, \bar{U}^{(k_l)}) \subset (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1}$ such that $(Z^{(k_l)}_u, \bar{U}^{(k_l)}_u) \to (Z_u, \bar{U}_u)$ P-a.s. for all $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Define $(\bar{Y}^{(m)})^i_u := \inf_{l \ge m} ((\bar{U}^{(k_l)})^i_u \wedge \bar{U}^i_u)$ for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Then $\bar{Y}^{(m)}_u \uparrow \bar{U}_u$ P-a.s. for all $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\bar{Y}^{(m)}_u \le \bar{U}^{(k_m)}_u$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Similarly, for $V^{(m)}_u := \sup_{l \ge m} (Z^{(k_l)}_u \lor Z_u), u \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we obtain $V^{(m)}_u \downarrow Z_u$ P-a.s. for all $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $V^{(m)}_u \ge Z^{(k_m)}_u$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$. The monotonicity property of $\tilde{\Upsilon}_s$ implies $\tilde{\Upsilon}_s(Z^{(k_m)}, \bar{U}^{(k_m)}) \geq \tilde{\Upsilon}_s(V^{(m)}, \bar{Y}^{(m)})$, and the continuity property of $\tilde{\Upsilon}_s$ vields

$$0 \ge \liminf_{m \to \infty} \tilde{\Upsilon}_s(Z^{(k_m)}, \bar{U}^{(k_m)}) \ge \lim_{m \to \infty} \tilde{\Upsilon}_s(V^{(m)}, \bar{Y}^{(m)}) = \tilde{\Upsilon}_s(Z, \bar{U}).$$

Altogether, we get the closedness of \mathcal{C}_r in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1}$.

Since $(Y^{\iota}, \bar{X}^{\iota}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$, we know that $0 \geq \Upsilon_t(Y^{\iota}, \bar{X}^{\iota})$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. This implies $\widetilde{\Upsilon}_t(Y^\iota, \bar{X}^\iota) = \mathbb{E}[\Upsilon_t(Y^\iota, \bar{X}^\iota)I_{A_t}] \leq 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0, \text{ i.e., } (Y^\iota, \bar{X}^\iota) \in \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{\Upsilon}}. \text{ Because } \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{\Upsilon}}$ is $\sigma((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1}, (L^{1}_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+1})$ -closed, this means that $(Y^{\#}, \bar{X}^{\#}) \in \mathcal{D}_{\tilde{\Upsilon}}$ and

$$0 \ge \tilde{\Upsilon}_t(Y^\#, \bar{X}^\#) = \mathbb{E}[\Upsilon_t(Y^\#, \bar{X}^\#)I_{A_t}] = \mathbb{E}[\Upsilon_t(Y^\#, \bar{X}^\#)|A_t]\mathbb{P}[A_t] \quad \text{for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

But this is a contradiction to $\mathbb{P}[A_s] > 0$ and $0 < \Upsilon_s(Y^{\#}, \bar{X}^{\#})$ on A_s . It follows $\Upsilon_t(Y^{\#}, \bar{X}^{\#}) \leq 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. In other words, \mathcal{B}_{Λ} is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty, n+1}, \mathcal{A}^{1, n+1})$ -closed.

The next lemma is another building block for the proof of the dual representation result in the following subsection.

Lemma 7.3.8. Let $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ be a conditional convex systemic risk measure characterized by a conditional convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and a convex aggregation function Λ . If ρ_0 is continuous for bounded increasing sequences, then the convex set

$$\mathcal{C}^{d,X}_{\rho_0 \circ \Lambda} := \{ (V, X, Z, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n+3}_{\tau, \theta} | V = \phi I_{[\tau, \infty)} \text{ for some } \phi \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \text{ and} \\ \mathbb{E}[\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}) - X - Z)] - \mathbb{E}[\phi] \le d \}$$

is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n+3},\mathcal{A}^{1,n+3})$ -closed for each $d \in \mathbb{R}$ and each $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Proof. Fix $d \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$ and consider the function $\varrho : \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n+3}_{\tau,\theta} \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $\varrho(V, X, Z, \overline{Z}) := \mathbb{E}[\rho_0(\Lambda(\overline{X} - \overline{Z}) - X - Z)] - \mathbb{E}[V_{\tau}] - d$. Then ϱ is decreasing due to the monotonicity properties of ρ_0 and Λ . Let $(\tilde{U}^{(k)}) := (V^{(k)}, X^{(k)}, Z^{(k)}, \overline{Z}^{(k)}) \subset$ $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n+3}$ be a decreasing sequence with $\tilde{U}_t^{(k)} \downarrow \tilde{U}_t$ P-a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\tilde{U} :=$ $(V, X, Z, \overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty, n+3}$. Then continuity and monotonicity of Λ imply $\Lambda(\overline{X} - \overline{Z}^{(k)})_t \uparrow$ $\Lambda(\bar{X}-\bar{Z})_t$ P-a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Furthermore, the continuity for bounded increasing sequences and the monotonicity property of ρ_0 yield $\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X}-\bar{Z}^{(k)})-X^{(k)}-Z^{(k)})$ $\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X}-\bar{Z})-X-Z)$ P-a.s. By the monotone convergence theorem, we obtain
$$\begin{split} & \rho(V^{(k)}, X^{(k)}, \bar{Z}^{(k)}, \bar{Z}^{(k)}, \bar{Z}^{(k)}) \uparrow \varrho(V, X, \bar{Z}, \bar{Z}). \\ & \text{Since for each } (V, X, Z, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n+3}_{\tau, \theta}, \, d \geq \mathbb{E}[\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}) - X - Z)] - \mathbb{E}[V_\tau] \text{ if and } \end{split}$$

only if $0 \ge \rho(V, X, Z, \overline{Z})$, we have

$$\mathcal{C}^{d,X}_{\rho_0 \circ \Lambda} = \{ (V, X, Z, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n+3}_{\tau, \theta} | V = \phi I_{[\tau, \infty)} \text{ for some } \phi \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \text{ and} \\ 0 \ge \varrho(\phi I_{[\tau, \infty)}, X, Z, \bar{Z}) \}.$$

We will show that the set

$$\mathcal{C}_r := \mathcal{C}^{d,X}_{\rho_0 \circ \Lambda} \cap \{ (V, X, Z, \bar{Z}) \in (L^\infty_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+3} | \left\| (V, X, Z, \bar{Z}) \right\|_{(L^\infty_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+3}} \le r \}$$

is closed in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+3}$ for each r > 0. Then $\mathcal{C}^{d,\bar{X}}_{\rho_0 \circ \Lambda}$ is $\sigma((L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+3}, (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+3})$ -closed due to the second part of Lemma 7.3.4.

Now, fix r > 0 and let $(\tilde{U}^{(k)}) := (\phi^{(k)}I_{[\tau,\infty)}, X^{(k)}, Z^{(k)}, \bar{Z}^{(k)}) \subset \mathcal{C}_r$ be a sequence that satisfies $(\tilde{U}^{(k)}) \to \tilde{U}$ in $(L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+3}$ for $\tilde{U} = (\phi I_{[\tau,\infty)}, X, Z, \bar{Z}) \in (L^1_{\mathcal{H}})^{n+3}$. It remains to prove that $0 \ge \varrho(\tilde{U})$.

Since $(\tilde{U}^{(k)})^i \to \tilde{U}^i$ in $L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$ for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n+3\}$, there exists a subsequence $(\tilde{U}^{(k_l)})$ such that $(\tilde{U}^{(k_l)})^i \to \tilde{U}^i \eta$ -a.s. and in $L^1_{\mathcal{H}}$ for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, n+3\}$. This means that $(\tilde{U}^{(k_l)})^i_t \to \tilde{U}^i_t$ P-a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Define $(\tilde{Y}^{(m)})^i_t := \sup_{l \ge m} ((\tilde{U}^{(k_l)})^i_t \lor \tilde{U}^i_t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $i \in \{1, \ldots, n+3\}$. Then $(\tilde{Y}^{(m)})^i \subset \mathcal{R}^\infty$ is decreasing and $(\tilde{Y}^{(m)})^i_t \downarrow \tilde{U}^i_t$ P-a.s. for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $i \in \{1, \ldots, n+3\}$. By the monotonicity property of ϱ , we have $\varrho(\tilde{U}^{(k_m)}_t) \ge \varrho(\tilde{Y}^{(m)})$, and the continuity property of ϱ implies

$$0 \ge \liminf_{m \to \infty} \varrho(\tilde{U}^{(k_m)}) \ge \lim_{m \to \infty} \varrho(\tilde{Y}^{(m)}) = \varrho(\tilde{U}).$$

Note that the pairing $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_m$ defined on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}\times\mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ induces the pairing

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m \mid_{\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta}} : \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta} \to \mathbb{R}$$

defined on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m} \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$. In the following, we do not distinguish between these two cases. The next lemma provides a basic property of the spaces $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$.

Lemma 7.3.9. $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$ satisfy the following properties:

- 1. $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ separates points of $\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$ under $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$: If $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$ and $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m = 0$ for all $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$, then $\bar{\xi} = 0$.
- 2. $\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$ separates points of $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ under $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$: If $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ and $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m = 0$ for all $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$, then $\bar{X} = 0$.

Proof. We know from Remark 7.1.1 that $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ separates points of $\mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ and $\mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ separates points of $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ under $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$. This means

$$\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m} \text{ and } \left\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \right\rangle_m = 0 \text{ for all } \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \bar{\xi} = 0,$$
 (7.7)

$$\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m} \text{ and } \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m = 0 \text{ for all } \bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \bar{X} = 0.$$
 (7.8)

Let us first consider $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$ and assume that $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m = 0$ for all $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$. Then every $\bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ satisfies

$$\left\langle \bar{Y}, \bar{\xi} \right\rangle_m = \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} \bar{Y}_t^i \Delta \bar{\xi}_t^i\right] = \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t \in [\tau, \theta] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \bar{Y}_t^i \Delta \bar{\xi}_t^i\right] = \left\langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi} \right\rangle_m$$

for $\bar{Z} := \bar{Y}I_{[\tau,\theta]} + \bar{Y}_{\theta}I_{(\theta,\infty)} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta}$. Hence, it follows $\langle \bar{Y}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m = 0$ for all $\bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ and (7.7) yields $\bar{\xi} = 0$. Therefore, $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta}$ separates points of $\mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta}$ under $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$.
On the other hand, let $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ and assume that $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m = 0$ for all $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$. Now, consider an arbitrary $\bar{\psi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$. Since $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\psi} \rangle_m = \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E}[\sum_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} \bar{X}_t^i \Delta \psi_t^i]$ and $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$, we can find an element $\bar{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$ such that $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\psi} \rangle_m = \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\phi} \rangle_m$: Define $\bar{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$ by $\bar{\phi}_t^i := 0$ on $\{t < \tau\}$, $\Delta \bar{\phi}_t^i := \Delta \bar{\psi}_t^i$ on $\{\tau \le t < \theta\}$, $\Delta \bar{\phi}_\theta^i := \mathbb{E}[\sum_{t \in [\theta,\infty) \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \Delta \bar{\psi}_t^i | \mathcal{F}_{\theta}]$ and $\bar{\phi}_t^i := \bar{\phi}_{\theta}^i$ on $\{t > \theta\}$ for $i \in \{1,\ldots,m\}$. Then $\bar{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$ because $\bar{\phi} = p_m^{\tau,\theta}(\bar{\phi})$ and

$$\begin{split} \|\bar{\phi}\|_{\mathcal{A}^{1,m}} &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in [\tau,\theta) \cap \mathbb{N}_{0}} |\Delta \bar{\psi}_{t}^{i}| + \left| \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in [\theta,\infty) \cap \mathbb{N}_{0}} \Delta \bar{\psi}_{t}^{i} \right| \mathcal{F}_{\theta} \right] \right] \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{m} \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in [\tau,\theta) \cap \mathbb{N}_{0}} |\Delta \bar{\psi}_{t}^{i}| + \sum_{t \in [\theta,\infty) \cap \mathbb{N}_{0}} |\Delta \bar{\psi}_{t}^{i}| \right] \leq \|\bar{\psi}\|_{\mathcal{A}^{1,m}} < \infty. \end{split}$$

Moreover, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\psi} \right\rangle_m &= \sum_{i=1}^m \left(\mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in [\tau, \theta) \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \bar{X}_t^i \Delta \bar{\psi}_t^i \right] + \mathbb{E} \left[\bar{X}_\theta^i \sum_{t \in [\theta, \infty) \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \Delta \bar{\psi}_t^i \right] \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^m \left(\mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in [\tau, \theta) \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \bar{X}_t^i \Delta \bar{\psi}_t^i \right] + \mathbb{E} \left[\bar{X}_\theta^i \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in [\theta, \infty) \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \Delta \bar{\psi}_t^i \middle| \mathcal{F}_\theta \right] \right] \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^m \left(\mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in [\tau, \theta) \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \bar{X}_t^i \Delta \bar{\phi}_t^i \right] + \mathbb{E} [\bar{X}_\theta^i \Delta \bar{\phi}_\theta^i] \right) \\ &= \left\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\phi} \right\rangle_m. \end{split}$$

Hence, for any $\bar{\psi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$, there exists an element $\bar{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta}$ such that $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\psi} \rangle_m = \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\phi} \rangle_m$. This implies $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\psi} \rangle_m = 0$ for any $\bar{\psi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$. Thus, (7.8) yields $\bar{X} = 0$. In other words, $\mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta}$ separates points of $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta}$ under $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$.

Because of the previous Lemma, we can define the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}, \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m})$ on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ and the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}, \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m})$ on $\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$ (see Definition A.2.1). Both topologies are compatible with the pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$. Let us consider the so called *subspace topology* $\mathfrak{T}_{\tau,\theta}^m$ on $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ defined by

$$\mathfrak{T}^m_{\tau,\theta} := \{ \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta} | \mathcal{U} \in \sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}, \mathcal{A}^{1,m}) \}.$$

The next remark clarifies the relationship between $\sigma(\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m},\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m})$ and $\mathfrak{T}_{\tau,\theta}^{m}$.

Remark 7.3.10. It is well known that $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}, \mathcal{A}^{1,m}) = \sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}, \mathscr{F})$ where $\mathscr{F} = \{f_{\bar{\xi}} : \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m} \to \mathbb{R} | f_{\bar{\xi}}(\cdot) = \langle \cdot, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m$ for $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m} \}$. Here, the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}, \mathscr{F})$ denotes the topology on $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ defined by the base which is given by all sets of the form

$$\{\bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m} || f_{\bar{\xi}^{(i)}}(\bar{Y}) - f_{\bar{\xi}^{(i)}}(\bar{X})| < \epsilon, i = 1, \dots, n\}$$

for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ and $f_{\bar{\xi}(i)} \in \mathscr{F}$; see, for instance, Section V.3 in Dunford and Schwartz (1957). Lemma 2.53 in Aliprantis and Border (2006) states that $\mathfrak{T}_{\tau,\theta}^m = \sigma(\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}, \mathscr{F}|_{\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}})$ where $\mathscr{F}|_{\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}} := \{f_{\bar{\xi}}|_{\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}} : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m} \to \mathbb{R} | f_{\bar{\xi}} \in \mathscr{F}\}$. Moreover, in the proof of the previous lemma we have verified that for each $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$, we can find an element $\bar{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}$ such that $\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m = \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\phi} \rangle_m$ for all $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$. This implies $\mathscr{F}|_{\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}} = \{g_{\bar{\xi}} : \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m} \to \mathbb{R} | g_{\bar{\xi}}(\cdot) = \langle \cdot, \bar{\xi} \rangle_m$ for $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,m}\}$. As a consequence, we have

$$\mathfrak{T}^m_{\tau,\theta} = \sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta},\mathscr{F}|_{\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta}}) = \sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}_{\tau,\theta},\mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta})$$

Finally, the previous results are combined to the following lemma.

Lemma 7.3.11. Let ρ_0 be a conditional convex single-firm risk measure and Λ be a convex aggregation function.

- 1. If ρ_0 is continuous for bounded increasing sequences, then the acceptance set \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}, \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta})$ -closed.
- 2. The acceptance set \mathcal{B}_{Λ} is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n+1}, \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n+1})$ -closed.
- 3. If ρ_0 is continuous for bounded increasing sequences, then the set $\mathcal{C}^{d,\bar{X}}_{\rho_0\circ\Lambda}$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n+3}_{\tau,\theta},\mathcal{A}^{1,n+3}_{\tau,\theta})$ -closed for all $d \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Proof. Note that the $\mathfrak{T}_{\tau,\theta}^m$ -closed subsets \mathcal{C} of $\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ are the sets $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{D} \cap \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,m}$ where \mathcal{D} is some $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}, \mathcal{A}^{1,m})$ -closed subset of $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$; see, for instance, Section 2.1 in Aliprantis and Border (2006). Since $\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0} = \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0} \cap (\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty})$, it follows from Lemma 7.3.6 that \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} is $\mathfrak{T}_{\tau,\theta}^2$ -closed. Similarly, we obtain that \mathcal{B}_{Λ} is $\mathfrak{T}_{\tau,\theta}^{n+1}$ -closed and $\mathcal{C}_{\rho_0 \circ \Lambda}^{d,\bar{X}}$ is $\mathfrak{T}_{\tau,\theta}^{n+3}$ -closed for all $d \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$. Now, all assertions follow from the previous remark.

7.3.3. Dual representation

In order to formulate a dual representation result for conditional convex systemic risk measures, we have to generalize the definitions from Section 6.2 for m dimensions. Hence, define for $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ and $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}$

$$\left\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \right\rangle_m^{\tau,\theta} := \sum_{i=1}^m \left\langle \bar{X}^i, \bar{\xi}^i \right\rangle^{\tau,\theta} = \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{t \in [\tau,\theta] \cap \mathbb{N}_0} \bar{X}^i_t \Delta \bar{\xi}^i_t \middle| \mathcal{F}_\tau \right].$$

As in one-dimensional case, we obtain for $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,m}$ and $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta}$

$$\left\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \right\rangle_m = \sum_{i=1}^m \left\langle \bar{X}^i, \bar{\xi}^i \right\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E}[\left\langle \bar{X}^i, \bar{\xi}^i \right\rangle^{\tau, \theta}] = \mathbb{E}[\left\langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \right\rangle_m^{\tau, \theta}].$$

Finally, consider the following natural extensions of the spaces \mathcal{A}^1_+ and $(\mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta})_+$ for *m* dimensions

$$\mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{+} := \{ \bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{A}^{1,m} | \Delta \bar{\xi}^i_t \ge 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{N}_0, i \in \{1,\dots,m\} \},$$
(7.9)

$$(\mathcal{A}^{1,m}_{\tau,\theta})_+ := p^{\tau,\theta}_m \mathcal{A}^{1,m}_+ \tag{7.10}$$

and define

$$\mathcal{E}_{ au, heta} := \{\xi \in (\mathcal{A}^1_{ au, heta})_+ | \langle 1,\xi
angle^{ au, heta} \le 1\},$$

To prove the dual representation result, we need the following technical lemma. For a proof see, for instance, Detlefsen and Scandolo (2005).

Lemma 7.3.12. Consider a set $\mathcal{Y} \subset L^0(\mathbb{R})$ and suppose that \mathcal{Y} is directed upwards, *i.e.*, for all $\gamma, \gamma' \in \mathcal{Y}$, there exists $\gamma'' \in \mathcal{Y}$ with $\gamma'' \geq \gamma \lor \gamma'$. Then

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\gamma\in\mathcal{Y}}\gamma\right] = \sup_{\gamma\in\mathcal{Y}}\mathbb{E}\left[\gamma\right]$$

if the expectations exist (finite or infinite).

Theorem 7.3.13. Suppose that $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ is a conditional convex systemic risk measure characterized by a conditional convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and a convex aggregation function Λ . If ρ_0 is continuous for bounded increasing sequences, then ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \underset{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}\times(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_+}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \left\{ \langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \right\} \quad \text{for all } \bar{X}\in\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \tag{7.11}$$

where $\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}: \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^0_{\tau}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+)$ is given by

$$\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0},(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\gamma + \langle Y-V,\xi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta}\}.$$
 (7.12)

If $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}$, then a feasible solution to optimization problem (7.11) additionally satisfies $\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Remark. Note that unlike in the static case, we do not need an additional continuity requirement for Λ . In Chapter 5 we additionally claim L^p -continuity of $\Lambda : (L^p)^n \to L^p$. The reason for this difference is that in case of conditional convex systemic risk measures, we solely consider the space of bounded processes. In contrast to this, convex systemic risk measures are defined on $(L^p)^n$ -spaces for all $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ in the static framework. Moreover, in case of convex systemic risk measures on $(L^{\infty})^n$, we study the paired space $((L^{\infty})^n, (ba)^n)$ where $(L^{\infty})^n$ is endowed with the corresponding norm topology, and in this chapter we study the paired space $(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}, \mathcal{A}^{1,n})$ where $\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}$ is endowed with the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}, \mathcal{A}^{1,n})$.

Proof. Fix $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$. *Part 1:* At first, we will verify the following equation:

$$\mathbb{E}[\rho(\bar{X})] = \sup_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta}\times\mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta}} \{\mathbb{E}[\langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle^{\tau,\theta}_{n} - \alpha^{\tau,\theta}_{n}(\xi,\bar{\xi})]\}$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta}\times\mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta}} \{\langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle^{\tau,\theta}_{n} - \alpha^{\tau,\theta}_{n}(\xi,\bar{\xi})\}\right].$$
(7.13)

By the primal representation of ρ in Proposition 7.3.2, we have

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \operatorname{ess\,inf} \{ \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} | (\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}, (Y,\bar{X}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \} \\ = \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{(\gamma,Y) \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}} \{ \gamma + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} (\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y,\bar{X}) \}.$$

Define the mapping $s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} : \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \to L^0_{\tau}(\overline{\mathbb{R}})$ for the convex set \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} by

$$s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\psi,\xi) := \underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}{\mathrm{ess\,sup}} \{ \langle \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle Y,\xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} \}.$$

Consider the set $\mathcal{C} := \mathcal{C}^{\psi,\xi} := \{-\langle \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \psi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle Y, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} | (\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}\}$ and let $C := -\langle \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \psi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle Y, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta}$ and $C' := -\langle \gamma' I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \psi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle Y', \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta}$ be such that $C, C' \in \mathcal{C}$. Moreover, define $A := \{C \geq C'\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$. Then we have

$$CI_A + C'I_{A^c} = -\langle (\gamma I_A + \gamma' I_{A^c})I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \psi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle YI_A + Y'I_{A^c}, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta}$$

and $((\gamma I_A + \gamma' I_{A^c}) I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y I_A + Y' I_{A^c}) = I_A(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) + I_{A^c}(\gamma' I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y') \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}$ since \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} is convex. This means that \mathcal{C} is directed upwards and that we can apply Lemma 7.3.12. Then we obtain a function $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} : \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ by setting $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\psi,\xi) := \mathbb{E}[s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\psi,\xi)]$, and $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}$ satisfies

$$\begin{split} \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(-\psi,\xi) &= \sup_{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} \mathbb{E}\big[-\langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle Y,\xi\rangle^{\tau,\theta}\big] \\ &= \sup_{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} \big\{-\langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi\rangle + \langle Y,\xi\rangle\big\} \end{split}$$

for all $(\psi,\xi) \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta}$. Furthermore, the convex conjugate of $\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}$ is given by

$$\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}^* (-\psi, \xi) = \sup_{(X,Y)\in\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}\times\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}} \{-\langle X, \psi \rangle + \langle Y, \xi \rangle - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(X,Y)\}$$
$$= \sup_{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} \{-\langle \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \psi \rangle + \langle Y, \xi \rangle\} = \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} (-\psi, \xi)$$

for $(\psi, \xi) \in \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta}$. Since ρ_{0} is continuous for bounded increasing sequences, it follows from Lemma 7.3.11 that the acceptance set $\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}, \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta})$ closed. This implies $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}, \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta})$ -closedness of the function $\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}$. Furthermore, the duality theorem for conjugate functions (see Theorem A.2.9) leads to

$$\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y) = \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}^{**}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)$$

$$= \sup_{(\psi,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}} \{\langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi\rangle + \langle Y,\xi\rangle - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}^{*}(\psi,\xi)\}$$

$$= \sup_{(\psi,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}} \{-\langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi\rangle + \langle Y,\xi\rangle - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(-\psi,\xi)\}$$
(7.14)

for $(\gamma, Y) \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta}$.

Similarly, we can define the mapping $s_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}} : \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^{0}_{\tau}(\overline{\mathbb{R}})$ for the convex set \mathcal{B}_{Λ} by

$$s_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(\phi,\bar{\xi}) := \underset{(Y,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \left\{ \left\langle Y,\phi\right\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \left\langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\right\rangle^{\tau,\theta}_{n} \right\}$$

and show that the set $\mathcal{M}^{\phi,\bar{\xi}} := \{-\langle Y,\phi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta}|(Y,\bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{B}_\Lambda\}$ is directed upwards. Then the function $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_\Lambda} : \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta} \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ defined by $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_\Lambda}(\phi,\bar{\xi}) := \mathbb{E}[s_{\mathcal{B}_\Lambda}(\phi,\bar{\xi})]$ satisfies

$$\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi}) = \sup_{(Y,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}} \mathbb{E}\left[-\langle Y,\phi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta}\right] = \sup_{(Y,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}} \left\{-\langle Y,\phi\rangle + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n}\right\}$$

and

$$\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}^{*}(-\phi,\bar{\xi}) = \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi})$$

for $(\phi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta}$. According to Lemma 7.3.11, the acceptance set \mathcal{B}_{Λ} is $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n+1}_{\tau,\theta}, \mathcal{A}^{1,n+1}_{\tau,\theta})$ -closed. It follows directly that the function $\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}$ is closed with respect to the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n+1}_{\tau,\theta}, \mathcal{A}^{1,n+1}_{\tau,\theta})$, and by the duality theorem for conjugate functions, we obtain

$$\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y,\bar{X}) = \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}^{**}(Y,\bar{X})$$

$$= \sup_{(\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n}} \{\langle Y,\phi\rangle + \langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n} - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}^{*}(\phi,\bar{\xi})\}$$

$$= \sup_{(\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n}} \{-\langle Y,\phi\rangle + \langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n} - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi})\}$$
(7.15)

for $(Y, \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty, n}_{\tau, \theta}$. With Lemma 7.3.15, Lemma 7.3.12 and Equations (7.14) and (7.15) it follows that

$$\mathbb{E}[\rho(\bar{X})] = \mathbb{E}\left[\underset{(\gamma,Y)\in L^{\infty}_{\tau}\times\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}}{\operatorname{ess inf}} \{\gamma + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y,\bar{X})\right] \\ = \underset{(\gamma,Y)\in L^{\infty}_{\tau}\times\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}}{\operatorname{inf}} \mathbb{E}\left[\gamma + \underset{(\psi,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta}\times\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta}}{\operatorname{sup}} \{-\langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi\rangle + \langle Y,\xi\rangle - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(-\psi,\xi)\} \\ + \underset{(\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta}\times\mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta}}{\operatorname{sup}} \{-\langle Y,\phi\rangle + \langle\bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n} - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi})\}\right] \\ = \underset{(\gamma,Y)\in L^{\infty}_{\tau}\times\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}(\psi,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta}\times\mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta}}{\operatorname{sup}} \{\mathbb{E}[\gamma] - \langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi\rangle + \langle Y,\xi\rangle - \langle Y,\phi\rangle \\ + \langle\bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n} - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(-\psi,\xi) - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi})]\}.$$
(7.16)

Now, Lemma 7.3.14 yields

$$\mathbb{E}[\rho(\bar{X})] = \sup_{\substack{(\psi,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1},(\gamma,Y)\in L_{\tau}^{\infty}\times\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}\\(\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n}}} \inf_{\substack{(\psi,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n}\\(\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n},(\gamma,Y)\in L_{\tau}^{\infty}\times\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}}} \left\{ \mathbb{E}[\gamma(1-\langle 1,\psi\rangle^{\tau,\theta})] + \langle Y,\xi-\phi\rangle\right. \\ \left. + \mathbb{E}[\langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} - s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(-\psi,\xi) - s_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi})] \right\} \\ = \sup_{\substack{(\psi,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n},(1,\psi)^{\tau,\theta}=1\\(\phi,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n},(1,\psi)^{\tau,\theta}=1}} \left\{ \mathbb{E}[\langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} - s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(-\psi,\xi) - s_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\xi,\bar{\xi})] \right\}.$$

$$(7.17)$$

The last equation can be verified as follows: First, assume that $A := \{\langle 1, \psi \rangle^{\tau, \theta} >$ 1} $\in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ satisfies $\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$. Then $\gamma^{(m)}$ defined by $\gamma^{(m)} := mI_A$ satisfies $\gamma^{(m)} \in$ L^{∞}_{τ} for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\mathbb{E}[\gamma^{(m)}(1-\langle 1,\psi\rangle^{\tau,\theta})] < 0$. As a consequence, we have $\lim_{m\to\infty} \mathbb{E}[\gamma^{(m)}(1-\langle 1,\psi\rangle^{\tau,\theta})] = -\infty.$ The same argumentation applies if A := $\{\langle 1,\psi\rangle^{\tau,\theta}<1\}$. Hence, it suffices to consider $\psi\in\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta}$ with $\langle 1,\psi\rangle^{\tau,\theta}=1$ in the supremum.

Now, let us assume that there exists $s \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that $A_s := \{\Delta \xi_s < \Delta \phi_s\} \in \mathcal{F}_s$ satisfies $\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$ and define $Y^{(m)} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ by $Y^{(m)}_t := mI_{A_s}I_{\{t=s\}}$ for $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\langle Y^{(m)}, \xi - \phi \rangle = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} Y_t^{(m)} \Delta(\xi_t - \phi_t)\right] = \mathbb{E}[mI_A \Delta(\xi_s - \phi_s)] < 0,$$

which implies that $\lim_{m\to\infty} \langle Y^{(m)}, \xi - \phi \rangle = -\infty$. With the same argumentation for $A := \{\Delta \xi_s > \Delta \phi_s\}$ it follows that we only have to consider $(\psi, \xi) \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau, \theta}$ such that $\Delta \xi_t = \Delta \phi_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Hence, $\xi_t = \phi_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$. For $\psi \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta}$ with $\langle 1, \psi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} = 1$ and $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta}$, we obtain

$$s_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(-\psi,\xi) + s_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\xi,\bar{\xi})$$

$$= \underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\gamma\langle 1,\psi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle Y,\xi\rangle^{\tau,\theta}\} + \underset{(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\langle V,\xi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta}\}$$

$$= \underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}},(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\gamma + \langle Y-V,\xi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta}\}$$

$$= \alpha_{n}^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}).$$

Thus, (7.13) follows from Equation (7.17) and an application of Lemma 7.3.16 and Lemma 7.3.12.

Part 2: Now, we will show that

$$\mathbb{E}[\rho(\bar{X})] = \sup_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}\times(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_+} \{\mathbb{E}[\langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})]\} \\ = \mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}\times(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_+} \{\langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})\}\right].$$

First, note that for every $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta}$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}[\alpha_{n}^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})] = \mathbb{E}\left[\underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}},(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\gamma + \langle Y - V,\xi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta}\}\right]$$
$$= \underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}},(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\operatorname{sup}} \mathbb{E}[-\gamma + \langle Y - V,\xi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta}]$$
$$= \underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}},(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\operatorname{sup}} \{-\mathbb{E}[\gamma] + \langle Y - V,\xi\rangle + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_{n}\}$$

because the set $\{-\gamma + \langle Y - V, \xi \rangle^{\tau, \theta} + \langle \overline{Z}, \overline{\xi} \rangle_n^{\tau, \theta} | (\gamma I_{[\tau, \infty)}, Y) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}, (V, \overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \}$ is directed upwards.

Assume that there exists $s \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that $\Delta \xi_s < 0$ on $A_s \in \mathcal{F}_s$ with $\mathbb{P}[A_s] > 0$. We will show that this implies $\mathbb{E}[\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})] = \infty$: The constancy property of ρ_0 yields $\rho_0(0) = 0$, and hence $(0,0) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}$. Define $Y^{(m)} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$ by $Y_t^{(m)} := -mI_{A_s}I_{\{t=s\}}$ for $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $0 \geq Y^{(m)}$, and $(0, Y^{(m)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}$ for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$ due to the monotonicity property of \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} . Moreover, we have

$$\langle Y^{(m)}, \xi \rangle = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0} Y_t^{(m)} \Delta \xi_t\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[-mI_{A_s} \Delta \xi_s\right] > 0,$$

which implies $\lim_{m\to\infty} \langle Y^{(m)}, \xi \rangle = \infty$. Together, we obtain $\mathbb{E}[\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})] = \infty$. In conclusion, we only have to consider $\xi \in (\mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta})_+$.

The same argumentation applies if we suppose that there exists $s \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ such that $\Delta \bar{\xi}_s^j < 0$ on $A_s \in \mathcal{F}_s$ with $\mathbb{P}[A_s] > 0$. Then monotonicity of the acceptance set \mathcal{B}_{Λ} implies $\mathbb{E}[\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi, \bar{\xi})] = \infty$, such that we only have to consider $\bar{\xi} \in (\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_+$.

Now, let $\xi \in (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta})_{+}$ be such that $-1 + \langle 1, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} > 0$ on $A \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ with $\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$. Since $(\lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}$ for all $\lambda \geq 0$ and since $\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}$ is \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convex, we obtain $I_{A}(\lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}) + I_{A^{c}}(0,0) = I_{A}(\lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}$. Moreover, we have for all $\lambda > 0$

$$-\mathbb{E}[\lambda I_A] + \langle \lambda I_A I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \xi \rangle = -\mathbb{E}[\lambda I_A] + \mathbb{E}[\langle \lambda I_A I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta}]$$
$$= \lambda \mathbb{E}[(-1 + \langle 1, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta})I_A] > 0,$$

and $\lim_{\lambda\to\infty} (-\mathbb{E}[\lambda I_A] + \langle \lambda I_A I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \xi \rangle) = \infty$ implies again that $\mathbb{E}[\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})] = \infty$. Hence, $\xi \in \mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Finally, assume that $\rho(\mathbb{R}^{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}$. It remains to show that $\langle 1,\xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} \geq 1$. Consider $\xi \in \mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}$ with $1 - \langle 1,\xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} > 0$ on $A \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ with $\mathbb{P}[A] > 0$. Because $\rho(\mathbb{R}^{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}$, we know that $\rho_{0}(-\lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = -\lambda$ for all $\lambda \geq 0$. Thus, $(-\lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}, -\lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}$ for all $\lambda \geq 0$. \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convexity of $\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}$ yields $I_{A}(-\lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}, -\lambda I_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}$ for all $\lambda > 0$. Furthermore,

$$-\mathbb{E}[(-\lambda)I_A] + \langle (-\lambda)I_AI_{[\tau,\infty)}, \xi \rangle = \lambda \mathbb{E}[(1 - \langle 1, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta})I_A] > 0$$

for all $\lambda > 0$ and $\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} (-\mathbb{E}[(-\lambda)I_A] + \langle (-\lambda)I_AI_{[\tau,\infty)}, \xi \rangle) = \infty$. Therefore, we obtain $\mathbb{E}[\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})] = \infty$. Altogether, we arrive at $\langle 1,\xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} = 1$.

Part 3: It remains to prove that

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \underset{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}\times(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_+}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{ \langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \}.$$

Let us begin with " \geq ": For $(\xi, \overline{\xi}) \in \mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta} \times (\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_+$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha_{n}^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\xi) \\ &= \underset{\substack{(\gamma,Y)\in L_{\tau}^{\infty}\times\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}, \\ (V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}\times\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \left\{ -\gamma + \langle Y-V,\xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi} \rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y) - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(V,\bar{Z}) \right\} \\ &\geq \underset{\substack{(\gamma,Y)\in L_{\tau}^{\infty}\times\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}, \bar{Z}\in\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \left\{ -\gamma + \langle Y-Y,\xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi} \rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y) \\ - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y,\bar{Z}) \right\} \\ &= \underset{(\gamma,Y)\in L_{\tau}^{\infty}\times\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}, \bar{Z}\in\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \left\{ -\gamma + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi} \rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y) - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y,\bar{Z}) \right\} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\bar{Z}\in\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}} \left\{ \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} - \rho(\bar{Z}) \right\} \\ & = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\bar{Z}\in\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}} \left\{ \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} + \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(\gamma,Y)\in L^{\infty}_{\tau}\times\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}} \{ -\gamma - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y, \bar{Z}) \} \right\} \\ & = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(\gamma,Y)\in L^{\infty}_{\tau}\times\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}, \bar{Z}\in\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}} \{ -\gamma + \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) - \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y, \bar{Z}) \}. \end{aligned}$$

Together, we obtain $\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \geq \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\bar{Z}\in\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}}\{\langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \rho(\bar{Z})\}$. This inequality implies $\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \geq \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \rho(\bar{Z})$, i.e., $\rho(\bar{Z}) \geq \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})$ for all $\bar{Z}\in\mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}$ and $(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}\times(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_+$. Therefore, we have

$$\rho(\bar{X}) \ge \sup_{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}\times(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_+} \{\langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})\}.$$
(7.18)

Since the second part of this proof states that the expectations of both sides of (7.18) are equal, we get equality in (7.18).

Lemma 7.3.14. Suppose that the requirements from Theorem 7.3.13 are satisfied. Define $\mathcal{X} := \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty}, \ \mathcal{X}' := \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1} \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}, \ \mathcal{U} := \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty} \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \text{ and } \mathcal{U}' := \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1} \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1} \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n} \text{ and consider the paired spaces } (\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X}'), \ (\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}').$ Let $\overline{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \text{ and } K : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{U}' \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ be defined by

$$\begin{split} K((X,Y),(\psi,\xi,\phi,\xi)) \\ &:= \begin{cases} \left[\mathbb{E}\left[\gamma\right] - \left\langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi\right\rangle + \left\langle Y,\xi\right\rangle - \left\langle Y,\phi\right\rangle + \left\langle\bar{X},\bar{\xi}\right\rangle_n \\ &-\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(-\psi,\xi) - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi}) \right] & \text{if } X = \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)} \text{ for } \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \\ &\infty & else \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Then we have

$$\inf_{\substack{(\gamma,Y)\in L^{\infty}_{\tau}\times\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}}} \sup_{\substack{(\psi,\xi,\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}'}} K((\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y),(\psi,\xi,\phi,\xi)) \\
= \sup_{\substack{(\psi,\xi,\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}'}} \inf_{\substack{(\gamma,Y)\in L^{\infty}_{\tau}\times\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}}} K((\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y),(\psi,\xi,\phi,\bar{\xi}))$$

Proof. The proof of this lemma is similar to the proof of Lemma 5.4.6. Fix $\overline{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$ and note that K is concave in the second argument since $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} = \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}^*$ and $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}} = I_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}^*$ are convex; see, for instance, Theorem 5 in Rockafellar (1974) (see Theorem A.2.9). Moreover, $-K((X,Y),\cdot)$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{U}',\mathcal{U})$ -closed for each $(X,Y) \in \mathcal{X}$: If $-K((X,Y),\cdot) = -\infty$, this holds by definition. Otherwise, we have $-K((X,Y),\cdot) = -K((\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y),\cdot) > -\infty$ for some $\gamma \in L_{\tau}^\infty$. In this case, the function

$$(\psi,\xi,\phi,\bar{\xi})\mapsto \mathbb{E}\left[\gamma\right] - \left\langle\gamma I_{\left[\tau,\infty\right)},\psi\right\rangle + \left\langle Y,\xi\right\rangle - \left\langle Y,\phi\right\rangle + \left\langle\bar{X},\bar{\xi}\right\rangle_{r}$$

is $\sigma(\mathcal{U}',\mathcal{U})$ -continuous. Moreover, according to Theorem 5 in Rockafellar (1974), the function $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} = \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}^*$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^1 \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^1, \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^\infty \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^\infty)$ -closed. The properness of $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}$ (we have $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(0,0) = 0$) implies that $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^1 \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^1, \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^\infty \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^\infty)$ -l.s.c. Similarly, it follows that $\tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}} = \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}^*$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^1 \times \mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n}, \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^\infty \times \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n})$ -l.s.c. Altogether, we obtain that $-K((\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y), \cdot)$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{U}', \mathcal{U})$ -l.s.c. Therefore, $-K((\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y), \cdot)$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{U}', \mathcal{U})$ -closed.

By Theorem 6 in Rockafellar (1974) (see Theorem A.2.12), we know that K is the Lagrangian of the minimization problem "minimize f over \mathcal{X} " where f is given by $f(W, Y) = F((W, Y), 0_{n+3})$ for $F : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{U} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ defined by

$$\begin{split} F((W,Y),(V,X,Z,Z)) &:= \sup_{(\psi,\xi,\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}'} \left\{ K((W,Y),(\psi,\xi,\phi,\bar{\xi})) - \langle V,\psi\rangle - \langle X,\xi\rangle - \langle Z,\phi\rangle - \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n \right\} \\ &= \begin{cases} \left[\sup_{(\psi,\xi,\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}'} \{\mathbb{E}\left[\gamma\right] - \langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},\psi\rangle + \langle Y,\xi\rangle \\ -\langle Y,\phi\rangle + \langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(-\psi,\xi) - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi}) \\ -\langle V,\psi\rangle - \langle X,\xi\rangle - \langle Z,\phi\rangle - \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n \} \right] & \text{if } W = \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)} \text{ for } \gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \\ \infty & \text{else} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Moreover, Theorem 6 in Rockafellar (1974) states that $F((W,Y), \cdot)$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}')$ closed and convex. For $(W,Y) \in \mathcal{X}$ with $W = \gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}$ for some $\gamma \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$ and $(V,X,Z,\overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{U}$, the function F satisfies

$$\begin{split} F((W,Y),(V,X,Z,\bar{Z})) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\gamma\right] + \sup_{\substack{(\psi,\xi,\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{U}'}} \left\{-\langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)} + V,\psi\rangle + \langle Y - X,\xi\rangle - \langle Y + Z,\phi\rangle \\ &+ \langle \bar{X} - \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(-\psi,\xi) - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi})\} \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\gamma\right] + \sup_{\substack{(\psi,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^1\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^1}} \left\{-\langle\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)} + V,\psi\rangle + \langle Y - X,\xi\rangle - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(-\psi,\xi)\} \\ &+ \sup_{\substack{(\phi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^1\times\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n}}} \left\{-\langle Y + Z,\phi\rangle + \langle \bar{X} - \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \tilde{s}_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(-\phi,\bar{\xi})\} \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\gamma\right] + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)} + V,Y - X) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y + Z,\bar{X} - \bar{Z}). \end{split}$$

Hence, F is convex in both arguments. Now, define the convex function φ by

$$\begin{split} \varphi(V, X, Z, Z) \\ &:= \inf_{(W,Y) \in \mathcal{X}} F((W,Y), (V, X, Z, \bar{Z})) \\ &= \inf_{(\gamma,Y) \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta}} \{ \mathbb{E} \left[\gamma \right] + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}} (\gamma I_{[\tau, \infty)} + V, Y - X) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}} (Y + Z, \bar{X} - \bar{Z}) \} \end{split}$$

for $(V, X, Z, \overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{U}$. The definition of \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} implies $\varphi(V, X, Z, \overline{Z}) = \infty$ if $V \neq \phi I_{[\tau,\infty)}$ for all $\phi \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$. On the other hand, if $V = \phi I_{[\tau,\infty)}$ for $\phi \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$, then

$$\begin{split} \varphi(\phi I_{[\tau,\infty)}, X, Z, Z) \\ &= \inf_{(\gamma,Y)\in L^{\infty}_{\tau}\times\mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}} \{\mathbb{E}[\gamma] + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}((\gamma+\phi)I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y-X) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y+Z, \bar{X}-\bar{Z})\} \\ &= \inf_{\gamma\in L^{\infty}_{\tau}} \{\mathbb{E}[\gamma] + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}((\gamma+\phi)I_{[\tau,\infty)}, \Lambda(\bar{X}-\bar{Z}) - X-Z)\} \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\rho_{0}(\Lambda(\bar{X}-\bar{Z})-X-Z)] - \mathbb{E}[\phi]. \end{split}$$

Therefore, φ satisfies

$$\varphi(V, X, Z, \bar{Z}) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{E}[\rho_0(\Lambda(\bar{X} - \bar{Z}) - X - Z)] - \mathbb{E}[\phi] & \text{if } V = \phi I_{[\tau, \infty)} \text{ for } \phi \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \\ \infty & \text{else} \end{cases}.$$
(7.19)

Since ρ_0 maps into L^{∞}_{τ} and $\phi \in L^{\infty}_{\tau}$, this means that $\varphi(\phi I_{[\tau,\infty)}, X, Z, \overline{Z}) < \infty$. Hence, φ is proper. If we can show that φ is $\sigma(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}')$ -l.s.c., then the assertion follows from Theorem 7 in Rockafellar (1974) (see Theorem A.2.13). To prove that φ is $\sigma(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}')$ -l.s.c., we have to show that the set $\{(V, X, Z, \overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{U} | \varphi(V, X, Z, \overline{Z}) \leq d\}$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}')$ -closed for all $d \in \mathbb{R}$. Equation (7.19) yields for every $d \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\{(V, X, Z, Z) \in \mathcal{U} | \varphi(V, X, Z, Z) \leq d\}$$

= $\{(V, X, Z, \overline{Z}) \in \mathcal{U} | V = \phi I_{[\tau, \infty)} \text{ for some } \phi \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \text{ and } \mathbb{E}[\rho_0(\Lambda(\overline{X} - \overline{Z}) - X - Z)] - \mathbb{E}[\phi] \leq d\}$
= $\mathcal{C}^{d, \overline{X}}_{\rho_0 \circ \Lambda}$

where the set $\mathcal{C}^{d,\bar{X}}_{\rho_0\circ\Lambda}$ is defined in Lemma 7.3.8. $\sigma(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{U}')$ -closedness of $\mathcal{C}^{d,\bar{X}}_{\rho_0\circ\Lambda}$ follows immediately from Lemma 7.3.11.

Lemma 7.3.15. For each $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$, the set

$$\mathcal{N} := \left\{ \gamma + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y, \bar{X}) \middle| (\gamma, Y) \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau, \theta} \right\}$$

is directed downwards.

Proof. Fix $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$ and let $N, N' \in \mathcal{N}$ with $N := \gamma + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y, \bar{X})$ and $N' = \gamma' + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\gamma' I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y') + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y', \bar{X})$. In order to show that \mathcal{N} is directed downwards, we have to find an $N'' = \gamma'' + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\gamma'' I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y'') + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y'', \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{N}$ such that $N'' \leq N \wedge N'$. We distinguish between four different cases: If $N = N' = \infty$, set $Y'' = \Lambda(\bar{X})$ and $\gamma'' = \rho_0(Y'')$. If $N = \infty$ and $N' < \infty$ $[N' = \infty$ and $N < \infty]$, then define N'' = N' [N'' = N]. At last, consider the case in which $N, N' < \infty$: Since $N, N' < \infty$, we have $(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y), (\gamma' I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y') \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}$ and $(Y, \bar{X}), (Y', \bar{X}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$. Define the set $A := \{N \geq N'\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$. Then

$$I_{A\iota\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\gamma' I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y') + I_{A^c}\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) = 0$$

and $\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}(I_A(\gamma' I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y') + I_{A^c}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y)) = 0$ since \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} is \mathcal{F}_{τ} -convex. Similarly, we obtain

$$I_{A\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}}(Y',X) + I_{A^{c}\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}}(Y,X) = 0$$

and $\iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(I_A(Y', \bar{X}) + I_{A^c}(Y, \bar{X})) = 0$. This yields

$$N'I_{A} + NI_{A^{c}}$$

$$= (\gamma' + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(\gamma' I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y') + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y', \bar{X}))I_{A} + (\gamma + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y, \bar{X}))I_{A^{c}}$$

$$= \gamma' I_{A} + \gamma I_{A^{c}}$$

$$= (\gamma' I_{A} + \gamma I_{A^{c}}) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}}((\gamma' I_{A} + \gamma I_{A^{c}})I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y' I_{A} + Y I_{A^{c}}) + \iota_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}(Y' I_{A} + Y I_{A^{c}}, \bar{X}).$$

Because $(\gamma' I_A + \gamma I_{A^c}, Y' I_A + Y I_{A^c}) \in L^{\infty}_{\tau} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta}$, it follows that \mathcal{N} is directed downwards.

Lemma 7.3.16. For each $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}$, the set

$$\mathcal{M} := \{ \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_n^{\tau, \theta} - \alpha_n^{\tau, \theta}(\xi, \bar{\xi}) | (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1, n}_{\tau, \theta} \}$$

is directed upwards.

Proof. Fix $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n}$ and let $M := \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi, \bar{\xi})$ and $M' := \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\phi} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\phi, \bar{\phi})$ be such that $M, M' \in \mathcal{M}$. Furthermore, define $A := \{M \ge M'\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$. Then $M'' := MI_A + M'I_{A^c} \ge M \lor M'$ and

$$M'' = \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi}I_A + \bar{\phi}I_{A^c} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \underset{(\gamma,Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0},(\hat{\gamma},\hat{Y})\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\gamma I_A - \hat{\gamma}I_{A^c} + \langle Y, \xi I_A \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \hat{Y}, \phi I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta} \} - \underset{(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda},(\hat{V},\hat{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\langle V, \xi I_A \rangle^{\tau,\theta} - \langle \hat{V}, \phi I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi}I_A \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \hat{Z}, \bar{\phi}I_{A^c} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} \}.$$

Moreover, it is easily seen that

$$\begin{split} \langle YI_A + \hat{Y}I_{A^c}, \xi I_A + \phi I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta} &= \langle YI_A, \xi I_A \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \hat{Y}I_{A^c}, \phi I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta} \\ \langle \bar{Z}I_A + \bar{\bar{Z}}I_{A^c}, \bar{\xi}I_A + \bar{\phi}I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta}_n &= \langle \bar{Z}I_A, \bar{\xi}I_A \rangle^{\tau,\theta}_n + \langle \bar{\bar{Z}}I_{A^c}, \bar{\phi}I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta}_n. \end{split}$$

It follows

$$\begin{split} M'' &= \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi}I_A + \bar{\phi}I_{A^c} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} \\ &- \underset{(\gamma,Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}, (\hat{\gamma}, \hat{Y})\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}{\mathrm{ess\,sup}} \left\{ -\gamma I_A - \hat{\gamma}I_{A^c} + \langle YI_A + \hat{Y}I_{A^c}, \xi I_A + \phi I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta} \right\} \\ &- \underset{(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}, (\hat{V}, \hat{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{ess\,sup}} \left\{ -\langle VI_A + \hat{V}I_{A^c}, \xi I_A + \phi I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta} \\ &+ \langle \bar{Z}I_A + \hat{\bar{Z}}I_{A^c}, \bar{\xi}I_A + \bar{\phi}I_{A^c} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} \right\} \\ &\leq \langle \bar{X}, \bar{\xi}I_A + \bar{\phi}I_{A^c} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} - \underset{(\gamma,Y)\in\mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}}{\mathrm{ess\,sup}} \left\{ -\gamma + \langle Y, \xi I_A + \phi I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta} \right\} \\ &- \underset{(V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{ess\,sup}} \left\{ -\langle V, \xi I_A + \phi I_{A^c} \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi}I_A + \bar{\phi}I_{A^c} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Since $(\xi I_A + \phi I_{A^c}, \bar{\xi} I_A + \bar{\phi} I_{A^c}) = I_A(\xi, \bar{\xi}) + I_{A^c}(\phi, \bar{\phi}) \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau, \theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1, n}_{\tau, \theta}$, the set \mathcal{M} is directed upwards.

In the remaining part of this subsection we consider the positively homogeneous special case of Theorem 7.3.13. In order to prove the corresponding result, we borrow ideas from the proof of Corollary 11.6 in Föllmer and Schied (2011). Let us define

$$\mathcal{Z} := \left\{ (\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y, V, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta} | (\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}, (V, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \right\}$$

and

$$\mathcal{Z}^{\#} := \{ (\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta} | -\gamma + \langle Y - V, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi} \rangle^{\tau,\theta}_{n} \le 0$$

for all $(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y, V, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{Z} \}.$

Theorem 7.3.17. Suppose that $\rho = \rho_0 \circ \Lambda$ is a conditional positively homogeneous systemic risk measure characterized by a conditional positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and a positively homogeneous aggregation function Λ . If ρ_0 is continuous for bounded increasing sequences, then ρ admits the representation

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \underset{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{Z}^{\#}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} \quad \text{for all } \bar{X}\in\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{\tau,\theta}.$$
(7.20)

In addition, a feasible solution to optimization problem (7.20) satisfies

$$\xi \in \mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}, \quad \bar{\xi} \in (\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_+ \quad and \quad \langle 1_n, \bar{\xi} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} \le n \langle 1, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta}$$

If additionally $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}$, then $\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$.

Proof. Since every conditional positively homogeneous systemic risk measure characterized by a conditional positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and a positively homogeneous aggregation function Λ is also a conditional convex systemic risk measure characterized by the conditional convex single-firm risk measure ρ_0 and the convex aggregation function Λ , we can apply Theorem 7.3.13. Hence, ρ satisfies

$$\rho(\bar{X}) = \underset{(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{E}_{\tau,\theta}^{1}\times(\mathcal{A}_{\tau,\theta}^{1,n})_{+}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \left\{ \left\langle \bar{X},\bar{\xi} \right\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} - \alpha_{n}^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \right\} \quad \text{for all } \bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{\tau,\theta}^{\infty,n} \tag{7.21}$$

where $\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}: \mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta} \to L^0_{\tau}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+)$ is given by

$$\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y,V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{Z}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\gamma + \langle Y - V,\xi\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi}\rangle_n^{\tau,\theta}\}.$$

Moreover, Theorem 7.3.13 states that every feasible solution to (7.21) satisfies $\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{\tau,\theta}$ if $\rho(\mathbb{R}^n I_{[\tau,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}$. Since ρ_0 and Λ are $(\mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ -)positively homogeneous, we know that \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{B}_{Λ} are \mathcal{F}_{τ} -cones. This implies that

$$\{\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})=0\}\cup\{\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})=\infty\}=\Omega\quad\text{for all }(\xi,\bar{\xi})\in\mathcal{A}^1_{\tau,\theta}\times\mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta}.$$

To prove the previous equality, fix $(\xi, \bar{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\tau,\theta} \times \mathcal{A}^{1,n}_{\tau,\theta}$ and consider $A := \{\alpha^{\tau,\theta}_{n}(\xi, \bar{\xi}) > 0\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$. For every $(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y, V, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{Z}$, we have $\lambda I_{A}(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_{0}}$ and $\lambda I_{A}(V, \bar{Z}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$ for all $\lambda > 0$. Hence, we obtain

$$\alpha_{n}^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y,V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{Z}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\gamma + \langle Y - V,\xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z},\bar{\xi} \rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} \} \\
\geq \underset{(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)},Y,V,\bar{Z})\in\mathcal{Z}}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \{-\lambda\gamma I_{A} + \langle \lambda Y I_{A} - \lambda V I_{A},\xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \lambda \bar{Z} I_{A},\bar{\xi} \rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} \} \\
= \lambda I_{A} \alpha_{n}^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}).$$
(7.22)

It follows that $\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \infty$ on A since $\lambda I_A \alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \to \infty I_A \mathbb{P}$ -a.s.

Now, let us consider $\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi})$ for $(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$. By definition of $\mathbb{Z}^{\#}$, we have $-\gamma + \langle Y - V, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} \leq 0$ for all $(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y, V, \bar{Z}) \in \mathbb{Z}$. Since $(0,0,0,0_n) \in \mathbb{Z}$, this implies $\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = 0$ for all $(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$.

On the other hand, consider $(\xi, \overline{\xi}) \notin \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$. Then there exists $(\gamma I_{[\tau,\infty)}, Y, V, \overline{Z}) \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $B \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ with $\mathbb{P}[B] > 0$ such that

$$\left(-\gamma + \langle Y - V, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z}, \bar{\xi} \rangle^{\tau,\theta}_n\right) I_B = -\gamma I_B + \langle Y I_B - V I_B, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \langle \bar{Z} I_B, \bar{\xi} \rangle^{\tau,\theta}_n > 0 \quad \text{on } B$$

Note that Equation (7.22) is also true with B instead of A. As a consequence, $\alpha_n^{\tau,\theta}(\xi,\bar{\xi}) = \infty$ on B. Hence, we only have to consider $(\xi,\bar{\xi}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$ in Equation (7.21).

It remains to verify the inequality $\langle 1_n, \bar{\xi} \rangle_n^{\tau,\theta} \leq n \langle 1, \xi \rangle^{\tau,\theta}$ for feasible solutions $(\xi, \bar{\xi})$ to (7.20). Since \mathcal{B}_{ρ_0} and \mathcal{B}_{Λ} satisfy $(0,0) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho_0}$ and $(f_{\Lambda}(1)I_{[\tau,\infty)}, 1_nI_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$, we know that $(0, 0, f_{\Lambda}(1)I_{[\tau,\infty)}, 1_nI_{[\tau,\infty)}) \in \mathcal{Z}$. Thus, it follows

$$\left\langle -f_{\Lambda}(1)I_{[\tau,\infty)},\xi\right\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \left\langle 1_{n}I_{[\tau,\infty)},\bar{\xi}\right\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} = \left\langle -f_{\Lambda}(1),\xi\right\rangle^{\tau,\theta} + \left\langle 1_{n},\bar{\xi}\right\rangle_{n}^{\tau,\theta} \le 0$$

for all $(\xi, \overline{\xi}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\#}$. Normalization of Λ leads to the desired inequality.

7.4. Dynamic systemic risk measures

In this section we define dynamic systemic risk measures as families of conditional systemic risk measures at different points in time. This dynamization of conditional systemic risk measures requires an appropriate time-consistency concept, which is introduced and studied in Subsection 7.4.1.

For the remaining part of this section fix $S \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $T \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that $S \leq T$ and set $S := [S, T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$. Note that we analyze dynamic systemic risk measures on a finite interval only. This is similar to the model setting in Cheridito and Kupper (2011).

Definition 7.4.1. For each $t \in S$, let $\rho_{t,T} : \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty,n} \to L_t^{\infty}$ be a conditional convex [positively homogeneous] systemic risk measure with $\rho_{t,T} = \rho_{t,T}^0 \circ \Lambda_{t,T}$ for a conditional convex [positively homogeneous] single-firm risk measure $\rho_{t,T}^0 : \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^\infty \to L_t^\infty$ that satisfies the \mathcal{F}_t -translation property and a convex [positively homogeneous] aggregation function $\Lambda_{t,T} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$. Then we call the family $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in S}$ dynamic convex [positively homogeneous] systemic risk measure. Moreover, we call the corresponding family $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in S}$ dynamic convex [coherent] single-firm risk measure, and the family $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in S}$ is called dynamic convex [positively homogeneous] aggregation function.

Because of the previous definition, dynamic convex risk measures $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ can be decomposed into a dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and a dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$. For the remaining part of this thesis, we solely consider dynamic convex single-firm risk measures $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and dynamic convex aggregation functions $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ being part of a dynamic convex systemic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ in the sense of Theorem 7.2.1 and Corollary 7.2.2, i.e., we have $\rho_{t,T} = \rho_{t,T}^0 \circ \Lambda_{t,T}$ for each $t \in \mathcal{S}$.

Thus, for every dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$, we have either Im $\Lambda_{t,T} = \mathbb{R}$ and $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(0) = 0$ or Im $\Lambda_{t,T} = \mathbb{R}_+$ for $t \in \mathcal{S}$. Furthermore, for every dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$, each $\rho_{t,T}^0$, $t \in \mathcal{S}$, additionally satisfies the \mathcal{F}_t -translation property. Because of Theorem 7.2.1, we know that every $\rho_{t,T}^0$ satisfies constancy on $\{0\}$. As a consequence, it follows directly that $\rho_{t,T}^0(aI_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{t,T}^0(0) + a = a$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$. In conclusion, for every dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$, each $\rho_{t,T}^0$ satisfies constancy on \mathbb{R} .

If Im $\Lambda_{t,T} = \mathbb{R}_+$ for $t \in S$, then the corresponding function $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}$ in the $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}$ constancy property is a map from \mathbb{R} to \mathbb{R}_+ . According to the properties of $\Lambda_{t,T}$, there exists $b_{t,T} \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}|_{[b_{t,T},\infty)}$ is a bijective, strictly increasing function from $[b_{t,T},\infty)$ to \mathbb{R}_+ with $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(a) = 0$ for all $a \leq b_{t,T}$. Moreover, the inverse function $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}$ maps from \mathbb{R}_+ to $[b_{t,T},\infty)$ and is also strictly increasing.

We have already pointed out that in contrast to Sections 7.1-7.3, in this section we solely study conditional convex single-firm risk measures $\rho_{t,T}^0$ satisfying the \mathcal{F}_t -translation property. Note that standard dynamic convex risk measures from Chapter 6 (see Definition 6.1.1 and Definition 6.3.1) admit the corresponding \mathcal{F}_t translation property by definition. Thus, the \mathcal{F}_t -translation property is a feasible assumption. Nonetheless, note that $\rho_{t,T} = \rho_{t,T}^0 \circ \Lambda_{t,T}$ does not inherit this property because the convex aggregation function $\Lambda_{t,T}$ does not satisfy any sort of translation property.

Since $\Lambda_{t,T}(a1_n) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(a)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$, we obtain for $\gamma \in L_t^{\infty}$, $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$ that

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{t,T}(\gamma \mathbf{1}_n I_{[t,\infty)})(u,\omega) &= \Lambda_{t,T}((\gamma \mathbf{1}_n I_{[t,\infty)})(u,\omega)) = \begin{cases} \Lambda_{t,T}(\gamma(\omega) \mathbf{1}_n) & \text{if } t \leq u \\ \Lambda_{t,T}(\mathbf{0}_n) & \text{if } t > u \end{cases} \\ &= f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}((\gamma I_{[t,\infty)})(u,\omega)) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(\gamma I_{[t,\infty)})(u,\omega). \end{split}$$

From $\Lambda_{t,T}(0_n) = 0 = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(0)$ it follows that $\Lambda_{t,T}(\gamma \mathbf{1}_n I_{[t,\infty)}) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(\gamma I_{[t,\infty)}) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(\gamma) I_{[t,\infty)}$ for all $\gamma \in L_t^{\infty}$. Because each $\rho_{t,T}^0$ satisfies the \mathcal{F}_t -translation property and $\rho_{t,T}^0(0) = 0$, this implies

$$\rho_{t,T}(\gamma \mathbf{1}_{n}I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{t,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\gamma \mathbf{1}_{n}I_{[t,\infty)})) = \rho_{t,T}^{0}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(\gamma)I_{[t,\infty)})$$

= $\rho_{t,T}^{0}(0) + f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(\gamma) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(\gamma)$

for all $\gamma \in L_t^{\infty}$. Note that in case of a dynamic convex systemic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ with $\rho_{t,T} = \rho_{t,T}^0 \circ \Lambda_{t,T}$ for all $t \in \mathcal{S}$, we have $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}} = f_{\rho_{t,T}}$. Therefore, the following property is satisfied:

(s7)
$$\rho_{t,T}(\gamma \mathbb{1}_n I_{[t,\infty)}) = f_{\rho_{t,T}}(\gamma) \text{ for all } t \in \mathcal{S} \text{ and } \gamma \in L_t^{\infty}.$$

7.4.1. Time-consistency

Our next aim is to introduce an appropriate time-consistency concept for dynamic convex systemic risk measures which establishes a connection between the different conditional convex systemic risk measures in time. At the beginning of this part of the thesis we have already pointed out that the concept of strong time-consistency is frequently used in the literature about dynamic single-firm risk measurement. In line with these approaches, we introduce a version of this time-consistency property for our dynamic convex systemic risk measures. Since our dynamic convex single-firm risk measures additionally satisfy the \mathcal{F}_t -translation property and $\rho_{t,T}^0(0) = 0$, they correspond with the dynamic convex risk measures considered in Cheridito et al. (2006), Cheridito and Kupper (2011) and Section 6.3 in this thesis. More precisely, because of the different perspectives concerning the processes $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty,n}$, for every dynamic convex risk measure $(\tilde{\rho}_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ in the sense of Definition 6.3.1, we can define a dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ by $\rho_{t,T}^0(X) := \tilde{\rho}_{t,T}(-X)$ for $t \in \mathcal{S}$ and $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{t,T}$. Consequently, we can carry over the definition from Section 6.3 to dynamic convex single-firm risk measures and adapt this concept for dynamic convex systemic risk measures and dynamic convex aggregation functions.

Because of Proposition 6.3.3 and $T < +\infty$, we can use the following definition for time-consistent dynamic convex single-firm risk measures.

Definition 7.4.2. A dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is called time-consistent if the following property is satisfied:

(*r*-*TC*) For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty}$,

$$XI_{[s,t)} = YI_{[s,t)}$$
 and $\rho_{t,T}^{0}(X) \le \rho_{t,T}^{0}(Y)$

imply $\rho_{s,T}^0(X) \leq \rho_{s,T}^0(Y)$.

Similarly, we define time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation functions.

Definition 7.4.3. A dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ is called timeconsistent if the following two properties are satisfied:

(a-TC1) Either all $\Lambda_{t,T}$, $t \in S$, map into \mathbb{R} or all $\Lambda_{t,T}$, $t \in S$, map into \mathbb{R}_+ . (a-TC2) For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$,

$$XI_{[s,t)} = YI_{[s,t)}$$
 and $\Lambda_{t,T}(XI_{[t,\infty)}) \leq \Lambda_{t,T}(YI_{[t,\infty)})$
imply $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}) \leq \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y})$.

In property (a-TC1) we distinguish between \mathbb{R} -valued and \mathbb{R}_+ -valued dynamic convex aggregation functions $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$. We claim this property because a mixture of both approaches does not seem to be consistent. A possible interpretation of property (a-TC2) is the following: Consider two economies $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ which are equal up to time t. If additionally the time-t-aggregation of economy $\bar{X}I_{[t,\infty)}$ is less than or equal to the time-t-aggregation of the other economy $\bar{Y}I_{[t,\infty)}$, then this relation should still hold if we use the time-s-aggregation function and consider the processes \bar{X} and \bar{Y} . At this point, note that $\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} = \bar{Y}I_{[s,t)}$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(0_n) =$ 0 directly imply $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X})I_{[s,t)} = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}I_{[s,t)}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y}I_{[s,t)}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y})I_{[s,t)}$. In addition, for every time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ with $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}) = 0$ for $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty,n}$ and some $t \in \mathcal{S}$, we also have $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}) = 0$ for all $s \in \mathcal{S}$ with $s \leq t$.

Further, because each $\Lambda_{t,T}$, $t \in S$, is measurable and satisfies $\Lambda_{t,T}(0_n) = 0$, property (a-TC2) is equivalent to the following property:

(a-TC2') For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) \le \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{y})$$

implies $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) \leq \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{y})$.

It seems reasonable to define time-consistent dynamic convex risk measures by using Definition 7.4.2 and Definition 7.4.3.

Definition 7.4.4. A dynamic convex systemic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is called timeconsistent if the corresponding dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent and if the corresponding dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent.

In the subsequent study we analyze the relationship between the properties (r-TC), (a-TC1), (a-TC2) and the following properties of a dynamic convex systemic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$:

- (s-TC1) Either all $\rho_{t,T}, t \in S$, satisfy $\rho_{t,T}(\mathbb{R}^n I_{[t,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}$ or all $\rho_{t,T}, t \in S$, satisfy $\rho_{t,T}(\mathbb{R}^n I_{[t,\infty)}) = \mathbb{R}_+$.
- (s-TC2) For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$,

$$\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} = \bar{Y}I_{[s,t)} \quad \text{and} \quad \rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}) \le \rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}) \quad (7.23)$$

for all $u \ge t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$

imply $\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) \leq \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)})$ for all $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. (s-TC3) For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$,

$$\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} = \bar{Y}I_{[s,t)}$$
 and $\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}) \le \rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y})$

imply $\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}) \leq \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}).$

If the dynamic convex systemic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ satisfies (s-TC2), then (s-TC2) and preference consistency of $\rho_{t,T}$ and $\rho_{s,T}$ imply the following sequence of implications for $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$:

$$(7.23) \Rightarrow \rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) \le \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) \quad \text{for all } u \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ and a.e. } \omega \in \Omega$$
$$\Rightarrow \rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}) \le \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}).$$

We can interpret (s-TC3) similarly to (a-TC2): Consider two economies $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ that are equal up to time t, i.e., $\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} = \bar{Y}I_{[s,t)}$, and let the time-t-systemic risk of one economy be lesser than or equal to the time-t-systemic risk of the other economy, i.e., $\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}) \leq \rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y})$. Then the time-s-systemic risk should satisfy the same relation.

We will see that time-consistent dynamic convex systemic risk measures $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ satisfy property (s-TC2) (see Proposition 7.4.8). This property can be interpreted as follows: Fix economies $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ that are equal up to time t. For fixed $(u,\omega) \in ([t,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0) \times \Omega$, consider the *n*-dimensional processes $\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}$ and $\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}$. These are constant after time t and represent a possible realization of \bar{X} (or \bar{Y}) at time $u \geq t$. Supposing that the time-t-systemic risk of one of these processes is lesser than or equal to the risk of the other process for each $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$ leads to the same relation regarding the time-s-systemic risk of the processes $\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}$ and $\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}$ for all $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Note that $\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)})$ is obviously satisfied for u < t since $\bar{X}I_{[s,t]} = \bar{Y}I_{[s,t]}$ and $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$.

Lemma 7.4.5. For every dynamic convex systemic risk measure, property (s-TC3) implies property (s-TC2).

Proof. Let $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and consider processes $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ that satisfy (7.23). Obviously, we have

$$\rho_{s,T}(X_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) \le \rho_{s,T}(Y_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) \quad \text{for all } u < t \text{ and a.e. } \omega \in \Omega.$$

Moreover, for $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, define the processes $\bar{X}^{(\omega,u)}, \bar{Y}^{(\omega,u)} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{s,T}$ by $\bar{X}^{(\omega,u)} := \bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}$ and $\bar{Y}^{(\omega,u)} := \bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}$. According to these definitions, we have $\bar{X}^{(\omega,u)}I_{[s,t)} = 0_n = \bar{Y}^{(\omega,u)}I_{[s,t)}$ and (7.23) means that

$$\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}^{(\omega,u)}) = \rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}) \le \rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y}^{(\omega,u)}).$$

Since

$$\rho_{s,T}(\bar{Z}^{(\omega,u)}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Z}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Z}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)})) = \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Z}_u(\omega))I_{[t,\infty)})$$

is satisfied for $\bar{Z} = \bar{X}$ and $\bar{Z} = \bar{Y}$, property (s-TC3) yields $\rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega))I_{[t,\infty)}) \leq \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega))I_{[t,\infty)})$. Furthermore, $\rho_{s,T}^0$ satisfies constancy on \mathbb{R} , which implies $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)) \leq \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega))$. The monotonicity property of $\rho_{s,T}^0$ yields

$$\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega))I_{[s,\infty)})$$
$$\leq \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega))I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)})$$

Summing up, we get $\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) \leq \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)})$ for all $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. This means that property (s-TC2) is satisfied.

The following lemma analyzes property (s-TC3) and provides a condition which implies equivalence between time-consistency of the dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and property (s-TC3) of the corresponding dynamic convex systemic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$.

Lemma 7.4.6. Let $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be a dynamic convex systemic risk measure with corresponding dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$. Moreover, assume that the following property is satisfied for all $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$:

$$\rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X})) \le \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Y})) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X})) \le \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y})) \tag{7.24}$$

Then $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent if and only if $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ satisfies (s-TC3).

Proof. " \Rightarrow " Let $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be time-consistent and consider $s,t\in\mathcal{S}$ with $s\leq t$ and $\bar{X},\bar{Y}\in\mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{s,T}$ with $\bar{X}I_{[s,t)}=\bar{Y}I_{[s,t)}$ and $\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X})\leq\rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y})$. Then $\rho_{t,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}))\leq\rho_{t,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Y}))$. Since $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X})I_{[s,t)}=\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Y})I_{[s,t)}$, property (r-TC) implies that $\rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}))\leq\rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Y}))$. Finally, (7.24) yields

$$\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}) = \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X})) \le \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y})) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}).$$

" \Leftarrow " Let (s-TC3) be satisfied and consider $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ with $s \leq t$ and $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty}$ with $XI_{[s,t)} = YI_{[s,t)}$ and $\rho_{t,T}^0(X) \leq \rho_{t,T}^0(Y)$. Then there exist $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ with $\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} = \bar{Y}I_{[s,t)}, \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}) = X$ and $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Y}) = Y$. Due to property (s-TC3), it follows $\rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X})) \leq \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y}))$, and (7.24) yields

$$\rho_{s,T}^0(X) = \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(X)) \le \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(Y)) = \rho_{s,T}^0(Y).$$

Example 7.4.7. The equivalence in (7.24) is satisfied if $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is a dynamic positively homogeneous single-firm risk measure and $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is given by $\Lambda_{t,T} = q_t \Lambda$ for $t \in \mathcal{S}$, a convex aggregation function Λ and $q_t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}$. In this case, we have

$$\rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X})) = q_t \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda(\bar{X}))$$
 for each $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ and $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$.

Therefore, for all $s,t \in S$ and all $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty}$, the inequality $\rho_{s,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X})) \leq \rho_{s,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Y}))$ is satisfied if and only if $\rho_{s,T}^{0}(\Lambda(\bar{X})) \leq \rho_{s,T}^{0}(\Lambda(\bar{Y}))$, which implies the equivalence in (7.24).

The next result provides a characterization of time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation functions.

Proposition 7.4.8. Let $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be a dynamic convex systemic risk measure with corresponding dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$. Moreover, let $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be time-consistent. Then $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent if and only if $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ satisfies (s-TC1) and (s-TC2).

Proof. First, we will show that (s-TC1) is equivalent to (a-TC1): Since all $\rho_{t,T}^0$ satisfy constancy on \mathbb{R} , we have $\rho_{t,T}(\bar{x}I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{t,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}I_{[t,\infty)})) = \rho_{t,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})I_{[t,\infty)}) = \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})$ for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $t \in \mathcal{S}$. This equality implies the desired equivalence.

Let $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ satisfy (s-TC2). Instead of proving property (a-TC2), we will show the equivalent property (a-TC2'). For $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ with $s \leq t$, consider $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) \leq \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{y})$ and define the process $\bar{Z} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ by $\bar{Z} := \bar{x}I_{[s,t)} + \bar{y}I_{[t,\infty)}$. Then $\bar{Z}I_{[s,t)} = \bar{x}I_{[s,t)}$ and $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) \leq \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{y}) = \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Z}_u(\omega))$ for all $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Monotonicity of $\rho_{t,T}^0$ implies

$$\rho_{t,T}(\bar{x}I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{t,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}I_{[t,\infty)})) = \rho_{t,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})I_{[t,\infty)}) \\
\leq \rho_{t,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Z}_{u}(\omega))I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{t,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Z}_{u}(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)})) = \rho_{t,T}(\bar{Z}_{u}(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)})$$

for all $u \ge t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Due to property (s-TC2), it follows

$$\rho_{s,T}(\bar{x}I_{[s,\infty)}) \leq \rho_{s,T}(Z_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) \quad \text{for all } u \geq t \text{ and a.e. } \omega \in \Omega.$$

This means that

$$\rho_{s,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x})I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}I_{[s,\infty)})) \le \rho_{s,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Z}_{u}(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)})) = \rho_{s,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{y}I_{[s,\infty)})) = \rho_{s,T}^{0}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{y})I_{[s,\infty)})$$

for all $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Since $\rho_{s,T}^0$ satisfies constancy on \mathbb{R} , this implies $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) \leq \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{y})$. Therefore, $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent.

On the other hand, assume that $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent. To show (s-TC2), consider $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ with $\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} = \bar{Y}I_{[s,t)}$ and

$$\begin{aligned} \rho_{t,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega))I_{[t,\infty)}) &= \rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}) \\ &\leq \rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{t,T}^0(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega))I_{[t,\infty)}) \end{aligned}$$

for all $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Then the constancy property of $\rho_{t,T}^0$ on \mathbb{R} yields $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)) \leq \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega))$ for all $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Hence, $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}I_{[t,\infty)}) \leq \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Y}I_{[t,\infty)})$. Time-consistency of $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ implies $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}) \leq \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y})$, which means that

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)) \leq \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)) \quad \text{for all } u \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ and a.e. } \omega \in \Omega.$$

Finally, because $\rho_{s,T}^0$ is monotone, we arrive at

$$\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega))I_{[s,\infty)})$$

$$\leq \rho_{s,T}^0(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega))I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)})$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$.

Summing up the previous results, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 7.4.9. Let $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be a dynamic convex systemic risk measure with corresponding dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$. Moreover, assume that (a-TC1) is satisfied. Then $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is a time-consistent dynamic convex systemic risk measure if $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent and (7.24) is satisfied.

Proof. If $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent and (7.24) is satisfied, then we know from Lemma 7.4.6 that $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ satisfies (s-TC3). Furthermore, Lemma 7.4.5 yields that (s-TC2) holds. Finally, we obtain with Proposition 7.4.8 that $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent.

Next, we consider equivalent properties to (s-TC3), (s-TC2) and (a-TC2). The corresponding result in terms of standard dynamic risk measures was proved in Proposition 4.4 in Cheridito et al. (2006). For completeness, we reformulate their result and the corresponding proof for our dynamic convex single-firm risk measures.

Proposition 7.4.10. Let $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t \in S}$ be a dynamic convex single-firm risk measure. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent.
- 2. For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{s,T}$, we have

$$\rho^0_{s,T}(X) = \rho^0_{s,T}(XI_{[s,t)} + \rho^0_{t,T}(X)I_{[t,\infty)}).$$

Proof. 1. \Rightarrow 2. : Consider $X \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ and define $Z := XI_{[s,t)} + \rho_{t,T}^0(X)I_{[t,\infty)}$. Then the \mathcal{F}_t -translation property of $\rho_{t,T}^0$ and $\rho_{t,T}^0(0) = 0$ imply

$$\rho_{t,T}^0(Z) = \rho_{t,T}^0(p^{t,T}(Z)) = \rho_{t,T}^0(\rho_{t,T}^0(X)I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{t,T}^0(X).$$

Since (r-TC) is satisfied, it follows $\rho_{s,T}^0(X) = \rho_{s,T}(Z)$.

2. \Rightarrow 1. : Let $X, Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}_{s,T}$ with $XI_{[s,t)} = YI_{[s,t)}$ and $\rho^0_{t,T}(X) \leq \rho^0_{t,T}(Y)$. By monotonicity of $\rho_{s,T}^0$, we obtain

$$\rho_{s,T}^{0}(X) = \rho_{s,T}^{0}(XI_{[s,t)} + \rho_{t,T}^{0}(X)I_{[t,\infty)}) \le \rho_{s,T}^{0}(XI_{[s,t)} + \rho_{t,T}^{0}(Y)I_{[t,\infty)})$$

= $\rho_{s,T}^{0}(YI_{[s,t)} + \rho_{t,T}^{0}(Y)I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}^{0}(Y).$

The corresponding result for dynamic convex systemic risk measures reads as follows.

Proposition 7.4.11. Let $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ be a dynamic convex systemic risk measure. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ satisfies (s-TC3).
- 2. For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$, we have

$$\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} + f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}))1_n I_{[t,\infty)}).$$

Proof. 1. \Rightarrow 2. : Let $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ and define $\bar{Z} := \bar{X}I_{[s,t)} + f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}))1_n I_{[t,\infty)}$. Property (s7) yields

$$\rho_{t,T}(\bar{Z}) = \rho_{t,T}(f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}))1_n I_{[t,\infty)}) = f_{\rho_{t,T}}(f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}))) = \rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}).$$

Since (s-TC3) is satisfied, we have $\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Z})$. 2. \Rightarrow 1. : Consider $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ with $\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} = \bar{Y}I_{[s,t)}$ and $\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}) \leq \rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y})$. Monotonicity of $f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}$ and $\rho_{s,T}$ yields

$$\begin{split} \rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}) &= \rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} + f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}))\mathbf{1}_{n}I_{[t,\infty)}) \\ &= \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}I_{[s,t)} + f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}))\mathbf{1}_{n}I_{[t,\infty)}) \\ &\leq \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}I_{[s,t)} + f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y}))\mathbf{1}_{n}I_{[t,\infty)}) \\ &= \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}). \end{split}$$

Analogously, we obtain the following proposition regarding property (s-TC2).

Proposition 7.4.12. Let $(\rho_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ be a dynamic convex systemic risk measure. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ satisfies (s-TC2).
- 2. For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$, we have

$$\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Z}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) \quad \text{for all } u \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ and } a.e. \ \omega \in \Omega$$

where
$$\bar{Z}_u(\omega) := \bar{X}_u(\omega)$$
 for $u < t$ and $\bar{Z}_u(\omega) := f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}))1_n$ for $u \ge t$.

Proof. 1. \Rightarrow 2. : Let $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ and define \bar{Z} as above. For $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, property (s7) yields

$$\rho_{t,T}(\bar{Z}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}) = \rho_{t,T}(f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}))1_nI_{[t,\infty)})$$

= $f_{\rho_{t,T}}(f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}))) = \rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}).$

Since (s-TC2) is satisfied, we have $\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Z}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)})$ for all $u \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$.

2. \Rightarrow 1. : Consider $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ such that $\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} = \bar{Y}I_{[s,t)}$ and $\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}) \leq \rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)})$ for all $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Obviously, $\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)})$ for u < t and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Moreover, for $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, we get

$$\rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_{u}(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}(f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_{u}(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}))1_{n}I_{[s,\infty)})$$

$$\leq \rho_{s,T}(f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{Y}_{u}(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}))1_{n}I_{[s,\infty)}) = \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Y}_{u}(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)})$$

since $\rho_{s,T}$ and $f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}$ are monotone.

The following remark addresses another important property of dynamic convex aggregation functions $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ which is needed to derive an analogous result for $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$.

Remark 7.4.13. Let $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ be a dynamic convex aggregation function and fix $t \in S$. If Im $\Lambda_{t,T} = \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\Lambda_{t,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(X) \mathbf{1}_n) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(X)) = X \quad \text{for all } X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}.$$

If Im $\Lambda_{t,T} = \mathbb{R}_+$, then the corresponding inverse function $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}$ maps from \mathbb{R}_+ into $[b_{t,T}, \infty)$ for $b_{t,T} \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and

$$\Lambda_{t,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(X^+)1_n) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(X^+)) = X^+ \quad \text{for all } X \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty}$$

where X^+ is defined by $X_t^+(\omega) := \max\{X_t(\omega), 0\}$ for $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\omega \in \Omega$.

Proposition 7.4.14. Let $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ be a dynamic convex aggregation function. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ satisfies (a-TC2).
- 2. For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$, we have

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} + f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}))1_n I_{[t,\infty)}).$$
(7.25)

3. For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$ and $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we have

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))1_n).$$
(7.26)

Proof. 1. \Rightarrow 2. : Let $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ and define $\bar{Z} := \bar{X}I_{[s,t)} + f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}))1_nI_{[t,\infty)}$. Remark 7.4.13 yields

$$\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{Z}I_{[t,\infty)}) = \Lambda_{t,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}I_{[t,\infty)}))1_n) = \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}I_{[t,\infty)}).$$

Since (a-TC2) is satisfied, it follows $\Lambda_{s,T}(X) = \Lambda_{s,T}(Z)$.

2. \Rightarrow 3. : Fix $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and consider the corresponding process $\bar{x}I_{[t,\infty)} \in \mathcal{R}^{\infty,n}_{s,T}$. For all $u \geq t$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, Equation (7.25) and the measurability property of $\Lambda_{s,T}$, $\Lambda_{t,T}$ and $f^{-1}_{\Lambda_{t,T}}$ imply

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) &= \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}I_{[t,\infty)})(u,\omega) = \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}I_{[t,\infty)}))1_n I_{[t,\infty)})(u,\omega) \\ &= \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}I_{[t,\infty)}(u,\omega)))1_n I_{[t,\infty)}(u,\omega)) = \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))1_n). \end{split}$$

3. \Rightarrow 1. : We will show that $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ satisfies (a-TC2') which is equivalent to (a-TC2). Consider $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) \leq \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{y})$. Then monotonicity of $\Lambda_{s,T}$ and $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}$ and Equation (7.26) yield

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))1_n) \le \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{y}))1_n) = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{y}).$$

The following corollary sums up the previous results.

Corollary 7.4.15. Let $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be a dynamic convex systemic risk measure with corresponding dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ that satisfies (a-TC1). Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent.
- 2. For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$, the following equalities hold for every $X \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty}$ and every $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$:

$$\begin{aligned} \rho_{s,T}^{0}(X) &= \rho_{s,T}^{0}(XI_{[s,t)} + \rho_{t,T}^{0}(X)I_{[t,\infty)}), \\ \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}) &= \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}I_{[s,t)} + f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{X}))1_{n}I_{[t,\infty)}). \end{aligned}$$

3. For every pair $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$, the following equalities hold for every $X \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty}$ and every $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$:

$$\begin{split} \rho_{s,T}^0(X) &= \rho_{s,T}^0(XI_{[s,t)} + \rho_{t,T}^0(X)I_{[t,\infty)}),\\ \rho_{s,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) &= \rho_{s,T}(\bar{Z}_u(\omega)I_{[s,\infty)}) \quad for \ all \ u \in \mathbb{N}_0 \ and \ a.e. \ \omega \in \Omega \end{split}$$

where $\bar{Z}_u(\omega) := \bar{X}_u(\omega)$ for u < t and $\bar{Z}_u(\omega) := f_{\rho_{t,T}}^{-1}(\rho_{t,T}(\bar{X}_u(\omega)I_{[t,\infty)}))1_n$ for $u \ge t$.

Proof. The equivalence 1. \Leftrightarrow 2. follows from the definition of time-consistent dynamic systemic risk measures, Proposition 7.4.10 and Proposition 7.4.14. The equivalence 1. \Leftrightarrow 3. is a consequence of Proposition 7.4.10, Proposition 7.4.12 and Proposition 7.4.8.

Summary 7.4.16. Let $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be a dynamic convex systemic risk measure with time-consistent dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$. Moreover, let (7.24) be satisfied. Then Figure 7.4.1 sums up Lemma 7.4.5, Lemma 7.4.6 and Propositions 7.4.8, 7.4.11, 7.4.12 and 7.4.14.

Figure 7.4.1.: Summary: time-consistency properties

According to Proposition 4.5 in Cheridito et al. (2006) (see Proposition 6.3.3), standard dynamic risk measures that satisfy so called one-step time-consistency are time-consistent if $T \in \mathbb{N}$. The next proposition states the corresponding result for dynamic convex aggregation functions $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$. For the proof we borrow the idea from the proof of Proposition 4.5 in Cheridito et al. (2006).

Proposition 7.4.17. Let $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ be a dynamic convex aggregation function that satisfies (a-TC1). Then the following properties are equivalent:

(a-tc) $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}I_{\{s\}} + f_{\Lambda_{s+1,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{X}))1_n I_{[s+1,\infty)})$ for all $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ and $s \in [S, T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$.

(a-tc')
$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{s+1,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{x}))1_n)$$
 for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $s \in [S, T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$.

In addition, if one of these equivalent properties is satisfied, then the dynamic convex aggregation function $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent.

Proof. The implication (a-tc) \Rightarrow (a-tc') follows as in the proof of Proposition 7.4.14. In order to show the reverse implication, fix $\bar{X} \in \mathcal{R}_{s,T}^{\infty,n}$ and $s \in [S, T-1] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$. Obviously, we have

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X})(s,\omega) = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}_{s}(\omega)) = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}I_{\{s\}} + f_{\Lambda_{s+1,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{X}))1_{n}I_{[s+1,\infty)})(s,\omega)$$

for a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$. Moreover, for $u \in [s+1,\infty) \cap \mathbb{N}_0$ and a.e. $\omega \in \Omega$, it is easily seen

that (a-tc') and the measurability property of $\Lambda_{s,T}$, $f_{\Lambda_{s+1,T}}^{-1}$ and $\Lambda_{s+1,T}$ imply

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X})(u,\omega) &= \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}_{u}(\omega)) = \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{s+1,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{X}_{u}(\omega)))1_{n}) \\ &= \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{X}I_{\{s\}} + f_{\Lambda_{s+1,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{X}))1_{n}I_{[s+1,\infty)})(u,\omega). \end{split}$$

This means that property (a-tc) holds.

Now, suppose that (a-tc') is satisfied and consider $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t, \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\bar{y} := f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))\mathbf{1}_n$. Because of Proposition 7.4.14, it suffices to show that

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{y}) (= \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))1_n)).$$
(7.27)

We will prove this equality by backwards induction: If s = T, then this equality is trivial because s = t = T. Therefore, consider $s \leq T-1$ and for all $t' \in [s+1,T] \cap \mathbb{N}_0$, assume that

$$\Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{z}) = \Lambda_{s+1,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t',T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t',T}(\bar{z}))1_n) \quad \text{for all } \bar{z} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(7.28)

Since $s \le t$, we know that either t = s or $t \ge s + 1$. Obviously, (7.27) is satisfied if t = s. Thus, assume that $t \ge s + 1$. Then Equation (7.28) implies

$$\Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{x}) = \Lambda_{s+1,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))1_n) = \Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{y}),$$

which yields together with (a-tc')

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{s+1,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{x}))1_n) = \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{s+1,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s+1,T}(\bar{y}))1_n) = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{y}).$$

This means that $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent.

7.4.2. Examples of time-consistent dynamic aggregation functions

According to Definition 7.4.4, we can construct time-consistent dynamic convex systemic risk measures as a composition of time-consistent dynamic convex single-firm risk measures and time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation functions.

Since every time-consistent standard convex risk measure $(\tilde{\rho}_t)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ defined in Section 6.3 induces a time-consistent dynamic convex single-firm risk measure $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ by $\rho_{t,T}^0(X) := \tilde{\rho}_{t,T}(-X)$ for $t \in \mathcal{S}$ and $X \in \mathcal{R}_{t,T}^\infty$, we have already discussed examples of time-consistent dynamic convex single-firm risk measures in Section 6.4. It remains the question of how time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation functions look like. A first step to answer this question is the following proposition, which yields equivalent properties to time-consistency.

Proposition 7.4.18. Let $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ be a dynamic convex aggregation function that satisfies (a-TC1).

- 1. If all $\Lambda_{t,T}$, $t \in S$, are \mathbb{R} -valued, then $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in S}$ is time-consistent if and only if $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))$ does not depend on $t \in S$ for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.
- 2. If all $\Lambda_{t,T}$, $t \in S$, are \mathbb{R}_+ -valued, then $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ is time-consistent if and only if the following properties are satisfied:

- a) $b_{t,T} \leq b_{s,T}$ for all $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$.
- b) The following conditions hold for all $s, t \in S$ with $s \leq t$:
 - i. If $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$ for $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) \leq f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}))(=b_{s,T})$. ii. If $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ for $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) = f_{\Lambda_{x,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}))$.

In particular, $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent if $\Lambda_{t,T} = r_t\Lambda$ for a convex aggregation function Λ and $r_t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}$.

Proof. Part 1: Let $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be time-consistent and \mathbb{R} -valued and fix $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then it follows from Proposition 7.4.14 that

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = \Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}))1_n)$$

= $\Lambda_{s,T}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))1_n)$ for all $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ with $s \leq t$. (7.29)

Moreover, the $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}$ -constancy property implies

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}))) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))) \quad \text{for all } s, t \in \mathcal{S} \text{ with } s \le t.$$
(7.30)

Bijectivity of $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ leads to $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x})) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))$. This yields the "only if" part of the assertion.

The "if" part follows from Proposition 7.4.14 since $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x})) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))$ for all $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ implies immediately that (7.30) holds for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Part 2: Now, assume that all $\Lambda_{t,T}$ map into \mathbb{R}_+ . Note that in this case, each $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is such that $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}|_{[b_{t,T},\infty)}$ is a bijective, strictly increasing function from $[b_{t,T},\infty)$ to \mathbb{R}_+ and $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(a) = 0$ for all $a \leq b_{t,T}$. Moreover, $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}: \mathbb{R}_+ \to [b_{t,T},\infty)$ is strictly increasing, too.

At first, let $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be time-consistent, fix $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and consider $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ with $s \leq t$. Then either $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$ or $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$.

If $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$, then $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$ due to (a-TC2'). Moreover, Equation (7.30) yields

$$0 = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(0)).$$

 $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(0) = b_{t,T}$ now implies that $0 = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(b_{t,T})$. Therefore, we obtain $b_{t,T} \leq b_{s,T}$.

If $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$, then we distinguish between two cases: Either $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$ or $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$. In both cases, we have $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) > b_{t,T}$ because $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}$ is a strictly increasing function.

If $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$, the equality

$$0 = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}))) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})))$$

implies $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) \leq b_{s,T} = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x})).$

Now, suppose that $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$. Because $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}$ is strictly increasing on $[b_{s,T}, \infty)$ and $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(a) = 0$ for all $a \leq b_{s,T}$, Equation (7.30) and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$

imply $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) > b_{s,T}$ and $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x})) > b_{s,T}$. Further, bijectivity and (7.30) lead to $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}))$. This yields the "only if" part of the assertion.

In order to prove the "if" part, it suffices again to show (7.30) for $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then the assertion follows from Proposition 7.4.14. To this end, consider $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ with $s \leq t$. In case of $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$, Equation (7.30) is obvious. If $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$, we have $0 = \Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{s,T}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}))) \geq f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})))$. Hence, it follows that $0 = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})))$. Finally, if $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$, then $b_{t,T} \leq b_{s,T}$ implies that $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = 0 = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(b_{t,T}) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}(f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})))$.

To the last assertion: Consider $\Lambda_{t,T} = r_t \Lambda$ for $r_t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}$. At first, assume that all $\Lambda_{t,T}$, $t \in S$, are \mathbb{R} -valued. Then $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(a) = r_t f_{\Lambda}(a)$ and $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(a) = f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(a/r_t)$ for all $t \in S$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}$. This means

$$f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) = f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})/r_t) = f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(r_t\Lambda(\bar{x})/r_t) = f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(\Lambda(\bar{x})) \quad \text{for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Thus, $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))$ does not depend on t for each $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. The first part of this proposition implies that our dynamic convex aggregation function is time-consistent.

On the other hand, let all $\Lambda_{t,T}$, $t \in \mathcal{S}$, be \mathbb{R}_+ -valued. Then for each $t \in \mathcal{S}$, we have $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(a) = r_t f_{\Lambda}(a)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(a) = f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(a/r_t)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Moreover, $b = b_{t,T}$ and $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) = f_{\Lambda}^{-1}(\Lambda(\bar{x}))$ for $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and all $t \in \mathcal{S}$. Hence, the second part of this proposition yields time-consistency of $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t \in \mathcal{S}}$.

The following lemma considers dynamic convex aggregation functions $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ that admit a specific form.

Lemma 7.4.19. Let $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ be a dynamic convex aggregation function with

$$\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_{t,T}((\bar{x}_i - b_{t,T})^+) \quad for \ \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
(7.31)

where $b_{t,T} \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $g_{t,T} : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are convex and strictly increasing functions with $g_{t,T}(0) = 0$. Then $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent if and only if $b_{t,T} = b$ for all $t \in \mathcal{S}$ and $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x})) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))$ for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$.

Remark. Note that the convex aggregation function $\Lambda_{t,T}$ defined in (7.31) satisfies $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}(a) = \Lambda_{t,T}(a\mathbf{1}_n) = ng_{t,T}((a - b_{t,T})^+)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and all $t \in \mathcal{S}$. Therefore, the values $b_{t,T}$ are indeed the b's from the corresponding $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}$ -constancy property.

Proof. If $b_{t,T} = b$ for all $t \in S$ and $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x})) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}))$ for all $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $s, t \in S$, then $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t \in S}$ is time-consistent due to the second part of Proposition 7.4.18.

To prove the other direction, suppose that $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent and fix $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $s, t \in \mathcal{S}$ with s < t. The second part of Proposition 7.4.18 yields $b_{t,T} \leq b_{s,T}$. We will show that $b_{t,T} < b_{s,T}$ leads to a contradiction. To this end, suppose that $b_{t,T} < b_{s,T}$. Equation (7.31) implies for all $u \in S$ that $f_{\Lambda_{u,T}}(a) = ng_{u,T}((a - b_{u,T})^+)$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f_{\Lambda_{u,T}}^{-1}(a) = g_{u,T}^{-1}(a/n) + b_{u,T}$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$. It follows

$$f_{\Lambda_{u,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{u,T}(\bar{x})) = g_{u,T}^{-1}(\Lambda_{u,T}(\bar{x})/n) + b_{u,T}$$
$$= g_{u,T}^{-1}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} g_{u,T}((\bar{x}_i - b_{u,T})^+)/n\right) + b_{u,T} \quad \text{for all } u \in \mathcal{S}.$$
(7.32)

For $\bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ defined by $\bar{y}_1 = b_{s,T} + 1$, $\bar{y}_2 = \ldots = \bar{y}_n = b_{t,T}$, we get

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{y}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_{s,T}((\bar{y}_i - b_{s,T})^+) = g_{s,T}(1) > 0 \text{ and } \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{y}) = g_{t,T}(b_{s,T} + 1 - b_{t,T}) > 0.$$

Since $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent, the second part of Proposition 7.4.18 yields that $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{y})) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{y}))$, i.e.,

$$g_{s,T}^{-1}(g_{s,T}(1)/n) + b_{s,T} = g_{t,T}^{-1}(g_{t,T}(b_{s,T} + 1 - b_{t,T})/n) + b_{t,T}$$

Similarly, for $\bar{z} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ defined by $\bar{z}_1 = b_{s,T} + 1$, $\bar{z}_2 = b_{t,T} + c$, $\bar{z}_3 = \ldots = \bar{z}^n = b_{t,T}$ for $c := (b_{s,T} - b_{t,T})/2 > 0$, we obtain

$$\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{z}) = g_{s,T}(1) > 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{z}) = g_{t,T}(b_{s,T} + 1 - b_{t,T}) + g_{t,T}(c) > 0.$$

The second part of Proposition 7.4.18 gives $f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{z})) = f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{z}))$, i.e.,

$$g_{s,T}^{-1}(g_{s,T}(1)/n) + b_{s,T} = g_{t,T}^{-1}([g_{t,T}(b_{s,T}+1-b_{t,T}) + g_{t,T}(c)]/n) + b_{t,T}.$$

Altogether, we obtain

$$g_{t,T}^{-1}(g_{t,T}(b_{s,T}+1-b_{t,T})/n) = g_{t,T}^{-1}([g_{t,T}(b_{s,T}+1-b_{t,T})+g_{t,T}(c)]/n).$$

But this is a contradiction because $g_{t,T}^{-1} : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is a strictly increasing function and $g_{t,T}(c) > 0$.

It remains to prove that $\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x}) > 0$ and $\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x}) = 0$ imply $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) = f_{\Lambda_{s,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{s,T}(\bar{x})) = b$. Since $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is time-consistent, the second part of Proposition 7.4.18 tells us that $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) \leq b$. Suppose that $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) < b$. Then it follows with Equation (7.32) that

$$f_{\Lambda_{t,T}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}(\bar{x})) = g_{t,T}^{-1}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} g_{t,T}((\bar{x}_i - b)^+)/n\right) + b < b,$$

which is a contradiction to $g_{t,T}^{-1}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} g_{t,T}((\bar{x}_i - b)^+)/n) \ge 0.$

With the previous results and the convex aggregation functions introduced in Section 5.3 we can easily construct time-consistent dynamic aggregation functions.

Example 7.4.20. Consider Λ_{sum} defined by

$$\Lambda_{\text{sum}}(\bar{x}) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{x}_i \quad \text{for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Then $(\Lambda_{t,T}^{\text{sum}})_{t \in \mathcal{S}}$ defined by

$$\Lambda_{t,T}^{\text{sum}}(\bar{x}) := r_t \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{x}_i, \text{ for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } r_t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}$$

is a time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation function. In the same way, we can construct the time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation functions $(\Lambda_{t,T}^{\text{loss}})_{t \in S}$, $(\Lambda_{t,T}^{b,\text{loss}})_{t \in S}$, $(\Lambda_{t,T}^{\text{exp}})_{t \in S}$ and $(\Lambda_{t,T}^{\text{plin}})_{t \in S}$ by

$$\begin{split} \Lambda^{\mathrm{loss}}_{t,T}(\bar{x}) &:= r_t \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{x}^+_i \\ \Lambda^{b,\mathrm{loss}}_{t,T}(\bar{x}) &:= r_t \sum_{i=1}^n (\bar{x}_i - b)^+ \quad \mathrm{for} \ b \in \mathbb{R}_+ \\ \Lambda^{\mathrm{exp}}_{t,T}(\bar{x}) &:= r_t \sum_{i=1}^n (e^{\gamma \bar{x}^+_i} - 1) \quad \mathrm{for} \ \gamma > 0 \\ \Lambda^{\mathrm{plin}}_{t,T}(\bar{x}) &:= r_t \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda(\bar{x}_i) \end{split}$$

where $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $r_t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}$ for each $t \in S$ and

$$\lambda(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } x < 0\\ ax & \text{for } 0 \le x < c\\ b(x-c) + ac & \text{for } x \ge c \end{cases}$$

with 0 < a < b and c > 0.

By using the second part of Proposition 7.4.18, we obtain the following two examples.

Example 7.4.21. Define the convex aggregation function $\Lambda_{t,T}^{[exp]}$ for $t \in S$ by

$$\Lambda_{t,T}^{[\exp]}(\bar{x}) := e^{r_t \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{x}_i^+} - 1 \quad \text{for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } r_t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}.$$

In this case, we have $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}^{[\exp]}}(a) = e^{r_t n a^+} - 1$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}^{[\exp]}}^{-1}(a) = \log(a+1)/(r_t n)$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$, which implies

$$f_{\Lambda_{t,T}^{[\exp]}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}^{[\exp]}(\bar{x})) = \frac{\log\left(e^{r_t \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{x}_i^+} - 1 + 1\right)}{r_t n} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \bar{x}_i^+}{n} \quad \text{for all } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Since all conditions in the second part of Proposition 7.4.18 are satisfied, $(\Lambda_{t,T}^{[exp]})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is a time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation function according to Proposition 7.4.18.

Example 7.4.22. Fix k > 1 and define the convex aggregation function $\Lambda_{t,T}^{[k]}$ for $t \in S$ by

$$\Lambda_{t,T}^{[k]}(\bar{x}) := \left(r_t \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{x}_i^+ \right)^k \quad \text{for } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } r_t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}.$$

In this case, we have $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}^{[k]}}(a) = (r_t n a^+)^k$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f_{\Lambda_{t,T}^{[k]}}^{-1}(a) = \sqrt[k]{a/(r_t^k n^k)} = \sqrt[k]{a/r_t n}$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$, which implies

$$f_{\Lambda_{t,T}^{[k]}}^{-1}(\Lambda_{t,T}^{[k]}(\bar{x})) = \frac{\sqrt[k]{(r_t \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{x}_i^+)^k}}{r_t n} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \bar{x}_i^+}{n} \quad \text{for all } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Again, all conditions in the second part of Proposition 7.4.18 are satisfied. Thus, $(\Lambda_{t,T}^{[k]})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ is a time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation function.

Let us recapitulate the results in this section. We have studied time-consistent dynamic convex systemic risk measures $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ as a composition of time-consistent dynamic convex single-firm risk measures $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation functions $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$. Here, each $\rho_{t,T}^0$ is a mapping from $\mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}$ to L_t^{∞} , and each $\Lambda_{t,T}$ is a function from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R} . We can compose these mappings since every $\Lambda_{t,T}$ is measurable, and thus induces a mapping from $\mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty,n}$ to $\mathcal{R}_{t,T}^{\infty}$ (see Lemma 7.1.7). In this setting, we have studied how the time-consistency properties of $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$, $(\rho_{t,T}^0)_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ and $(\Lambda_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$, which are based on the strong time-consistency concept, depend on each other. A key result clarifying the relation between these properties is the characterization of time-consistent dynamic convex systemic risk measures in Proposition 7.4.8.

It is important to mention that convex aggregation functions – defined as convex, increasing functions from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R} – have a rather simple structure. In a certain sense, this definition limits the possibilities to construct dynamic convex aggregation functions that additionally satisfy the time-consistency property from Definition 7.4.3.

Despite this strong notion of time-consistency and the simple setting of functions from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R} , we have found several interesting examples of time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation functions in Subsection 7.4.2. In particular, we refer to Lemma 7.4.19 and Examples 7.4.20-7.4.22. Moreover, an additional example is the trivial time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation function. Here, we fix the (static) convex aggregation function Λ at the beginning of the considered period of time and then this specific aggregation function is used for every following point in time, i.e., $\Lambda_{t,T} = \Lambda$ for all $t \in S$.

Finally, one could argue that it also makes sense to introduce time-consistent dynamic convex systemic risk measures by considering time-consistent dynamic convex single-firm risk measures and fixing the convex aggregation function. This means that we use the trivial time-consistent dynamic convex aggregation function in order to specify time-consistent dynamic convex systemic risk measures, i.e., $\rho_{t,T} = \rho_{t,T}^0 \circ \Lambda$. Consequently, all dynamics of the corresponding dynamic convex systemic risk measure $(\rho_{t,T})_{t\in\mathcal{S}}$ are determined by the underlying dynamic convex single-firm risk measure.

Appendix

A.1. Appendix to Part I

A.1.1. General results in probability theory

The following version of the strong Markov property, originally proved in Hunt (1956), is needed in Chapter 3.

Theorem A.1.1 (See Theorem 3.5.1 in Petersen (1977)). Consider the filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{F}, \mathbb{P})$ with filtration $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and suppose that this probability space supports a standard Brownian motion W. Let θ be an optional time, *i.e.*, $\{\theta < t\} \in \mathcal{F}_t$ for all $t \geq 0$, and define the probability space $(\Omega_{\theta}, \mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathbb{P}_{\theta})$ by $\Omega_{\theta} := \{\theta < \infty\}, \ \mathcal{A}_{\theta} := \{A \cap \Omega_{\theta} | A \in \mathcal{A}\} \text{ and } \mathbb{P}_{\theta}[A] = \mathbb{P}[A|\Omega_{\theta}].$ Then

- 1. The process $(W_{t+\theta} W_{\theta})_{t\geq 0}$ is a standard Brownian motion on $(\Omega_{\theta}, \mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathbb{P}_{\theta})$.
- 2. $(W_{t+\theta} W_{\theta})_{t \ge 0}$ is independent of $\mathcal{F}_{\theta+} \cap \Omega_{\theta}$ in the probability space $(\Omega_{\theta}, \mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathbb{P}_{\theta})$. $(\mathcal{F}_{\theta+} := \{A \in \mathcal{A} | A \cap \{\theta < t\} \in \mathcal{F}_t \text{ for all } t \ge 0\})$

Lemma A.1.2 (See Lemma 3.5.2 in Petersen (1977)). Consider a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$ and suppose that X and Y are independent random variable and let $A \subset \Omega$ be a measurable set. If Y is independent of $\sigma(A) \vee \sigma(X)$ and $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ is measurable, then

$$\int_{\omega_1 \in A} \int_{\omega_2 \in \Omega} f(X(\omega_1), Y(\omega_2)) d\mathbb{P}(\omega_1) d\mathbb{P}(\omega_2) = \int_A f(X, Y) d\mathbb{P}.$$

Lemma A.1.3. Consider a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}, \mathbb{P})$ with $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ and let θ and τ be \mathbb{F} -stopping times. Then every integrable random variable X satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}[XI_{\{\theta>\tau\}}|\mathcal{F}_{\theta\vee\tau}] = \mathbb{E}[X|\mathcal{F}_{\theta\vee\tau}]I_{\{\theta>\tau\}} = \mathbb{E}[XI_{\{\theta>\tau\}}|\mathcal{F}_{\theta}].$$

Proof. Consider $A \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}$. Since $\{\theta > \tau\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}$, we know that $A \cap \{\theta > \tau\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}$. By definition of $\mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}$, this implies

$$A \cap \{\theta > \tau\} \cap \{\theta \le t\} = A \cap \{\theta > \tau\} \cap \{\theta \lor \tau \le t\} \in \mathcal{F}_t \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0,$$

which means that $A \cap \{\theta > \tau\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta}$. For each $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \{\omega \in \Omega | (\mathbb{E}[X|\mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}]I_{\{\theta > \tau\}})(\omega) \in B \} \\ &= (\{\theta \le \tau\} \cap \{\omega \in \Omega | 0 \in B\}) \cup (\{\theta > \tau\} \cap \{\omega \in \Omega | \mathbb{E}[X|\mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}](\omega) \in B\}) \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta} \end{aligned}$$

since $\{\theta \leq \tau\} \cap \{\omega \in \Omega | 0 \in B\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta}$ and $\{\omega \in \Omega | \mathbb{E}[X|\mathcal{F}_{\theta \vee \tau}](\omega) \in B\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta \vee \tau}$. This means that $\mathbb{E}[X|\mathcal{F}_{\theta \vee \tau}]I_{\{\theta > \tau\}}$ is \mathcal{F}_{θ} -measurable.

Now, consider $C \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta} \subset \mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}$. Then

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[XI_{\{\theta>\tau\}}|\mathcal{F}_{\theta}]I_C] = \mathbb{E}[XI_{\{\theta>\tau\}}I_C] = \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[XI_{\{\theta>\tau\}}|\mathcal{F}_{\theta\vee\tau}]I_C].$$

Since $\{\theta > \tau\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}$, it follows $\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[XI_{\{\theta > \tau\}}|\mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}]I_C] = \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[X|\mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}]I_{\{\theta > \tau\}}I_C]$, and thus $\mathbb{E}[XI_{\{\theta > \tau\}}|\mathcal{F}_{\theta}] = \mathbb{E}[X|\mathcal{F}_{\theta \lor \tau}]I_{\{\theta > \tau\}}$.

A.1.2. Hitting times

In this subsection we repeat important results for first hitting times in two different approaches. At the beginning, we focus on the standard approach considering a Brownian motion with drift; see, for example, Chapter 3 in Jeanblanc et al. (2009) or Section 2.8 in Karatzas and Shreve (1988).

For the remaining part of this subsection fix a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$ that supports a standard Brownian motion W and a random variable X_0 . The process X is defined by

$$X_t := X_0 + \mu t + \sigma W_t$$
 for $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma > 0$.

We are interested in the first hitting time T_0^X of level 0 for the process X, i.e.,

$$T_0^X := \inf\{t \ge 0 | X_t = 0\}.$$

Theorem A.1.4. In case of $X_0 = x > 0$ constant, the probability that the first hitting time T_0^X is less than or equal to t > 0 is given by

$$\mathbb{P}[T_0^X \le t] = \mathbb{P}\left[\min_{s \le t} X_s \le 0\right] = \Phi\left(\frac{-x - \mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right) + e^{-2\mu x/\sigma^2} \Phi\left(\frac{-x + \mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}}\right).$$

Yi et al. (2011) generalize this approach by assuming that X_0 is given by a random variable. They obtain the following result.

Theorem A.1.5 (See Proposition 3.1 in Yi et al. (2011)). Suppose that X_0 and W_t are independent for each t > 0 and let the density of X_0 be given by

$$\psi\left(x;a_{0},v_{0},\sigma_{0}\right) := \begin{cases} \frac{\varphi(x;a_{0}+v_{0},\sigma_{0})-e^{-2a_{0}v_{0}/\sigma_{0}^{2}}\varphi(x;v_{0}-a_{0},\sigma_{0})}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_{0}+v_{0}}{\sigma_{0}}\right)-e^{-2a_{0}v_{0}/\sigma_{0}^{2}}\Phi\left(\frac{v_{0}-a_{0}}{\sigma_{0}}\right)} & \text{if } x \ge 0\\ 0 & \text{if } x < 0 \end{cases}$$

with $\sigma_0 > 0$ and $a_0 > |v_0|$ where $\varphi(x, \bar{\mu}, \bar{\sigma})$ denotes the probability density function of the normal distribution $\mathcal{N}(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\sigma}^2)$. Then the probability that the first hitting time T_0^X is lesser than or equal to t > 0 is given by

$$\mathbb{P}[T_0^X \le t] = \mathbb{P}\left[\min_{s \le t} X_s \le 0\right] = \frac{A(t) + B(t) - C(t) - D(t)}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_0 + v_0}{\sigma_0}\right) - e^{-2a_0v_0/\sigma_0^2}\Phi\left(\frac{v_0 - a_0}{\sigma_0}\right)}$$

with

$$\begin{split} A(t) &= \Phi_2 \left(-\frac{a_0 + v_0 + \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma_0^2 + \sigma^2 t}}, -\frac{-a_0 - v_0}{\sigma_0}, \rho(t) \right), \\ B(t) &= \Phi_2 \left(-\frac{a_0 + v_0 - 2\mu\sigma_0^2/\sigma^2 - \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma_0^2 + \sigma^2 t}}, -\frac{-a_0 - v_0 + 2\mu\sigma_0^2/\sigma^2}{\sigma_0}, \rho(t) \right) \\ &\cdot e^{-2\mu(a_0 + v_0)/\sigma^2 + 2\mu^2\sigma_0^2/\sigma^4}, \\ C(t) &= \Phi_2 \left(-\frac{v_0 - a_0 + \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma_0^2 + \sigma^2 t}}, -\frac{-v_0 + a_0}{\sigma_0}, \rho(t) \right) e^{-2a_0v_0/\sigma_0^2}, \\ D(t) &= \Phi_2 \left(-\frac{v_0 - a_0 - 2\mu\sigma_0^2/\sigma^2 - \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma_0^2 + \sigma^2 t}}, -\frac{-v_0 + a_0 + 2\mu\sigma_0^2/\sigma^2}{\sigma_0}, \rho(t) \right) \\ &\cdot e^{-2a_0v_0/\sigma_0^2 - 2\mu(v_0 - a_0)/\sigma^2 + 2\mu^2\sigma_0^2/\sigma^4} \end{split}$$

and $\rho(t) = \frac{-\sigma_0}{\sqrt{\sigma_0^2 + \sigma^2 t}}$ where $\Phi_2(x_1, x_2, \rho)$ denotes the 2-dimensional normal distribution function with standard normal marginal distributions and correlation coefficient ρ .

Remark A.1.6. Note that the distribution function Ψ , i.e., $\Psi(x) := \mathbb{P}[X_0 \leq x]$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$, is given by

$$\Psi(x) = \int_0^x \frac{\varphi(y; a_0 + v_0, \sigma_0) - e^{-2a_0v_0/\sigma_0^2}\varphi(y; v_0 - a_0, \sigma_0)}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_0 + v_0}{\sigma_0}\right) - e^{-2a_0v_0/\sigma_0^2}\Phi\left(\frac{v_0 - a_0}{\sigma_0}\right)} dy$$
$$= \frac{\Phi\left(\frac{x - a_0 - v_0}{\sigma_0}\right) - \Phi\left(\frac{-a_0 - v_0}{\sigma_0}\right) - e^{-2a_0v_0/\sigma_0^2}\left(\Phi\left(\frac{x + a_0 - v_0}{\sigma_0}\right) - \Phi\left(\frac{a_0 - v_0}{\sigma_0}\right)\right)}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_0 + v_0}{\sigma_0}\right) - e^{-2a_0v_0/\sigma_0^2}\Phi\left(\frac{v_0 - a_0}{\sigma_0}\right)}$$

for $x \ge 0$ and $\Psi(x) = 0$ for x < 0.

Proposition A.1.7 (See Example 3.2 in Yi et al. (2011)). Let the assumptions from Theorem A.1.5 be satisfied and suppose that $\mu/\sigma^2 = v_0/\sigma_0^2$. Then for every t > 0, we have

$$\mathbb{P}[T_0^X \le t] = \frac{\Phi\left(-\frac{a_0 + v_0 + \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma^2 t + \sigma_0^2}}\right) + e^{-2a_0\mu/\sigma^2}\Phi\left(-\frac{a_0 - v_0 - \mu t}{\sqrt{\sigma^2 T + \sigma_0^2}}\right)}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_0 + v_0}{\sigma_0}\right) - e^{-2a_0v_0/\sigma_0^2}\Phi\left(\frac{v_0 - a_0}{\sigma_0}\right)} - \frac{\Phi\left(-\frac{a_0 + v_0}{\sigma_0}\right) + e^{-2a_0\mu/\sigma^2}\Phi\left(\frac{v_0 - a_0}{\sigma_0}\right)}{\Phi\left(\frac{a_0 + v_0}{\sigma_0}\right) - e^{-2a_0v_0/\sigma_0^2}\Phi\left(\frac{v_0 - a_0}{\sigma_0}\right)}.$$

A.2. Appendix to Part II

A.2.1. Functional analysis

The following definitions and results are taken from Dunford and Schwartz (1957), Rockafellar (1974) and Aliprantis and Border (2006).

Definition A.2.1. Let \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{V} be two linear spaces. A pairing between \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{V} is a real-valued bilinear form $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. A subset $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{V}$ separates points of \mathcal{X} under $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ if $\langle x, v \rangle = 0$ for all $v \in \mathcal{A}$ implies x = 0. Similarly, a subset $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{X}$ separates points of \mathcal{V} under $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ if $\langle x, v \rangle = 0$ for all $x \in \mathcal{B}$ implies v = 0.

We call a topology \mathfrak{T} on \mathcal{X} compatible with the pairing if it is a locally convex topology such that for all $v \in \mathcal{V}$, the linear functions

$$\langle \cdot, v \rangle : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}, \quad x \mapsto \langle x, v \rangle$$
 (A.33)

are continuous and every continuous linear function on \mathcal{X} admits a representation of this form for some $v \in \mathcal{V}$. Compatible topologies on \mathcal{V} are defined analogously.

We call \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{V} paired spaces, denoted by $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{V})$, if a specific pairing has been chosen, if \mathcal{X} separates points of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{V} separates points of \mathcal{X} under this pairing and if \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{V} are equipped with compatible topologies.

If a specific pairing has been chosen and if \mathcal{V} separates points of \mathcal{X} under this pairing, then the \mathcal{V} -topology on \mathcal{X} , denoted by $\sigma(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{V})$, is the weakest (coarsest) topology on \mathcal{X} for which every linear function given in (A.33) is continuous.

The following theorem shows that the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{V})$ is compatible with the pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

Theorem A.2.2 (See, e.g., Section V.3 in Dunford and Schwartz (1957)). Consider the paired spaces $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{V})$ and let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the corresponding pairing. Then the following properties hold:

- 1. $(\mathcal{X}, \sigma(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{V}))$ is a locally convex space.
- 2. The linear functionals on \mathcal{X} which are $\sigma(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{V})$ -continuous are precisely the functionals given by (A.33).

Theorem A.2.3 (Uniform boundedness principle; see, e.g., Theorem 6.14 in Aliprantis and Border (2006)). Consider a Banach space \mathcal{X} and a nonempty subset $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R})$. Then \mathcal{A} is norm bounded if and only if it is pointwise bounded, i.e., for each $x \in \mathcal{X}$, there exists $M_x > 0$ such that $|f(x)| \leq M_x$ for each $f \in \mathcal{A}$.

Theorem A.2.4 (Alaoglu's theorem; see, e.g., Theorem 6.21 in Aliprantis and Border (2006)). Consider a normed vector space \mathcal{X} and let \mathcal{X}^* be the dual space of $(\mathcal{X}, \|\cdot\|)$. Then the closed unit ball of \mathcal{X}^* is $\sigma(\mathcal{X}^*, \mathcal{X})$ -compact. Thus, a subset of \mathcal{X}^* is $\sigma(\mathcal{X}^*, \mathcal{X})$ -compact if and only if it is $\sigma(\mathcal{X}^*, \mathcal{X})$ -closed and norm bounded.

Theorem A.2.5 (Krein-Smulian; see, e.g., Theorem V.5.7 in Dunford and Schwartz (1957)). Consider a Banach space \mathcal{X} and let \mathcal{X}^* be the dual space of $(\mathcal{X}, \|\cdot\|)$. Moreover, suppose that $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{X}^*$ is a convex subset of \mathcal{X}^* . Then \mathcal{A} is $\sigma(\mathcal{X}^*, \mathcal{X})$ -closed if and only if $\mathcal{A} \cap \{l \in \mathcal{X}^* | \|l\|_{\mathcal{X}^*} \leq r\}$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{X}^*, \mathcal{X})$ -closed for all r > 0.

A.2.2. Convex optimization

This subsection is based on the definitions and results in Rockafellar (1974). Let us suppose that $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{V})$ and $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Y})$ are paired spaces.

Definition A.2.6. Consider a function $f : \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$. The effective domain of f is defined by dom $f := \{x \in \mathcal{X} | f(x) < \infty\}$. f is called proper if dom $f \neq \emptyset$ and $f(x) > -\infty$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$. The convex hull of f, denoted by conv f, is defined as the greatest convex function h that satisfies $h \leq f$. The function f is called lower semicontinuous (l.s.c.) if the set $\{x \in \mathcal{X} | f(x) \leq r\}$ is closed for all $r \in \mathbb{R}$. The greatest l.s.c. function g with $g \leq f$ is called l.s.c. hull of f and is denoted by lsc f. Finally, the closure of f, denoted by cl f, is defined by

$$\operatorname{cl} f(x) := \begin{cases} \operatorname{lsc} f(x) & \text{for all } x \in \mathcal{X} & \text{if } \operatorname{lsc} f(x) > -\infty & \text{for all } x \in \mathcal{X} \\ -\infty & \text{for all } x \in \mathcal{X} & \text{if } \operatorname{lsc} f(x) = -\infty & \text{for some } x \in \mathcal{X} \end{cases},$$

and we say that f is closed if $f = \operatorname{cl} f$.

Theorem A.2.7 (See Theorem 4 in Rockafellar (1974)). Consider a convex function $f : \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$. Then lsc f and cl f are convex, too. If lsc $f(x) \in \mathbb{R}$ for some $x \in \mathcal{X}$, then it follows that lsc f and f are proper, and we have cl f = lsc f. If lsc $f(x) \in \{-\infty, +\infty\}$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$, then lsc f satisfies

$$\operatorname{lsc} f(x) = \begin{cases} -\infty & \text{if } x \in \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{dom} f \\ +\infty & \text{if } x \notin \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{dom} f \end{cases}$$

Moreover, in case of $\operatorname{lsc} f(x) \in \{-\infty, +\infty\}$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$, we have $\operatorname{cl} f(x) = \operatorname{lsc} f(x)$, except in the case where $x \notin \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{dom} f \neq \emptyset$ (then $-\infty = \operatorname{cl} f(x) \neq \operatorname{lsc} f(x) = +\infty$).

Definition A.2.8. Consider a function $f : \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$. The convex conjugate of f is the function $f^* : \mathcal{V} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ defined by

$$f^*(v) := \sup_{x \in \mathcal{X}} \{ \langle x, v \rangle - f(x) \}.$$

The convex biconjugate of $f : \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ is defined as the convex conjugate of f^* . The conjugate in the concave sense of a function $g : \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ is the function $g^* : \mathcal{V} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ defined by

$$g^*(v) := \inf_{x \in \mathcal{X}} \{ \langle x, v \rangle - g(x) \}.$$

Theorem A.2.9 (Duality theorem for conjugate functions; see Theorem 5 in Rockafellar (1974)). Consider an arbitrary function $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$. Then the convex conjugate f^* is a closed convex function on \mathcal{V} , and we have $f^{**} = \operatorname{cl}\operatorname{conv} f$. Moreover, the mapping $f \mapsto f^*$ (called Fenchel transform) induces a one-to-one correspondence $f \mapsto h$ (with $h = f^*$ and $f = h^*$) between the closed convex functions on \mathcal{X} and the closed convex functions on \mathcal{V} .

Consider a function $f: \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ and the following optimization problem

(P) Minimize f over \mathcal{X} .

Moreover, suppose that

$$f(x) = F(x,0)$$
 for $F : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{U} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$. (A.34)

Definition A.2.10. The Lagrangian function K on $\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$ is defined by

$$K(x,y) := \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} \left\{ F(x,u) + \langle u, y \rangle \right\},$$

i.e., $K(x, \cdot)$ is the conjugate in the concave sense of $-F(x, \cdot)$.

Remark A.2.11. Rockafellar (1974) points out that if the function $-F(x, \cdot)$ is closed and concave, i.e., $F(x, \cdot)$ is closed and convex for $x \in \mathcal{X}$, then it follows with the duality theorem that $-F(x, \cdot)$ is the conjugate in the concave sense of $K(x, \cdot)$. Hence,

$$F(x, u) = \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} \{ K(x, y) - \langle u, y \rangle \} \quad \text{if } F(x, \cdot) \text{ is closed and convex.}$$

Theorem A.2.12 (See Theorem 6 in Rockafellar (1974)). Let K be the Lagrangian. Then for each $x \in \mathcal{X}$, the function $K(x, \cdot)$ is closed and concave. If additionally $F(x, \cdot)$ is closed and convex, then

$$f(x) = \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} K(x, y).$$
(A.35)

On the other hand, suppose that K is any \mathbb{R} -valued function on $\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$ that satisfies (A.35). If additionally $K(x, \cdot)$ is closed and concave, then K is the Lagrangian with a uniquely determined representation (A.34) where $F(x, \cdot)$ is closed and convex. More precisely, $F : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{U} \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by

$$F(x, u) = \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} \left\{ K(x, y) - \langle u, y \rangle \right\}.$$

Finally, if we suppose that $F(x, \cdot)$ is closed and convex, then $K(\cdot, y)$ is convex if and only if $F(\cdot, \cdot)$ is convex.

Let us now define the dual problem to (P):

(D) Maximize g over \mathcal{Y} where $g(y) := \inf_{x \in \mathcal{X}} K(x, y)$ for $y \in \mathcal{Y}$.

Define

$$\varphi(u) := \inf_{x \in \mathcal{X}} F(x, u) \quad \text{for } u \in \mathcal{U}.$$

The following theorem shows the connection between g and φ .

Theorem A.2.13 (See Theorem 7 in Rockafellar (1974)). Consider the function g defined in (D). Then g is closed and concave. Moreover, we have $g = (-\varphi)^*$ and $-g^* = \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{conv} \varphi$. Here, $(\cdot)^*$ denotes the conjugates in the concave sense. It follows that

$$\sup_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} g(y) = (\operatorname{cl} \operatorname{conv} \varphi)(0),$$
whereas

$$\inf_{x \in \mathcal{X}} f(x) = \varphi(0).$$

In particular, if the function $F(\cdot, \cdot)$ is convex, then $-g^* = \operatorname{cl} \varphi$ and

$$\sup_{y\in\mathcal{Y}}g(y)=\liminf_{u\to 0}\varphi(u),$$

unless $0 \notin \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{dom} \varphi \neq \emptyset$ and the function $\operatorname{lsc} \varphi$ satisfies $\operatorname{lsc} \varphi(u) \in \{-\infty, +\infty\}$ for all $u \in \mathcal{U}$. (In this case, we have $\operatorname{lim} \inf_{u \to 0} \varphi(u) = \inf_{x \in \mathcal{X}} f(x) = \varphi(0) = +\infty$ and $g(y) = -\infty$ for all $y \in \mathcal{Y}$ such that $\sup_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} g(y) = -\infty$.)

The next remark emphasizes the importance of the previous theorems.

Remark A.2.14. Suppose that the function $F(x, \cdot)$ is closed and convex for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$ and let $F(\cdot, \cdot)$ be convex. Then it follows from Theorem A.2.13 in conjunction with Theorem A.2.12 that

$$\varphi(0) = (\operatorname{cl}\operatorname{conv}\varphi)(0) = \operatorname{cl}\varphi(0)$$

implies

$$\inf_{x \in \mathcal{X}} \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} K(x, y) = \inf_{x \in \mathcal{X}} f(x) = \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} g(y) = \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} \inf_{x \in \mathcal{X}} K(x, y).$$

Thus, if $\varphi(0) = \operatorname{cl} \varphi(0)$, then we are allowed to exchange infimum and supremum.

A.2.3. Differential calculus

For the following notions of differentiability we refer the reader to Kurdila and Zabarankin (2005) and Aliprantis and Border (2006).

Definition A.2.15. Let \mathcal{X} be a normed vector space. Then we say that the mapping $v : \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ is differentiable at $x_0 \in \mathcal{X}$ in the direction $x \in \mathcal{X}$ if the limit

$$d^{+}v(x_{0})(x) := \lim_{u \downarrow 0} \frac{v(x_{0} + ux) - v(x_{0})}{u}$$

exists. In this case, $d^+v(x_0)(x)$ is called directional derivative of v at x_0 in the direction x.

Definition A.2.16. Let \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} be normed vector spaces. A mapping $\Upsilon : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ is called Gâteaux differentiable at $x_0 \in \mathcal{X}$ if the mapping $D_G \Upsilon(x_0) : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ satisfies the following properties:

1. For all $x \in \mathcal{X}$,

$$D_G \Upsilon(x_0)(x) := \lim_{u \downarrow 0} \frac{\Upsilon(x_0 + ux) - \Upsilon(x_0)}{u}$$

exists.

2. The mapping $D_G \Upsilon(x_0)$ is linear.

3. The mapping $D_G \Upsilon(x_0)$ is bounded, i.e., for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$, there exists M > 0such that $\|D_G \Upsilon(x_0)(x)\|_{\mathcal{Y}} \leq M \|x\|_{\mathcal{X}}$.

If Υ is Gâteaux differentiable at $x_0 \in \mathcal{X}$, then the mapping $D_G \Upsilon(x_0)$ is called Gâteaux derivative of Υ at x_0 .

Remark A.2.17. Note every linear mapping $\Upsilon : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ between normed vector spaces is continuous if and only if it is bounded; see, for instance, Lemma II.3.4 in Dunford and Schwartz (1957). We denote the *set of all bounded linear operators from* \mathcal{X} to \mathcal{Y} by $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$. This space can be equipped with the *operator norm topology*. This topology is defined by the so called *operator norm* given by

$$\|\Upsilon\| := \sup_{x \in \mathcal{X} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\|\Upsilon(x)\|_{\mathcal{Y}}}{\|x\|_{\mathcal{X}}} \quad \text{for } \Upsilon \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y}).$$

For the following condition let us consider a subset \mathcal{A} of a Banach space \mathcal{X} , a subset \mathcal{B} of a topological space \mathcal{Y} and a function $J : \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B} \to \mathbb{R}$.

Condition A.2.18 (See Hypotheses D1 in Bernhard and Rapaport (1995)). Let $a \in \mathcal{A}$ and $h \in \mathcal{A}$ be fixed.

- 1. \mathcal{B} is compact.
- 2. For all $b \in \mathcal{B}$, the function $(t, b) \mapsto J(a + th, b)$ is u.s.c. at (0, b).
- 3. For all $b \in \mathcal{B}$ and all t in a right neighborhood of 0, there exists a bounded directional derivative

$$d_1^+J(a+th,b)(h):=\lim_{u\downarrow 0}\frac{J(a+(t+u)h,b)-J(a+th,b)}{u}$$

4. For all $b \in \mathcal{B}$, the function $(t, b) \mapsto d_1^+ J(a + th, b)(h)$ is u.s.c. at (0, b).

Theorem A.2.19 (See Theorem D1 in Bernhard and Rapaport (1995)). Let \mathcal{A} be a subset of a Banach space \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{B} be a subset of a topological space \mathcal{Y} and consider the function $J : \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B} \to \mathbb{R}$. If Condition A.2.18 is satisfied, then the function \overline{J} defined by

$$\bar{J}(a') := \sup_{b \in \mathcal{B}} J(a', b) \quad for \ a' \in \mathcal{A}$$

has a directional derivative at $a \in \mathcal{A}$ in the direction $h \in \mathcal{A}$, which is given by

$$d^+ \bar{J}(a)(h) = \max_{b \in \mathcal{B}^{\#}(a)} d_1^+ J(a, b)(h)$$

where $\mathcal{B}^{\#}(a) := \{ b \in \mathcal{B} | J(a, b) = \overline{J}(a) \}.$

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Ludger Overbeck for giving me the opportunity to write this thesis in his research group. I want to thank him for his support and for many helpful explanations and comments.

I am also grateful to Prof. Dr. Stefan Weber for being the second referee of this thesis.

Finally, I want to thank my family and friends for their long-lasting support and encouragement which was invaluable for the successful completion of this research work.

Bibliography

- Acciaio, B., Föllmer, H., Penner, I., 2012. Risk assessment for uncertain cash flows: model ambiguity, discounting ambiguity, and the role of bubbles. Finance and Stochastics 16, 669–709.
- Acciaio, B., Penner, I., 2011. Dynamic risk measures. In: Advanced Mathematical Methods for Finance. Springer, Berlin, Ch. 1, pp. 1–34.
- Acharya, V., Pedersen, L., Philippon, T., M., R., 2012. Measuring systemic risk. CEPR Discussion Paper 8824. Available at http://www.cepr.org/pubs/dps/ DP8824.asp.
- Acharya, V., Santos, J., Yorulmazer, T., 2010. Systemic risk and deposit insurance premiums. Federal Reserve Bank of New York Economic Policy Review 16 (1), 89–99.
- Albanese, C., Campolieti, G., Chen, O., Zavidonov, A., 2003. Credit barrier models. Risk Magazine 16 (6), 109–113.
- Aliprantis, C., Border, K., 2006. Infinite Dimensional Analysis: A Hitchhiker's Guide, 3rd Edition. Springer, Berlin.
- Amini, H., Cont, R., Minca, A., 2013. Resilience to contagion in financial networks. Mathematical Finance. Available at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1111/mafi.12051/full.
- Arnsdorf, M., Halperin, I., 2009. BSLP: Markovian bivariate spread-loss model for portfolio credit derivatives. The Journal of Computational Finance 12 (2), 77–107.
- Artzner, P., Delbaen, F., 1995. Default risk insurance and incomplete market. Mathematical Finance 5, 187–195.
- Artzner, P., Delbaen, F., Eber, J.-M., Heath, D., 1999. Coherent measures of risk. Mathematical Finance 9 (3), 203–228.
- Artzner, P., Delbaen, F., Eber, J.-M., Heath, D., Ku, H., 2007. Coherent multiperiod risk adjusted values and Bellman's principle. Annals of Operations Research 152, 5–22.
- Barndorff-Nielsen, O., 1998. Processes of normal inverse Gaussian type. Finance and Stochastics 2, 41–68.
- Bennani, N., 2005. The forward loss model: a dynamic term structure approach for the pricing of portfolio credit derivatives. Working Paper. Available at http: //www.defaultrisk.com/pp_crdrv_95.htm.

- Bennani, N., 2006. A note on Markov functional loss models. Working Paper. Available at http://www.defaultrisk.com/pp_cdo_01.htm.
- Bernhard, P., Rapaport, A., 1995. On a theorem of Danskin with an application to a theorem of von Neumann-Sion. Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods & Applications 24 (8), 1163–1181.
- Bielecki, T., Crépey, S., Jeanblanc, M., 2010. Up and down credit risk. Quantitative Finance 10 (10), 1137–1151.
- Bielecki, T., Rutkowski, M., 2004. Credit Risk: Modeling, Valuation and Hedging. Springer, Berlin.
- Bion-Nadal, J., 2004. Conditional risk measure and robust representation of convex conditional risk measures. CMAP preprint 557. Available at http://www.cmap. polytechnique.fr/preprint/comment.php?showdetails=1&paper=557.
- Black, F., Cox, J., 1976. Valuing corporate securities: some effects of bond indenture provisions. Journal of Finance 31 (2), 351–367.
- Brigo, D., Pallavicini, A., Torresetti, R., 2010. Credit Models and the Crisis: A Journey into CDOs, Copulas, Correlations and Dynamic Models. Wiley, Chichester.
- Brémaud, P., 1981. Point Processes and Queues: Martingale Dynamics. Springer, New York.
- Carr, P., Geman, H., Madan, D., Yor, M., 2003. Stochatic volatility for Lévy processes. Mathematical Finance 13 (3), 345–382.
- Carr, P., Wu, L., 2004. Time-changed Lévy processes and option pricing. Journal of Financial Economics 71 (1), 113–141.
- Cetin, U., 2012. On absolutely continuous compensators and nonlinear filtering equations in default risk models. Stochastic Processes and their Applications 122 (11), 3619–3647.
- Cetin, U., Jarrow, R., Protter, P., Yildirim, Y., 2004. Modeling credit risk with partial information. The Annals of Applied Probability 14 (3), 1167–1178.
- Chen, C., Iyengar, G., Moallemi, C., 2013. An axiomatic approach to systemic risk. Management Science 59 (6), 1373–1388.
- Cheridito, P., Delbaen, F., Kupper, M., 2004. Coherent and convex monetary risk measures for bounded càdlàg processes. Stochastic Processes and their Applications 112 (1), 1–22.
- Cheridito, P., Delbaen, F., Kupper, M., 2005. Coherent and convex monetary risk measures for unbounded càdlàg processes. Finance and Stochastics 9 (3), 369–387.

- Cheridito, P., Delbaen, F., Kupper, M., 2006. Dynamic monetary risk measures for bounded discrete-time processes. Electronic Journal of Probability 11 (3), 57–106.
- Cheridito, P., Kromer, E., 2011. Ordered contribution allocations: theoretical properties and applications. The Journal of Risk 14 (1), 123–135.
- Cheridito, P., Kupper, M., 2011. Composition of time-consistent dynamic monetary risk measures in discrete time. International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance 14 (1), 137–162.
- Cifuentes, R., Ferrucci, G., Shin, H., 2005. Liquidity risk and contagion. Journal of the European Economic Association 3 (2-3), 556–566.
- Clark, P., 1973. A subordinated stochastic process model with finite variance for speculative prices. Econometrica 41 (1), 135–155.
- Coculescu, D., Geman, H., Jeanblanc, M., 2008. Valuation of default-sensitive claims under imperfect information. Finance and Stochastics 12 (2), 195–218.
- Cont, R., Minca, A., 2013. Recovering portfolio default intensities implied by CDO quotes. Mathematical Finance 23 (1), 94–121.
- Cont, R., Moussa, A., Santos, E., 2013. Network structure and systemic risk in banking systems. In: Handbook on Systemic Risk. Cambridge University Press, Ch. 13, pp. 327–368.
- Cont, R., Tankov, P., 2004. Financial Modelling With Jump Processes. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton.
- Delbaen, F., 2000. Coherent risk measures. Lecture Notes of the Cattedra Galileiana at the Scuola Normale di Pisa.
- Delbaen, F., 2002. Coherent risk measures on general probability spaces. In: Advances in Finance and Stochastics: Essays in Honour of Dieter Sondermann. Springer, Berlin, pp. 1–37.
- Delbaen, F., 2006. The structure of m-stable sets and in particular of the set of risk neutral measures. In: In memoriam Paul-André Meyer: Séminaire de Probabilités XXXIV, Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Vol. 1874. Springer, Berlin, pp. 215–258.
- Dellacherie, C., 1972. Capacités et processus stochastiques. Springer, Berlin.
- Denault, M., 2001. Coherent allocation of risk capital. The Journal of Risk 4 (1), 1–34.
- Detlefsen, K., Scandolo, G., 2005. Conditional and dynamic convex risk measures. Finance and Stochastics 9 (4), 539–561.
- Ding, X., Giesecke, K., Tomecek, P., 2009. Time-changed birth processes and multiname credit derivatives. Operations Research 57 (4), 990–1005.

- Drehmann, M., Tarashev, N., 2013. Measuring the systemic importance of interconnected banks. Journal of Financial Intermediation 22 (4), 586–607.
- Duffie, D., Gârleanu, N., 2001. Risk and valuation of collateralized debt obligations. Financial Analysts Journal 57 (1), 41–59.
- Duffie, D., Lando, D., 2001. Term structures of credit spreads with incomplete accounting information. Econometrica 69 (3), 633–664.
- Duffie, D., Schroder, M., Skiadas, C., 1996. Recursive valuation of defaultable securities and the timing of resolution of uncertainty. The Annals of Applied Probability 6 (4), 1075–1090.
- Duffie, D., Singleton, K., 1999. Modeling term structures of defaultable bonds. The Review of Financial Studies 12 (4), 687–720.
- Dunford, N., Schwartz, J., 1957. Linear Operators. Vol. 1: General Theory. Interscience Publishers, New York.
- Eckner, A., 2009. Computational techniques for basic affine models of portfolio credit risk. The Journal of Computational Finance 13 (1), 63–97.
- Eisenberg, L., Noe, T., 2001. Systemic risk in financial systems. Management Science 47 (2), 236–249.
- El Karoui, N., Jeanblanc, M., Jiao, Y., 2010. What happens after a default: the conditional density approach. Stochastic Processes and their Applications 120 (7), 1011–1032.
- El Karoui, N., Jeanblanc, M., Jiao, Y., 2013. Density approach in modelling multidefaults. Working Paper. Available at http://econpapers.repec.org/paper/ halwpaper/hal-00870492.htm.
- Elizalde, A., 2006. Credit risk models III: reconciliation reduced structural models. CEMFI Working Paper No. 0607. Available at http://econpapers.repec.org/ paper/cmfwpaper/wp2006_5f0607.htm.
- Elliot, R., Jeanblanc, M., Yor, M., 2000. On models of default risk. Mathematical Finance 10 (2), 179–195.
- Filipovic, D., Svindland, G., 2007. Convex risk measures on L^p. Working Paper. Available at http://www.mathematik.uni-muenchen.de/~filipo/PAPERS/crmlp.pdf.
- Föllmer, H., Penner, I., 2006. Convex risk measures and the dynamics of their penalty functions. Statistics & Decisions 24 (1), 61–96.
- Föllmer, H., Schied, A., 2002. Convex measures of risk and trading constraints. Finance and Stochastics 6 (4), 429–447.

- Föllmer, H., Schied, A., 2011. Stochastic Finance: An Introduction in Discrete Time. De Gruyter, Berlin.
- Frey, R., Backhaus, J., 2008. Pricing and hedging of portfolio credit derivatives with interacting default intensities. International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance 11 (6), 611–634.
- Frey, R., Backhaus, J., 2010. Dynamic hedging of synthetic CDO tranches with spread risk and default contagion. Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control 34 (4), 710–724.
- Frey, R., Lu, D., 2012. Dynamics of corporate security prices in firm value models with incomplete information. Working Paper. Available at http://www.math.uni-leipzig.de/~frey/publications-frey/ hybrid-securities-frey-lu.pdf.
- Frey, R., Schmidt, T., 2009. Pricing corporate securities under noisy asset inormation. Mathematical Finance 19 (3), 403–421.
- Frittelli, M., Rosazza Gianin, E., 2002. Putting order in risk measures. Journal of Banking and Finance 26 (7), 1473–1486.
- Gai, P., Kapadia, S., 2010. Contagion in financial networks. Proceedings of the Royal Society A 466, 2401–2423.
- Gauthier, C., Lehar, M., Souissi, M., 2012. Macroprudential capital requirements and systemic risk. Journal of Financial Intermediation 21 (4), 594–618.
- Geman, H., Madan, D., Yor, M., 2001. Time changes for Lévy processes. Mathematical Finance 11 (1), 79–96.
- Giesecke, K., 2006. Default and information. Journal of Economic Dynamics & Control 30 (11), 2281–2303.
- Giesecke, K., 2008. Portfolio credit risk: top down vs. bottom up approaches. In: Frontiers in Quantitative Finance: Credit Risk and Volatility Modeling. Wiley, Chichester, pp. 251–268.
- Giesecke, K., Goldberg, L., 2004a. Forecasting default in the face of uncertainty. The Journal of Derivatives 12 (1), 11–25.
- Giesecke, K., Goldberg, L., 2004b. Sequential defaults and incomplete information. The Journal of Risk 7 (1), 1–26.
- Giesecke, K., Goldberg, L., Ding, X., 2011. A top-down approach to multiname credit. Operations Research 59 (2), 283–300.
- Giesecke, K., Tomecek, P., 2005. Dependent events and changes of time. Working Paper, Cornell University. Available at http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/ summary?doi=10.1.1.139.2668.

- Guo, X., Zeng, Y., 2008. Intensity process and compensator: a new filtration expansion approach and the Jeulin-Yor theorem. The Annals of Applied Probability 18 (1), 120–142.
- Heston, S., 1993. A closed-form solution for options with stochastic volatility with applications to bond and currency options. The Review of Financies Studies 6 (2), 327–343.
- Hoffmann, H., Meyer-Brandis, T., Svindland, G., 2014. Risk-consistent conditional systemic risk measures. Working Paper, University of Munich. Available at http://www.fm.mathematik.uni-muenchen.de/download/cond_syst_ rm140617.pdf.
- Hunt, G., 1956. Some theorems concerning Brownian motion. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 81 (2), 294–319.
- Hurd, T., 2009. Credit risk modeling using time-changed Brownian motion. International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance 12 (8), 1213–1230.
- Hurd, T., Gleeson, J., 2011. A framework for analyzing contagion in banking networks. Working Paper. Available at http://arxiv.org/abs/1110.4312.
- Jacod, J., Shiryaev, A., 2003. Limit Theorems for Stochastic Processes, 2nd Edition. Springer, Berlin.
- Jarrow, R., Protter, P., 2004. Structural versus reduced form models: a new information based perspective. Journal of Investment Management 2 (2), 1–10.
- Jarrow, R., Turnbull, S., 1992. Credit risk: drawing the analogy. Risk Magazine 5 (9), 63–70.
- Jarrow, R., Yu, F., 2001. Counterparty risk and the pricing of defaultable securities. The Journal of Finance 56 (5), 1765–1799.
- Jeanblanc, M., Le Cam, Y., 2008. Reduced form modelling for credit risk. Working Paper. Available at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id= 1021545.
- Jeanblanc, M., Rutkowski, M., 1999. Modelling of default risk: an overview. Available at http://www.defaultrisk.com/pp_model_36.htm.
- Jeanblanc, M., Rutkowski, M., 2000. Modelling of default risk: mathematical tools. Available at http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/summary?doi=10. 1.1.139.678.
- Jeanblanc, M., Yor, M., Chesney, M., 2009. Mathematical Methods for Financial Markets. Springer, London.
- Jeulin, T., Yor, M., 1978. Grossissement d'une filtration et semi-martingales: formules explicites. In: Séminaire de Probabilités XII, Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Vol. 649. Springer, Berlin, pp. 78–97.

- Jiao, Y., 2009. Multiple defaults and contagion risks. Working Paper. Available at http://arxiv.org/abs/0912.3132v1.
- Jobert, A., Rogers, L., 2008. Valuations and dynamic convex risk measures. Mathematical Finance 18 (1), 1–22.
- Kaina, M., Rüschendorf, L., 2009. On convex risk measures on L^p-spaces. Mathematical Methods of Operations Research 69 (3), 475–495.
- Kalkbrener, M., 2005. An axiomatic approach to capital allocation. Mathematical Finance 15 (3), 425–437.
- Karatzas, I., Shreve, S., 1988. Brownian Motion and Stochastic Calculus. Springer, New York.
- Kchia, Y., 2011. Semimartingales et problématiques récentes en finance quantitative. Ph.D. thesis, Ecole Polytechnique.
- Kromer, E., Overbeck, L., 2014. Suitability of capital allocations for performance measurement. The Journal of Risk 16 (6), 31–58.
- Kromer, E., Overbeck, L., Zilch, K., 2014a. Systemic risk measures on general probability spaces. Working Paper. Available at http://ssrn.com/abstract=2268105.
- Kromer, E., Overbeck, L., Zilch, K., 2014b. Dynamic systemic risk measures for bounded discrete-time processes. Working Paper. Available at http://ssrn.com/ abstract=2469475.
- Kurdila, A., Zabarankin, M., 2005. Convex Functional Analysis. Birkhäuser, Basel.
- Kusuoka, S., 1999. A remark on default risk models. In: Advances in Mathematical Economics. Vol. 1. Springer, Tokyo, pp. 69–82.
- Lando, D., 2004. Credit Risk Modeling: Theory and Applications. Princeton University Press.
- Laurent, J.-P., Cousin, A., Fermanian, J.-D., 2011. Hedging default risks of CDOs in Markovian contagion models. Quantitative Finance 11 (12), 1773–1791.
- Lopatin, A., Misirpashaev, T., 2008. Two-dimensional Markovian model for dynamics of aggregate credit loss. In: Advances in Econometrics. Vol. 22. Emerald Group Publishing, pp. 243–274.
- Luciano, E., Schoutens, W., 2006. A multivariate jump-driven financial asset model. Quantitative Finance 6 (5), 385–402.
- Madan, D., Carr, P., Chang, E., 1998. The Variance Gamma process and option pricing. European Finance Review 2 (1), 79–105.
- Madan, D., Seneta, E., 1990. The Variance Gamma (V.G.) model for share market returns. The Journal of Business 63 (4), 511–524.

- Meintrup, D., Schäffler, S., 2005. Stochastik: Theorie und Anwendungen. Springer, Berlin.
- Merton, R., 1974. On the pricing of corporate debt: The risk structure of interest rates. Journal of Finance 29 (2), 449–470.
- Nakagawa, H., 2001. A filtering model on default risk. Journal of Mathematical Sciences, The University of Tokyo 8, 107–142.
- Nier, E., Yang, J., Yorulmazer, T., Alentorn, A., 2007. Network models and financial stability. Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control 31 (6), 2033–2060.
- Okhrati, R., 2013. Short credit spreads under different types of filtration expansions. Working Paper, University of Southampton. Available at http://eprints.soton.ac.uk/357104/.
- Overbeck, L., Schmidt, W., 2005. Modeling default dependence with threshold models. The Journal of Derivatives 12 (4), 10–19.
- Pang, G., Talreja, R., Whitt, W., 2007. Martingale proofs of many-server heavytraffic limits for Markovian queues. Probability Surveys 4, 193–267.
- Penner, I., 2007. Dynamic convex risk measures: time consistency, prudence, and sustainablity. Ph.D. thesis, Humboldt University of Berlin.
- Petersen, K., 1977. Brownian Motion, Hardy Spaces and Bounded Mean Oscillation. Cambridge University Press.
- Protter, P., 2005. Stochastic Integration and Differential Equations, 2nd Edition. Springer, Berlin.
- Riedel, F., 2004. Dynamic coherent risk measures. Stochastic Processes and their Applications 112 (2), 185–200.
- Rockafellar, R., 1974. Conjugate Duality and Optimization. CBMS-NSF Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics.
- Rogers, L., Veraart, L., 2013. Failure and rescue in an interbank network. Management Science 59 (4), 882–898.
- Roorda, B., Schumacher, H., 2013. Membership conditions for consistent families of monetary valuations. Statistics & Risk Modeling 30 (3), 255–280.
- Roorda, B., Schumacher, J., 2007. Time consistency conditions for acceptability measures, with an application to Tail Value at Risk. Insurance: Mathematics and Economics 40 (2), 209–230.
- Sarig, O., Warga, A., 1989. Some empirical estimates of the risk structure of interest rates. The Journal of Finance 44 (5), 1351–1360.

- Schönbucher, P., 2003. Credit Derivatives Pricing Models: Models, Pricing and Implementation. Wiley, Chichester.
- Schönbucher, P., 2005. Portfolio losses and the term structure of loss transition rates: A new methodology for the pricing of portfolio credit derivatives. NCCR FINRISK Working Paper No. 264. Available at http://www.econbiz.de/archiv1/2008/ 50106_portfolio_credit_derivatives.pdf.
- Sidenius, J., Piterbarg, V., Andersen, L., 2008. A new framework for dynamic credit portfolio loss modelling. International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance 11 (2), 163–197.
- Staum, J., 2013. Counterparty contagion in context: contributions to systemic risk. In: Handbook on Systemic Risk. Cambridge University Press, Ch. 20, pp. 512– 544.
- Staum, J., Liu, M., 2012. Systemic risk components in a network model of contagion. Working Paper. Available at http://ssrn.com/abstract=1726107.
- Tarashev, N., Borio, C., Tsatsaronis, K., 2010. Attributing systemic risk to individual institutions. Working Paper No. 308, Bank for International Settlements, Basel. Available at http://www.bis.org/publ/work308.pdf.
- Tasche, D., 2004. Allocating portfolio economic capital to sub-portfolios. In: Economic Capital: A Practitioner Guide. Risk Books, pp. 275–302.
- Tasche, D., 2008. Capital allocation to business units and sub-portfolios: the Euler principle. Working Paper. Available at http://arxiv.org/abs/0708.2542.
- Weber, S., 2006. Distribution-invariant risk measures, information, and dynamic consistency. Mathematical Finance 16 (2), 419–441.
- Yi, C., Tchernitser, A., Hurd, T., 2011. Randomized structural models of credit spreads. Quantitative Finance 11 (9), 1301–1313.
- Zhou, C., 2001. The term structure of credit spreads with jump risk. Journal of Banking & Finance 25 (11), 2015–2040.

Erklärung

Ich erkläre: Ich habe die vorgelegte Dissertation selbständig und ohne unerlaubte fremde Hilfe und nur mit den Hilfen angefertigt, die ich in der Dissertation angegeben habe. Alle Textstellen, die wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus veröffentlichten Schriften entnommen sind, und alle Angaben, die auf mündlichen Auskünften beruhen, sind als solche kenntlich gemacht. Bei den von mir durchgeführten und in der Dissertation erwähnten Untersuchungen habe ich die Grundsätze guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis, wie sie in der "Satzung der Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis" niedergelegt sind, eingehalten.

Ronshausen, den

Katrin A. Zilch